
Summons to Meeting

Tuesday 13 February 2018

Executive
Wednesday 21 February 2018, 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington
Membership:

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Members of the public are welcome to attend the meeting. If you have any questions 
or queries contact Gayle Roach on 01900 702502.

Agenda
1. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 24 January 2018 of Executive  (Pages 3 - 6)

2. Apologies for Absence  

3. Declaration of Interests  
Councillors/Staff to give notice of any disclosable pecuniary interest, other 
registrable interest or any other interest and the nature of that interest relating to 
any item on the agenda in accordance with the adopted Code of Conduct.

4. Questions  
To answer questions from members of the public – submitted in writing or by 
electronic mail no later than 5.00pm, 2 working days before the meeting.

5. Members' Announcements  

6. Tackling Poverty Strategy  (Pages 7 - 62)

7. Q3 Performance Report 2017/18  (Pages 63 - 102)

8. Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2017  (Pages 103 - 144)

Page 1



9. Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20  (Pages 145 - 158)

10. Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19  (Pages 159 - 224)

11. Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares  (Pages 225 - 
252)
To consider in light of current economic circumstances whether the table of fares 
charged by a hackney carriage shall be changed and to what level.

12. Appointment of Representative to Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd.  (Pages 
253 - 254)

Monitoring Officer

Date of Next Meeting:

Wednesday 21 March 2018, 10.00 am
Council Chamber, Allerdale House

Page 2



At a meeting of the Executive held in Council Chamber - Allerdale House, Workington 
on Wednesday 24 January 2018 at 9.00 am

Members

Councillor Alan Smith (Chair) Councillor Mark Fryer (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barbara Cannon Councillor Joan Ellis
Councillor Konrad Hansen Councillor Michael Heaslip
Councillor William Jefferson

Apologies for absence were received from  Councillor Carni McCarron-Holmes

Staff Present

B Carlin, D Devine, A FitzGerald, I Frost, A Gilbert, N Hardy, C Holmes, K Kerrigan, 
C Nicholson, A Seekings, E Thompson, L Tomlinson and P Wood

310. Minutes of meeting Wednesday 8 November 2017 of Executive 

The minutes were signed as a correct record.

311. Declaration of Interests 

None declared.

312. Questions 

None received.

313. Members' Announcements 

None received.

314. Q2 Performance Report 2017/18 

The subject of the decision

The Senior Policy and Performance Officer submitted a report which sought to 
advise Members on the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 2 2017/18 
as measured by projects/activities and Key Performance Indicators set out in 
the Corporate Business Plan 2017/18.

The Council was on track with 57 of its 71 key projects/activities, 4 were 
complete, 10 had concerns over achieving their deadlines or outputs and 0 had 
significant concerns.

There were 52 Key Performance Indicators. 30 of those were on target, 8 were 
worse than target and 9 were significantly worse than target. 5 were not 
targeted.

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Councillor A Smith moved that the report be noted. This was seconded by 
Councillor M Fryer. The motion was unanimously agreed.

Alternative options considered

None

The reason for the decision

To advise Members of the Council’s performance at the end of quarter 2 
2017/18

The decision

Resolved:

That the report be noted.

315. Reedlands Business Park - ERDF/Delivery of the project 

The subject of the decision

The Head of Place Development submitted a report which sought the Executive 
to approve a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant offer of 
£1.5m to develop 23,500 sq ft (2,183 sq m) of industrial workshops at 
Reedlands Business Park, Clay Flatts in Workington and to note the novation of 
a designer and external project manager for the £2.5m development scheme.

The Executive had previously agreed the appointment of Pick Everard, who had 
completed the first phase of the design work to RIBA 3 specification which 
allowed the full application to be submitted and resulted in the current offer of 
the grant.

Members noted there would be a significant impact on the Council’s budget 
through the commitment to £1m match funding for the development. This 
funding requirement had already been approved as part of the Council’s revised 
budget.

Councillor M Fryer moved the recommendations set out in the report. This was 
seconded by Councillor A Smith. The recommendations were unanimously 
agreed.

Alternative options considered

1. Decline the offer of grant and not proceed with the scheme.

2. Accept the offer of grant and proceed with delivery of the scheme.

Page 4



The reason for the decision

The Council had received a European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 
grant offer of £1.5m to develop 23,500 sq ft (2,183 sq m) of industrial 
workshops at Reedlands Business Park, Clay Flatts in Workington.

By accepting the grant offer the Council would have to commit to constructing 
the £2.5m development scheme, which meant committing to the £1m match 
funding required as the award of the grant covered 60% of the total 
development cost.

Under the terms of the appointment of Pick Everard, by using the Scape 
Framework, the council had the ability to novate Pick Everard as designers and 
project managers for the scheme.

The decision

Resolved:

That:

1. The £1.5m offer of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) grant 
funding from DCLG/Europe be accepted.

2. The match funding requirement of £1m, which had already been 
approved as part of the revised budget be confirmed.

3. The novation of Pick Everard as designer and external project manager 
for the scheme allowable under the Scape Framework be noted.

The meeting closed at 9.23 am

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018 

Tackling Poverty Strategy – Recommendation from Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee

The Reason for the Decision The Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
appointed a Task and Finish Group to review 
the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy. 

Summary of options considered 1. Executive may wish to approve the 
recommendations as set out in the report.

2. Executive may wish to approve the 
recommendations subject to amendments 
being made.

3. Executive may wish not to approve the 
recommendations. 

Recommendations 1. That the Executive agree that the revised 
Tackling Poverty Strategy November 2017 
as presented to this meeting is adopted.

2. That the Council gives priority to support 
and advice services for Allerdale residents.

3. That future Council reports should include 
greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 
'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the 
body of the report.

4. That the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee’s agreed priorities for future 
Council support and investment are adopted 
by Executive.

Financial /  Resource Implications The draft Tackling Poverty Strategy Action 
Plan sets out a number of proposed activities 
that the Council may undertake.  Some 
activities relate to direct delivery through 
existing services and budgets of the Council, 
but others will require funding to be released 
from the Council’s Priority Fund. 

Legal / Governance Implications No direct implications.

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



Community Safety Implications No direct implications. 

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

No direct implications. 

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Committee and its Task and Finish Group 
took representations from groups across the 
voluntary and community sectors.  An Equality 
Impact Assessment has been completed for 
the Strategy and is attached at Appendix C. 

Wards Affected All. 

The contribution this decision 
would  make to the Council’s 
priorities

When adopted, the Strategy will significantly 
contribute to the Tackling Inequality theme 
within the Council Plan. 

Is this a Key Decision Yes 

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Lead Officer Ian Hinde
Policy Officer (Scrutiny and Partnerships)
01900 702544
ian.hinde@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management N

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers:  Council Plan
Youth Unemployment Review

Page 8



1.0 Introduction and background

1.1 This report provides members of the Executive with supporting information 
and the recommendations of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

1.2 In April 2017 the Executive suggested the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy 
should be considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee prior to it 
being formerly presented for consideration at Executive.

1.3 The Council adopted a new Overview and Scrutiny structure in May 2017 
following a Peer Review and as part of the new structure agreed that task and 
finish groups would be set up to undertake items from the Committee’s work 
plan. The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group was the first group 
established under the new structure.

2.0 Membership of the Task and Finish Group 

2.1 The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group (TFG) consisted of the following 
members: Cllr. Billy Miskelly (Chair), Cllr. Bill Finlay, Cllr. Marion Fitzgerald, 
Cllr. Malcolm Grainger, Cllr. Hilary Harrington, and Cllr. Philip Tibble.

3.0 Overview

3.1 The Task and Finish Group was established by The Overview and Scrutiny at 
its meeting on 23 June 2017 and met between August and November 2017.

3.2 The TFG’s terms of reference were set by the Committee as:
 

 Consider and scrutinise the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action 
Plan

 Identify what is currently being done by the Council and partners to 
tackle poverty in the Borough

 Make recommendations for future actions by the Council and partners to 
tackle poverty in the Borough

The TFG was asked to report back to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
by December 2017. 

3.3 The report of the Task and Finish Group is at Appendix A.

3.4 The revised Tackling Poverty Strategy (November 2017) is at Appendix B.

3.5 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the report and 
recommendations from the Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group at their 
meeting on 15 December 2017 and agreed the proposed recommendations 
as presented.  The Committee agreed to recommend the report and draft 
Strategy to Executive.

Page 9



4.0 Consultation/Customer Focus

4.1 As set out in the Tackling Poverty TFG report at Appendix A, a workshop and 
follow up conversations with partners was held to help shape the Tackling 
Poverty Strategy in Aututmn 2016.  A further poverty seminar to consider and 
understand different providers’ activities in terms of addressing poverty was 
held in June 2017.  The Tackling Poverty TFG also engaged with various 
stakeholders as part of their work.   The draft strategy has been shared with 
partners and stakeholders for comment.

5.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

5.1 Access to services was considered by the Tackling Poverty TFG as part of 
their work.

6.0 Finance/Resource Implications

6.1 The draft Tackling Poverty Strategy Action Plan (at Appendix B) sets out a 
number of proposed activities that the Council may undertake.  Some 
activities relate to direct delivery through existing services and budgets of the 
Council, but others will require funding to be released from the Council’s 
Priority Fund.

7.0 Legal Implications and Risks

7.1 None directly arising from this report.

8.0 Recommendations 

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee recommendations are as follows:

8.1 That the Executive agree that the revised Tackling Poverty Strategy 
November 2017 as presented to this meeting is adopted.

8.2 That the Council gives priority to support and advice services for Allerdale 
residents.

8.3 That future Council reports should include greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the body of the report.

8.4 That the Committee’s agreed priorities for future Council support and 
investment are adopted by Executive.

These are as follows: 

8.4.1 Ensure people have access to food through North Lakes 
Foodbank and Fareshare is a main priority (Objective 1.1 in the 
Strategy Action Plan – Appendix B). Supporting people to grow 

Page 10



and cook their own food (Objective 1.2 – Appendix B) is linked to 
this priority.

8.4.2 Issues of fuel poverty are of equal priority (Objective 1.1 – 
Appendix B).

8.4.3 Support for the advice and advocacy services supported by the 
Council, Citizens Advice Allerdale, Allerdale Disability Association 
and Cumbria Law Centre, should be the next priority, and the 
Committee were keen to point out this is an equally important 
element to support those in immediate need.

8.4.4 Addressing barriers to employment was high in priority for 
members of the group, particularly those around transport issues 
and supporting people in need relating to drug and alcohol issues 
(Objective 2.2 – Appendix B) and the group felt that the proposal 
to establish a small grants fund would help to underpin and 
support these objectives (Objective 4.1 – Appendix B)

8.4.5 The group felt the proposal to establish a forum for partners 
(Objective 4.4 – Appendix B) would help to consolidate this work 
especially if groups can learn more about what each other does.  

9.0 Conclusion

9.1 The issues of tackling poverty are complex and cannot be solved by a single 
organisation or action. The Council has a role to play in working to address 
these issues, alongside a network of partners.  

9.2 The Council will need to remain vigilant to the changing nature of issues its 
residents face, and continue to review its actions to address those issues. 

Councillor Alan Pitcher
 and Councillor Janet Farebrother

Co-Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny 1

“Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”

Report of the 
Tackling Poverty 

Task and Finish Group

November 2017

Page 13



Overview and Scrutiny 2

1. Introduction

The Task and Finish Group was established by the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee to consider the following terms of reference:

 Consider and scrutinise the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy and Action Plan
 Identify what is currently being done by the Council and partners to tackle poverty 

in the Borough
 Make recommendations for future actions by the Council and partners to tackle 

poverty in the Borough.

The Task and Finish Group consisted of:

Cllr. Billy Miskelly (chair), 
Cllr. Bill Finlay, 
Cllr. Marion Fitzgerald, 
Cllr. Malcolm Grainger, 
Cllr. Hilary Harrington, and 
Cllr. Philip Tibble.

The Group established its scope at the first meeting and reviewed the existing draft 
strategy. The Group met six times between August and November to address the 
scope and remit, with each of the first three Objectives given a full meeting devoted 
to its detail. These are dealt with in this report. A single meeting considered all the 
points in the draft action plan where members of the Group suggested amendments, 
then additional actions were referred to officers for viability checks. A final, seventh 
meeting where officers reported back their findings, allowed Members to finalise their 
recommendations for inclusion in the revised draft strategy.

Page 14



Overview and Scrutiny 3

2. Background

Prior to their initial meeting, members of the group attended a Tackling Poverty 
seminar organised by the Council. This included presentations from the following 
organisations regarding their current work in the area: Barnardo's, Cumbria Youth 
Alliance, Groundwork North East and Cumbria, Inspira, North Lakes Foodbank, West 
Cumbria Credit Union, West Cumbria Cultural Education Partnership 

Members of the Group complemented their understanding of issues associated with 
the strategy through attending the West Cumbria Child Poverty Forum seminar 'Child 
Poverty: Making A Difference in Your Community'; a food poverty community forum 
focusing on the FareShare scheme being introduced to the Allerdale and Copeland 
areas; the Council's own 'Housing For The Future' seminar; a visit to Keswick 
Community Housing Trust open to all interested Councillors; as well as the 
presentation at the Committee meeting on 3 November which focused on the current 
skills and training provision provided through Cumbria LEP.

The Group was asked to consider if the existing draft of the Tackling Poverty 
Strategy is fit for purpose in reflecting the current position and possible courses of 
action which this Council could adopt, adapt or continue to tackle poverty issues in 
the borough.

To do this, the Group needed to identify whether the draft adequately represents the 
current position in the borough.  These are the questions considered:

 Does the draft strategy clearly reflect the issues concerning poverty in 
Allerdale?

 Do the statistics and data adequately set out these issues and challenges?

 Do the objectives adequately address the issues?
1. Addressing basic needs
2. Creating pathways into local employment and improving 

employment options
3. Supporting people to deal with money matters
4. Improving information and co-ordination to better support 

communities

 Is the relationship between evidence (data and statistics) and the draft 
objectives clear and explicit?

 Is the targeted approach (as suggested in the draft strategy) going to make 
the best use of the Council’s available resources?

 Are all the aspects of poverty adequately addressed? Should child poverty 
issues be addressed under a separate heading?

 The draft suggests three different roles for the Council – are these 
appropriate? Should the focus be on a particular role or elements of more 
than one?

Page 15



Overview and Scrutiny 4

 Taking into account the research from elsewhere (for example from the 
Joseph Rowntree Foundation), are there any other approaches which should 
be considered?

 How does the Council ensure the resources it commits to tackle poverty will 
be most effective? Will the proposed principles of working together, sharing 
resources and not duplicating work be appropriate? Is there an approach 
which can be more effective?

 Are there specific actions which the Task and Finish Group wish to 
recommend for the Council to consider including in the Tackling Poverty 
Action Plan?

The Group looked at the existing draft strategy and made some recommendations 
regarding layout which are incorporated in to the revised draft. The Group felt there 
ought to be greater focus the three roles highlighted for the Council, namely  

 A leadership role – we seek to work alongside and/or influence other 
organisations;

 Direct delivery – we do the work ourselves through existing staff;

 A facilitator role – we enable others to do work that supports our aims;
and that these need to be implemented together. The Group also felt the data 
sections, much of which was already available in the Council’s ‘About Allerdale’ 
document, could be moved into an appendix, and this is now how the information is 
presented in the revised draft strategy.

Page 16



Overview and Scrutiny 5

3. Work undertaken in this review

The Group undertook their review by focussing primarily on an objective from the 
draft Strategy within a single meeting, with presentations from representatives from 
organisations working within the broad subject area to provide further detail. This 
included presentations from North Lakes Foodbank, the Council’s Head of Economic 
Growth and staff from the benefits section, and Citizens Advice Allerdale. 

Addressing basic needs 

The Group had presentations from North Lakes Foodbank regarding their 
experiences from supporting people using their services, and from the Council's 
benefits team staff focusing on support which addresses basic needs. 

The majority of people access foodbank services due to delays in benefit payments. 
The issue was being highlighted by national media while the Task and Finish Group 
was running.

At the time of receiving a presentation by Council staff, 701 people had been 
supported by staff to complete digital applications for benefits; 48 people were 
referred for personal budgeting support, though 13 people did not attend, while 10 
people were referred to Citizens Advice or a housing association for further support.

At the same meeting, the Group heard that to date 309 households had been 
supported with c. £106,000 of discretionary housing payments, which represented 
46.26% of the current year's grant. While all applicants need to be in receipt of 
housing benefit or the housing element of Universal Credit, the majority of 
applications relate to under-occupancy costs.  As it is a means tested benefit, staff 
reported to the meeting that 78 people had been refused.

Supporting people to deal with money matters 

The Group had a presentation from Citizens Advice Allerdale. The presentation 
primarily confirmed that the work of advice agencies supports Objectives 1 and 3, 
and that activity levels and client numbers reflect the Indices of Multiple Deprivation 
overall deprivation decile.

The Group felt Councillors would benefit from training sessions to supporting their 
ward work particularly to raise their awareness of issues and available local support 
for those struggling with debt issues.

The Group was given a set of figures which showed differing levels of local authority 
support for advice services across the county. The Group was concerned to ensure 
appropriate levels of support and advice services are available to Allerdale residents, 
particularly while the transition to full service Universal Credit is rolled out (estimated 
to continue to 2020).

Page 17



Overview and Scrutiny 6

Creating a cohesive approach

Objective 4, which deals with improving information and co-ordination, underpins the 
actions associated with the other Objectives. Members of the Group were especially 
supportive of action 4.4 to better co-ordinate existing work and avoid duplication, 
particularly when organisations are applying for funding.

The Group noted that the work of the previous Community Scrutiny Committee, the 
Youth Unemployment Review, contained recommendations which have not yet been 
completed and those have been incorporated in to the revised Tackling Poverty 
Strategy Action Plan as proposed by the Task and Finish Group.

The Group agreed that the Strategy should acknowledge that poverty issues affect 
residents across the whole borough and is not only found in the areas regularly 
highlighted in the relevant data. 

Summarised notes from the Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group meetings

This section summarises elements of those discussions which were of concern to 
members of the Group though are not included in the revised draft Strategy.

The decision by the Executive to commit funding to support the development of the 
West Cumbria Credit Union was extensively and intensively discussed by the Group 
at several of the meetings. While the intention to support safe sources of credit and 
the work of the credit union in particular were prominent within the Strategy, the 
Group had had just two of its meetings when the Executive took its decision. The 
Group concluded it wished to see the West Cumbria Credit Union (now called 
Affinity) regularly reporting progress to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Transport issues were raised as a barrier to those seeking work across Allerdale, 
however the subject is complex and would require a multi-faceted, multi-disciplinary, 
multi-partner approach to begin to explore possible solutions. 

Child-care was also highlighted as a barrier to work or seeking work, and similar to 
the transport concerns the response is thought to be similarly complex. While the 
group felt these two issues ought to be part of the approach, it also recognised that 
both issues need further exploration and consideration before featuring in the 
strategy and action plan.

Similarly the issue of zero hours contracts was of concern to the Group, though it 
was recognised that the Council has little influence in this respect with outside 
organisations.

The Group spent some time discussing the focus on those specific communities 
highlighted by much of the available data as having prevalent issues, often greater 
than the majority of the borough. Members of the Group were concerned that issues 
such as poverty affect rural residents as much as those living in towns, though 
possibly in different ways. The concerns are that the Council's approach ought to be 
deliverable across the borough to include all affected; this is obviously balanced by a 

Page 18



Overview and Scrutiny 7

recognition that larger numbers of those people experiencing problems are going to 
be found in the more densely populated urban areas.  

The Group considered the current information available to Councillors on the 
'myWard' link, and whether it would be useful to have more information on poverty 
issues in the area available to Councillors via this resource.

The Group thought the Council should consider adopting a 'social return on 
investment’ (SROI) approach to its work and partnerships with local organisations 
working to address poverty issues.

Page 19



Overview and Scrutiny 8

4. Recommendations

The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group have identified a number of specific 
changes and additional actions which have been built in to the draft Tackling Poverty 
Strategy and Action Plan as presented to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 
are not listed individually here.  

The Task and Finish Group recommendations are therefore as follows:

 That the Overview and Scrutiny Committee agree that the revised Tackling 
Poverty Strategy November 2017 as presented to this meeting is accepted for 
recommendation to Executive.

 That the Council consults with local partners to ensure the proposed Strategy 
and Action Plan supports and complements their work, prior to being formally 
presented to Executive to be considered for adoption and implementation.

 That the Council gives priority to support and advice services for Allerdale 
residents.

 That future Council reports should include greater detail of intended or current 
partnership working and incorporate 'tackling poverty' as part of the report 
implications list, with details given in the body of the report.

These recommendations will be reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
on 15 December 2017.

5. Conclusion

The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish Group is the first of these established since 
the review. Its task was to review a draft strategy and make recommendations based 
on its findings. Having found the draft to be predominantly fit for purpose the Group 
has suggested some changes which are now incorporated into the revised draft 
strategy.

Through undertaking this work, the Group has also recorded some findings about the 
process and wants the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider the following 
recommendations:

 that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee requests detail for the delivery of 
strategies when approved, beginning with the Tackling Poverty Strategy, and 
the Committee should review these as part of its work programme

 that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee examines how it receives feedback 
on its recommendations to Executive and Council

Page 20



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           1

Tackling Poverty 
 Strategy and action plan

2018 – 2020

         “Allerdale – a great place to live, work and visit”
Page 21



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           2

Contents

1. Foreword   3

2. Introduction   4

3. Context   5

4. Our vision and objectives   8

5. Delivering and monitoring the strategy 15

Appendix 1: Action Plan 16
Appendix 2: Local context information 21
Appendix 3: Strategies and Plans linking 30

to the Tackling Poverty Strategy 

Page 22



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           3

1. Foreword 

The national financial situation continues to have impacts on resources available to the 
Council and its partners in tackling issues such as dealing with poverty. With ongoing 
changes in welfare reform, we can expect to see significant pressures on our residents, 
and the effects on those who struggle.

Whilst we cannot change government policy or macro-economic conditions, it is important 
that we seek to provide the best possible, coherent and local response in order to support 
Allerdale’s residents.  This includes providing more opportunities for local people to benefit 
from a strong local economy, issuing what resources we do have available to gain 
maximum impact and working together in partnership.

Tackling poverty is not only an issue for the Council and statutory partners to address.  
The voluntary, community and faith sectors are at the front line providing help, advice and 
support directly to those in need.  Businesses and employers too, have a huge part to play 
in the employment, skills and training routes out of poverty.  Working in partnership is 
therefore critical to the success of this strategy.

Page 23



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           4

2. Introduction
Since 2012 the Council has been committed to tackling poverty in Allerdale.  The Council 
developed its first Reducing Poverty Strategy in 2013, developed and written with the 
contributions of partners with experience of working with the poverty agenda.  The strategy 
was ambitious and delivered many exciting projects. 

The current Council Plan 2015-19 sets out the Council’s vision and priorities for Allerdale.  
It again identifies tackling inequality and poverty as one of those priorities and the Council 
has undertaken to develop an updated Tackling Poverty Strategy as part of the Delivery 
Plan for the Council Plan.

National predictions are that levels of poverty are set to rise.  Welfare reforms, reducing 
public sector expenditure and slow economic recovery are creating increasing hardship for 
many of our residents.  The impacts of these ongoing pressures have a disproportionately 
adverse impact on our residents who are already struggling financially.  These are people 
on low incomes, who may or may not be in employment, and particular groups such as 
disabled people for whom the impact of some of the welfare reforms is particularly marked.   

This Strategy describes the current picture of poverty and inequality in Allerdale along with 
our priorities for addressing poverty and inequality and the areas of activity that we will 
deliver. It also develops the leadership role of our Council, using our position and influence 
to ensure that all sectors and organisations work together on these issues. 

There are a range of causes and factors that contribute to poverty, many of which the 
Council cannot control directly. We recognise that we cannot tackle poverty on our own 
and that we need to work with our partners across the sectors to enable people to access 
the services and necessities they require, and support people who experience poverty – in 
this way we can reduce and mitigate poverty and inequality in Allerdale.  

In focusing on how best the Council can mitigate the effects of poverty (through acting as a 
leader, working in partnership, commissioning activity or delivering services) the strategy 
has been developed with four objectives:

 Addressing basic needs
 Creating pathways into local employment and improving employment options
 Supporting people to deal with money matters
 Improving information and co-ordination to better support communities

We aim to ensure this delivers for the people of Allerdale and makes a difference to their 
lives.  

Page 24



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           5

3. Context 

What is poverty?
Poverty comes in many shapes and forms and affects all areas of an individual’s life. In the 
UK today (and in most of Europe) poverty is a relative concept - ‘poor’ people being those 
who are considerably worse off than the majority of the population and whose living 
standards fall well below those enjoyed by the majority of the population. 

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation define poverty as:

‘When a person’s resources (mainly their material resources) are not sufficient to meet 
their minimum needs (including social participation).’

People living in poverty may experience multiple disadvantages through unemployment, 
low income, poor housing, inadequate health care and barriers to lifelong learning, culture, 
sport and recreation. They are often excluded and marginalised from participating in 
activities (economic, social and cultural) that are the norm for other people and their 
access to fundamental rights may be restricted. 

National context
Nationally, the current economic situation in the UK is placing financial pressures on 
already struggling families and communities, and predictions are that poverty will rise over 
the coming years.  

There is increasing pressure on low income families and individuals and it is well 
recognised that the effect of cuts in public spending are likely to impact disproportionately 
on those already living in poverty, on low incomes and often vulnerable.

Since the economic downturn in 2008 there has been a growing gap between incomes 
and the cost of living1.  As average household incomes reduce and pressures on the cost 
of living rise we are seeing increasing amounts of in-work poverty.  There have been other 
changes in who is most at risk of poverty compared with a decade ago. Nationally, there 
has been a big rise in poverty among young people and a fall among the over 75s and 
more people in poverty are now living in private rented housing [JRF].   

Whilst employment figures show signs of recovery and promise these figures mask an 
emerging increase in those facing in-work poverty.  We know that nationally 66% of 
children living in poverty are estimated to be in working families, and this is set to increase 
further by 20202.

1  CACI Paycheck data, 
http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/675/4356/41094151055.pdf
2  Resolution Foundation, http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-
huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/

Page 25

http://www.cumbriaobservatory.org.uk/elibrary/Content/Internet/536/675/4356/41094151055.pdf
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/


Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           6

There is also a group within society who might be called ‘struggling’ and whilst not 
currently ‘in poverty’ are in a position that means they are at risk.  Debt and changes in job 
circumstances for example make a significant number of people very vulnerable to 
poverty.

Local context and challenges
Poverty is a real issue for many people living in Allerdale and has an impact on every 
aspect of their lives as well as society.  Looking at Allerdale as a whole compared to other 
areas in the country inequality and poverty do not appear significant issues.  However, 
there are clear inequalities between communities within the borough with some small 
areas experiencing considerable issues of poverty and inequality.  

Whilst parts of Allerdale have average household incomes and life expectancy above the 
national average other parts of the borough experience significant deprivation.  The 
highest rates of poverty and deprivation remain in the urban areas of central and south 
Workington and Maryport. However, poverty is often a more hidden issue that also affects 
Allerdale residents in rural areas, sometimes exacerbated by conditions associated with 
rural living.  

We know that: 

 The median gross weekly full time earning in Allerdale is £435.60 (compared with 
£488.80 regionally and £529.00 nationally) 

 14.4% of households in Allerdale had an annual income of less than £10,000 in 
2015 and this has risen from 8.7% in 2009

 Across the district, there are seven Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs3) in the 10% 
most deprived of areas in England

 16.7% of Allerdale’s children are living in poverty according to the latest figures 
(3,090 children).  The figures across the district vary considerably though, with four 
wards having levels of child poverty above 25%, the highest being 34.5%.

 In Allerdale, Foodbank usage shows an overall increasing trend from 2011 to 2016.

 11.4% of households in Allerdale are in fuel poverty, but again this varies 
significantly across the borough.

 22% of private sector dwellings in Allerdale fail to meet the Decent Homes 
Standard.

A more detailed analysis of the data can be found at Appendix 2.
Welfare Reform

3 Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) were developed for the 2001 Census as small area geographical 
units. LSOAs have between 1,000 and 3,000 people living in them, with an average population of 1,500. 
There are 60 in Allerdale, 321 in Cumbria and 32,482 nationally.

Page 26



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           7

Universal Credit was introduced in parts of Allerdale in December 2014 and has been 
rolled out to many applicants with the full service being introduced to most of Allerdale in 
November 2016.  The new Benefit Cap is also being introduced simultaneously affecting 
an estimated 50-60 families in Allerdale.  As described in Appendix 2 the introduction of 
full service Universal Credit can now be seen to be impacting on the unemployment 
figures for Allerdale, and Foodbank figures show the primary causal factor for Foodbank 
usage appears to relate to receipt of benefits either in terms of delays to receiving benefits 
or changes to benefits.

There is a challenge for us in helping our residents to understand the changes and what 
they mean for them, and how the changes affect their entitlement.  There is likely to be an 
increase in demand for advice, guidance, and support services as claimants try to adapt to 
major changes to their benefits and evidence is emerging across Cumbria of increased 
demand for advice and guidance services as a result of reforms being introduced.  Support 
for financial planning could also play an important role in supporting people through the 
changes, for example, promoting usage of Credit Unions.

Health and wellbeing
It is well recognised that there is a relationship between lower incomes and poorer health 
and certainly within Allerdale there is correlation between the areas we can see to be the 
more deprived and those with poorer health outcomes.  

The relationship between health and income is complex in some cases such as with some 
unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (smoking and drinking, for example, which are more 
prevalent in poorer areas, but which are expensive), but can be more straightforward.  
Lower income can affect the goods and services that people can afford and therefore 
affect their health and conversely poor health may affect income by preventing people 
from taking paid employment.

The Council has a Health and Wellbeing Strategy that sets out our ambitions and activity 
in terms of addressing health and wellbeing issues and narrowing the health inequalities 
gap in Allerdale.   [See Appendix 3]

Page 27



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           8

4. Our vision and objectives
Since 2012 the Council has been committed to tackling poverty in Allerdale.  The current 
Council Plan 2015-19 sets out the Council’s vision and priorities for Allerdale.  It again 
identifies tackling inequality and poverty as one of those priorities. 

Council Plan priorities:

 Tackling inequality

 Strengthening our economy

 Enhancing our towns

 Improving health and wellbeing

 Creating a sustainable business

Our aim in terms of tackling inequality and poverty is: “to reduce poverty and support 
people facing financial difficulties”

Our objectives
To achieve our vision, we have identified four areas of activity that are needed. These four 
areas, set out as objectives below, address local needs as identified through our research 
and statistical analysis, and are also shaped by our Council’s priorities and national 
drivers. 

1. Addressing basic needs
2. Creating pathways into local employment and improving employment options
3. Supporting people to deal with money matters
4. Improving information and co-ordination to better support communities

We already have a number of plans and strategies that support the delivery of the vision 
and objectives in this strategy.  To ensure there is no duplication and that work is 
complementary the key plans and strategies are referenced in Appendix 1 and in the 
Action Plan.

Some of the activity outlined here will have immediate financial benefits (supporting those 
already experiencing poverty and inequality); some activity is about improving the longer 
term prospects of households of escaping from poverty; whilst other activity is about 
helping people to avoid falling into poverty by improving resilience and prospects.

The Local Context and Challenges section of this document clearly sets out the inequality 
across the district in a range of factors and the clear difficulties faced by some 
geographical areas and groups within our district.  To have the most impact and use our 
resources to best effect it is therefore important for us to target our efforts towards the 
more vulnerable people and deprived areas in Allerdale. This targeting of effort therefore 
runs through the Action Plan. 

Page 28



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           9

Tackling child poverty runs as a theme throughout this strategy – by addressing the 
growing problem of debt; raising aspirations of both the child and the parent; shaping 
services to address local needs; and encouraging people into decent paid 
employment as a route out of poverty.

Our principles
Our principles inform our decision making and have helped to shape this strategy.  As an 
organisation our overall goal is to deliver the best public services we possibly can and 
continue to work closely with residents, customers, partners, visitors and businesses to 
ensure we are improving lives. 
 
Our principles – inform our decision making:

 Strong community leadership

 Partnership and collaboration

 Clear priorities based on understanding and evidence

 Access and fairness

 Being flexible and responsive in the delivery of services

 Openness and transparency

Our approach
We know that no single action or even a series of actions will eradicate poverty. We fully 
recognise that our role is to work towards tackling the issues surrounding poverty and 
addressing peoples’ needs. 

To do this most effectively, we will deliver our work through three distinct approaches: 

 a leadership role – where we seek to work alongside and/or influence other 
organisations;

 direct delivery – where we do the work ourselves through existing services;
 a facilitator role – where we enable others through grants or investment. 

We will deliver actions which address immediate or short term needs, complemented by 
projects with outcomes which benefits needs over the medium to long term which may, for 
us, mean over several years, and we will support projects for which the outcomes may not 
be visible for a number of years.  

Page 29



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           10

Objective 1: Addressing basic needs

This objective recognises that for those experiencing poverty and inequality there are 
some basic immediate needs that take priority.  Put simply these are food, shelter and 
warmth.  The rise of Foodbank usage within Allerdale is a cause for concern and indicates 
that many households are not managing to make ends meet and we will therefore continue 
to support Foodbanks.

People living on a fixed income, such as benefits and pensions, are particularly vulnerable 
to fuel poverty where they have to use a high percentage of their income to heat their 
home.  The nature of Allerdale’s geography, housing stock and income levels means that 
fuel poverty remains a concern in some parts of the district.  We will therefore continue our 
efforts to tackle fuel poverty targeted towards those people where there is greatest need.   

There are ongoing concerns that the welfare reform changes may lead to increasing levels 
of homelessness.  The Council will continue to develop its preventative approach on 
homelessness issues providing information, advice, and guidance to tenants and landlords 
when tenants are likely to be evicted.  The Council will also continue to develop its 
relationship with private landlords offering advice and information to ensure decent 
standards.  The newly adopted Housing and Homelessness Strategy sets out the 
Council’s approach to addressing homelessness and work on decent homes standards in 
more detail.  

We will achieve this objective by:
 Continued support to food banks and other food initiatives to respond to food 

poverty crises
 Providing advice and support around energy efficiency and to encourage people to 

switch to a cheaper energy provider
 Providing advice and support to householders and landlords
 Working to prevent and reduce homelessness

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Support to Foodbank with collection points in Council offices, provision of collection 
bins, support with campaigns and assisting with a move to more suitable 
accommodation

 Providing Discretionary Housing Payments to support people through financial 
difficulties and crises 

 Allerdale Big Switch in place for fuel switching and saving money on energy. 
 Work on fuel poverty for example the Central Heating fund delivered in 2016/17
 Housing options team provide information, advice, and guidance to householders 

and landlords when tenants are likely to be evicted
 Work with private landlords on introduction of Universal Credit

Page 30



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           11

Objective 2: Creating pathways into local employment 
and improving employment options

Our efforts will be focussed around making sure that residents are aware of and able to 
access services to support them into work and training opportunities.  Given increasing 
levels of in-work poverty, simply getting a job is not necessarily a straightforward route out 
of poverty. Wage levels and the extent of hours worked are crucial factors in escaping 
from low income, it is therefore important to focus on improving the offer in terms of higher 
paid employment. 

We also need to focus on our young people and the educational opportunities available to 
them – pathways into employment start with education.  National research tells us that 
those with a low level of education are almost five times as likely to live in poverty as an 
adult as those with a high level of education.  The Council can take an influencing role in 
terms of improving the educational offer in our area.  We can also consider opportunities to 
support young people into work.

Our Business Growth Strategy4 identifies the challenges and opportunities facing Allerdale 
in terms of employment and business growth and has a detailed action plan that will 
ensure that there are better skills development and employment opportunities for people 
across Allerdale.  Other activity complementary to that plan is detailed in the Action Plan.

Major European funded programmes are currently being commissioned by Cumbria LEP 
for their European Structural and Investment Funds Programme.  Three of these cover: 
‘Improving access to employment for priority groups of job seekers in West Cumbria and 
Barrow’; ‘Reducing barriers to employment for the hardest-to-reach excluded groups’ 
(again targeted in West Cumbria); ‘Improve skills levels and qualifications of unemployed 
people’ and ‘Increase skill levels in the workforce’5.  These programmes are focussing 
resources on supporting the most disadvantaged people in our communities to re-enter the 
job market.  The Council will need to take a leadership role through the LEP to ensure 
effective delivery of these significant programmes for the benefit of Allerdale residents 
within our key wards.

As an employer we already pay the Living Wage to our employees and are currently 
working towards gaining Living Wage accreditation.  We can also use our leadership 
position to influence others, encouraging other local employers to understand the benefits 
of paying staff the Living Wage.  

We will achieve this objective by:
 Supporting people on low incomes to access training to build skills and confidence
 Increasing the opportunities for training and employment
 Supporting young people into training or employment
 Continuing to pay the Living Wage and encouraging other employers to do the 

same
 

4  Further details at Appendix 1 
5  Further details of the relevant LEP ESIF programmes are given at Appendix 1

Page 31



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           12

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Running a Council apprenticeship scheme and paying the Living Wage to those 
apprentices

 Supporting external apprenticeships (10 supported in 2016)
 Support for skills and employment schemes and projects such as the Dream 

Scheme 
 Supporting business growth through economic growth funding, initiatives and 

programmes and town centre support

Page 32



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           13

Objective 3: Supporting people to deal with money 
matters

This objective recognises that anyone can find themselves financially excluded and that 
due to the economic downturn many people are struggling financially.  Debt and changes 
in job circumstances can make people very vulnerable to poverty.  Changes in benefits will 
further impact those that are in receipt of them.  

National research by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation and others shows that people who 
live on a low income (whether in or out of work) cannot as readily access financial 
products such as bank accounts, home contents insurance and low cost loans. Difficulty 
accessing and using financial services and products can cause social isolation. The most 
vulnerable in society do not have the ability to access affordable finance and often rely on 
high street high cost pay weekly financial arrangements or high interest online loan 
companies that offer immediate cash as they seem to be the only solution. People unable 
to access mainstream financial services risk missing out on savings and discounts.  It is 
therefore important to increase basic knowledge of financial services and raise financial 
awareness. 

We will work with partners to make sure that residents have access to advice, information 
and affordable credit and have (or have access to) the skills and understanding to make 
informed decisions about their finances and purchases.   We will also closely monitor the 
changes to the benefits system to ensure that people are claiming all they are entitled to 
and we will work with the Department of Work and Pensions to address any problems.

We will achieve this objective by:
 Providing advice, advocacy and support around debt advice, financial capability and 

legal matters
 Promoting safe sources of credit 
 Proactive work on benefits payments and support
 Building on existing good practice with private landlords around debt advice and 

support to tenants

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Financial support to advice and advocacy services
 Promoting fair finance – the Council signed up to the Fair Finance Pledge in 2016
 Support for West Cumbria Credit Union to promote safe credit sources and reduce 

the need for expensive high street lenders and legal loan sharks
 Personal Budgeting Support being offered to Universal Credit claimants 
 Credit Union payroll deduction scheme introduced for Council employees

Page 33



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           14

Objective 4: Improving information and co-ordination to 
better support communities

Whilst we cannot change government policy or macro-economic conditions, it is important 
that we seek to provide the best possible, coherent, local response in order to support 
Allerdale’s residents.  This includes using what resources we do have available to gain 
maximum impact and working together in partnership.

Tackling poverty is not only an issue for the Council and statutory partners to address.  
The voluntary, community and faith sectors are at the front line providing help, advice and 
support directly to those in need.  It was apparent from discussions with partners in 
developing this strategy that more could be done to better co-ordinate what we were all 
doing to tackle poverty, especially as public funding becomes even scarcer.

Effective intervention and prevention services clearly play a vital role in determining 
positive outcomes for people experiencing poverty and helping people escape from 
poverty so it is important that people understand what support they can expect from 
different agencies and how to access that support.  Those agencies must all be clear 
about what support is available and be able to signpost/refer effectively to ensure good 
and appropriate supportive referrals between agencies. 

As a Council we can do more to co-ordinate our own services and ensure we are 
considering poverty as we plan our services.  We can also support elected members in 
directing people to services that can help the communities they represent.  And we can 
liaise with and try to influence the private sector, for example employers, as set out in 
Objective 2 above.

We will achieve this objective by:
 Ensuring that our information and services are easy to access
 Improving the Council’s preventative approach
 Improving signposting/referrals between partners
 Supporting initiatives that build community resilience and capacity 
 Improving coordination between partners 

We have a range of activity already taking place that connects to this aim. Examples 
include:

 Financial support to third sector capacity building and training events
 Current work with advice agencies and community groups to raise awareness and 

offer training
 Introduction of the NELLbooker inter-agency referral system 
 Improving signposting for Council customers to other agencies 

Page 34



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           15

5. Delivering and monitoring the strategy

Our Approach

Our strategy and action plan were developed with the input of partners. A vast amount of 
work already takes place amongst statutory and voluntary sector organisations to tackle 
and respond to poverty and inequality. A workshop held in September 2016 brought 
together key local agencies and partners to identify what more we could do together to 
tackle poverty and inequality.  Additional conversations with partners have also helped to 
shape the strategy.

Whilst we cannot change government policy or macro-economic conditions, it is important 
that we seek to provide the best possible, coherent, local response in order to support 
Allerdale’s residents.  This includes providing more opportunities for local people to benefit 
from a strong local economy, issuing what resources we do have available to gain 
maximum impact and working together in partnership.

In working to tackle poverty and inequality the Council has different roles and these are 
reflected in the action plan.  In some cases the Council will be directly delivering services 
that can benefit individuals or families in need, for example homelessness services or 
benefits advice.  In others, the Council’s role will be as a facilitator or enabler through 
commissioning work or using grants to invest in local communities and organisations that 
supports people facing financial difficulties.  Importantly, the Council also has a leadership 
role – it can raise issues and influence public policy either as an organisation or through 
elected members acting as individuals to influence issues for example by using the 
Council’s processes available to Councillors.  Finally, it can take a co-ordinating role to 
encourage partners to work together to find local solutions to issues.   

The action plan contains short and medium term actions taking into account the resources 
we have available. Some of our actions are about scoping and exploring ideas further, but 
other actions are about existing services and provision and making sure that we work 
together effectively.  We have included examples of current activity that contribute to our 
aims and approach in addressing poverty issues. This is not an exhaustive list.

Monitoring and reporting on the Strategy

We will monitor progress against the action plan on a quarterly basis and we will continue 
to monitor the overall impact of poverty in Allerdale through collecting a range of 
information such as: 

 New jobs created
 New businesses created
 Numbers of children in poverty
 Numbers of workless households
 Median gross weekly full time earnings
 Information about people using food banks
 Benefit recipients 
 Advice agency usage

Page 35



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           16

Appendix 1: Action Plan 

Objective 1: Addressing immediate needs

 Continued support to food banks and other food initiatives to respond to food 
poverty crises

 Providing advice and support around energy efficiency and to encourage people to 
switch to a cheaper energy provider

 Working to prevent and reduce homelessness

Ref Actions Council role
1.1 Ensure those in current and urgent need have 

access to essential supplies. This will include:
 Continuing to work with and support 

Foodbank
 Develop a scheme to provide meals for 

children eligible for free school meals 
during school holidays (either contribution 
to existing Foodbank school holiday food 
pack scheme or development with a 
partner such as Foodbank of hot meal 
provision)

 Explore options to support those in need 
with fuel vouchers

 Support local groups and communities 
wishing to access food supply initiatives 
such as FareShare

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.2 Support healthy eating/ food growing initiatives, 
supporting activities such as demonstrations and 
training sessions

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.3 Run the Big Allerdale Switch three times a year 
and undertake more targeted work to ensure 
those most in need can access the scheme e.g. 
targeting towards those on pre-payment meters 

Direct delivery

1.4 Require Big Switch bidding companies to state 
how they will provide support for those on pre-
payment meters

Leadership / commissioning

1.5 Deliver Safe and Warm Grants targeted to 
vulnerable or low income households

Direct delivery

1.6 Deliver crisis support Discretionary Housing 
payments, targeted to the most vulnerable

Direct delivery

1.7 Monitor adherence to Energy Suppliers 
Obligation

1.8 Increase the availability of affordable housing 
through support for Community Land Trusts

Direct delivery

Page 36



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           17

1.9 Undertake work to reduce or prevent 
homelessness including early preventative work 
and reviewing temporary homeless 
accommodation to ensure resource matches 
demand

Direct delivery / 
Collaboration

1.10 Explore potential partnership working with 
organisations to support those in crisis need or 
with issues from alcohol or drugs misuse 

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning 

1.11 Train Council staff to support those in urgent 
need to access information, provisions and 
goods

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning

1.12 Further promote the Council’s support available 
in local areas, ensuring it is readily and easily 
accessible

Direct delivery

Page 37



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           18

Objective 2: Creating pathways into local employment and 
improving employment opportunities

 Supporting people on low incomes to access training to build skills and confidence
 Increasing the opportunities for training and employment
 Supporting young people into training or employment
 Continuing to pay the Living Wage and encouraging other employers to do the 

same

Ref Actions Council role
2.1 Develop a more targeted approach to 

apprenticeships (internal and external)
Direct delivery/ Facilitating 
through investment/
commissioning

2.2 Monitor and support the implementation of ESF 
funded skills and training programmes to 
improve access to employment with focus on 
young people and individuals across the borough 
in Allerdale, identify gaps in provision and 
develop targeted initiatives to fill those gaps in 
key wards.  This will include projects such as… 

 Traineeship scheme for young people 
 Services to support people needing basic 

skills training
 Mentoring programme for people looking 

for work – working with local businesses 
to provide mentors

 Schemes to build personal confidence 
and aspiration

 Addressing barriers to employment or 
training, for example transport issues or 
health issues (including working with 
partner organisations to support those in 
crisis need or with issues from alcohol or 
drugs misuse)

Leadership

2.3 Work with partners to ensure that there is a 
network of support for young people to enhance 
their employability (Business Growth Strategy)

Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning / Leadership

2.4 Work with local businesses and employment 
support/education providers to identify skill 
shortages or gaps alongside potential skill 
enhancement opportunities

Leadership / 
Facilitating through 
investment/
commissioning 

2.5 Promote the benefits of paying the Living Wage 
to local employers utilising local and national 
campaigns

Leadership

2.6 Use social value in procurement practices to 
promote local employment, living standards and 
social benefits 

Direct delivery/ Leadership

Page 38



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           19

Objective 3: Supporting people to deal with money 
matters

 Providing advice, advocacy and support around debt advice, financial capability and 
legal matters

 Promoting safe sources of credit 
 Proactive work on benefits payments and support
 Building on existing good practice with private landlords around debt advice and 

support to tenants

Ref Actions Council role
3.1 Support West Cumbria Credit Union and other 

safe sources of credit
Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

3.2 Continue to invest in advice and advocacy 
services to:

 support vulnerable people with financial 
issues – including ensuring access to 
specialist advice for employment, 
benefits and housing support cases

 support disabled people to access 
benefits and understand welfare reform 
changes 

 support our residents through the 
transitions in welfare benefits 

Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

3.3 Promote benefits advice and undertake 
targeted campaigns to ensure residents, in 
particular pensioners, are claiming what they 
are entitled to, including the Allerdale Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme

Direct delivery

3.4 Raising awareness of where to go for help for 
those struggling with debt

Leadership

Page 39



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           20

Objective 4: Improving information and co-ordination to 
better support communities

 Supporting initiatives that build community resilience and capacity 
 Improving the Council’s preventative approach
 Improving signposting/referrals between partners
 Ensuring that our information and services are easy to access 
 Improving coordination between partners 

Ref Actions Council role
4.1 Create small grants fund to enable community 

and voluntary sector groups to apply for 
funding for projects that support this Strategy’s 
objectives 

Facilitating through investment/
commissioning

4.2 Improve preventative approach (Improving 
lives agenda) including:

• undertaking awareness raising for staff 
and councillors

• implement/embed impact assessment 
to ensure that Council considers 
poverty and inequality impacts in policy 
and service decisions

Leadership/ 
Direct delivery

4.3 Improve availability and access to Council 
information and services 

Direct delivery

4.4 Develop a regular forum for partners to share 
knowledge and information about activity, 
supported by developing a plan to create a 
web based forum for partners to better co-
ordinate efforts and avoid duplication

Leadership/
Facilitation

4.5 Continue to work with and support networks 
and partnerships which complement the aims 
of this strategy, for example West Cumbria 
Child Poverty Forum.

Leadership/
Facilitation

Page 40



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           21

Appendix 2: Local context information 

Pockets of significant deprivation 
The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is based upon seven domains of deprivation: 
income, employment, health and disability, education skills and training, barriers to 
housing and services, living environment and crime. These are weighted and combined to 
create the overall IMD.

Overall Allerdale’s ranking in the Indices of Multiple Deprivation is 115 out of 326 local 
authorities.  However, this figure masks significant differences at a more local level with 
some considerable areas of deprivation.  There are seven areas in the 10% most deprived 
in England.  Across the district, there are seven Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) in the 
10% most deprived of areas in England (Figure 1).

When deprivation scores are combined for all LSOAs in Allerdale, the district is classified 
as the third most deprived district in Cumbria for overall deprivation. It falls within the 30% 
most deprived nationally in terms of Employment deprivation and Living Environment.

Figure 1: Allerdale’s LSOAs that rank within the 10% most deprived in England

LSOA 
code

LSOA descriptor Ward Overall ID 
Score (higher 
= more 
deprived)

Overall ID 
Rank (out of 
32,844 
nationally)

E01019097 Ewanrigg estate Ewanrigg 61.34 804

E01019113 Frostoms & Westfield North Moss Bay 60.51 890

E01019112 High Salterbeck & Brierydale Moss Bay 50.637 2,112

E01019095 Ellenborough Ellenborough 49.938 2,232

E01019111 Low Salterbeck & Westfield 
South Moss Bay 49.258 2,356

E01019122 Northside, Marsh, and Town 
Green St. Michael's 47.169 2,753

E01019121 Senhouse & Finkle St. St. Michael's 45.432 3,099

Page 41



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           22

Figure 2: Index of Multiple Deprivation, LSOAs by overall deprivation decile

Source: Cumbria Intelligence Observatory

Low income families

There is no single indicator that captures the true meaning of low income, but average 
household income data can provide an indication.  The trend over time has been that of 
falling average household income and a growth of low income households in Allerdale 
which reflects national and countywide trends.  

Average household income in Allerdale is similar to the county average and a little below 
the national average; however, there are significant variations in average income levels 
across wards from £17,000 to £37,400.  

Page 42



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           23

Data shows that 14.4% of households had an annual income of less than £10,000 in 
2015 which has risen from 8.7% since 2009.  This figure is higher in 10 wards with 
the highest being Moss Bay with 24.2% of households having income lower than 
£10,000. 

Those on a low income or living in poverty often have to pay a premium for services 
such as utilities, insurance, credit for goods from a high interest lenders, cheque 
cashing services and pawnbrokers.  Those on prepayment meters can find that they 
pay extra on their utilities compared to those on direct debits.   

Figure 3: Household Income

Allerdale Cumbria National

Mean Household Income £31,150 £31,792 £36,447

Median Household Income £24,624 £25,332 £28,696

Number of households with an annual 
median income of less than £10k 6,115 30,810 -

% of households with an annual median 
income of less than £10k 14.4% 13.8% 12.2%

Source: CACI, Paycheck Data, 2015 

Low wage economy
Overall, Allerdale’s unemployment rates are in line with national and regional averages, 
but as the graph below shows employees in Allerdale tend to be paid lower wages than 
nationally or regionally.  This is mainly due to the fact that Allerdale has a higher proportion 
of jobs in lower paid sectors such as retail, tourism and the public sector. 

The average gross weekly pay for full time workers living in Allerdale for 2015 was 
£435.606. This was still below both the regional average of £488.80 per week and national 
average of £529.00 per week.  The table above shows that average earnings for residents 
in Allerdale have been consistently below the regional and national (GB) averages.  The 
difference between average gross weekly pay for full time male and female workers is 
marked in Allerdale, as it is regionally and nationally, being £484.30 and £380.10 
respectively.

Figure 4: Gross weekly pay, full time workers 2015 

6  Nomis, ONS Annual survey of hours and earnings 

Page 43



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           24

Source: ONS annual survey of hours and earning – resident analysis. Note: median earnings in pounds for 
employees living in the area

Mixed picture of unemployment 
In terms of the proportion of people who receive unemployment benefits, the rate for 
Allerdale is higher than the national rate and that of Cumbria.  Between October 2016 and 
October 2017, Allerdale’s claimant rate appears to have risen by 0.7 compared to a rise of 
0.17.  

Figure 5: Unemployment rates 2014-2017

Source: ONS/DWP (Cumbria Observatory graph)

7  Office for National Statistics

Page 44



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           25

However, the introduction of full service Universal Credit is affecting unemployment figures 
in Allerdale.8  The graph shows claimant rates for JSA and out of work UC claimants and 
demonstrates this effect - rates in Allerdale and Copeland appear to have been rising 
since October 2016 whilst other areas of Cumbria have remained at a more constant level.  
The introduction of Universal Credit is particularly affecting figures for Allerdale and 
Copeland where full service UC has been implemented at Workington and Whitehaven 
Job Centres.  

The majority of wards have a claimant rate less than the Allerdale rate, but there are 
pockets of higher levels of unemployment, in particular in the deprived, urban areas of 
Allerdale. There are 7 wards with a claimant rate of more than 2.5, being Clifton, 
Ellenborough, Ewanrigg, Flimby, Moorclose, Moss Bay, Netherhall, and St. Michael’s.9

Those aged 18-24 years currently represent approximately 20% of all claimants in Allerdale. 
The claimant rate for people aged 18-24 in Allerdale has been consistently above that for 
Cumbria over the last three years, although does show a gradually declining trend until 2017 
where the rate has started to increase.  Allerdale’s unemployment rate for this age group rate 
at 4.9 is currently above Cumbria (3.2) and UK (3.5) rates, but again is likely to have been 
disproportionately affected by the introduction of full service Universal Credit.

Low qualification levels in some areas

Qualification levels for the district as a whole are broadly in line with regional and national 
averages.  The percentage of the population with no qualifications is below that of the 
national level10. However, there are variations across the district, two wards having over a 
third of the working age population with no qualifications. The wards with higher levels of 
those with no qualifications can be seen to be in Workington and Maryport with Moss Bay 
(Workington) and Ewanrigg (Maryport) above 30%. 

Lower educational attainment increases the risk that poverty will be passed down from one 
generation to the next.  Those with a low level of education are almost five times as likely 
to live in poverty as an adult as those with a high level of education.[JRF]  

Anecdotal evidence from partners in Allerdale suggests that there is an issue with basic 
numeracy and literacy skills, although this has proved difficult to quantify.  Nationally we 
know that an estimated 5 million adults lack core numeracy and literacy skills and 12.6 
million lack basic digital skills [JRF].  

Child poverty
Poverty can have a profound impact on children, their families and the rest of society. It 
can set in motion a deepening spiral of social exclusion, creating problems in education, 
employment, mental and physical health and social interaction.

8  ONS data note - Under Universal Credit a broader span of claimants are required to look for work than 
under Jobseeker's Allowance. As Universal Credit Full Service is rolled out in particular areas, the number of 
people recorded as being on the Claimant Count is therefore likely to rise.

9   Cumbria Intelligence Observatory Labour Market Briefing October 2017
10  Nomis Official Labour Market Statistics

Page 45



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           26

The latest government data available shows that 16.7% of children (0-19 years) in 
Allerdale are living in poverty11.  This is below national levels of 19.9% for England, 
however, the picture for Allerdale as a whole disguises significant inequalities in levels of 
child poverty within the district.  

Figure 6: Child Poverty (Children in low income families local measure)

Source: Department for Work and Pensions (Children in low-income families - local measure)

There is a wide geographic variation in levels of child poverty across the district’s wards 
from a high of 34.5% in Moss Bay to just 2.9% in Stainburn. 9 of Allerdale’s 31 wards have 
a higher percentage of children living in poverty than the Allerdale average. 8 of these 
have a higher percentage than the England average.  Figures for Allerdale’s wards show 
Ewanrigg, Moorclose, Moss Bay and St Michael’s as having levels of child poverty above 
25%, the highest being Moss Bay at 34.5% and Ewanrigg ward (33.4%) which are 
significantly higher than the Allerdale, Cumbria and England figures for 2014. 

Figure 7: Wards in Allerdale with proportions of child poverty greater than England, 2014 

Ward % of ALL Children in low-income families

Moss Bay 34.5% 
Ewanrigg 33.4% 
Moorclose 29.5% 
Ellenborough 24.9% 
St Michael's 25.2% 
Flimby 21.9% 
Silloth 21.2%
Holme 21.0%

Source: Department for Work and Pensions (Children in low-income families - local measure)

Areas with high levels of child poverty are predominantly in deprived urban areas; 
however, there are also pockets of poverty and deprivation in some of the most rural 
communities in Allerdale in areas around Aspatria, Wigton and Silloth. 

11  Department for Work and Pensions

Page 46



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           27

Between 2010 and 2013, levels of child poverty had fallen in the county and all districts 
following the national trend.  However, the figures rose again in 2014. As a relative 
measure this will be affected by a number of factors such as changes in the low income 
threshold and changes to benefit criteria as part of welfare reform.

Nationally 66% of children in poverty are in working families, this is set to increase further 
by 202012.

Pensioners in poverty
Allerdale has an older population profile than England and Wales and the population is 
‘ageing’ at a faster rate than the population nationally.  By 2037 33.3% of all residents are 
projected to be aged 65 and over.  

Nationally we know that 1.6 million (14%) pensioners in the UK live in poverty (that is with 
incomes below 60% of median household income after housing costs).  We also know that 
women are more likely to be in poverty than men, and older pensioners (especially those 
aged 85+), single people living alone and private tenants are at particular risk13. 

Figures show that Allerdale has 5 Lower Super Output areas that fall into the worst 20% 
nationally in terms of the Income Deprivation Affecting Older People measure14 and that 
these are in the South Workington and parts of Maryport, correlating with the more 
deprived areas of Allerdale. 14.6% of all households in Allerdale are lone pensioner 
households15.

National data also shows that nearly two out of five (38%) pensioners in Great Britain who 
are entitled to Pension Credit have not claimed it, with those who are entitled to, but not 
claiming, missing out on an average (mean) of £42 a week.  Around 1 in 7 (15%) 
pensioners in Great Britain who are entitled to Housing Benefit to help pay their rent have 
not claimed it, with those entitled to, but not claiming, missing out on an average (mean) of 
£56 a week16. 

Older people are at risk of fuel poverty due to lower incomes and are likely to spend long 
periods sitting at home which will increase their exposure to the cold if unable to heat their 
homes sufficiently.

Fuel poverty
Fuel poverty is a particular problem for vulnerable residents including pensioners and 
people with disabilities or long-term health problems. The rural nature of Allerdale further 
exacerbates the issue affecting fuel process and mains gas access.  

12  Resolution Foundation, http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-
shifting-poverty-challenge/
13  Households below average income: An analysis of the UK income distribution: 1994/95-2014/15 DWP, 
2016. https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201415
14  Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2015
15  Census 2011
16  Income-related benefits: estimates of take-up: financial year 2014/15 (tables PC1, PC2, HB1, HB2), DWP 
2016 

Page 47

http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
http://www.resolutionfoundation.org/media/blog/how-do-we-tackle-britains-huge-shifting-poverty-challenge/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201415


Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           28

The latest available figures show that 11.4% of households in Allerdale are in fuel poverty
17.  Looking across the district there is a wide variation in levels of fuel poverty. There are 
some higher levels of fuel poor households across the rural areas to the east and north of 
the district.  However, there are also higher levels of fuel poverty seen in our urban areas.   

Just over half of Allerdale’s Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs) have proportions of fuel 
poor households above the national average (11.0%).  7 of Allerdale’s LSOAs have levels 
of fuel poverty above 15% (these are in the wards of Warnell, St. John’s, Boltons, St 
Michael’s, Moss Bay, Crummock and Holme).  The LSOA with the highest reported level of 
fuel poverty is in Warnell ward at 17.8%.  The LSOAs in Allerdale with higher fuel poverty 
levels are in a mixture of more affluent and more deprived areas demonstrating the fact 
that fuel poverty is influenced by a range of factors (fuel costs, property type and energy 
efficiency, household income, energy costs). 

Allerdale has a high proportion of pre-1919 hard to heat dwellings, many of these in our 
urban centres.  It is also estimated that around 8,800 dwellings in Allerdale are not 
connected to mains gas and are likely to be using a more expensive fuel type or simply not 
heating their homes at all. Fuel poverty therefore remains a concern within the district.  

Private rented accommodation
In line with the national picture Allerdale has seen an increase in private rented 
accommodation with the private rented sector proportion of housing stock rising from 9% 
in 2011 to 16% in 201618. Those on low incomes in the private rented sector lack the 
support network offered by landlords in the social rented sector and can be particularly 
vulnerable to income reduction potentially leading to homelessness.  Those on low 
incomes in the private rented sector can also be coping with substandard living conditions.  
Recent research has shown that privately rented dwellings in Allerdale show higher rates 
of non-decency (29.2%) than those which are owner occupied (20.3%)18. 

Rural poverty
Allerdale is predominantly rural in nature with 70%19 of Allerdale’s population classed as 
living in rural areas. Over a half of people living in low income households in Allerdale live 
in rural areas.  Poverty in rural areas is often difficult to identify, but poverty issues in rural 
areas tend to be magnified due to their rural nature.  The rural nature of the borough has a 
significant impact on accessing work and essential services including schools, post offices 
and doctors and residents are dependent on local services and public transport. National 
research shows that people in rural areas have additional costs because of these sorts of 
access issues.  
Food poverty and Foodbank usage
Foodbanks have grown out of an increasing need across the country.  In Allerdale, food 
bank usage shows an overall increasing trend from 2011 to 2016 with a peak in 201320. 
Estimates are that a fifth of low income families have to rely on Foodbanks at some point.   

17  Department of Energy and Climate change, 2016
18  Allerdale Private Sector House Condition Survey 2015/16
19  Census 2011
20 The North Lakes Foodbank 

Page 48



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           29

In Allerdale the largest number of Foodbank vouchers issued in 2016 were in the wards of 
St. Michaels, Moss Bay, Moorclose and St. Johns in Workington, Netherhall in Maryport 
and Wigton ward.  Figures for Allerdale suggest that the primary causal factor for 
Foodbank usage relates to receipt of benefits either in terms of delays to receiving benefits 
or changes to benefits accounting for 35% and 18% of crisis types in 2016 respectively19.  
There is therefore a challenge for us to do what we can to ensure that benefits are not 
delayed.  

Page 49



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           30

Appendix 3: Strategies and Plans linking to the 
Tackling Poverty Strategy

Strategy Time frame Link to Tackling Poverty Strategy
Allerdale Housing 
Strategy 
‘Improving Lives – 
Improving Housing’
[link]

2016 - 2021 This strategy sets out objectives and priorities for the 
provision of affordable housing, housing options for 
vulnerable and ageing population, raising standards 
in the private rented sector, improving housing stock 
quality, reducing numbers of empty homes, and 
reducing homelessness.

The following areas of activity are directly relevant to 
this strategy:

 Working with partners on winter warmth 
campaigns

 Supporting vulnerable people with housing 
options and healthier living choices

 Improving private rented sector standards
 Delivery of schemes to help fuel poor 

households
 Homeless prevention work

Allerdale Improving 
Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

[link]

2015 - 2019 The Strategy sets out the Council’s approach to 
addressing health inequality issues in our area.  The 
strategy recognises that health is impacted by a 
wider range of determinants including good 
employment; higher educational attainment; safe, 
supported, connected communities; poor housing 
and homelessness; living on a low income; social 
isolation, exclusion and loneliness; stigma and 
discrimination.  Conversely poor health may affect 
income by preventing people from taking paid 
employment.
The following areas of activity are particularly 
relevant: 

 Ensuring access to high quality health care 
 Creating healthier communities by reducing 

health inequalities
 Improving health and wellbeing through access 

to leisure and cultural activities
 Ensuring access to suitable and safe homes
 Encouraging local businesses to take action 

that improves the health and wellbeing of their 
staff and customers

Allerdale Business 
Growth Strategy

[link]

2016 - 2021 The Strategy outlines the economic ambition for our 
area which is that:
“Allerdale will have a strong and diverse economy 
which builds on its existing comparative advantage in 
manufacturing and moves away from an overreliance 
on nuclear energy. It will capitalise on and promote 

Page 50



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           31

its credentials as a fantastic place to live for all 
people at all life stages to provide businesses with 
the talent pool they need to grow and compete.”

The following areas of activity are directly relevant:
 Increasing wider employment opportunities
 Investment in people and skills

Cumbria Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
Strategic Economic 
Plan

[link]

2014-2024 This 10-year Strategic Economic Plan outlines the 
economic ambition for Cumbria.  The Plan 
concentrates on four strategic priorities - Advanced 
manufacturing growth; Nuclear and energy 
excellence; Vibrant rural and visitor economy; and 
Strategic connectivity to the M6 corridor - with 
intervention through four economic drivers, of which 
Skills Development is particularly relevant to this 
strategy.

Cumbria Local 
Enterprise 
Partnership 
European Structural 
and Investment 
Fund Strategy

[link]

2014-2020 The Cumbria LEP European Structural and 
Investment Funds Strategy sets out a series of major 
programmes to improve Cumbria’s economy and 
support the ambitions in the Strategic Economic 
Plan.  Major European funded programmes are due 
to begin delivery from 2017 onwards, three of which 
cover pathways into employment, tackling poverty, 
and investing in skills and education.   These 
programmes are targeted at identified areas of need 
in Cumbria including West Cumbria.  The relevant 
programmes are:
TO8 – Improving access to employment for priority 
groups of job seekers in west Cumbria and Barrow.  
TO9 – reduce barriers to employment for the 
hardest-to-reach excluded groups.
TO10 – Improve skills levels and qualifications of 
unemployed people and increase skill levels in the 
workforce.
Both TO8 and TO9 are aimed at groups over-
represented in the workless particularly: long term 
unemployed, over 50s, those claiming ESA, lone 
parents, those with health related conditions and 
carers.

West Cumbria 
Community Safety 
Partnership Plan

The West Cumbria Community Safety Partnership 
Plan priorities for 2017-18 include: Violent Crime – 
managed through the Problem Solving Group, 
Pubwatch and statutory partners; Alcohol & 
Substance Misuse – managed through multi agency 
partnerships and will include a focus on New 
Psychoactive Substances; Domestic & Sexual 
Violence – actively supporting countywide work; 
Reducing Re-offending - maintaining the Integrated 
Offender Management program and encourage the 
use of restorative justice; Anti-Social Behaviour –
delivering positive projects to reduce offending and 
make use of current legislation.

Page 51



Allerdale Borough Council Tackling Poverty Strategy – November 2017                                           32

Page 52



1

Equality Impact Assessment Form
An Equality Impact Assessment is a way of examining how different communities or groups of people will be affected by a current 
or proposed service, policy or project. It helps identify ways of removing or reducing any adverse or negative impacts and with 
developing an action plan for ensuring the service, policy or project has the most positive outcomes for our communities.

Equality Impact Assessments consider a range of issues in relation to equality groups. The Public Sector Equality Duty focuses on 
a set of protected characteristics which can be used as a tool to help us understand how our services will impact on our 
communities.   

The Equality Duty covers the following 9 protected characteristics:
Age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex, sexual orientation, marriage 
and civil partnership (only in the respect of the requirement of the general duty to have due regard to the need to eliminate 
discrimination)

The Council has also chosen to consider rurality and socio economic status as part of its Impact Assessments.

EIA title: What service change, policy or project are you assessing?

Tackling Poverty Strategy 2018-20

P
age 53



2

1. What is the purpose of this service change, policy or project?

The Tackling Poverty aims to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in Allerdale who are currently 
experiencing poverty, but also to alleviate issues that can lead households to experience financial pressures and to improve the 
prospects of individuals and families in the longer term. The aim of the Strategy is to bring greater focus and coordination to the 
Council’s existing efforts to address poverty, while identifying areas where the Council can have even greater impact.

2. How does it contribute to the priorities and objectives in our Council Plan?

This strategy directly supports the Council’s priority of Tackling Inequality.

3. Who is likely to be affected by the service change, policy or project? For example: all residents, young people, people with 
disabilities.

The Strategy is targeted at those on low incomes, those with a disability and older and younger people.

4. What information and evidence have you used to support your findings on impacts? List any consultation or 
engagement undertaken. For example: customer monitoring data, customer profiles, demographic information, survey results, 
customer feedback outcomes of consultation exercises.

Development of the strategy has been undertaken using extensive demographic and socio-economic data, including information 
about those groups in the community with protected characteristics. An analysis of the relevant data is given in the Strategy at 
Appendix 2.  Relevant equality and diversity demographic data has also been considered in this impact assessment.  In developing 
the strategy consultation with partners and stakeholders has taken place to consider issues around poverty and inequality.

P
age 54



3

5. How can this service, service change, policy or project help us to meet our equalities duties? For example: by engaging 
young people, promoting good race relations or targeting services to meet the needs of older people.

The Tackling Poverty Strategy aims to improve the standard of living and daily lives of those residents in Allerdale who are 
currently experiencing poverty, but also to alleviate issues that can lead households to experience financial pressures and to 
improve the prospects of individuals and families in the longer term.

The proposed activities set out in the action plan will support projects and assist the Council in meeting its equality duties.  In 
developing the strategy particular vulnerable and target groups have been identified with associated activity proposed in the action 
plan including:

- older people (in terms of improving access to services, maximising income, improving access to suitable housing, 
addressing fuel poverty through initiatives such as Safe and Warm Grants)

- children and young people (in terms of supporting families living in poverty or at risk of falling into poverty, improving 
prospects and opportunities for young people to get jobs, addressing issues around affordable housing which particularly 
affect younger people in some areas)

- people with a disability (in terms of providing support and advice services, delivery of Disabled Facilities Grants and other 
activity to address housing needs)  

- low income households (through immediate support with basic needs, providing support and advice services, addressing 
fuel poverty, offering support to improve financial resilience, and creating pathways into employment)

The action plan will be monitored and review annually.

6. Are there any known equalities issues relating to this service, service change, policy or project that have been raised 
outside of Allerdale? For example, by other councils, or through national research.

National research has been used to understand poverty issues in developing the Strategy.  This research has shown that:

The current economic situation in the UK is placing financial pressures on already struggling families and communities, and 
predictions are that poverty will rise over the coming years.   There is increasing pressure on low income families and individuals 

P
age 55



4

and it is well recognised that the effect of cuts in public spending are likely to impact disproportionately on those already living in 
poverty, on low incomes and often vulnerable.

Since the economic downturn in 2008 there has been a growing gap between incomes and the cost of living.  As average 
household incomes reduce and pressures on the cost of living rise we are seeing increasing amounts of in-work poverty.  There 
have been other changes in who is most at risk of poverty compared with a decade ago. Nationally, there has been a big rise in 
poverty among young people and a fall among the over 75s and more people in poverty are now living in private rented housing.   

Whilst employment figures show signs of recovery these figures mask an emerging increase in those facing in-work poverty.  We 
know that nationally 66% of children living in poverty are estimated to be in working families, and this is set to increase further by 
2020.

Nationally we know that 1.6 million (14%) pensioners in the UK live in poverty (that is with incomes below 60% of median 
household income after housing costs).  We also know that women are more likely to be in poverty than men, and older pensioners 
(especially those aged 85+), single people living alone and private tenants are at particular risk.

National research shows that people in rural areas have additional costs because of these sorts of access issues.  

P
age 56



5

7. Impact and action plan
Use the table below to indicate whether the service change, policy or project is likely to have a positive1, adverse2 or neutral impact 
on each of the groups listed and what that impact is. (See glossary below for definitions)

You also need to indicate what actions or provisions you have put in place, or propose to put in place, to ensure you address the 
adverse impacts identified.

Equality group Positive
(tick)

Adverse
(tick)

Neutral
(tick)

What is the impact? Mitigating actions 
proposed (to address 
adverse impact)

Age



Older people: Activity set out in the action plan 
includes work targeted towards older people as 
Allerdale has an ageing population and older people 
are particularly vulnerable to poverty through low 
income and health related issues.  Activity proposed 
includes: improving access to services, maximising 
income, improving access to suitable housing, and 
addressing fuel poverty through initiatives such as 
Safe and Warm Grants. 
Children and young people: Activity set out in the 
action plan includes work targeted towards improving 
the lives and life chances of children and young 
people.  Activity proposed includes: supporting 
families living in poverty or at risk of falling into 
poverty, improving prospects and opportunities for 
young people to get jobs, and addressing issues 
around affordable housing which particularly affect 
younger people in some areas.

Disability  The Strategy and action plan identify those with a 
disability as at particular risk of low income and 

1 A positive impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at an advantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. A 
positive impact may also occur where a particular policy or procedure will contribute to promoting equality, equal opportunities or improving relations within 
equality target groups.

2 An adverse impact is where one or more group or groups of people are put at a disadvantage by the way a particular policy or procedure is carried out. For 
example, disabled or elderly people, or people living in very isolated rural areas may struggle to use wheelie bins as easily as other people.

P
age 57



6

Equality group Positive
(tick)

Adverse
(tick)

Neutral
(tick)

What is the impact? Mitigating actions 
proposed (to address 
adverse impact)

poverty.  The Strategy identifies that disabled people 
are disproportionately affected by low income and 
can face multiple barriers due to both their low 
income and their disability. The action plan therefore 
includes targeted work including: ensuring suitable 
housing for people with disabilities through delivery 
of Disabled Facilities Grants, and supporting advice 
and advocacy services specifically for people with 
disabilities. 

Gender



The activity set out in the Strategy action plan will 
benefit both men and women by supporting people 
facing immediate needs with support for the 
Foodbank and other food initiatives, homelessness 
prevention work; and supporting low income families 
in the medium to long term with measures to improve 
financial resilience, measures to provide pathways 
into employment, and advice services.   

Gender reassignment



No differential impact on people due to their gender 
status have been currently identified through this 
assessment, particularly as a result of the objectives 
for the strategy and the projects that are currently 
proposed.

Marital and civil 
partnership status



No differential impact on people due to their marital 
or civil partnership status have been currently 
identified through this assessment, particularly as a 
result of the objectives for the strategy and the 
projects that are currently proposed.

Pregnancy and 
maternity



No differential impact on those who are pregnant or 
on maternity leave have been currently identified 
through this assessment, particularly as a result of 
the objectives for the strategy and the projects that 
are currently proposed.

Race and minority ethnic 
groups

 No differential impact on people due to their race or 
ethnicity have been currently identified through this 

P
age 58



7

Equality group Positive
(tick)

Adverse
(tick)

Neutral
(tick)

What is the impact? Mitigating actions 
proposed (to address 
adverse impact)

assessment, particularly as a result of the objectives 
for the strategy and the projects that are currently 
proposed.

Religion and/or belief



No differential impact on people due to their religion 
or beliefs have been currently identified through this 
assessment, particularly as a result of the objectives 
for the strategy and the projects that are currently 
proposed.

Sexual orientation



No differential impact on people due to their sexual 
orientation have been currently identified through this 
assessment, particularly as a result of the objectives 
for the strategy and the projects that are currently 
proposed.

People in rural areas



The Strategy identifies that poverty in rural areas is 
often difficult to identify, but poverty issues in rural 
areas tend to be magnified due to their rural nature.  
The rural nature of the borough has a significant 
impact on accessing work and essential services and 
residents are dependent on local services and public 
transport.  The action plan therefore includes work to 
ensure that services are available to residents locally 
and also includes activity that is intended to address 
particular issues affecting those in rural areas such 
as fuel poverty. 

People on low incomes



The Tackling Poverty Strategy aims to improve the 
standard of living and daily lives of those residents in 
Allerdale who are currently experiencing poverty, but 
also to alleviate issues that can lead households to 
experience financial pressures and to improve the 
prospects of individuals and families in the longer 
term.  As such the Strategy is designed to have a 
significantly positive impact on this group of people.

P
age 59



8

 
8. Are the adverse impacts justified? If they are, explain in what way. For example: disproportionate costs, legislative constraints.

None identified.

EIA completion

Date completed: Updated 29/1/18

Lead officer: Alex FitzGerald

Head of Service: Nik Hardy

Please forward an electronic copy of this completed assessment to: policy@allerdale.gov.uk

P
age 60

mailto:policy@allerdale.gov.uk


9

Glossary

Age: This refers to a person having a particular age (for example, 32 year-olds) or being within an age group (for example, 18-30 
year-olds).

Disability: A person has a disability if s/he has a physical or mental impairment which has a substantial and long-term adverse 
effect on their ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. Includes: Physical/sensory disability; Mental Health; Learning 
disability.

Gender: This refers to a person being either male or female.

Gender reassignment: This is the process of transitioning from one sex to another, considered a personal process rather than a 
medical one and it does not require someone to undergo medical treatment in order to be protected.

Marital and civil partnership: Legal recognition of a same-sex couple’s relationship. Civil partners must be treated the same as 
married couples on a range of legal matters.

Maternity: The period after giving birth. It is linked to maternity leave in the employment context. In the non-work context, 
protection against maternity discrimination is for 26 weeks after giving birth, including as a result of breastfeeding.

Race: It refers to a group of people defined by their colour, nationality (including citizenship), ethnic or national origins. Includes, 
Asian, Black and White minority ethnic groups inc. Eastern Europeans, Irish people and Gypsy Travellers.

Religion or belief: “Religion” means any religion, including a reference to a lack of religion. “Belief” includes religious and 
philosophical beliefs including lack of belief (for example, Atheism). The category includes, Christianity, Islam, Judaism, Hinduism, 
Buddhism, and non-religious beliefs such as Humanism.

Sexual orientation: This is whether a person's sexual attraction is towards their own sex, the opposite sex or to both sexes.

Rurality: Allerdale is defined as ‘Rural-80’ – this means we have at least 80 percent of our population in rural settlements and 
larger market towns.

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 62



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Council Plan  
Quarter 3 Performance Report 2017/18

The Reason for the Decision The Council’s performance at the end of 
Quarter 3 2017/18 as measured by 
projects/activities and KPIs set out in the 
Corporate Business Plan 2017/18 

Summary of options considered N/A

Recommendations That Members note the information contained 
within the report and take action to improve 
performance where necessary. 

Financial /  Resource Implications None arising directly from the report

Legal / Governance Implications None arising directly from the report

Community Safety Implications None arising directly from the report

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None arising directly from the report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Equality impacts are considered in the 
development of individual projects and 
programmes

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

This is a performance report on delivery against 
the Council’s priorities as set out in the Council 
Plan 2015-19 and Corporate Business Plan 
2017/18

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Cllr Alan Smith

Lead Officer Alex FitzGerald, Policy Manager (Corporate, 
Performance and Information)
alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk
01900 702719

Page 63

Agenda Item 7

mailto:alex.fitzgerald@allerdale.gov.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial N Employment (internal) Y

Legal N Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers: None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 In line with the Council’s Performance Management Framework the Executive and 
Overview and Scrutiny receive quarterly performance reports based on the Council 
Plan.  

1.2 The Quarter 3 corporate performance report for 2017/18 covers the period from 1 
October to 31 December 2017.  

1.3 The report is based on key projects/activities and key performance indicators set 
out in the Corporate Business Plan 2017/18.  

1.4 The Corporate Business Plan 2017/18 is built around our Council Plan.  For each 
Council Plan priority theme the Business Plan details key service improvement 
projects/actions as well as activity to deliver key strategies and plans over the next 
year, and the key performance indicators that we will use to track our performance.  
In addition the Business Plan sets out how our significant day to day ‘business as 
usual’ service activity contributes to achieving our objectives.  

2.0 Council Performance

2.1 The full quarterly performance report is attached as Appendix 1 and contains:

 A short overview of our Quarter 3 performance 

 Visual summaries for each of our five priorities

 Appendices containing more detail on performance against our priorities, key 
performance indicators, corporate risks and outcome measures

2.2 In line with the Council’s Integrated Assurance and Risk Strategy, Heads of Service 
review the risk and issues log on a monthly basis or as required, and report to SMT on 
existing key risks (those which score 9 and above), risks that have changed 
significantly and any new and emerging risks/issues, with key risks being reported to 
the Executive on a quarterly basis. The current Key Risks Report can be found in 
Appendix C to the Quarterly Performance Report.

Page 64



3.0 Customer Satisfaction and Service

3.1 Projects within the priority area of ‘Creating a sustainable business’ in the Council 
Plan relate specifically to customer satisfaction and service.  

4.0 Services Delivered as Locally as Possible

4.1 This is an area covered within the Council Plan under the ‘Creating a sustainable 
business’ priority.

5.0 Finance/Resource Implications

5.1 There are no additional resource requirements arising from this report.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 There are no additional legal implications arising from this report.  Any risks will be 
managed through the Integrated Assurance and Risk Strategy and corporate 
methodology.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That Members note the information contained within the report and take action to 
improve performance where necessary.

Alex FitzGerald
Policy Manager (Corporate, Performance and Information)

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 66



1

Quarterly corporate performance report
Summary of Quarter 3 performance: 1 October – 31 December 2017

This is a summary of the third quarter corporate performance report for 2017/18 covering the 
period from 1 October to 31 December 2017.  It contains:

 A short overview of our Quarter 3 performance 

 Summaries for each of our five priorities

 Appendices containing detail on performance against our priorities, key performance 
indicators and corporate risks

Performance overview

This report contains Quarter 3 progress updates on the 71 projects/activities and the 52 key 
performance indicators set out in the Business Plan 2017/18. The outcome measures1 set out in 
the Business Plan will be reported in Quarters 2 and 4 as data for many of these measures is 
only produced once a year.  The report also updates members on key corporate risk and activity 
to mitigate those.

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 71 0 10 54 7 -
KPIs 52 9 10 28 - 5

Projects/activities (Appendix A)
We have now completed 7 of our 71 key projects/activities.  3 projects/activities were 
completed in Q3 – these are:

 Safe and Warm Grants have been fully introduced – since their introduction in July, the team 
have responded to 49 enquiries. 2 Safe and Warm grants have been completed, 9 have been 
approved and there are 26 in the pipeline. The grants are being well received and are helping 
those vulnerable residents improve the condition of their homes. A review of the policy is taking 
place and in light of the value of works required in homes so far, the grant maximum is being 
increased from £15,000 to £20,000. (2.7b)

 The pilot of the new domestic recycling model provided a detailed set of responses from the 
customers involved, these were used as part of an assessment process with the aim of delivering a 
new service post April 2019. The decision has been taken to await information from the contractors 
bidding for Lot 1 of the waste contract to assess what solutions they may offer. The trial has provided 

1 These are mainly wider contextual measures, such as health or employment figures published by other 
organisations.  Our work will have an influence on these, but they are not directly related to our service provision 
and they will therefore not be attributed with a RAG rating.

Page 67



2

the council with an invaluable experience and set of real time data linked to any outcomes from any 
changes we may introduce in future.(5.9)

 Development of the new Housing Enforcement Policy is progressing well which will incentivise 
landlords to comply with legislative requirements. Incentives such as free training events will continue 
to be offered to relevant landlords. (4.10b)

We are on track with 54 of our 71 key projects/activities.  Highlights this quarter include:

 Successful large Employers Forum held in November to discuss the Skills agenda, and a 
presentation from Great Exhibition of the North 2018, highlighting the opportunities for northern 
businesses to showcase their strengths and innovative activity. (1.3)

 The Autumn Big Allerdale Switch auction took place on 10 October 2017. A total of 228 people 
registered to switch pre auction, 51 (22%) accepted the offer and switched energy company. 
The average saving was £213.00.  People can now register to switch post auction and 
62 people registered. 15 (24%) accepted the offer and switched energy company. The average 
saving was £385.58. (2.7a)

 Work has progressed on the development of a Maryport Regeneration Plan. The wider 
consultation exercise for the Maryport Regeneration Plan has now been completed and the 
Council has been presented with a final draft. (3.1)

 The festival and events fund has supported Keswick Victorian Fayre, Rivers of Light Lantern 
Parade and the Taste Christmas event in Cockermouth this quarter and awarded grant support 
to West Cumbrian Artistic Network for Town Arts Trail in the spring. In total seventeen events 
have been supported to date.(4.6)

 We continue to engage and promote the "LOVEmyBEACH" campaign to deliver the message to 
the public and businesses to prevent pollution to our bathing waters and the beach environment. 
The good news for Allonby is that the bathing water classification for 2017 is now "good". This 
means that the bathing water is generally good quality and is above minimum standards. (4.9)

 The building element of the refurbishment of the reception area has been completed and initial 
feedback from customers, visitors and staff using the facility has been positive. Congestion has 
been reduced through the introduction of a dedicated staff entrance, a "goods in" bay for 
deliveries and a separate customer entrance.(5.1)

There were 10 amber projects/activities:  

 Local Plan Part 2 - Consultation on additional sites commenced in November as planned. 
Overall timetable has slipped due to delays in completing and sign off from external bodies on 
evidence base studies plus reduced resource in the planning policy team.(1.5)

 An updated timetable for the implementation of 100% retention of business rates and the 
proposed scheme has not been finalised so the impact remains unknown. It was announced 
as part of the Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement that local business rates 
retention would move from 50% to 75% in 2020/21.  On 1 September the government 
published an ‘Invitation to Local Authorities in England to pilot 100% Business Rates Retention 
in 2018/19. This pilot will further inform options for the future design of local government 
finance, in particular the technical aspects of the design of any national system of business 
rates retention. This will also allow for the testing of issues relating to administration, technical 
planning, accounting, data collection and IT systems.  Cumbria will not be a Pilot in 2018/19 
but we will maintain a watching brief to ensure the Council is able to understand and plan for 
this move.(1.7)

 Supporting Community Land Trusts - Overall to date the number of applications that were 
forecast to be received but have not been submitted during this quarter is disappointing. There 
is interest from other community groups in the Borrowdale/Keswick areas who are looking at 

Page 68



3

options to set up community groups however, discussions are  still in their infancy and are 
being progressed,  this part of the process is often challenging and can take time for groups to 
establish themselves. (2.4a)

 Work to Helena Thompson Museum is progressing but is behind schedule. Costs provided by 
the contractor have come in at more than twice available budget. WHG informed of costs and 
agreement made to move forward by looking for grant funding to allow scheme to 
progress.(3.5)

 Access into the long term empty property that the Housing team have been dealing with has 
been obtained by the building surveyor and the options appraisal report is due back at the end 
of January. (3.8b)

 Work to develop the Physical Activity Pathway – the project has developed and will now be 
looking to deliver pilot in Workington as well as Wigton. Additional funding is required. Sport 
England grant application has not been submitted yet. GLL are developing a training programme 
for non GLL, community deliverers.  (4.5) 

 Parks for People grant submission - Groundwork appointed to write application. Submission of 
stage 1 application is due to now be in August 2018 instead of February due to additional work 
required following HLF feedback. (4.7c)  

 Implementation of new Land and Property System is slightly behind schedule.  A kick off meeting 
was held in December and both parties outlining requirements.  Scale of work and expertise to 
extract existing data highlighted as issue. Individual service areas working on preparing for 
migration. Supplier slow to arrange access to test environment. (5.4)

 Succession planning activity is behind schedule - the HR Manager has prioritised this in the HR 
plan and the work force planning project will be delivered as part of this. This will in the first 
instance require engagement with all third tier managers to identify their challenges for the 
coming year. Meetings will start in February 2018.(5.17)

There were no red project/activities.

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

28 of our 52 KPIs are green this quarter.  

There are 10 KPIs rated as amber, these are:

 Occupancy rate of temporary accommodation units has fallen below target as one 
property was vacant for a month as there were no referrals or people in need of 
temporary accommodation. (KHH03)

 90% of major planning applications determined within statutory period, against target of 95% - 
slightly below target for Q3 due to one application being determined outside the statutory period. 
Overall performance measured over a 2 year period as required by DCLG remains at 98.9% 
(KDS01)

 92% of minor planning applications determined within statutory period, against target of 95% - 
below target for Q3 but 100% achieved for December. (KDS02) 

 90.0% of invoices from local Cumbrian businesses paid within 14 days, an improvement on Q1 
and Q2 but still slightly below target – still some issues to resolve with prompt receipting of 
purchase orders when goods/services delivered, main underlying issue quarter identified as 
invoices being received without a valid purchase order. This delays processing the invoice for 
payment and work is on-going to address this issue (KFS02)

Page 69



4

 99% of public conveniences cleaned within the Service Level Agreement against a target of 
100% (KFS03)

 Leisure centre usage at Workington slightly off target for Q3, but still on track to achieve the 
annual increase of 20% on last year’s usage. Membership uptake has started to level off. The 
centre continue to add new activities and engage with different groups to encourage use of the 
facilities. (KCS03c)

 Average speed of answer on calls to 03031231702 now at 46 seconds against a target of 45 
seconds – this KPI has shown consistent improvement this year and is now very close to 
achieving target (KCTC04)

 Average no. of ICT support calls outstanding per day shows off target performance and a slight 
decline in performance from Q2 (KCTC10b) -  varying project workloads and staff taking leave 
means that outstanding number of calls has yet to show reductions

 NNDR collection rate slightly below target but higher than same point last year. Still expected to 
achieve annual target (KCTC13)

 Council Tax collection rate - the debt raised has increased in Q2 thereby pushing the collection 
rate slightly under target. Collection rate changes mirror those in last year and therefore still 
expected to achieve the annual target. (KCTC14)

There are 9 KPIs rated as red, these are:

 64 housing units granted planning permission against a target of 103 - although below target 
there a number of planning applications where Development Panel have resolved to grant 
planning permission but decisions have not yet been issued due to the need to complete s106 
agreements or are under consideration by the Secretary of State. (KDS03)

 Just 7 affordable homes facilitated by the Council in Q3 - affordable homes provision delivered 
in Cockermouth and Thursby.  The number of affordable homes delivered are determined by 
the developer output as opposed to being a performance related target as such.  The Council 
has limited control of the delivery rates (KHH01)

 Only 50% of Safe and Warm Grants approved within 10 weeks of initial enquiry - 8 
Grants have been approved in this quarter so 50% represents 4 cases.  As these are 
new grants they are taking longer to process than initially anticipated, but as time goes 
on the timescales are reducing. Cases that have not been approved within 10 weeks are 
complex cases that have needed more officer involvement. (KHH05)

 2 empty property grants completed now occupied in this quarter. 12 grants are in 
progress and there has been 2 new Empty Home Grant approvals. A further 9 cases are 
in the pipeline. (KHH06)

 Leisure centre usage at Keswick is slightly off target for Q3. Majority of trade is during the school 
holidays, Q3 is out of the main tourist season and uptake during October half term not as 
predicted. Swim courses and membership continues to be at their highest. (KCS03a)

 83% of Disabled Facilities Grants approved within 10 weeks from receipt of referral, a slight 
improvement on Q2 but still below the target of 100% - out of the 38 grants approved in Q3, 7 
were approved outside of the 10 week referral to approval target time. (KHH07)

 Only 75% of Discretionary Disability Grants approved within 10 weeks of first inspection date - 
out of the 8 grants approved in Q3, 2 were approved outside of the 10 weeks of first inspection 
date. (KHH08)

 Further below target fluctuations have been seen in Q3 in terms of website unique page views per 
day. We are continuing to add more forms to the website and promote different aspects of it to 
encourage using it to complete tasks. (KCTC07)

Page 70



5

 Average no. of working days lost to sickness absence per employee per annum was 8.67 at the end 
of Q3 against a target of 7 days showing an improvement on the Q2 position.  There has been a 
reduction in cumulative days lost at the end of quarter 3 17/18. Compared to the same period in 
winter last year there has been a reduction of 58 days sickness during this quarter. (KPR01)

Key Corporate Risks (Appendix C)

All strategic risks identified are contained within the Corporate Risk and Issues Log. Key risks 
(those which score 9 and above) are included in this report.  There are currently 14 key risks which 
have been reviewed by the Senior Management Team. The current Key Risks Report setting out 
mitigating actions can be found in Appendix C to this report.

The information in this report relates to activity to the end of December 2017.

Page 71



6

Strengthening our economy summary 
We aim to create a strong, sustainable and vibrant local economy and create jobs

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 7 0 2 4 1 -
KPIs 10 1 3 4 - 2

Projects/activities (Appendix A)

Green highlights
 Successful large Employers Forum held in November to discuss the Skills agenda, and a 

presentation from Great Exhibition of the North 2018, highlighting the opportunities for northern 
businesses to showcase their strengths and innovative activity. (1.3)

 Progress being made on facilitating new sites for housing. HCA have appointed external agents to 
carry-out viability assessment on Westfield Drive, Moorclose, and Former Southfield School sites.  
A site visit by the agents was carried out on 14 December.   CCC still to confirm that they are ok to 
proceed to next stage with former Southfield site.  HCA to follow this up.  ABC awaiting outcome of 
application. (1.4)

Amber – areas to watch
 Local Plan Part 2 - Consultation on additional sites commenced in November as planned. Overall 

timetable has slipped due to delays in completing and sign off from external bodies on evidence 
base studies plus reduced resource in the planning policy team.(1.5)

 An updated timetable for the implementation of 100% retention of business rates and the proposed 
scheme has not been finalised so the impact remains unknown. It was announced as part of the 
Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement that local business rates retention would move 
from 50% to 75% in 2020/21.  On 1 September the government published an ‘Invitation to Local 
Authorities in England to pilot 100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/19. This pilot will further 
inform options for the future design of local government finance, in particular the technical aspects 
of the design of any national system of business rates retention. This will also allow for the testing 
of issues relating to administration, technical planning, accounting, data collection and IT systems.  
Cumbria will not be a Pilot in 2018/19 but we will maintain a watching brief to ensure the Council is 
able to understand and plan for this move.(1.7)

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

Green highlights
 99% of full plans determined within 5 weeks (Building Control) (KDS08)

 135 housing completions against a target of 86 (KDS04)

 99.22% of land charges searches carried out within 10 working days against a target of 95% 
(KGVO01)

Amber – areas to watch
 90% of major planning applications determined within statutory period, against target of 95% - slightly 

below target for Q3 due to one application being determined outside the statutory period. Overall 
performance measured over a 2 year period as required by DCLG remains at 98.9% (KDS01)

 92% of minor planning applications determined within statutory period, against target of 95% - 
below target for Q3 but 100% achieved for December. (KDS02) 

Page 72



7

 90.0% of invoices from local Cumbrian businesses paid within 14 days, an improvement on Q1 and 
Q2 but still slightly below target – still some issues to resolve with prompt receipting of purchase 
orders when goods/services delivered, main underlying issue quarter identified as invoices being 
received without a valid purchase order. This delays processing the invoice for payment and work 
is on-going to address this issue (KFS02)

Red – areas of concern
 64 housing units granted planning permission against a target of 103 - although below target there 

a number of planning applications where Development Panel have resolved to grant planning 
permission but decisions have not yet been issued due to the need to complete s106 agreements 
or are under consideration by the Secretary of State. (KDS03)

Page 73



8

Tackling inequality summary 
We aim to reduce poverty and support people facing financial difficulties

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 12 0 1 10 1 -
KPIs 8 2 1 5 - 0

Projects/activities (Appendix A)

Blue highlights – completed this quarter
 Safe and Warm Grants have been fully introduced – since their introduction in July, the team have 

responded to 49 enquiries. 2 Safe and Warm grants have been completed, 9 have been approved 
and there are 26 in the pipeline. The grants are being well received and are helping those vulnerable 
residents improve the condition of their homes. A review of the policy is taking place and in light of 
the value of works required in homes so far, the grant maximum is being increased from £15,000 to 
£20,000. (2.7b)

Green highlights
 Discussions held with a number of developers to talk about affordable housing on their sites 

including sites in Cockermouth, Wigton and Brigham. The Council have also appointed architects 
to look at the development options of a G&T site, and early informal discussions with HCA held to 
seek advice about funding from the affordable homes programme if this project proceeds further. 
(2.4d) 

 The Autumn Big Allerdale Switch auction took place on 10 October 2017. A total of 228 people 
registered to switch pre auction, 51 (22%) accepted the offer and switched energy company. The 
average saving was £213.00.  People can now register to switch post auction and 62 people 
registered. 15 (24%) accepted the offer and switched energy company. The average saving 
was £385.58. (2.7a)

Amber – areas to watch
 Supporting Community Land Trusts - Overall to date the number of applications that were forecast 

to be received but have not been submitted during this quarter is disappointing. There is interest 
from other community groups in the Borrowdale/Keswick areas who are looking at options to set up 
community groups however, discussions are  still in their infancy and are being progressed,  this 
part of the process is often challenging and can take time for groups to establish themselves. (2.4a)

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

Green highlights

 Target of 20 days processing time for processing Housing Benefit new claims exceeded – 13 
days achieved in Q3 (KCTC01a)

 Target of 20 days processing time for processing Council Tax new claims exceeded – 16 days 
achieved in Q3 (KCTC01b)

 8 day target exceeded for processing Housing Benefit/Council Tax change of circumstances 
(KCTC02)

 100% of homeless decisions made within guideline 33 days (KHH04)

Page 74



9

Amber – areas to watch
 Occupancy rate of temporary accommodation units has fallen below target as one property was 

vacant for a month as there were no referrals or people in need of temporary accommodation. 
(KHH03)

Red – areas of concern
 Just 7 affordable homes facilitated by the Council in Q3 - affordable homes provision delivered 

in Cockermouth and Thursby.  The number of affordable homes delivered are determined by the 
developer output as opposed to being a performance related target as such.  The Council has 
limited control of the delivery rates (KHH01)

 Only 50% of Safe and Warm Grants approved within 10 weeks of initial enquiry - 8 Grants 
have been approved in this quarter so 50% represents 4 cases.  As these are new grants 
they are taking longer to process than initially anticipated, but as time goes on the timescales 
are reducing. Cases that have not been approved within 10 weeks are complex cases that 
have needed more officer involvement. (KHH05)

Page 75



10

Enhancing our towns summary
We aim to create thriving towns that are attractive and welcoming and retain 

their distinctive characters

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 11 0 2 9 0 -
KPIs 2 1 1 0 - 0

Projects/activities (Appendix A)

Green highlights
 Work has progressed on the development of a Maryport Regeneration Plan. The wider consultation 

exercise for the Maryport Regeneration Plan has now been completed and the Council has been 
presented with a final draft. (3.1)

 Tourism Strategy launched at business breakfast briefing in December.  Strategic partnership 
agreed with Cumbria Tourism to enable Allerdale businesses to target more customers by featuring 
on both the new Allerdale visitor website and CT's website. (3.2)

 Flood resilience measures still ongoing via the PLR flood grants, this is due to close at the end of 
this financial year. Community capital grants schemes available via the council. Working with Town 
and Parish Councils and external agencies in applying various flood alleviation works as and when 
required.(3.10)

 As part of the National Empty Homes week in October, empty homes grants were promoted 
through social media and a countywide newsletter that was produced. This saw an increase in 
enquiries and the team have now inspected 8 empty homes with a view to processing the 
grant. Due to budget constraints a waiting list has been created - this currently has 14 empty home 
owners on. A total of 14 grants are approved - 11 of these are historic cases that for various 
reasons have taken longer to complete than anticipated.  In Q3 a further 2 Empty Homes Grants 
have been approved and 2 have been completed. (3.8a)

Amber – areas to watch
 Work to Helena Thompson Museum is progressing but is behind schedule. Costs provided by the 

contractor have come in at more than twice available budget. WHG informed of costs and 
agreement made to move forward by looking for grant funding to allow scheme to progress.(3.5)

 Access into the long term empty property that the Housing team have been dealing with has been 
obtained by the building surveyor and the options appraisal report is due back at the end of 
January. (3.8b)

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

Amber – areas to watch
 99% of public conveniences cleaned within the Service Level Agreement against a target of 100% 

(KFS03)

Red – areas of concern
 2 empty property grants completed now occupied in this quarter. 12 grants are in progress and there 

has been 2 new Empty Home Grant approvals. A further 9 cases are in the pipeline. (KHH06)

Page 76



11

Improving health and wellbeing summary
We aim to help people live healthy and active lives and reduce health inequalities

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 18 0 2 14 2 -
KPIs 11 3 1 7 - 0

Projects/activities (Appendix A)

Blue – completed this quarter
 Development of the new Housing Enforcement Policy is progressing well which will incentivise 

landlords to comply with legislative requirements. Incentives such as free training events will continue 
to be offered to relevant landlords. (4.10b)

Green highlights
 With the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing Forum, the Council ran a winter campaign based on 

recycling, taking a brisk walk in Allerdale and a mocktail stand offering an alcohol free alternative to 
cocktails.(4.1)

 The festival and events fund has supported Keswick Victorian Fayre, Rivers of Light Lantern Parade 
and the Taste Christmas event in Cockermouth this quarter and awarded grant support to West 
Cumbrian Artistic Network for Town Arts Trail in the spring. In total seventeen events have been 
supported to date.(4.6)

 We continue to engage and promote the "LOVEmyBEACH" campaign to deliver the message to the 
public and businesses to prevent pollution to our bathing waters and the beach environment. The 
good news for Allonby is that the bathing water classification for 2017 is now "good". This means that 
the bathing water is generally good quality and is above minimum standards. (4.9)

Amber – areas to watch
 Work to develop the Physical Activity Pathway – the project has developed and will now be 

looking to deliver pilot in Workington as well as Wigton. Additional funding is required. Sport 
England grant application has not been submitted yet. GLL are developing a training programme 
for non GLL, community deliverers.  (4.5) 

 Parks for People grant submission - Groundwork appointed to write application. Submission of 
stage 1 application is due to now be in August 2018 instead of February due to additional work 
required following HLF feedback. (4.7c)  

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

Green highlights
 Above target leisure centre usage at Cockermouth and The Wave (KCS03b and d)

 Workington Leisure Centre usage by target groups above target (KCS04a, KCS04b, KCS04c)

 Programmed private water supply sampling and food safety inspections (Category A-B) both on 
target and showing improved position from Q2 (KHH09 and KHH10)

Page 77



12

Amber – areas to watch
 Leisure centre usage at Workington slightly off target for Q3, but still on track to achieve the annual 

increase of 20% on last year’s usage. Membership uptake has started to level off. The centre 
continue to add new activities and engage with different groups to encourage use of the 
facilities. (KCS03c)

Red – areas of concern
 Leisure centre usage at Keswick is slightly off target for Q3. Majority of trade is during the school 

holidays, Q3 is out of the main tourist season and uptake during October half term not as predicted. 
Swim courses and membership continues to be at their highest. (KCS03a)

 83% of Disabled Facilities Grants approved within 10 weeks from receipt of referral, a slight 
improvement on Q2 but still below the target of 100% - out of the 38 grants approved in Q3, 7 were 
approved outside of the 10 week referral to approval target time. (KHH07)

 Only 75% of Discretionary Disability Grants approved within 10 weeks of first inspection date - out of 
the 8 grants approved in Q3, 2 were approved outside of the 10 weeks of first inspection date. 
(KHH08) 

Page 78



13

Creating a sustainable business summary
We aim develop a commercially focused organization committed to delivering high 

quality, sustainable services to the people, communities and businesses of Allerdale

Summary of Quarter 3 position Total Red Amber Green Blue Not 
targeted

Projects/activities 23 0 3 17 3 -
KPIs 21 2 4 12 - 3

Projects/activities (Appendix A)

Blue highlights – completed this quarter
 The pilot of the new domestic recycling model provided a detailed set of responses from the 

customers involved, these were used as part of an assessment process with the aim of delivering a 
new service post April 2019. The decision has been taken to await information from the contractors 
bidding for Lot 1 of the waste contract to assess what solutions they may offer. The trial has provided 
the council with an invaluable experience and set of real time data linked to any outcomes from any 
changes we may introduce in future.(5.9)

 Green highlights
 The building element of the refurbishment of the reception area has been completed and initial 

feedback from customers, visitors and staff using the facility has been positive. Congestion has been 
reduced through the introduction of a dedicated staff entrance, a "goods in" bay for deliveries and a 
separate customer entrance.(5.1)

 Work is now well underway to migrate the GIS system into a cloud based service and work on the 
new website is now at an advanced stage with designs agreed and the test website being populated 
with information. (5.1)

 The number of customers registering to use the myAllerdale system continues to increase. Use of 
the on-line service continues to grow with an average of 500 service reports and 500 new customer 
registrations each month during Q3. (5.2)

 Improvements to procurement procedures and practices – Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement Strategy now adopted by SMT. Buyers guide on the Council Website.  (5.5)

Amber – areas to watch
 Implementation of new Land and Property System is slightly behind schedule.  A kick off meeting 

was held in December and both parties outlining requirements.  Scale of work and expertise to 
extract existing data highlighted as issue. Individual service areas working on preparing for 
migration. Supplier slow to arrange access to test environment. (5.4)

 Succession planning activity is behind schedule - the HR Manager has prioritised this in the HR 
plan and the work force planning project will be delivered as part of this. This will in the first 
instance require engagement with all third tier managers to identify their challenges for the 
coming year. Meetings will start in February 2018.(5.17)

Key performance indicators (Appendix B)

Green highlights
 1609 new customer registrations to myAllerdale (KCTC03)

Page 79



14

 Abandoned calls rate now at 5% against a target of 7% - performance has improved again since Q2 
(KCTC05)

 Customer satisfaction score at 91% for Q3 (KCTC06)

 Estimated Q3 figures for residual household waste and household waste sent for recycling suggest 
an improved position on the same quarter last year (KCS01 and KCS02)

Amber – areas to watch
 Average speed of answer on calls to 03031231702 now at 46 seconds against a target of 45 

seconds – this KPI has shown consistent improvement this year and is now very close to achieving 
target (KCTC04)

 Average no. of ICT support calls outstanding per day shows off target performance and a slight 
decline in performance from Q2 (KCTC10b) -  varying project workloads and staff taking leave 
means that outstanding number of calls has yet to show reductions

 NNDR collection rate slightly below target but higher than same point last year. Still expected to 
achieve annual target (KCTC13)

 Council Tax collection rate - the debt raised has increased in Q2 thereby pushing the collection rate 
slightly under target. Collection rate changes mirror those in last year and therefore still expected to 
achieve the annual target. (KCTC14)

Red – areas of concern
 Further below target fluctuations have been seen in Q3 in terms of website unique page views per 

day. We are continuing to add more forms to the website and promote different aspects of it to 
encourage using it to complete tasks. (KCTC07)

 Average no. of working days lost to sickness absence per employee per annum was 8.67 at the end 
of Q3 against a target of 7 days showing an improvement on the Q2 position.  There has been a 
reduction in cumulative days lost at the end of quarter 3 17/18. Compared to the same period in 
winter last year there has been a reduction of 58 days sickness during this quarter. (KPR01)

Page 80



15

Definitions

Projects/activities Key Performance Indicators

Blue Complete

Green
Everything is on target / satisfactory 
progress is being made / no action 
required

On, or better than, target

Amber
There are concerns over achieving 
deadlines or outputs  / there are issues to 
rectify, but plans are in place to get the 
project back on track

Worse than target (up to 10% variance) 
- some action may be required to 
improve performance

Red
There are significant  concerns over 
achieving outputs / there is serious 
slippage in the timetable / there are major 
issues to rectify

Significantly worse than target (>10% 
variance) – action required to improve 
performance

Appendices
A. Key projects/activities
B. Key performance measures
C. Key corporate risks

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



Appendix A - Business Plan 2017/18 Q3 report - activities/projects

Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

We aim to create a strong, sustainable and vibrant local economy and create jobs
1.1 Adopt a Developer Contributions 

Supplementary Planning Document to 
ensure that new developments include the 
infrastructure improvements necessary to 
support the development

31/05/2017 Reduces the 
potential cost to 
the Council by 
requiring 
developers to 
contribute to the 
provision of 
infrastructure

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Economic Growth Developer Contributions SPD was formally adopted by Full Council 
on 26 July 2017. Project is now complete.

Blue Blue

1.2 Implement the ‘strengthening general 
conditions’ growth actions within the 
Business Growth Strategy including supporting 
local entrepreneurial initiatives and reviewing 
the lifecycle of businesses

31/03/2020 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income

Nik Hardy Economic Growth The Council's continued support of the Cumbria Growth Hub has 
ensured that  over 40 businesses have successfully accessed 
business support . This has resulted in 24 jobs being created. The 
necessary agreements to create a loans fund next year are being 
finalised. 

Green

SIIF grant scheme - there is a waiting list of projects for this financial 
year.  Those not funded will be carried over in to the new financial year - 
subject to continued funding from Sellafield.

Green

1.3 Implement the Strengthening Manufacturing 
offer actions within the Business Growth 
Strategy such as developing a manufacturing 
forum and large employer engagement

31/03/2020 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income  

Nik Hardy Economic Growth The Council has continued to engage with a number of employers 
throughout the Borough. Large employer breakfast forum 
scheduled for 29th November hosted by New Balance. 

Green

Successful large Employers Forum held in November to discuss the 
Skills agenda, and a presentation from Great Exhibition of the North 
2018, highlighting the opportunities for northern businesses to showcase 
their strengths and innovative activity. Green

1.4 Work with the Homes and Communities 
Agency to facilitate the development of new 
sites for housing, this may include partnering 
arrangements with developers. Specific targets 
will be set for individual sites once identified. 

31/03/2018 Contribution to 
increased NHB 
and Council Tax

Kevin 
Kerrigan/ 
Nik Hardy/ 
Graeme 
Wilson

Economic Growth/ 
Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

HCA have advised (Oct 17) that they are unable to consider 
package of small sites for this programme due to geography and 
viability of sites.  Still progressing Southfield School, Moorclose 
Leisure Centre, Westfield drive Amber

HCA have appointed external agents to carry-out viability assessment on 
Westfield Drive, Moorclose, and Former Southfield School sites.  A site 
visit by the agents was carried out on 14.12.2017   CCC still to confirm 
that they are ok to proceed to next stage with former Southfield site.  
HCA to follow this up.  ABC awaiting outcome of application.

Green

1.5 Undertake formal consultations and submission 
to Secretary of State for examination prior to 
adoption of Local Plan Part 2 in July 2018 to 
identify sites for development and support 
growth in the borough 

31/07/2018 Contribution to 
increased NHB, 
Council Tax and 
Business Rates

Nik Hardy Economic Growth Review of comments from the preferred options consultation is 
underway. Additional evidence base work, site assessments and 
policy amendments are required. A consultation is planned for 
November concentrating on additional site submitted earlier in the 
year. 

Green

Consultation on additional sites commenced in November as planned. 
Overall timetable has slipped due to delays in completing and sign off 
from external bodies on evidence base studies plus reduced resource in 
the planning policy team. Amber

1.6 Deliver actions to develop new market and 
affordable housing as set out in the Housing 
Strategy including:
 Supporting developers to provide a range of 
options to deliver affordable housing through 
HCA schemes
 Maximising housing opportunities to drive 
economic growth
 Developing partnerships to deliver new 
housing
Using Council assets to deliver housing

31/03/2021 Contribution to 
increased NHB 
and Council Tax

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

1. Housing Development Team have now received an up to date 
list of developers applications that are due to expire and sites are 
stalled.  This will provide the team the opportunity to make contact 
with private sector developers to help understand stalled site 
issues where funding is a factor.  We will work with them to look at 
opportunities to sign-post to HCA to assist in accessing SME 
funding, or other HCA funding streams.  During Q2 we have had 
no requests from the HCA to support development through Social 
Housing Landlords (RPs) in Allerdale. We will continue to meet 
with them (RPs) to understand why this is.  
2. The Council provided capital funding to support the works to 
enable a prperty to be retained in social housing for the next 5 
years providing a family home for a young couple who are working 
in the Ambulance services as paramedics in the area.   
3.  Westfield Dr, working with WFHA/Two Castles to evaluate 
viability of site & discussion with HCA for potential funding to carry 
out surveys and clear-up of site.  HCA are currently working on 
due diligence through the Accelerated Housing Programme.
4. Maryport WC is progressing.  Completed tender exercise for 
contracts to carry out the work in Sept 2017.  

Green

1.  System established to support and encourage developers in the 
provision of affordable homes. Meetings with relevant developers being 
arranged. 2. There have been no requests made by RPs for funding 
from the HCA to develop affordable housing in the area. Although some 
providers have held informal discussions about potential purchase of 
affordable units on new developments such as Strawberry Grange and 
Lowca Lane SBCB. 3.  The Council awarded grant funding of £9483.34 
through the captial funding to Castles and Coasts to retain properties in 
social housing following a request to dispose.  This property was 
allocated to a Paramedic who has joined the service from Poland and is 
working for Cumbria Ambulance service. he is now living in West 
Cumbria with his partner.  The Harrington Road, GP trainee 
accommodation project continues to be a popular project with the 
scheme being fully utilised and positive messages from trainee GPs in 
respect of living and working in the area.

Green

Strengthening our economy

P
age 83



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

1.7 Undertake an assessment of the impact of 
100% retention of business rates so that the 
Council can fully understand and plan for the 
implications in our Medium Term Financial Plan

31/03/2019 Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

An updated timetable for the implementation of 100% retention of 
business rates and the proposed scheme are not yet available so 
the impact remains unknown.  On 1 September the government 
published an ‘Invitation to Local Authorities in England to pilot 
100% Business Rates Retention in 2018/19. This pilot will further 
inform options for the future design of local government finance, in 
particular the technical aspects of the design of any national 
system of business rates retention. This will also allow for the 
testing of issues relating to administration, technical planning, 
accounting, data collection and IT systems.
Regardless of whether Cumbria take the decision to participate in 
the Pilot scheme we will maintain a watching brief to ensure the 
Council is able to understand and plan for this move.

Amber

An updated timetable for the implementation of 100% retention of 
business rates and the proposed scheme has not been finalised so the 
impact remains unknown.  

It was announced as part of the Provisional Local Government Finance 
Settlement that local business rates retention would move from 50% to 
75% in 2020/21

On 1 September the government published an ‘Invitation to Local 
Authorities in England to pilot 100% Business Rates Retention in 
2018/19. This pilot will further inform options for the future design of local 
government finance, in particular the technical aspects of the design of 
any national system of business rates retention. This will also allow for 
the testing of issues relating to administration, technical planning, 
accounting, data collection and IT systems.
Cumbria will not be a Pilot in 2018/19 but we will maintain a watching 
brief to ensure the Council is able to understand and plan for this move.

Amber

We aim to reduce poverty and support people facing financial difficulties
2.1 Deliver the increasing wider employment 

actions within the Business Growth Strategy to 
gain a better understanding of the issues facing 
an under-represented group in Allerdale’s 
workforce and activity to encourage more 
women into business.

31/03/2020 Longer term 
reduction in 
expenditure 
supporting 
vulnerable groups

Nik Hardy Economic Growth Work continues to progress over a number workstreams. More 
detailed work into women returners to the job market is currently 
being scoped with external support and additional work is being 
finalised for the survey of childcare provision. Green

Research undertaken to identify the nature of this issue. Research 
identified weakness in the initial research base data. There is a growing 
number of women returners seeking work, but more research would be 
necessary to identify the causes - childcare issues etc. or more stringent 
UC requirements versus actual intention to return to work.

Green

2.2 Work with partners to ensure that there is a 
network of support for young people to 
enhance their employability (Business Growth 
Strategy – Strengthening Manufacturing priority 
actions) 

31/03/2018 Longer term 
reduction in 
expenditure 
supporting 
vulnerable groups

Nik Hardy Economic Growth Working with BEC Business Cluster Socio Economic Group to 
continue working with schools and employers. 

Green

Activity being undertaken by the BECBC socio-economic group and 
CoNE skills group. BECBC SE group is bidding for funding to run 
activity.

Green

2.3 Deliver the Tackling Poverty Strategy action 
plan including:
 Supporting schemes such as the Foodbank 
to help those in greatest need
 Working in partnership with the LEP to deliver 
significant EU funded programmes to create 
pathways into employment
 Supporting advice and advocacy services 
 Building financial capability and resilience 
through debt advice and other support

31/12/2020 Paul Wood / 
Nik Hardy

Economic Growth/ 
Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing / 
Transformation

The Task and Finish group (TFG) set up by Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee have been undertaking a review of the draft Tackling 
Poverty Strategy and considering appropriate future actions that 
the Council should take to tackle poverty across the borough. The 
TFG are now preparing their report and recommendations for the 
Overview and Scrutiny committee to consider in December.
Executive considered and approved funding in September to 
support the West Cumbria Credit Union and the work that they are 
doing to build financial resilience and support those on low 
incomes through offering more affordable loans.

Green

The Tackling Poverty Task and Finish group (TFG) reported to Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee in December 2017 with a series of 
recommendations including that the draft Tackling Poverty Strategy be 
sent to Executive for consideration and adoption - Executive are due to 
consider the Scrutiny report and recommendations in February 2018.

Green

2.4 Deliver the objective to develop affordable 
housing in the Housing Strategy including:

31/03/2021 Increased 
contribution to 
NHB and Council 

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Tackling inequality

P
age 84



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

2.4a Empowering communities to deliver 
affordable housing through Community Land 
Trusts

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

1. New grant application for Community housing funding went live 
in September 2017.  Three types of grants available: small grants 
up to £1,000, medium grants up to £10,000 and large grants 
exceed £10,000.  Grants can be for revenue or capital funding.  
An evaluation process is in place which is managed by the 
Housing Development Manager, and sign-off will be determined 
on officer authorisation levels.  The Council has received its first 
revenue funding application from Above Derwent CLT in 
September 2017.  This funding will support the group in going 
some way to support their opportunities to develop Pow Wood, 
Portinscale.    Information about Community Housing Grants is 
now available on the Council website and can be applied for using 
the on-line process.  The Housing Development Team are also 
working with Caldbeck to look at opportunities to establish a group 
in this area, and initial discussions with Keswick Youth Group have 
also taken place.

Green

1.  1 revenue grant application has been received as approved. 
(Revenue funding ADCLT). 1 capital grant application received in 
December 17.  outcome to be confirmed.                                                           
2. A Countywide Community Housing Fund event took place in 19th 
October 2017.  Community Groups across Cumbria attending and was 
supported by Guest Speakers from North East, and other local 
providers.3.  There is interest from other community groups in the 
Borrowdale/Keswick areas who are looking at options to set up 
community groups however, discussions are  still in their infancy and are 
being progressed,  this part of the process is often challenging and can 
take time for groups to establish themselves.  4.  Overall to date the 
number of applications that were forecast to be received but have not 
been submitted during this quarter is disappointing.

Amber

2.4b Supporting developers to provide a range of 
options to deliver affordable housing through 
HCA schemes

2/3 new 
CLTs 
established 
by 2021

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Using the up to date list of developers applications that are due to 
expire and sites are stalled the team are looking to contact 
developers where sites may benefit from progressing via referral to 
HCA as SMEs.  

Amber

System established to support and encourage developers in the 
provision of affordable homes. Meetings with relevant developers being 
arranged.

Green

2.4c Proactive work with RPs to evaluate 
allocations for housing to ensure there is a 
fair and transparent approach to support 
those in greatest housing need

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Provided advice to both Home Group and Castles & Coasts on 
application of the LLP policy

Green

The team have set up a process in which to look at allocations and how 
they are being managed using Cumbria Choice.

Green

2.4d Maximising affordable housing provision 
through early discussion/negotiation with 
planning officers and developers

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Attended 3 developer meeting during this quarter.  1. Story's 2. 
Home group development.  3.  Kirkcross development.

Green

Held discussions with a number of developers to discuss affordable 
housing on sites  including; Story Homes re Cockermouth phase 2, Bill 
Dobbie, Cockermouth fire station, Nick Bailey Genesis re Brigham and 
Wigton sites,  Lowca Lane Seaton re SBCB development.  The Council 
have also appointed J&W architects to look at the development options 
of a G&T site.

Green

2.5 Deliver the actions in the Housing Strategy to 
reduce or prevent homelessness including:
Undertaking early preventative work
Reviewing temporary homeless 
accommodation to ensure resource matches 
demand
Exploring options to provide a full emergency 
accommodation service for single non-priority 
homeless

31/03/2021 Contribute 
towards reduction 
in temporary 
accommodation 
costs

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Work progressing to bring the service into line with the new 
Homelessness Reduction Act which starts in April 2018.

Green

Work ongoing to implement a new ICT system that will facilitate the 
provisions and implementation of the Homelessness Reduction Act 
2018. Tender scoping documents being prepared to send out to 
potential bidders.

Green

2.6 Engage with Cumbria County Council to 
facilitate Syrian refugee resettlement in 
Allerdale

Resettle 5 
families by 
31/3/2018

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Next flight of refugees due in January 2018. Contact with County 
ongoing.

Green

Still attending meetings and representing Allerdale at County level

Green

2.7 Undertake a programme of activity to 
address fuel poverty and affordable warmth 
including:

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

P
age 85



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

2.7a Running the Big Allerdale Switch three times 
a year and targeting towards our deprived 
neighbourhoods

Feb, May 
Oct 2017

Income generated 
from no. of 
registrants that 
switch 

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

The summer Big Allerdale Switch was launched on 8th August 
2017. Social media messages have been continuous throughout 
the registration period. A live radio interview with BBC Radio 
Cumbria took place on the day of the launch. Members of 
the Housing and Health team have also attended numerous 
events in the area to promote the scheme. The auction takes 
place on 10th October 2017 and to date 219 households have 
registered. Income from the February 2017 Auction was received 
in August and equated to £823.50.

Green

The Autumn Big Allerdale Switch auction took place on 10th October 
2017. A total of 228 people registered to switch pre auction, 51 (22%) 
accepted the offer and switched energy company. The average saving 
was £213.00.  People can now register to switch post auction and 
62 people registered. 15 (24%) accepted the offer and switched energy 
company. The average saving was £385.58. The Winter Big Allerdale 
Switch was launched on 5th December 2017 and the auction takes place 
on 13th February 2018. Throughout December the team attended 
some Winter ready events to promote the scheme and leaflet drops are 
undertaken when time allows. The Big Allerdale Switch has also been 
promoted in the new grant literature produced by the team. 

Green

2.7b Introduction of Discretionary Safe and Warm 
Grants

From April 
2017

Income generated 
from ABC fee 
(10%)

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

The introduction of the discretionary Safe and Warm Grants 
commenced in July. In this quarter 2 Safe and Warm Grants have 
been approved and 22 new cases are in the pipeline. Of the 2 
grants approved 1 has been completed and a 
vulnerable household has benefited from a replacement heating 
system that they would have otherwise been unable to afford to 
replace.

Green

Since the introduction of the Safe and Warm grants in July, the team 
have responded to 49 enquiries. 2 Safe and Warm grants have been 
completed, 9 have been approved and there are 26 in the pipeline. The 
grants are being well received and are helping those vulnerable 
residents improve the condition of their homes. A review of the policy is 
taking place and in light of the value of works required in homes so far, 
the grant maximum is being increased from £15,000 to £20,000. 

Blue

2.8 Target Council apprenticeships to people 
from priority areas to provide targeted 
employment opportunities 

31/12/2017 Brendan 
Carlin

Governance & 
People 
Resources

The levy money is now being utilised to fund a number of 
apprenticeships for existing employees. These include; Project 
Management, AAT and Building Surveying. There are also 
proposals to introduce a Pest Control Apprentice in the coming 
months. Conversations continue with managers to identify areas 
where we can utilise the levy. Where external recruitment to 
apprenticeships is taking place, we will endeavour to target people 
from priority areas within the Borough. 

Green

The levy money is now being utilised to fund a number of 
apprenticeships for existing employees. These include; Project 
Management, AAT and Building Surveying.  Conversations continue with 
managers to identify areas where we can utilise the levy. Where external 
recruitment to apprenticeships is taking place, we will endeavour to 
target people from priority areas within the Borough. Opportunities for 
apprenticeships will be discussed as part of the third tier manager 
meetings. 

Green

We aim to create thriving towns that are attractive and welcoming, and retain their distinctive characters
3.1 Implement the ‘Improve the vitality of 

Allerdale’s local centres’ actions within the 
Business Growth Strategy including the 
development of a Maryport Regeneration Plan 

31/03/2018 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income and 
reduce costs 
associated with 
areas of decline

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Economic Growth The Maryport plan has progressed and the consultants are now 
ready to broaden their consultation on suggested activities 
contained within the report. Meetings have been held with night 
time economy businesses in Workington as the Council seeks to 
consider the Purple Flag process. Green

The wider consultation exercise for the Maryport Regeneration Plan has 
now been completed and the Council has been presented with a final 
draft.

Green

3.2 Implement the new approach to the tourism 
offer actions within the Business Growth Plan 
including branding activity, website 
development, and promotional materials

31/03/2020 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income 

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Tourism and 
Culture

The Destination Manager post has been advertised. A revised 
visitor guide is taking shape and will form part of the promotional 
materials at the Group Travel Show.

Green

Tourism Strategy launched at business breakfast briefing on 13/12/17. 
 Visitor website tendered, quotes due 19/01/18. Allerdale leaflet and map 
revised after business feedback. Brand architecture agreed - Allerdale 
logo supported by partner logos of the two World Heritage Sites and 
Solway Coast AONB. Strategic partnership agreed with Cumbria 
Tourism to enable Allerdale business to target more customers by 
featuring on both the new Allerdale visitor website and CT's website.

Green

3.3 Continue to support the development of 
coastal communities teams and the 
implementation of their economic plans

31/03/2018 Increased 
opportunity to 
generate 
additional 
business rates 
income and 
reduce costs 
associated with 
areas of decline

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Tourism and 
Culture

Maryport Area CCT meeting to revitalise the group and to consider 
projects for next funding round scheduled for 3 October, Silloth 
CCT scheduled for 9 October

Green

Silloth and Maryport CCT teams met in October 2017 to plan their bid 
documents. Both teams are scheduled to meet again in February 2018 
to finalise their priority projects.

Green

Enhancing our towns

P
age 86



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

3.4 Implementing the actions contained within the 
Heritage Strategy to develop a Heritage 
Forum for Allerdale, examine the impact of 
heritage on council services and conduct an 
impact assessment for heritage in Allerdale

31/03/2018 Potential 
reduction in long 
term maintenance 
of heritage assets

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Tourism and 
Culture

HLF has asked the Council to hold potential bids over until the 
next bidding round in 2018.  This is because it is already 
oversubscribed with 'shovel-ready' projects and ours is not at that 
stage yet for Wigton. The Destination Manager post has been 
advertised

Green

A briefing for heritage partners will be organised in February 2018 to 
establish a Heritage Forum to then examine the impact of heritage on 
council services and conduct an impact assessment for heritage in 
Allerdale. Green

3.5 Undertake Capital Development Works to 
Helena Thompson Museum to enhance the 
heritage offer in Workington and make the 
museum more sustainable for the future

31/03/2018 Catherine 
Nicholson

Tourism and 
Culture

Development works to be re-tendered following Chief Exec's 
meeting with WHG. Alternative means of procurement to be 
identified

Green

Framework agreement with Kier Construction has been identified. Kier 
have been asked for budget costs for the scheme. Budget costs have 
come in at approx. £350,000 - 400,000 i.e. more than twice available 
budget. WHG informed of costs and agreement made to move forward 
by looking for grant funding to allow scheme to progress

Amber

3.6 Deliver a programme of Spring Cleans in our 
local areas with volunteers to improve local 
environmental quality and introduce new ‘Hit 
Squad’ to specifically target hotspots identified 
through local intelligence

8 spring 
cleans by 
Sept 2017
Hit Squad in 
place by 
June 2017

Increased 
investment 
income 

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

The Environmental Hit Squad apprenticeship team is now 
established and is deployed to improve environmental quality and 
provide NVQ level 2 qualification in Cleaning and Environmental 
Support Services. Spring cleans have now been delivered in 
Maryport, Workington, Aspatria, Silloth, Seaton, Cockermouth, 
Wigton and Keswick as well as a coastal clean-up carried with 
volunteers. 

Green

A meeting with FCC has been arranged to agree the work plans for the 
rest of year. The intention is ensure all towns & large villages on 
Allerdale receive a ‘spring/summer’ clean and local councillors / parish 
councils will be asked for suggestions (and or assistance). Green

3.7 Undertake a targeted programme of zero 
tolerance environmental enforcement in 
areas identified as  litter, dog fouling or fly 
tipping hotspots

15 targeted 
sessions by 
March 2018

Increased 
investment 
income

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Additional focus is now placed in this area with 2 Street Scene 
Officers concentrating on full-time on environmental enforcement. 
Focus is being placed on increasing the numbers of fixed penalty 
notices. Green

Plan is to implement a more intelligence lead approach to all 
environmental crime, for example include targeted visits to local 
businesses when fly-tipping of a specific nature occurs.3 targeted 
campaigns will be run (1 Litter / 1 Dog Fouling / 1 Fly-tipping),  these will 
be intelligence lead and will target specific areas where the problem has 
been identified.

Green

3.8 Deliver activity as part of the Housing Strategy 
to reduce the number of long term empty 
homes including:

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

3.8a Delivering Empty Property Grants 10 grants in 
2017/18 

Fee Generated 
from ABC fee 
(10%)

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

There are 15 Empty Property Grants that have been approved and 
are awaiting completion and occupation. 1 Empty property grant 
has been completed and is now occupied. A further 16 empty 
property grants are in the pipeline. 50+ letters went out to empty 
home owners (empty for more than 2 years) to inform them of the 
grants. Further letters will go out in October. Green

As part of the National Empty Homes week in October, empty homes 
grants were promoted through social media and a countywide newsletter 
that was produced. This saw an increase in enquiries and the team have 
now inspected 8 empty homes with a view to processing the grant. Due 
to budget constrants a waiting list has been created. this currently has 
14 empty home owners on. A total of 14 grants are approved - 11 of 
these are historic cases that for various reasons have taken longer to 
complete than anticipated.  In Q3 2 Empty Homes Grants have been 
approved and 2 have been completed.

Green

3.8b Undertake an options appraisal for a long term 
derelict property purchased in Maryport and 
deliver preferred option

31/12/2017 Reduction in 
officer time spent 
dealing with 
environmental 
crime

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

All environmental clean up work has now been completed and the 
essential works to the exterior of the dwelling have been 
completed. The building surveyor is now looking to gain 
safe access to all floors of the property to carry out a site survey 
to enable an options appraisal to be undertaken. This work is on 
going. 

Amber

Safe access into the property by the building surveyor has been 
undertaken, inspection carried out and and the options appraisal 
report is due back at the end of January. Future use of the site will be 
determined in line with the Maryport Regeneration Plan. Amber 

3.9 Continue with a programme of ensuring better 
provision of public toilet facilities through 
upgrading and transferring assets

31/03/2018 Increased short 
term investment 
to reduce 
recurring revenue 
spend

Catherine 
Nicholson

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

The four Cockermouth toilet blocks have now been transferred to 
Cockermouth Town Council.  Braithwaite Toilets have been 
disposed of on a long term lease so that a toilet facility can be 
maintained in the village. Green

Borrowdale P.C. were offered the toilets in Grange. The offer included a 
full refurbishment of the block and installation of a pay on entry scheme if 
required. The P.C. rejected the offer. After consultation with Ward 
member and Portfolio Holder it was agreed to take a proposal to AMG to 
sell both Grange and Lodore on the open market. AMG agreed the 
disposal. P. Knapton to facilitate sale.

Green

3.10 Assist businesses and homeowners within town 
centres with flood resilience measures

31/03/2018 Ensure stability in 
business rate and 
Council Tax 
income  

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Flood resilience measures still ongoing via the PLR flood grants. 
Community capital grants schemes available via the council. 
Working with Town and Parish Councils and external agencies in 
applying various flood alleviation works as and when required.

Green

Flood resilience measures still ongoing via the PLR flood grants, this is 
due to close at the end of this financial year. Community capital grants 
schemes available via the council. Working with Town and Parish 
Councils and external agencies in applying various flood alleviation 
works as and when required.

Green

We aim to help people live healthy and active lives, and reduce health inequalities
Improving health and wellbeing

P
age 87



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

4.1 Support the Allerdale Health and Wellbeing 
Forum in addressing health outcomes in 
relation to healthy weight, smoking cessation, 
healthy attitudes towards alcohol, mental 
wellbeing and ageing well 

31/03/2018 Savings in wider 
health economy 
Bringing in 
funding to deliver 
initiatives within 
our communities

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Forum met 3 times. Till Roll campaign and Rethinking Drinking 
projects ended apart from 4 alcohol inquiries to be completed. 
Evaluation to be done. Suicide awareness courses held around 
district including bespoke session for elected members. Dementia 
Action Alliances (DAAs) being supported, Maryport and 
Cockermouth progressing to be a DAA. Keswick event to promote 
DAA to businesses. Falls prevention week held. Community falls 
prevention worker appointed. Development of a slipper exchange 
scheme. Xgloo used for promotional campaigns on change4life 
and active10 at Cockermouth touch a truck and Taste of Cumbria 
Food Festival. CLAHRC - evaluation of engagement events 
completed, themes developed. Development of a wellbeing 
advisor role for alcohol and smoking. Healthy Communities work in 
Silloth ongoing, planned roll out of breastfeeding friendly scheme. 
In addition Q3 focus on healthy weight declaration, support of 
COMPASS, GLL Healthwise programme and UCLAN research.

Green

Two third sector representatives joined the Forum from Groundwork and 
Cumbria Youth Alliance. Awaiting information from the alcohol inquiries. 
Soaked the play performed across our District. Slipper exchange 
scheme started. Development and strengthening of dementia action 
alliance ongoing. Christmas themed dementia memory bags provided in 
libraries. Working with UCLAN around healthy coastal communities 
(development stage).CLAHRC resident advisors being signed up - 
research theme being developed. Supporting development of Healthy 
Weight Declaration. CADAS (Cumbria Alcohol and Drug 
Advisory Service) delivering part time role of Wellbeing Advisor (smoking 
and alcohol). Allerdale BC ran a winter campaign based on recycling, 
taking a brisk walk in Allerdale and a mocktail stand on offering an 
alcohol free alternative to cocktails. Q4 will focus on development of 
workplan for the wellbeing advisor, action plan for healthy weight 
declaration, breastfeeding friendly scheme roll out and encouraging 
businesses to sign up to their local DAA and promoting various 
campaigns.

Green

4.2 Deliver improvements to leisure facilities 
and open spaces  to encourage active 
participation in physical activity to improve 
health outcomes (Leisure Strategy Action Plan)

31/03/2018 Reduced need to 
fund sport and 
leisure activities. 
Decreased 
expenditure in 
supporting people 
with health related 
illness

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

We are continuing to improve the Bankfield site. The Nature 
Partnership Officer has been working with volunteers to plant up 
the raised beds in the Italianate garden. Further work to continue 
in the Spring. 
The costs for the improvement works to Fleming Square are being 
brought together.
Initial plans have been produced identifying the scope for the 
improvements at Brow Top/ Underpass/ Leisure Centre surrounds. 
CCC Highways are being consulted and a  design brief is being 
developed. 
Pitch improvement work has been undertaken at Miltoft in 
Maryport. The next stage will be the improvements on Ennerdale 
Road. 
The new youth recreation area on Jane Pit has been out to tender 
and final contractor will be selected in Q3.

Green

Work has started on the Flemming Square public realm. 
Raised beds project on Workington Harbour is now complete. 
Supported improvement works at Workington Ellis Ground, Aspatria 
RUFC, Ellenborough RLFC, Workington Cricket Club, these works are 
now complete. 
Progressing enhancement options with Wigton Baths Trust, funding 
committed for final designs for extension and looking at ways to access 
district heating. Green

4.3 Develop and deliver programmes to promote 
and facilitate access to sport and leisure  
activities focused on areas of greatest health 
inequalities through the final year of the 
Community Sport Activation Fund 

01/07/2018 Reduced need to 
fund sport and 
leisure activities. 
Decreased 
expenditure in 
supporting people 
with health related 
illness

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

This project is now complete as of the end of Q1. Just under 4,300 
were engaged and introduced to a range of sport and physical 
activity through this funding over the 3 years. A number of 
sessions continue to be delivered in the community and as a 
legacy of the project. There are two schemes we hope to develop 
through Sport England applications which will be submitted in Q3. 

Blue Blue

4.4 Work with GLL to develop the leisure offer 
within the Councils leisure facilities, 
increasing usage across all sites, with a focus 
on young people and those at risk of being 
inactive.  

01/07/2018 £20k saving Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Figures continue to be on track for meeting the 2017/18 targets. 
Figures for those groups identified as being more likely to be 
inactive are consistently higher than expected. 

Green

Centres continued to develop new activities, and review programming to 
try and target those who are least active. Club sessions for 0ver 60's are 
now running at Cockermouth as well as Workington and concessionary 
usage is around a 50% higher than the same time last year.  
Workington has the highest Net Promoter Score across all the GLL sites 
nationally, with a score of 71 for December. 

Green

4.5 Working in partnership to deliver new Physical 
Activity Care Pathway (including exercise on 
referral scheme)

200 people 
accessing 
the new 
exercise on 
referral 
scheme by 
March 2018

Decreased 
expenditure in 
supporting people 
with health related 
illness

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

The existing exercise on referral scheme is still running and 
actively engaging with approx. 100 participants each quarter. We 
are working with Wigton Hospital to deliver a localised pilot of the 
Physical Activity Care Pathway. This should engage with an 
additional 60 - 100 participants. Funding of £10,000 is being 
sought to deliver an initial 12 months. 

Amber

Project has developed and will now be looking to deliver pilot in 
Workington as well as Wigton. Additional funding is required. Sport 
England grant application has not been submitted yet. GLL are 
developing a training programme for non GLL, community deliverers. Amber

P
age 88



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

4.6 Support festivals and events through grants 
support and direct funding for the following 
events and festivals to enhance the vitality and 
raise the profile of the area and offer cultural 
and sporting events to improve health and 
wellbeing: Lakesman; Reboot; Northbound; 
Festival of Running

15 festivals 
and events 
through 
grant support 
by 
31/03/2018

Increased 
investment 
income 

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

To date 10 Festivals and events have been supported this year. 
Reboot, Northbound and Cockermouth Taste Festivals have taken 
place this quarter as part of the Allerdale Live Partnership. Reboot 
attracted around 700 people, a significant increase on last year. 
Northbound festival in Cockermouth enjoyed an increase in 
visitors with around 10,000 people reported to have visited, a 25% 
increase on the last event. Direct economic benefit to the town is 
estimated to be around £400k. Cockermouth Taste food festival 
attracted around 40,000 visitors with an estimated economic 
impact of approx. £1.97m. The festivals and events fund is on 
track to fund at least 15 festivals and events this year.
The Lakesman 2018 full and half distance races are now sold out.

Green

The fund has supported Keswick Victorian Fayre, Rivers of Light Lantern 
Parade  and the Taste Christmas event in Cockermouth this quarter and 
awarded grant support to West Cumbrian Artistic Network for Town Arts 
Trail in the spring. In total seventeen events have been supported to 
date.

Green

4.7 Undertake a programme of improvements to 
our nature reserves and open spaces to 
encourage access to and enjoyment of open 
spaces and conservation of the natural 
environment:

31/03/2018 Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

4.7a Delivery of Harrington Reservoir Nature 
Reserve restoration project. Funding to be 
sourced by July 2017 

31/03/2018 Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

The team are now considering potential funding sources including 
Awards for All and the Tesco token scheme. Decisions are 
expected by the end November. The project can still go ahead, but 
on a reduced scale if the above funding is not awarded. The Bid 
Lottery Application was not awarded. 

Green

Tender has been awarded for delivery of the project, due to start at the 
end of February. 

Green

4.7b Delivery of Siddick Pond Nature Reserve 
access improvements phase 2

30/09/2018 Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Reedbed Management booked in to take place on 16-18th 
October 2017
Bird Hide Exhibition draft design has been done and requires 
feedback. A Siddick Pond Blog is being developed as part of 
project.
The bird nesting raft is being “floated” during w/c 16th October.

Green

Reedbed management and nesting raft installation has been 
completed. Blog set up and will run for 3 years. Exhibition is in it's final 
draft. It will include 5 information panels, interactive activities and some 
external signage.  Green

4.7c Submission of a Stage 1 application to HLF for 
a Parks for People grant to improve 
Workington Hall Parklands.

28/02/2018 Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

HLF Grants officer has advised on the further work that would be 
needed to progress to a Stage 1 application linked directly to the 
HLF “Parks for People” programme Outcomes.
Quotes for developing and submitting a stage 1 application have 
been received. 

Green

Groundwork appointed to write application. Submission of stage 1 
application is due to now be in August 2018 instead of February due to 
additional work required following HLF feedback.  Amber

4.8 Deliver an environmental educational and 
events programme with schools and 
community groups, raising the profile of key 
environmental sites and open spaces

25 events/ 
education 
days by 
March 2018 

Reduction in 
environmental 
clean-up costs

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

There have been a number of educational, development and 
training days delivered across a range of different community 
groups during Q2;
- 19 educational visits to Harrington Nature Reserve.
- Worked with St Mary’s/St Michael’s Cub Scouts working towards 
their Naturalist badge
-  2 bat study nights have been held at Siddick Ponds
-  2 Marine Conservation Society Great British Beach Cleans have 
taken place with around 40 volunteers
- Hosted 2 work experience students from Cockermouth School for 
1 week in Summer
- 30 hours work placement with 24 NCS (National Citizen Service) 
students fulfilling their Social Action Project part of the award
- Workington Academy Sixth form (40 students) spent a morning 
Balsam bashing
- Currently providing learning opportunities for the FCC 
apprentices.

Green

Work ongoing. Nature Partnership Officer continues to work with 
volunteers from a range of organisations and the general public. 
Delivered 22 education visits through the Higher Level Stewardship 
project.

Green

Reduction in long 
term maintenance 
costs. Income 
through 
investment into 
area

P
age 89



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

4.9 Improve the environmental quality of our 
beaches through delivery of our Beach 
Management Plan and taking part in the 
LovemyBeach campaign.  Through this work 
we intend as a minimum to maintain a bathing 
water classification of “sufficient” at Allonby and 
aim to achieve a classification of “good”.

31/03/2018 Reduction in 
environmental 
clean-up costs

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

During the bathing water season(May- Sept) we have continued to 
participate in the Pollution Risk Forecast system devised. 
We have signed up businesses in the Allonby area to the 
LOVEmyBEACH campaign and continue to carry out promotion 
work at community events.
Continue to work with Community Services to ensure delivery of 
the current Beach Management Plan and make revisions when 
necessary to maintain the environmental quality of our beaches.
We have continued to participate in the Environment Agency 
Pollution Risk Forecasting System for this bathing water season, 
we aim to maintain our current bathing water classification of 
"sufficient", however the new classifications will be announced in 
November.
Electronic sign for notifications of bathing water quality is now 
installed at Allonby Green.

Green

We have continued to participate in the Environment Agencies "pollution 
risk forecast system" for both Allonby and Allonby South. We continue to 
engage and promote the "LOVEmyBEACH" campaign to deliver the 
message to the public and businesses to prevent pollution to our bathing 
waters and the beach environment. We continue to work with community 
services through the delivery of the beach management plan. The good 
news for Allonby is that the bathing water classification for 2017 is now 
"good". This means that the bathing water is generally good quality and 
is no longer meeting the  minimum standards. Moving forward as a team 
we will continue to work with the regional LOVEmyBEACH co-ordinator 
to promote the campaign and participate in community events within 
Allerdale.

Green

4.10 Deliver activity in the Housing Strategy to raise 
standards in the private rented sector 
including:

31/03/2021 Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

4.10a Landlord training events 3 per year Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

2 landlord training events have been booked with the National 
Landlords Association. these include: Planning Successful 
Investment 10th November and Safer Homes on 19th January 
2018. 

Green

The landlord events planned for November and January have been 
cancelled. The November event was canceled due to the unavailability 
of the Council Chamber and the January event has been cancelled due 
to lack of interest. Two training sessions have been delivered and one 
further event will take place in March. The team are prioritising work on 
the introduction of the new Housing Enforcement Policy and the 
identification of HMO's that will require licensing following new legislation 
coming into force in April 2018. Work is ongoing to identify these 
properties so the team are ready to approach and inform landlords 
in April. 

Green

4.10b Developing and implementing incentives for 
landlords to become accredited 

30/06/2017 Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Nothing further to update on incentives for landlords to become 
accredited. Work continues on the development of a Housing 
Enforcement and Compliance Policy. A project overview document 
(POD) has been produced.

Amber

Development of the new Housing Enforcement Policy is progressing well 
which will incentivise landlords to comply with legislative requirements. 
Incentives such as free training events will continue to be offered to 
relevant landlords   

Blue

4.10c Review and revision of Housing Enforcement 
Policy

30/09/2017 Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

The development of the Housing and Enforcement Policy is well 
underway. A POD has now been produced and a PID will follow to 
help take the work forward and ensure timescales are meet.  

Green

The draft Housing Enforcement Policy has been produced and a Fixed 
Penalty Notice Policy to run along side this is being written. The policy 
was taken to Scrutiny in December and was well received. Q4 will see 
the consultation of the policy with landlords and other stakeholders. 
The intention is to take to Executive in April for approval of the policy. 

Green

4.11 Deliver Housing Grants Assistance 
programme to help reduce admissions to 
hospital, need for transfer to residential home 
and delayed discharge from hospital, and to 
increase the number of decent homes in the 
Borough: 
- Implement, promote and deliver Discretionary 
Grants (including Safe and Warm Grant) 
- Promote and deliver Disabled Facilities 
Grants 

Apr 2017 
onwards

Income from ABC 
fee (10%)

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

The introduction of 4 new grant products commenced in July. The 
team have approved and completed 1 DFG Top up Grant, 2 DFG 
Relocation Grants are in the pipeline, 6 Discretionary Disability 
Grants have been approved and 7 are in the pipeline and 2 Safe 
and Warm Grants have been approved and 22 are in the pipeline. 
The budget spend and commitment is currently £38,553.65. The 
successful recruitment of a Housing OT (secondment from 
Cumbria County Council) took place in September. The Housing 
OT will start on 20th November for a period of 6 months. It is 
anticipated this will generate more referrals for the discretionary 
grants now available. The team attended all Falls Prevention 
roadshows in Libraries across the borough as well as a Flu Jab 
drop in event in Maryport. The promotional material has now been 
produced and will be distributed to the appropriate venues.

Green

In Q3 the team have dealt with 95 new grant cases; 23 Safe and Warm 
grants (5 of which have been approved), 5 Discretionary Disability 
Grants (4 of which have been approved), 61 DFGs (15 of which have 
been approved) and 6 Empty Property Grants (1 of which has been 
approved). Along with existing grants in the system the team are dealing 
with a total of 197 grant cases. The current budget spend and 
committment for the grants is as follows: DFGs = £853,097; Top up = 
£10,000; Relocation = £3,000; Disability = £47,557 Safe and Warm = 
£115,500 and Empty Property = £112,169. The Housing OT seconded 
from Cumbria County Council started in November 2017 and has been a 
great asset to the team. So far he has visited over 25 clients and 
referred them to the team for either a mandatory or discretionary 
grant. During Q4 the Housing OT will be meeting with each housing 
association in the area to look at ways to speed up the adaptation 
process and match clients to homes without the need for adaptations.  

Green

4.12 Undertake activity with partners to improve 
flooding resilience across Allerdale including:

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

Working in partnership with the Environment Agency and Cumbria 
County Council in delivering flood resilience measures and 
assisting with varying funding streams

Work still ongoing with all agencies especially the EA where we are 
looking at various additional funding streams to assist in delivering flood 
resilience to affected communities

Possible income 
from fixed 
penalties 
(enforcement)

P
age 90



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

4.12a Reviewing all Emergency Reception Centres Apr 2017 
onwards

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

This responsibility has been passed to Cumbria CC and Allerdale 
will assist in identifying and reviewing suitable reception centres Amber

Work is ongoing checking and revising reception centres, it has been 
agreed to include the new Workington Leisure Centre as a new 
reception centres and work ongoing to check the others

Green

4.12b Continuing to administer the Flood Resilience 
Grant programme ensuring that at least 65% of 
eligible households apply for the grant  

30/06/2017 Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

The deadline for paying invoices was end September 2017 
although DCLG and CCC are carrying on administering payments 
due to ongoing problems with contractors Green

Work still ongoing with a final deadline for apying invoices at the end of 
March 2018

Green

4.12c Delivering a funding programme for small to 
medium flood prevention work in our 
communities using £100k fund created by the 
Council.

Allocate 
funding by 
31/03/2018

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health & 
Wellbeing

System of application forms and accompanying information 
established and information cascaded to all communities within 
Allerdale. Currently £15k has been cascaded.

Green

Comminication of the system and process still being cascaded to 
potential applicants

Green

Creating a sustainable business
We aim to develop a commercially focused organisation committed to delivering high quality, sustainable services to the people, communities and businesses of Allerdale
5.1 Deliver the Customer Access Strategy to 

improve the service we deliver to customers 
through improving service consistency, 
delivering right first time and improving the use 
of customer intelligence to develop and design 
the service. Promote self-service where 
appropriate to streamline processes between 
customer and the organisation.

31/03/2019 Reduced 
expenditure 
through more 
efficient 
processes 

Paul Wood Transformation The new website contract has been awarded and development is 
underway with user testing planned for late December and a public 
launch in January, the transactional nature of the website will 
enable customers to interact with the Council easily on-line.
Development of the myAllerdale on-line reporting service 
continues to grow the service as outlined in 5.2. The strategy of 
moving to self-service is helping to improve the telephone service 
with a 10% reduction in calls, and the abandoned call rate reduced 
from 19% down to 8% compared to Q2 2016/17
The strategy of moving systems to the cloud continues with GIS 
and Parking systems next to migrate.

Green

 The building element of the refurbishment of the reception area has 
been completed and initial feedback from customers, visitors and staff 
using the facility has been positive. Congestion has been reduced 
through the introduction of a dedicated staff entrance, a "goods in" bay 
for deliveries and a separate customer entrance.

Within the reception area there is now a meet and greet desk where 
customers and visitors are welcomed on arrival, there is a visitors 
lounge, comfortable customer waiting area complete with a childrens 
play zone, public access computers are available for customers who 
wish to access information and services on-line. Customers are now able 
to meet with our officers in bright and airy confidential meeting rooms.  

Work is now well underway to migrate the GIS system into a cloud based 
service and work on the new website is now at an advanced stage with 
designs agreed and the test website being populated with information. 

Green

5.2 Undertake a Channel shift programme to 
significantly increase the use of online and self-
service channels

31/03/2020 Overall reduction 
in CSC cost per 
transaction £50k

Paul Wood Transformation The number of customers registering to use the myAllerdale 
system continues to increase, from an average of 250 per month 
during Q1 up to an average of 350 per month in Q2. During 
2016/17 2593 customers registered on myAllerdale, during the first 
six months of 2017/18 we have signed up another 2674 and are 
on track to double the number of customers able to report using 
this channel. Over 5000 reports have been submitted since going 
live in 2016 and there has been a 30% increase in self service 
reports received between Q1 and Q2. 

Green

Use of the on-line service continues to grow with an average of 500 
service reports and 500 new customer registrations each month during 
Q3.

Green

5.3 Undertake a programme of service reviews 
to deliver business efficiencies and service 
improvements through greater business 
process automation 

31/03/2018 £25k saving Paul Wood Transformation Next phase- Print Review. There are now 52 council elected 
members who have tablets and are using them for council 
meetings and to support them in their role in place of paper 
agendas.  There has been training and guidance notes devised for 
all elected members in the transition to paperless.  Initially there 
will be printed copies and tablets so any savings will be quite 
modest to begin with.  However by December (Q3) executive have 
agreed that full Council will be the first paperless meeting (apart 
from some papers for members of the public) so will start to 
monitor budget reduction for print and postage.  Mobile Worker – 
Contractor staff starting using mobile devices 18th September for 
street cleansing.  Customer queries raised on MyAllerdale are 
being dealt with over the weekend (previously only allocated 
Monday – Friday).  Fleet Review Tender evaluation completed for 
new fleet, report gone to SMT.  Report going to executive 8th 
November (Q3) as this is a key decision.  Agree transition to new 
fleet and objectives for monitoring and utilising fleet more 
effectively.   

Green

Tablets - elected members now all have tablets.  At the first full council 
meeting in January 18 Democratic services will be encouraging as many 
members as possible to use tablets rather than printed copies and from 
May 18 meeting printed copies will only be available for members of the 
public and where requested.  
Franking Machine reductions - Supplier engagement underway to look at 
requirements for franking post and to reduce to a smaller machine now 
more post going to Hybrid mail.  
Hybrid Mail - Looking at next phase to see what other departments can 
switch to hybrid, housing and environmental health, democratic services 
and the remaining revenue and benefits).
Redesign of Customer Services - Work completed at end of December 
on time and on budget staff, transitioned to newly designed Customer 
Service Centre at the start of the New Year.  The layout will help facilitate 
new ways of working and channel shift in next phase of the project.      
 

Green

P
age 91



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

5.4 Carry out business process review of 
Development Services and implement new 
Land and Property system to improve 
efficiency and reduce costs

Implement 
new system 
by 
31/03/2018

Kevin 
Kerrigan / 
Paul Wood

Transformation/ 
Economic Growth

 Evaluation of 4 suppliers completed. The report was taken to 
Executive Panel recommending the award of contract to Supplier 
1 (Arcus Global Ltd). Executive Panel agreed recommendation. 
Delay in awarding contract, undertaking financial review of supplier 
with view to signing contracts mid-October.

Green

Contract signed 13/11/17. Kick off meeting with and project team held 
05/12/17. Outline of requirements from both parties during next 7 week. 
Scale of work and expertise to extract existing data highlighted as 
issue. Individual service areas working on preparing for migration. 
Supplier slow to arrange access to test environment.

Amber

5.5 Continue to review procurement procedures 
and practices to ensure best value for 
services and goods procured 

31/03/2018 £50k saving Paul Wood Transformation Procurement – New draft Strategic Commissioning and 
Procurement Strategy circulated to Transformation and 
Commissioning Board for comments.  Once new Strategy and 
accompanying Procurement code is agreed will be taking to 
executive for adoption.  

Green

Procurement –Strategic Commissioning and Procurement Strategy now 
Adopted by SMT. Buyers guide on the Council Website.  Working on 
setting up a provider’s database on next phase of the project and 
currently reviewing Tender Documents, including tender docs for 
Consultant.  
  

Green

5.6 Plan for the end of the current waste and 
recycling, street cleansing and grounds 
maintenance contracts in 2019 by undertaking 
strategic review work including a new 
Business Model Options Appraisal 

30/06/2017 Reduced 
expenditure 
through more 
efficient operating 
model and 
increased income 
through trade 
waste services 

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Initial selection stage process undertaken. Contract OJEU 
document preparation prior to competitive dialogue process 
planned for Q3. Engagement with Scrutiny in the process 
commenced in Q2.

Green

All contract documents are to be sent out to bidders on 29/01/2018. 
Bidders are then invited to participate in competitive dialogue sessions 
starting on 19//02/2018.

Green

5.7 Increase income from waste services 
through:

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 

5.7a Introduction of a charge for Commercial 
Recycling

30/04/2017 £25k Income 
target

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

The charge for the collection of commercial recyclates is now fully 
introduced and the budget indications are that the scheme 
generate the income target figure of 25K. Blue Blue

5.7b Undertaking market analysis and promotional 
activity to increase income from Trade Waste

31/03/2018 £25k Income 
target

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Numbers of customers increased to 1,797 which is an increase of 
33 new contracts since the beginning of the financial year. The 
service is currently forecasting to meet the £25k additional income 
target and continues to seek new opportunities to grow and 
develop the service. 

Green

49 new customers since start of 2017/18 period as opposed to 33 in the 
Q2 update. The residual element of the commercial service is forecast to 
generate £1,070,000. Green

5.8 Carry out a review of commercial and 
community use of car parks in relation 
festivals, events that are hosted for the 
purposes of generating income and supporting 
the community.  

01/07/2017 Investment 
income into area

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

This activity is now planned to commence in Quarter 3.

Green

The review is almost complete, a new set of proposed fees and charges 
have been drafted that reflect the needs of the customer but also the 
wider benefit of the locality. Green

5.9 Conduct pilot and commence rollout of new 
domestic recycling model to improve 
recycling rates and create efficiencies 

Pilot by 
31/05/2017
Roll out 
starts Jul 
2017

£25k saving 
2017/18 

Charles 
Holmes

Locality & 
Environmental 
Quality

Recycling trials are now complete. Assessment being undertaken 
in relation to the existing and new contracting arrangements 
proposed for implementation in March 2019.

Green

The rollout of the scheme provided a detailed set of responses from the 
customers involved, these were used as part of an assessment process 
with the aim of delivering a new service post April 2019. The decision 
has been taken however to await information from the contractors 
bidding for Lot 1 of the waste contract to assess what solutions they may 
offer. The trial has provided the council with an invaluable experience 
and set of real time data linked to any outcomes from any changes we 
may introduce in future.

Blue

5.10 Deliver the ICT strategy moving systems from 
being located on-site to cloud based with a 
reduction in support costs

31/03/2019 Overall reduction 
in costs £50k

Paul Wood Transformation Works are progressing to cloud enable a number of systems 
including Crematoriums, Car Parking, and Card Payments as 
Cloud Based Systems.  A cloud based system has been procured 
to support Planning, Building Control, Environmental Health and 
Licensing.  Similarly progress is being made migrating the Council 
web site to a cloud delivered service.  ICT are progressing with 
implementation of automative services that will enable any where, 
any device working.  Security improvements continue with the 
implementation of cloud based security solutions that will protect 
devices and data no matter where they are located

Green

A number of cloud migration initiatives are progressing including; the 
migration  of the Councils Spatial systems to the cloud, the 
implementation of a new Council website, the implementation of a new 
application to support planning, building Control, environmental 
protection, environmental health, land charges and licensing, the 
migration of the Councils parking systems to the cloud, and the 
implementation of new homelessness and virtual tourism solutions. New 
solutions are being introduced to support Information Management, 
Information Security and corporate and bespoke learning requirements. 
Tenders have been issued in relation to developing solutions that will 
meet the Councils digital agenda including a pilot for an Internet of things 
Solution, and improved broadband options for business and households.

Green

P
age 92



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

5.11 Develop and deliver an Information Strategy 
to achieve more effective information 
management across the organisation to 
support robust business decisions 

Develop by 
30/09/2017 
Delivery 
2017/19

Nik Hardy Transformation The Information Strategy has been scheduled to be completed by 
April 2018 as part of the project plan for the General Data 
Protection Regulation Project.  The Council's suite of information 
security policies have been updated in line with GDPR.  

Amber

The Information Governance Strategy is being drafted (scheduled to be 
completed by April 2018 as part of the project plan for the General Data 
Protection Regulation Project).  Other policies, procedures and guidance 
relating to information and data protection are being drafted/revised to 
ensure compliance with GDPR by the end of May 2018. Green

5.12 Implement the Asset Management Plan in 
order to maximise income for the Council 

31/03/2019 Longer term 
generation of 
additional income

Kevin 
Kerrigan / 
Catherine 
Nicholson

Economic Growth The Council has progressed the ERDF scheme for Reedlands 
road and is currently awaiting the final decision from DCLG. This 
scheme will generate an income for the Council. Further work has 
been undertaken to identify surplus properties.

Green

The Council has received approval for the ERDF funding and approval is 
now being sought from Executive to commence scheme.  Asset 
Management Group have been meeting on a regular basis with a view to 
identify properties for disposal or CAT.

Green

5.13 Complete a review of our Financial Strategy 
to include:

30/11/2017 Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

Refresh of the Authority's Financial Strategy completed during 
preparation of the 2017/18 revised budget. Further review and 
updating will be completed as part of the 2018/19 budget cycle, 
commencing November 2017.

2018/19 Budget Strategy & Updated Medium Term Financial Plan 
2018/19 to 2020/21 was submitted to Executive on 8th November 2017. 
Further review and updating of the MTFP will be completed as part of the 
2018/19 budget cycle.

5.13a an assessment of the impact of the changes to 
the New Homes Bonus

Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

The Authority maintains a watching brief over future policy 
announcements. This includes monitoring potential changes 
impacting on the baseline for housing growth and the withholding 
NHB from authorities where Central Government considers that 
planning is not effective in terms of decisions on planning 
applications and delivering new homes. Future levels of  NHB 
funding reviewed during preparation of the 2017/18 revised budget 
and refresh of the Authority's medium term financial  plan.  Future 
level NHB funding will be considered during the course of 
preparing the 2018/19 budget and associated refresh of the 
Council’s medium term financial plan. Green

Provisional New Homes Bonus allocations for 2018-19 were announced 
in December alongside this provisional local government finance 
settlement. Final New Homes Bonus allocations for 2018-19 will be 
published alongside the final local government finance settlement in 
February 2018. The provisional settlement confirms that, as announced 
last year, (and in line with expectations included in the Council's MTFP) 
the length of time that the bonus is paid will reduce from five years to 
four years in 2018/19. However the government has decided not to 
make any additional change to the baseline, below which the Bonus will 
not be paid. The threshold over which bonus will be paid will therefore 
remain at 0.4% of the council tax base (weighted by band) for the 2018-
19 allocations. The Government does however  retain the option to 
adjust the baseline in subsequent years. After considering responses to 
the 2018-19 local government finance settlement technical consultation , 
the Government has decided not to implement proposed changes which 
would have meant bonus being withheld for homes approved by the 
Planning Inspectorate. The Authority's provisional allocation for 2018-19 
is £1.004m. In 2017/18 the allocation was £1.604m. The 2018/19 
allocation and legacy payments for future years have been included in 
the draft 2018/19 budget and MTFP update.

Green

5.13b an assessment of the likely impact of the move 
towards 100% rates retention

Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

See comments above (ref 1.7)
Amber

See comments above (ref 1.7)
Amber

5.13c working with procurement to ensure VFM of 
facility and utility expenditure through 
framework agreements

Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

Continue to monitor framework price agreements in respect of 
utility bills. Carry out tendering exercise in respect of facility 
contracts as they become due for renewal Green

Continue to monitor framework price agreements in respect of utility bills. 
Looking at alternatives to County Framework for supply of energy in light 
of proposed increase in energy costs. Carry out tendering exercise 
where necessary in respect of facility contracts as they become due for 
renewal

Green

5.13d supporting delivery of the priorities within the 
asset management plan

Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

Attendance of the Asset Management Group and supporting the 
activities identified in the Groups Terms of reference through 
implementation of our annual capital and revenue programme Green

Attendance of the Asset Management Group and supporting the 
activities identified in the Groups Terms of reference through 
implementation of our annual capital and revenue programme Assisting 
other services areas in achieving objectives in relation to AMP.

Green

5.14 Develop business partnering role and 
training of staff – business cases and 
alternative service delivery models

31/12/2017 Catherine 
Nicholson

Corporate 
Resources

Developing and maintaining the business partnering approach 
remains the focus of the finance department, with targets being set 
and monitoring through regular What Great Looks Like reviews 
that reflect this approach. 
Finance are actively engaging with services to identify areas for 
improvement and taking every available opportunity to obtain and 
act on feedback.

Green

Developing and maintaining the business partnering approach remains 
the focus of the finance department, with targets being set and 
monitoring through regular What Great Looks Like reviews that reflect 
this approach. 
Finance are actively engaging with services to identify areas for 
improvement and taking every available opportunity to obtain and act on 
feedback.

Green

P
age 93



Ref Project/activity
Target 
timescale/m
easure

Expected 
financial impact Head of 

Service
Portfolio

2017/18
Q2 update

Q2 RAG 
status

2017/18
Q3 update

Q3 RAG 
status

5.15 Implement a Coaching and leadership 
programme focussed on commercial skills to 
encourage entrepreneurial thinking and activity 
to grow the business and make us more 
efficient 

31/07/2017 Brendan 
Carlin

Governance and 
People 
Resources

Work continues to identify an appropriate programme suitable for 
our requirements.

Green

A core competencies session was facilitated with all third tier managers 
to identify how best to embed commercial thinking. This programme will 
be built into the training and development strategy which is on the work 
plan for Feb. 2018.

Green

5.16 Review Occupational Health provision to 
ensure that staff are supported 

31/05/2017 Brendan 
Carlin

Governance and 
People 
Resources Blue Blue

5.17 Deliver effective succession and workforce 
planning to ensure that we are planning for the 
future and improving business capacity, 
efficiency and productivity

30/06/2017 Brendan 
Carlin

Governance and 
People 
Resources

Draft workforce plan is on hold until the newly appointed HR 
Manager is in post and has reviewed the document. 

Amber

The HR Manager has prioritised this in the HR plan and the work force 
planning project will be delivered as part of this. This will in the first 
instance require engagement with all third tier managers to identify their 
challenges for the coming year. Meetings will start in February 2018.

Amber

5.18 Deliver a member development programme 
to include development for members in terms 
of their community leadership role to support 
the Council in achieving its ambitions

30/04/2018 Brendan 
Carlin

Governance and 
People 
Resources

The team met with North West Employers to begin the process of 
reviewing elected Members' personal development plans. PDPs 
have been sent to all councillors.
The Member Development Working Group met on 8 September 
2017 and raised issues which will be considered by SMT.
Six councillors are attending the LGA Leadership Academy 
programme over the upcoming months. Councillors have received 
training on confident public speaking, licensing and training on 
PREVENT and CONTEST will take place in due course. An e-
learning suite has been procured with the intention that officers 
and councillors will benefit from interactive and readily available 
training across a range of subject areas and topics.

Green

Councillors were asked to complete Personal Development Plans 
in October and then again in December 2017. Training is being arranged 
in accordance with the training needs identified in these PDPs.
The following training has been arranged to take place so far in 2018:
17 January - Code of conduct
1 February - Chairing skills
2 February - Being an effective councillor
2 February - Handling casework
29 March - Speed reading
Training on taxi licensing, universal credit, the Council Plan/the council's 
performance management and data protection regulations is also being 
arranged to take place this year.

Democratic Services will be giving individual councillors further training 
on using their tablet devices.

Green

5.19 Undertake activity to improve how we 
support and promote the health and 
wellbeing of our staff including:

30/09/2017 Reduction in 
sickness levels

Graeme 
Wilson

Housing, Health 
and Wellbeing

Employee Health and Wellbeing Day held. Q3 will focus on next 
employee newsletter and outcome of survey. Roll out of dementia 
friend training to employees and elected members.

15 employees trained as mental health at work first aiders; suicide 
prevention training offered to employees; dementia friends awareness 
training offered to employees and elected members; free flu jab 
vouchers available to employees. SIT club started.

Producing bespoke guidance on the 
management of work related stress
Gaining the Better Health at Work Award to 
demonstrate our commitment to promoting the 
health and wellbeing of our staff

Portfolio of evidence and assessment for bronze award 
completed. Verbal confirmation of award achieved. Q3, Q4 and Q1 
focus on working towards silver award.

Awaiting written confirmation of achieving bronze award. Q4 & Q1 focus 
on achieving silver award and training more health advocates.

Definitions

BRAG Progress against plan

Blue Complete

Red There are significant  concerns over achieving outputs / there is serious slippage in the timetable / there are major issues to rectify

Amber There are concerns over achieving deadlines or outputs  / there are issues to rectify, but plans are in place to get the project back on track

Green Everything is on target / satisfactory progress is being made / no action required

Green Green

P
age 94



Appendix B - Business Plan Q3 2017/18 - key performance indicators 

PI no. PI name
Head of 
Service

Frequency
Good 

is?

2016/17
Annual 
value

2017/18
Q1 target

2017/18
Q1 value

RAG 
Q1

DOT 
Q1

2017/18
Q2 target

2017/18
Q2 value

RAG 
Q2

DOT 
Q2

2017/18
Q3 target

2017/18
Q3 value

RAG 
Q3

DOT 
Q3

2017/18
Annual 
target

Q3 commentary

KEG01a No. of jobs created through effective management 
of external funding

Nik Hardy Quarterly High 8 n/a 11 n/a p n/a 0 n/a q n/a 10 n/a p 50
2 businesses have received SIIF funding, 3 have now been approved and 
Sellafield invoiced for funding.  New jobs will be created as a result in due 
course.

KEG01b
No. of jobs safeguarded through effective 
management of external funding

Nik Hardy Quarterly High n/a n/a 45 n/a p n/a 0 n/a q n/a 51 n/a p n/a
SIIF funds paid to 2 businesses in the quarter, safeguarding 38 jobs. 13 new 
jobs will be created as a result.

KEG02 No. of businesses engaged Nik Hardy Quarterly High n/a 13 21 G p 13 21 G tu 13 21 G tu 50
Large employers forum discussed skills agenda and Great Exhibition of the 
North 2018.  SME to be rescheduled because Visitor Economy forum met in 
December.

KDS01
% of major planning applications determined within 
statutory period

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Monthly High 100% 95% 100% G tu 95% 100% G tu 95% 90% A q 95%
Slightly below target for Q3 due to one application being determined outside 
the statutory period. Overall performance measured over a 2 year period as 
required by DCLG remains at 98.9%

KDS02 % of minor and other planning applications 
determined within statutory period 

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Monthly High 93% 95% 94% A q 95% 96% G p 95% 92% A q 95% Remains below target for Q3 but 100% achieved for December. 

KDS03 No. of housing units granted planning permission
Kevin 
Kerrigan

Quarterly High 493 103 88 R p 103 391 G p 103 64 R q 413

Although below target there a number of planning applications where 
Development Panel have resolved to grant planning permission but decisions 
have not yet been issued due to the need to complete s106 agreements or 
are under consideration by the Secretary of State.

KDS04 No. of new housing completions
Kevin 
Kerrigan

Quarterly High 250 86 27 R q 86 123 G p 86 135 G p 344
Continuation of the work by the Planning Policy Team using Council Tax 
information to update completion records.

KDS08
Full Plans determined within 5 weeks (Building 
Control)

Kevin 
Kerrigan

Monthly High 65% 85% 87% G p 85% 94% G p 85% 99% G p 85% Performance level remains high and targets are being exceeded. 

KFS02
% of invoices from local Cumbrian businesses paid 
within 14 days

Catherine 
Nicholson

Monthly High n/a 98.0% 78.8% R p 98.0% 84.7% R p 98.0% 90.0% A p 98.0%

Q3 - Improvement on quarter 2 - The main underlying reason why target is 
not being achieved during this quarter identified as invoices being received 
without a valid purchase order. This delays processing the invoice for 
payment and work is on-going to address this issue

KGOV01 % of Local Land Charges Searches carried out within 
10 working days

Brendan 
Carlin

Monthly High 96.85% 95.00% 97.60% G p 95.00% 98.65% G p 95.00% 99.22% G p 95.00% On target

KCTC01a Time taken to process Housing Benefit new claims 
(no. of days)

Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low 20 20 20 G p 20 12 G p 20 13 G q 20 On target

KCTC01b
Time taken to process Council Tax new claims (no. 
of days)

Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low 20 20 27 R q 20 20 G p 20 16 G p 20 On target

KCTC02
Time taken to process Housing Benefit/Council Tax 
change of circumstances (no. of days)

Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low 9 8 9 A q 8 8 G p 8 7 G p 8 On target

KHH01 No. of affordable homes facilitated by the Council
Graeme 
Wilson

Quarterly High 112 25 32 G q 25 4 R q 25 7 R p 100

Affordable homes provision delivered in Cockermouth and Thursby.  The 
number of affordables homes delivered are determined by the developer 
output as oppose to in being a performance related target as such,  The 
Council has limited control of the delivery rates.

KHH02
% of affordable homes allocated to those with a 
local connection and in line with S106 obligations

Graeme 
Wilson

Quarterly High 0% 100% 100% G p 100% 100% G tu 100% 100% G tu 100%

There have been 2 allocations in line with the s106 obligation that we are 
aware of during this quarter.  It has proved challenging to review other 
allocations on Cumbria Choice as the records are not up to date (ie only 
updated to match suggested and excludes information ab out tenancy start 
dates)  There is an action therefore to discuss with RPs.

Strengthening our economy

Tackling inequality

P
age 95



PI no. PI name
Head of 
Service

Frequency
Good 

is?

2016/17
Annual 
value

2017/18
Q1 target

2017/18
Q1 value

RAG 
Q1

DOT 
Q1

2017/18
Q2 target

2017/18
Q2 value

RAG 
Q2

DOT 
Q2

2017/18
Q3 target

2017/18
Q3 value

RAG 
Q3

DOT 
Q3

2017/18
Annual 
target

Q3 commentary

KHH03 Occupancy rate of temporary accommodation units
Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High 57% 80% 85% G p 80% 81% G q 80% 72% A q 80%
One property was vacant for the month, there were no referrals or people in 
need of temporary accommodation.

KHH04 % of homeless decisions made within guideline 33 
days

Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High 97% 100% 100% G p 100% 100% G tu 100% 100% G p 100% On target

KHH05 % of Safe and Warm Grants approved within 10 
weeks of initial enquiry

Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High N/A 100% N/A G tu 100% 100% G q 100% 50% R q 100%

8 safe and Warm Grants have been approved in this quarter. 4 cases were 
approved within 10 weeks. As these are new grants they are taking longer to 
process than initially anticipated but as time goes on the timescales are 
reducing. Cases that have not been approved within 10 weeks are complex 
cases that have needed more officer involvement. 

KFS03 % of public conveniences cleaned within the Service 
Level Agreement

Catherine 
Nicholson

Monthly High 99.40% 100% 99% A q 100% 99% A tu 100% 99% A p 100%
Q3 - one toilet not cleaned one day due to the toilet block being closed as the 
road leading to it was flooded

KHH06 No. of Empty Homes Grants processed
Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High n/a 0 0 G tu 2 1 R p 3 2 R p 10
2 Empty Homes Grants completed and now occupied in this quarter. 12 
grants are in progress and there has been 2 new Empty Home Grant 
approvals. A further 9 cases are in the pipeline.

KCS03a Leisure centre usage - Keswick
Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 84592 21054 20769 A p 24396 24105 A p 19644 13215 R q 85438
Off target for Q3. Majority of trade is during the School holidays, Q3 is out of 
the main tourist season and uptake during October half term not as 
predicted. Swim courses and membership continues to be at their highest. 

KCS03b Leisure centre usage - Cockermouth
Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 163409 41565 43282 G p 41417 41827 G q 40789 41951 G p 166677 Q3 target achieved

KCS03c Leisure centre usage - Workington
Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 228988 67979 74332 G p 68194 74731 G p 68194 61640 A q 274785

Slightly off target for Q3, but still on track to achieve the annual increase of 
20% on last years usage. Membership uptake has started to level off. The 
centre continue to add new activities and engage with different groups to 
encourage use of the facilities. 

KCS03d The Wave usage
Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 21321 6630 10224 G p 8995 10180 G q 3750 4721 G q 23453
Q3 target achieved. Introduction of new holiday activities and offers 
have helped them on the way to achieving the 10% increase target. 

KCS04a Workington Leisure Centre usage by target groups 
(low income) 

Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 13565 3438 4549 G p 3482 5096 G p 3387 3809 G q 13836 Q3 target achieved.

KCS04b
Workington Leisure Centre usage by target groups 
(60+) 

Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 18264 4656 6426 G p 4656 6748 G p 4656 7042 G p 18629 Q3 target achieved.

KCS04c Workington Leisure Centre usage by target groups 
(juniors) 

Charles 
Holmes

Monthly High 46478 11727 12832 G p 12079 15057 G p 11661 13092 G q 47407 Q3 target achieved.

KHH07
% of Disabled Facilities Grants approved within 10 
weeks from receipt of referral 

Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High n/a 100% 80% R q 100% 82% R p 100% 83% R p 100%

Out of the 40 grants approved in Q3, 7 were approved outside of the 10 week 
referral to approval target time. (Oct 16 out of 17 cases within 10 weeks; Nov 
6 out of 12 cases within 10 weeks; Dec all 11 cases were within the 10 
weeks) 

KHH08 % of Discretionary Disability Grants approved within 
10 weeks of first inspection date

Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High n/a n/a n/a n/a 100% 100% G tu 100% 75% R q 100%
Out of the 8 grants approved in Q3, 2 were approved outside of the 10 weeks 
of first inspection date. (Oct 3 out of 3 cases within 10 weeks; Nov 3 out of 4 
cases within 10 weeks; Dec 0 out of 1 cases within 10 weeks)

KHH09 % of programmed private water supplies sampled
Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High n/a 7% 7% G p 45% 23% R p 65% 75% G p 100%
We are now on target to achieve 100% of our sampling programme by the 
end of March 2018. This has been made possible due to external support to 
assist the team.

Enhancing our towns

Improving health and wellbeingP
age 96



PI no. PI name
Head of 
Service

Frequency
Good 

is?

2016/17
Annual 
value

2017/18
Q1 target

2017/18
Q1 value

RAG 
Q1

DOT 
Q1

2017/18
Q2 target

2017/18
Q2 value

RAG 
Q2

DOT 
Q2

2017/18
Q3 target

2017/18
Q3 value

RAG 
Q3

DOT 
Q3

2017/18
Annual 
target

Q3 commentary

KHH10 % of food safety inspections carried out (Category A-
B)

Graeme 
Wilson

Monthly High 100% 100% 100% G p 100% 95% A q 100% 100% G p 100%
We have now achieved 100% of A and B rated food premises inspections 
within Q3.

Creating a sustainable business

KCTC03 No. of new customer registrations myAllerdale 
(Channel shift) (registrations per period)

Paul 
Wood

Monthly High n/a 300 782 G q 300 1024 G p 300 1609 G p 1200 Above target.

KCTC04 Average speed of answer (A.S.A) on calls to 
03031231702 (seconds)

Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low 109 45 84 R q 45 65 R p 45 46 A p 45
Performance has improved since Q2 and on course to achieving target by end 
of year.

KCTC05 Abandoned calls rate (%)
Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low 13% 7% 10% R tu 7% 8% R p 7% 5% G p 7%
Performance has improved since Q2 and on course to achieving target by end 
of year.

KCTC06 Customer service satisfaction score
Paul 
Wood

Quarterly High n/a n/a n/a n/a 80% 88% G p 80% 91% G p 80% Above target.

KCTC07 Average no. of website unique page views per day
Paul 
Wood

Monthly High n/a 3500 3447 A p 3500 3129 R q 3500 2867 R q 3500
Further below target fluctuations have been seen in Q3. We are continuing to 
add more forms to the website and promote different aspects of it to 
encourage using it to complete tasks.

KCTC08 Average no. of Facebook likes per day 
Paul 
Wood

Monthly High n/a 1800 2007 G p 1800 2088 G p 1800 2138 G p 1800
Facebook likes received a boost at the end of the year with all the posts about 
myAllerdale and bin collection changes tending to chime with people.

KCTC09 Average no. of Twitter followers per day
Paul 
Wood

Monthly High n/a 5500 5697 G p 5500 5889 G p 5500 5978 G p 5500
The number of people following us on Twitter continues to rise in Q3 as 
people increasingly see this as a way to stay informed about our services and 
communicate with us.

KCTC10a Average no. of ICT Support calls logged per day
Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low n/a 27 36 R 27 26 G p 27 23 G p 27 Reliability of systems has led to decrease in number of support calls

KCTC10b Average no. of ICT Support calls outstanding per day
Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low n/a 50 62 R 50 48 G p 50 55 A q 50
Varying Project Workloads and staff taking Leave means that outstanding 
number of calls has yet to show reductions

KCTC11 % of ICT support calls resolved within SLA 
Paul 
Wood

Monthly High 95 85% 96% G q 85% 95% G tu 85% 86% G q 85%
Considering significant project and leaves of absence maintaining a decent 
rate of Call closure v SLA

KCTC12 No. of working hours lost per month due to major 
systems downtime

Paul 
Wood

Monthly Low n/a 0 0.5 A 0 1.2 A q 0 0 G p 0 System reliability is being maintained

KCTC13 NNDR collection rate
Paul 
Wood

Monthly High 98.23% 30.66% 30.90% G p 58.38% 57.51% A p 84.74% 83.93% A p 98.20%
Collection rate remains higher than same point last year. Although the 
percentage collected is less than target, the forecast is on track  to achieve 
annual target by year-end.   DOT - see note*

KCTC14 Council Tax collection rate Paul 
Wood

Monthly High 97.55% 29.78% 29.80% G p 57.82% 57.62% A tu 85.66% 85.42% A p 97.80%

The debt raised has increased in Q2 thereby pushing the collection rate 
slightly under target. Collection rate changes mirror those in last year and 
therefore still expected  to achieve the annual target.  
DOT - see note*

KFS01 % invoices paid in 30 days
Catherine 
Nicholson

Monthly High 92.4% 98.0% 89.6% A p 98.0% 95.9% A p 98.0% 98.0% G p 98.0%
Q3 - Improvement on quarter 2 with the target achieved for 2 months. 
Automated system reminders now improving receipting and work will 
continue to improve performance.

KFS06a % of invoiced debt collected within 30 days of 
invoicing

Catherine 
Nicholson

Monthly High n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a

P
age 97



PI no. PI name
Head of 
Service

Frequency
Good 

is?

2016/17
Annual 
value

2017/18
Q1 target

2017/18
Q1 value

RAG 
Q1

DOT 
Q1

2017/18
Q2 target

2017/18
Q2 value

RAG 
Q2

DOT 
Q2

2017/18
Q3 target

2017/18
Q3 value

RAG 
Q3

DOT 
Q3

2017/18
Annual 
target

Q3 commentary

KFS06b % of debt outstanding for over 90 days
Catherine 
Nicholson

Monthly Low 45.44% n/a 11% n/a p n/a 29% n/a q n/a 38% n/a q n/a
Q3 - Although the percentage is increasing for debts over 90 days the value of 
the overall aged debt has decreased.  

KEG04 Occupancy rates of Council’s property portfolio
Kevin 
Kerrigan

Monthly High 92.5% 90.0% 90.3% G q 90.0% 92.5% G p 90.0% 92.7% G p 90.0% Occupancy rate is steady at just over target rate.

KCS01 
(NI192)

% of household waste sent for recycling
Charles 
Holmes

Quarterly High 37.9% 41.8% 41.3% A tu 47.2% 46.1% A q 33.0% 37.3% G p 41.0%

Due to confirmation being required from CCC and finally WDF this data is 
estimated. The improved position linked to recycling in terms of the 
performance/percentage is associated with a lower tonnage of residual waste 
being sent for disposal than expected. When this is set against a slightly 
higher tonnage of dry recycling than estimated at the start of the year this 
combination shows an improved percentage rate on the initial target figure.  
DOT - see note*

KCS02 
(NI191)

Kg of household waste sent to landfill (kg per 
household)

Charles 
Holmes

Quarterly Low 529.70 132.00 138.50 A q 118.00 112.00 G p 135.00 122.00 G p 520.00

Although an estimate the amount of residual waste from domestic dwellings 
sent for disposal is much lower than what was estimated at the start of the 
year. Initial estimate for Q3 which was based on previous year was felt to be 
an ambitious 6,200 tonnes, the data in this period however suggests 5,700 
tonnes which is a good reduction in waste sent for disposal/treatment.  DOT - 
see note*

KPR01
Average no. of working days lost to sickness 
absence per employee per annum

Brendan 
Carlin

Monthly Low 8.80 7.00 9.15 R q 7.00 9.70 R q 7.00 8.67 R p 7.00
There has been a reduction in cumulative days lost at the end of quarter 3 
17/18. Compared to the same period in winter last year there has been a 
reduction of 58 days sickness during this quarter. 

KPR02 Levels of staff engagement and productivity
Brendan 
Carlin

Annually High n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 36% n/a n/a
90 employees took part in the employee survey, further engagement sessions 
and pulse surveys will continue throughout 2018.

Definitions

RAG
R Significantly worse than target (usually >10% from target) – urgent action required to improve performance
A Within agreed tolerance of target (usually up to 10% from target) - some action may be required to improve performance
G On, or better than, target

DOT Direction of travel arrows indicate whether performance since the last comparable period has become:
p Better
tu Stayed the same
q Worse

'Comparable period' - this is usually the previous month or quarter.  

* For a few indicators we compare back to the previous year's comparable quarters (these are KCTC13, KCTC14, KCS01, KCS02)

P
age 98



Appendix C - Corporate risk and issues log at 08/02/18 (risk score > 9)

ID R
is

k
 D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t 
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

R
is

k
 S

c
o

re

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e
 A

s
s

ig
n

m
e

n
t

M
it

ig
a

ti
n

g
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

p
la

n
n

e
d

P
o

s
t 

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 I

m
p

a
c

t
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 
L

ik
e

li
h

o
o

d
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 R
is

k
 

S
c

o
re

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 D

a
te

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 

35 Significant unbudgeted 
expenditure arising 
from severe weather 
conditions.

Further deterioration of sea 
defences and impact on low lying 
coastal properties and land.
Landslips occuring following 
severe weather
Cost of business disruption e.g. 
NNDR collection
Increase cost of business as usual 
services and customers as 
resource is used to support 

4 4 16 Nicholson, 
Catherine

Extent of damage identified and external funding opportunities being explored 
Report produced identifying issues and options and circulated to Director
Following Storm Desmond and flooding in December 2015 the Bellwin scheme has been activated for Cumbria. This 
scheme will provide additional financial support associated with response works undertaken between the start of the 
incident and up to 1 month after the end of the official response stage. 
A finance sub-group with members from all Cumbrian Authorities has been set up in response to recent storms and 
flooding, this allows the sharing of knowledge and best practice. This group will also be responsible for identifying 
additional funding for the recovery phase (works required to land/property, loss of income from taxation and business 
interruption).
Where works are required to be undertaken, these are recorded and costs estimated to ensure that financing can be 
identified, either from external sources identified by the finance sub-group or from Allerdale BC's budget and internal 
resources. 

Bellwin now submitted and awaiting settlment.  no queries to date.
Major incident budget created for 16/17

Nicholson, 
Catherine

Funding opportunities to support the repair/replacement of damaged sea 
defences still being explored. Awaiting confirmation from Environment Agency.  
STILL OUTSTANDING

Action has been taken to address highest risk area (Well Lane, Maryport). 
Topographic survey and initial appraisal have been undertaken. Inspection has 
revealed further structural inspections will be required and additional works will 
be required additional to the original anticipated costs. Consultants are acting in 
connection with the identified additional works.

Provision for this additional cost is being made in 2016/17 budget.
UPDATE MAY 17:  Well Lane now complete.  No further work required at this 
stage.  Possible retentions for 6-12 month period.

Finance Sub-group set up (following Storm Desmond) to idenitfy additional 
funding for recovery phase - NOW DISBANDED

2 2 4 01/09/2017 18/12/2017

4 Failure to continue 
providing value for 
money for expenditure

Inability to fulfil statutory 
obligations. Cease discretionary 
services. Cannot succeed as a 
council.  Unable to achieve plans, 
loss of key staff and or services, 
further use of reserves. Waste due 
to inefficient processes.

4 3 12 Frost, Ian 5 Year sustainability plan agreed by Executive.  Reserves above minimum level. Star Chamber approach adopted to 
improve accountability and responsibility for budget management. Tailor made financial workshops for budget holders 
quarterly.  Budget timetable and reporting managed effectively. Forecasting out puts examined and challenged at SMT 
regularly.  Increasing demand for monthly performance indicator information at SMT monthly to drive efficiency and 
effectiveness. Sector advisors – treasury guidance. Reducing spend programme – monitored.
The Commercial and Commissioning Boards should drive cost and time performance information relating to value for 
money and productivity. This should include detailed business cases and options appraisals to support informed 
decision making.                                                        
Council plan projects and new areas of business activity should be subject to a structured options appraisal using the 
programme office methodology to encourage innovation and the consideration of alternative business and delivery 
models. Projects should include clear measurable, agreed outputs to demonstrate the value added by the expenditure.     
Risk information in the Corporate Risks and Issues Log should be refreshed on an ongoing basis as changes occur to 
ensure it reflects current risk management activities. A risk evaluation of the high risks (red) should be completed by the 
Senior Management Team monthly. 
Minimum reserve position and self sufficiency targets monitored and reviewed by S151 Officer on risk basis

Frost, Ian SMT are developing an Organisational Development Plan to support the drive 
for efficiency and growth. Value for Money will be a key driver for these plans. 1. 
Transformation Board manages the budget. 2. In service review. 3. 
Improvement Workshops - SMT to pilot. 4. Elaine to design - 
commisioning/procurement training.

3 3 9 01/09/2017 09/11/2017

14 Business continuity 
plans do not meet 
business needs

The Council does not comply with 
its duties as a Category 1 
Responder under CCA. Priority 
services are not maintained,. 
Resulting in bad publicity and loss 
of confidence in management,  
delayed income collection, 
increased unbudgeted expenditure 
costs.

4 3 12 Nicholson, 
Catherine

16/02/2017 – Cloud based Business continuity software has been implemented, accessible from any internet capable 
device, relevant staff have received training on its use. Departmental plans combined into central Business Continuity 
plan containing sections for dealing with Initial Incident actions, Communications, Recovery and Restoration phases, 
together with managing impact on the Council. Solway House agreed as alternative location for DDR set up site, control 
centre and priority services. ICT infrastructure and data links in place to allow restoration of required servers and access 
to data backups located at Carlisle. Telephony system transferred to BT OnePhone fully mobile based system removing 
requirement for server access via Allerdale House. Contact Centre transferred to a ‘cloud’ based solution allowing 
access via any internet capable device, regardless of location. Property Services have provided a plan identifying space 
within building for incident response team and priority services.  Business Interruption insurance in place and Insurance 
cover in respect of council assets, reinstatement of data, additional increased cost of working.
Business interruption insurance relating to specified supplier investigated and amendments to cover made.
Business recovery plan template has been updated to capture additional information about resource requirements for 
priority services, details of staff to be relocated to Solway House and other potential locations and has been circulated to 
Heads of Service

Nicholson, 
Catherine

1.  Apply likely costings for budget   
2.  Head of Service table top exercise held on 14/02/17 supervised by Egton 
consultant. Number of actions raised to amend and update plan. Further 
excercise to be completed     
3. Rolling program of full Departmental exercises      
4. Update Audit Committee 
5. Learn lessons from partner organisations

3 3 9 31/12/2017 09/11/2017

48 Inability to deliver the 
council plan due to the 
consequences of 
Brexit 

strategic priorities are not met
improvements are not made
lives in allerdale are not improved
cannot deliver value for money
reduced growth

4 3 12 Hardy, Nik Scenario planning session completed with Assurance, Risk and Audit Manager.
Staff briefing sessons held on 12th and 15th July 2016
 and a further session held in August 2017

Frost, Ian; 
Hardy, Nik

Key Officers must remain part of discussions with stakeholders
The situation will be monitored through the creation of the Strategy, Policy and 
Performance team - regular topic specific meetings have/ are being held
Information updates from professional bodies should be shared with SMT on a 
regular basis
Identify strategy setting groups and ensure we are part of these discussions.
Involve more people in the information updates.

4 3 12 09/03/2018 13/11/2017

P
age 99



ID R
is

k
 D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t 
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

R
is

k
 S

c
o

re

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e
 A

s
s

ig
n

m
e

n
t

M
it

ig
a

ti
n

g
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

p
la

n
n

e
d

P
o

s
t 

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 I

m
p

a
c

t
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 
L

ik
e

li
h

o
o

d
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 R
is

k
 

S
c

o
re

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 D

a
te

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 

51 Potential risk to the 
delivery of major 
schemes due to 
reduced levels of 
public regeneration 
funding

Inability to progress major 
regeneration schemes resulting in 
failure to safeguard or create 
employment opportunities

4 3 12 Hardy, Nik Ongoing dialogue wtih relevant funding bodies and stakeholders. Hardy, Nik 1. Continuation of dialogue with key stakeholders and funding bodies.
2. Identification of other possible means to delivery.
3. Applying for Business Rates pilot.
4. Potential private sector funding.
5. LEP growth Deal.
6. Alternative delivery model designed for private sector investment.

0 29/06/2018 14/12/2017

53 Move to 100% 
retention of business 
rates - and the delay 
from 2019/20 to 
2020/21 - depending 
on new parliament

Impact on the medium term 
financial plan.
Potential loss of growth depending 
on re-sets
Difficulty in planning for growth and 
retaining income

3 4 12 Nicholson, 
Catherine

Whole scheme has now been delayed due to the snap general election.
Awaiting Queens Speech - new legislation

Continued membership of Cumbria NNDR group
LG futures events for updates
Consultations and DCLG statements
Pilot potential will be reported to Executive Council in January 2018.

3 3 9 09/05/2017 18/12/2017

54 Failure to manage and 
maintain a secure 
information systems 
network

Service outage, loss of data, 
business disruption, reduced trust 
from stakeholders, cyber crime, 
information lost or stolen, 
regulatory fines, regulatory 
investigation, failure to provide 
customer service, loss of income.

4 3 12 Wood, Paul Independent penetration testing completed annually by a third party to identify and report vulnerabilities in the system. 
Cloud based systems are in place for office 365, my allerdale, telephony. Daily off site back ups. Regular back up 
reliability testing. Revised ICT policys to improve end user awareness. Public Services Network compliance gained 
March 2017. Horizon scanning and lessons learnt from events.

Hollins, 
Keith

1. Gradually move all systems to cloud based products.
2. Implementation of Cloud based strategy
3. Regular scheduled back up testing
4. Awareness and education of all end users - (ICT business partner role) by 
31/3/18

4 2 8 22/09/2018 22/09/2017

55 Information is not 
managed in line with 
policy, procedure and 
regulatory 
requirements.  Failure 
to deliver the 
requirements of the 
Data Protection 
Regulations.

1. Breach of GDPR & financial 
implications. 2. Reputation, trust & 
confidence. 3. Fines. 4. 
Commercial sensitive information. 
5. Damage to relationship with 
partners we work with possibly 
won't work with us again. 6. 
Potential loss of staff through 
dismissal. 7. ICO investigation. 8. 
Loss/misuse of personal data. 9. 
Loss of business time. 10. Could 
be put into special measures. 11. 
Substantial fine 12. Potential fraud.

4 3 12 Hardy, Nik 1. GDPR framework and internal policies. 2. Process & procedures. 3. Review what we have and why we hold it. 4. Audit 
process. 5. Retention policy. 6. ICT policies. 7. Data sharing protocol. 8. Project group established.

Hardy, Nik Project Running:
1. Education/training. 2. Awareness. 3. Reviews. 4. Monitoring. 5. E-Learning. 6. 
Team meetings. 7. Regular updates. 8. Procedures in place to ensure policies 
adhered to. 9. Review what we hold. 10. Learn from others. 11. Reminders for 
staff about managing data. 12. Managers consistency. 13. Highlighting 
consequences (to staff and also those whose data is stolen etc). 14. Campaign. 
15. Repetative testing. 16. Acknowledgement of understanding.

4 2 8 31/05/2018 09/11/2017

13 Business rates 
collected fall below 
baseline funding

Less cash income and more 
reliance on reserves. Unable to 
balance budget. Further service 
cuts.

3 3 9 Nicholson, 
Catherine

In house Revs and Bens team monitor collection rates and report back to  Head of Finance to provide early warning. 
Existing award of business rate reliefs policy in place but based on system before localisation of NNDR. Application to 
pool business rates has been accepted again for 2016/17.  Cumbria wide group established with Cumbria County 
Council taking the lead role on the pool with specialist advice.
Regular meetings are held between all members of the pool to discuss the business rates income projections and to 
highlight any significant issues that are relevant to the pool and/or individual authorities. 
Monitoring currently in place is reviewed and changes/enhancements are discussed between relevant parties and where 
necessary actioned. 
The Allerdale sub-group has been set up and has now had a number of meetings to discuss potential growth, decline 
and any other relevant topics, members include revenues, planning, finance, economic growth and membership is 
reviewed to make sure it remains fit for purpose. 

Nicholson, 
Catherine

 1.  Working with Revs and Bens Shared Service to develop more enhanced 
monitoring  eg top 20 rates payers, those in appeal etc.   
 2.  Update of discretionary rate reflief planned
3. Set up Buiness Rates Working Group

3 2 6 01/09/2017 18/12/2017

18 Failure to align 
adequate people 
resources to council 
strategic priorities. 

Strategic Priorities and associated 
outcomes are not delivered
Transformation programme is not 
delivered.
Services fail to grow or be as 
efficient as required.

3 3 9 Seekings, 
Andrew

Current performance management framework ensures that key issues and challenges facing the Council drives Council 
Plan and service plan priorities.  
Project approach is taken to delivering Council Plan and regular monitoring of budgets and performance is in place.
Deployment of appropraite people resources is considered as part of programme/project set up
New performance/behaviours framework in place 

Seekings, 
Andrew

 •Process designed to identify internal capability and expertise and then the 
information used to allocate resource
 •Resource allocation considered as part of project management 
 •Review performance targets to make sure that they relevant, reflect our 

direction of travel and measure and evaluate success in achieving our vision. 
 •Performance against strategic priorities monitored on a regular basis at SMT.

3 2 6 30/09/2017 24/05/2017

P
age 100



ID R
is

k
 D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t 
D

e
s

c
ri

p
ti

o
n

Im
p

a
c

t

L
ik

e
li

h
o

o
d

R
is

k
 S

c
o

re

R
e

s
p

o
n

s
ib

il
it

y

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e

M
e

a
s

u
re

s
 a

n
d

 
A

s
s

u
ra

n
c

e
 A

s
s

ig
n

m
e

n
t

M
it

ig
a

ti
n

g
 A

c
ti

o
n

s
 

p
la

n
n

e
d

P
o

s
t 

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 I

m
p

a
c

t
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 
L

ik
e

li
h

o
o

d
P

o
s

t 
M

it
ig

a
ti

o
n

 R
is

k
 

S
c

o
re

M
it

ig
a

ti
o

n
 D

a
te

L
a

s
t 

u
p

d
a

te
d

 

22 Increased number of 
families in poverty

Quality of life reduced, decreased 
customer satisfaction, reduced life 
expectancy. 

3 3 9 Seekings, 
Andrew

1. Development and delivery of the Reducing Poverty Strategy 

2. Local poverty statistics monitored annually through the Key issues paper  

Seekings, 
Andrew

 1.Review and update the Tackling Inequality Strategy and Action Plan.  
Overview and Scrutiny undertaking pre-Scrutiny work on draft strategy and 
action plan through task and finish group - due to report to OSC Committee Dec 
2017.  Refreshed Strategy agreed by March 2018.

 2.Develop a framework to ensure that tackling inequality is considered across 
the organisation in business planning and decision making by March 2018
3. Review baseline TIS by March 2018.

3 3 9 30/03/2018 09/01/2018

29 Failure to manage 
commissioning 
lifecycle with key 
partners.

Priorities are not met, partnerships 
fail, legal disputes occur, 
opportunities missed.

3 3 9 Seekings, 
Andrew

Commissioning Manager now in place
Strategic Review Plan - agreed to start with grounds maintenance.  Strategic and Service review plan agreed by 
Commissioning Board to be implemented.

Seekings, 
Andrew

1. Contract Monitoring in Financial Regulations review. 2. Electronic diary 
system for renewal/break clauses etc. 3. Monitor existing KPI's. 4. Monthly 
meetings. 5. New grounds maintenance contract implemented. 6. 
Commissioning and Procurement Board oversees progress & compliance. 7. 
MTFP (medium term financial plan) identifies potential financial impact and self 
sufficiency targets.

2 2 4 30/11/2016 09/11/2017

32 Failure to engage 
community in the 
planning process. 

Delays and costs associated with 
objections and challenges to 
planning applications and site 
allocations. Impact on delivery of 
the Council's growth ambitons for 
housing and employment land. 
Adverse impact on the Council's 
reputation. Impact on Council Tax, 
NNDR and New Homes Bonus 
received. 

3 3 9 Kerrigan, 
Kevin

Improved community consultation and engagement.
Member engagement in development of Local Plan through Planning Policy Working Group.
Training for Development Panel members - including applications review workshops. 
Appropriate level of detail in Development Panel reports.
Regular planning case mangement meetings
Wording of planning application correspondence reviewed.
Appeal decision reviews circulated to members. 
Moved to 4 week cycle for Development Panel with morning sessions focussed on member training, application review 
workshops and the introduction of pre-application engagement with developers on major schemes. 

Kerrigan, 
Kevin

Increased engagement with Town and Parish Council's to assist in explaining 
the planning system and the reasons for decisions. 
1. Community email/newsletter that people sign up to to get more information. 2. 
publicise the decision making process/grounds for objectives. 3. more social 
media communication. 4. give public facing staff a route to feedback from 
conversations within the community - concepts to be developed following 
appointment to new post of Planning Implementation Manager. 

2 2 4 30/03/2018 29/01/2018

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 102



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2017

The Reason for the Decision Quarterly Finance Report April to December 
2017 [Quarter 3]

Summary of options considered This report informs members of the Council’s 
financial performance against budget for the 
period April to December 2017 along with the 
forecast position to 31 March 2018.

Recommendations That the contents of the report are noted.

Financial / Resource Implications Financial issues and implications are included 
within the main body of this report.

Legal / Governance Implications None directly

Community Safety Implications None directly

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

Regular monitoring of financial performance 
forms an integral part of the framework of 
financial controls and procedures used by the 
Council to manage financial risks.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

N/A

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

Sound financial management is essential to 
successful delivery of the Council’s financial 
plans, achievement of value for money and the 
stewardship and safeguarding of public money.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services
Ext No. 20600
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.co.uk

Page 103

Agenda Item 8

mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.co.uk


Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the 

Council)

N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal N Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

1. Introduction

1.1 The Council’s financial regulations require the Section 151 Officer (Head of 
Financial Services) to report regularly, (at least quarterly) to Executive, the 
latest financial position against budget.

1.2.1 This report outlines for both the Council’s Revenue budget (section 2) and 
Capital budget (section 6), the position based on an assessment of net 
expenditure to the end of December 2017 and the projected net expenditure 
to the 31st March 2018.

1.2.2 Reasons for significant variances (+/- £30k) between the full year forecast and 
the approved estimates (budget) for 2017/18 have been provided under the 
relevant section. 

1.3 This report also provides:

 details of forecast expenditure on projects funded from earmarked 
reserves (section 4)

 a summary forecast income from business rates, council tax and 
non- specific (un-ringfenced) grants (section 5) 

 a summary of the impact of the forecast outturn position on 
earmarked reserves and general fund balances (section 7)

 details of treasury management activity and confirmation of 
compliance with the Treasury and Prudential Indicators included in 
the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement (sections 
8)

 an overview of insurance activity during the period (section 9)

 performance information relating to sundry debtors income and 
write offs, payment of creditor invoices and the collection of council 
tax and business rates income (section 10).

Page 104



Key Messages
1.4 The headline messages at the end of quarter 3 of 2017/18 are:

Revenue Budget
(i) Expenditure from the revenue budget, excluding projects funded 

from earmarked reserves, is forecast to exceed budget by £196k 
(ii) There is an anticipated increase in income from Taxation & 

Government Grants of £273k
(iii) This projected outturn position would result in a contribution to the 

Councils General Fund of £77k
Earmarked Reserves Budget

(iv) Expenditure from the earmarked reserves is forecast to underspend 
by £463k

(v) Of this underspend £453k will be reprofiled between financial years, 
leaving a net underspend of £10k
Capital Budget

(vi) Expenditure from the capital budget is forecast to underspend by 
£1,861k

(vii) Of this underspend £1,814k will be reprofiled between financial years 
leaving a net underspend of £47k
Other

(viii) Performance in relation to the payment of creditor invoices continues 
to improve with the payment of non-Allerdale suppliers achieving the 
98% target for quarter 3

(ix) No new external borrowing was undertaken during the third quarter 
of 2017/18

Page 105



2. Summary of Projected Revenue Outturn Position
2.1 Table 1 shows the Council's overall projected outturn position:

Expenditure on Services
 the budget is £14,629k
 the projected outturn (including contributions to reserve) is £14,825
 this gives a projected overspend of £196k
Use of Earmarked Reserves
 the budget is £2,684k
 the projected outturn is £2,221k
 this gives a projected underspend of (£463k)

Table 1 - Summary of Projected Outturn against Annual Budget
Budget

£’000

Projected
Outturn

£’000

Variance

£’000

Report 
Ref.

Net Expenditure on Services 12,715 12,911 196

Parish Precepts 1,914 1,914 0

Total Net Revenue Expenditure 14,629 14,825 196 Section 3

Use of Earmarked Reserves 2,684 2,221 (463)

Sub-Total 17,313 17,046 (267)

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (2,684) (2,221) 463 Section 4 

Total Outturn 14,629 14,825 196

Funding:

Taxation & Government Grants 12,715 12,988 273 Section 5

Parish Precepts 1,914 1,914 0

Contribution from/to General Fund 0 (77) (77) Section 7

Total Funding 14,629 14,825 196

2.2 After recognising a forecast increase in income from Taxation & Government 
Grants, there is a contribution to the Council’s General Fund balances of 
£77k.

2.3 A breakdown of the projected outturn variances is shown by portfolio in Table 
2. Details of significant variances on services are detailed in sections 3 to 5 of 
this report. 

Page 106



3. Analysis of Net Expenditure on Services against Budget

3.1 Projected outturn for expenditure on services for the financial year is £14,825k 
(£14,344k projected outturn plus £214k planned and £267k unplanned 
contributions to earmarked reserve) against annual budget of £14,629k.

3.2 This will result in a forecast adverse variance of £196k for the financial year. A 
summary of variances by portfolio is provided in the following table.

Table 2 – Summary of variance by Portfolio

Service
Annual 
Budget

Projected 
Outturn

Planned 
contribution 
to reserve 

Projected 
Variance

Unplanned 
contribution 
to reserve

Net
Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Leader of the Council 1,294 884 154 (256) 231 (25)
Economic Growth (875) (940) 0 (65) 0 (65)
Corporate Resources 4,523 4,410 25 (88) 0 (88)
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,048 1,060 0 12 0 12
Locality & Environmental Quality 3,022 3,352 0 330 26 356
Governance & People Resources 1,488 1,457 35 4 0 4
Tourism & Culture 268 257 0 (11) 10 (1)
Transformation 1,947 1,950 0 3 0 3
Parish Precepts 1,914 1,914 0 0 0 0

Total 14,629 14,344 214 (71) 267 196

3.3 A breakdown and analysis of significant variances (i.e. full year forecast of +/- 
£30k) by portfolio area is set out in the following paragraphs.

Leader of the Council

3.4 The forecast net variance against the Leader of the Council portfolio budget is 
£25,315 (favourable). Significant variances underlying the current forecast 
position are summarised in the following table.

Table 3 – Leader of the Council variances

Service

Gross 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Contr. to 
Reserves

£

Net 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Para.

Corporate Priorities (230,700) 230,700 0 3.5

Sub Total (230,700) 230,700 0  
Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k (25,315) 0 (25,315)  
Total variance (256,015) 230,700 (25,315)  

Page 107



Corporate Priorities: (underspend of £230,700 to be carried forward to 
2018/19)

3.5 The 2017/18 revised budget included £451k to support Council Priorities. 
£220k of this budget has been allocated towards the development of the West 
Cumbria Credit Union in line with the council’s priority of Tackling Inequalities. 
This will be paid over the four years (2017/18 to 2020/21):

 £66k has been paid in 2017/18

 £153k commitment has been identified as a planned contribution to 
reserve

3.6 It is anticipated that the remaining £230k will not be spent in the current 
financial year. If this is the case, the underspend will be contributed to a 
reserve to ensure this remains available in 2018/19 to deliver Council Priority 
schemes.

Economic Growth Portfolio

3.7 The forecast net variance against the Economic Growth portfolio budget is 
£64,169 (favourable). Significant variances underlying the current forecast 
position are summarised in the following table.

Table 4 – Economic Growth significant variances

Service

Gross 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Contr. to 
Reserves

£

Net 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Para.

Camping & Caravan Site (118,797) 0 (118,797) 3.8

Workington Town Centre 32,545 0 32,545 3.9
Building Control Pay Group 41,400 0 41,400 3.10
Planning and Development Pay Group (45,547) 0 (45,547) 3.11
Enterprise Coaches (30,510) 0 (30,510) 3.12
Sub Total (120,909) 0 (120,909)  
Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k 56,740 0 56,740  
Total variance (64,169) 0 (64,169)  

Camping & Caravan Site: (favourable variance £118,797)
3.8 Current forecast income is based on the interim statement provided by the 

Camping and Caravan Club in December 2017. This shows an increase in 
forecast profitability for the site following completion of refurbishment works. 
This is the first full year of trading since completion of the refurbishment and it 
is expected that this level of income will be maintained in future years. 

Page 108



Workington Town Centre (adverse variance £32,545)
3.9 The forecast variance reflects a shortfall in income from the profit share 

element of the ground rent, following completion of in-year lease renewal 
negotiations. This is expected to be a short-term position and the 2018/19 
budget reflects this assumption. 
Building Control Pay Group (adverse variance £41,400)

3.10 Additional costs have been incurred in relation to the use of agency staff to 
cover vacancies pending recruitment. Recruitment has taken longer than 
anticipated during the revised budget process. This overspend can be off-set 
by an underspend on the Planning and Development Pay Group. 

Planning and Development Pay Group (favourable variance £45,547)
3.11 The underspend is associated with vacant posts, recruitment is on-going and 

the resulting underspend off-sets the overspend on the Building Control Pay 
Group. 

Enterprise Coaches (favourable variance £30,510)
3.12 Following completion of the final audit review of the Ways Into Successful 

Enterprise (WISE) scheme in December, additional income is payable to the 
Council which has resulted in a favourable variance. 

Corporate Resources
3.13 The forecast net variance against the Corporate Resources portfolio is 

£88,499 (favourable). Significant variances underlying the current forecast 
position are summarised in the following table.
Table 5 – Corporate Resources significant variances

Service

Gross 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Contr. to 
Reserves

£

Net 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Para.

Pensions (31,143) 0 (31,143) 3.14

Banking and Interest (38,016) 0 (38,016) 3.15

Sub Total (69,159) 0 (69,159)  
Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k (19,340) 0 (19,340)  
Total variance (88,499) 0 (88,499)  

Pensions (favourable variance £31,143)
3.14 A budget of £35,000 is available in 2017/18 to cover costs associated with 

auto enrolment legislation. The full budget is not required as only a small 
number of staff have remained in the pension scheme following auto 
enrolment.

Page 109



Banking and Interest (favourable variance £38,016)
3..15 The reported variance reflects the reduction in PWLB borrowing costs 

associated with changes to the expected timing of capital expenditure, funded 
from borrowing, across financial years.

Locality & Environmental Quality

3.16 The forecast net variance against the Locality & Environmental Quality 
portfolio budget is £355,335 (adverse). Significant variances underlying the 
current forecast position are summarised in the following table.

Table 6 – Locality & Environmental Quality significant variances

Service

Gross 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Contr. to 
Reserves

£

Net 
Variance 
adverse/ 

(favourable)
£

Para.

Off-street - Owned 36,098 0 36,098 3.17

Multi-storey Car Park 259,961 0 259,961 3.18

Sub Total 296,059 0 296,059  
Activity variances not exceeding +/- £30k 33,536 25,740 59,276  

Total variance 329,595 25,740 355,335  

Off-street – Owned Car Parks (adverse variance of £36,098)
3.17 This variance comprises:

 £46k rental costs for Otley Road due to a delay in the purchase. 
This is now expected to be complete in early February 2018

 £9k overspend following additional unplanned line painting works 
undertaken in 2017/18

 £17k increase in various costs (such as charges for card 
transactions). Based on the current level of usage there will be a 
shortfall in the budget

 £31k reduction in PCN income attributed to a shortfall in 
enforcement numbers for the first three quarters of the year. 
Enforcement numbers are expected to increase over the last three 
months of the financial year following additional staff training

 £47k shortfall in projected income from season ticket sales

 £115k additional car parking income is projected, based on current 
usage continuing over the last three months of the financial year.

Page 110



Multi-storey Car Park (adverse variance of £259,961)
3.18 This variance comprises:

 £68k shortfall in the final profit share receivable from Parksafe. This 
is due to a reduction in car parking income

 £95k payable under the terms of the settlement agreement to 
reimburse Parksafe for corporation tax payable on the settlement 
sum

 £75k increase in provision to meet future settlement payments, 
including  estimated additional amounts payable to reimburse 
Parksafe for corporation tax liabilities on future settlement sums due

 £31k shortfall in projected income receivable, based on current 
levels of usage 

 £10k favourable variance attributable to a reduction in projected 
expenditure across a number of budget lines.

Other portfolios

3.19 At quarter 3 there were no significant variances (i.e. variances of +/- £30k) to 
report within the following portfolios:

 Housing, Health & Wellbeing 

 Governance & People Resources

 Tourism & Culture

 Transformation

4. Projects funded from Earmarked Reserves 
4.1 The balance in earmarked reserve of £5,201k, can be split as follows:

 £3,666k held for service expenditure
 £1,535k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against 

specified risks

4.2 Against the balance of £3,666 (reserves held for service expenditure) the 
profiled spend identified for the 2017/18 revised budget is £2,684k, with the 
remaining balance being profiled to future financial years. 

4.3 The current projected outturn for 2017/18 is £2,221k, which gives a projected 
underspend of (£463k). £453k relates to a change in the timing of expenditure 
between financial years, comprising:

 re-profiled expenditure to future years of £472k
 re-profiled expenditure from future years of (£19k)

4.4 This leaves a potential underspend against earmarked reserves of £11k which 
will be reviewed as part of the final outturn and where possible, this will be 
contributed to the general fund balance. 

Page 111



Table 7 - Summary of projected expenditure from earmarked reserves

Reserve  
Balance

Revised  
Budget

Projected 
outturn

Variance 

Re-
profiled 
to/from 
future 
years

 

Potential 
savingReserve Funded projects 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Leader of the Council 587 570 550 (20) 20 0
Economic Growth 264 180 180 0 0 0
Corporate Resources 838 684 659 (25) 25 0
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 857 290 84 (206) 202 (4)
Locality & Environmental Quality 209 195 189 (6) 6 0
Governance & People Resources 675 554 383 (171) 171 0
Tourism & Culture 29 30 0 (29) 29 0
Transformation 207 182 176 (6) 0 (6)

Total held for service expenditure 3,666 2,684 2,221 463 453 (10)

Accounting/Contingent reserves 1,534 0 0 0 0 0
Total Reserves 5,200 2,684 2,221 463 453 (10)

4.5 All earmarked reserves are being reviewed to ensure they are held in line with 
Council priorities and that the balance remains at the appropriate level. 
Further details of this review will be reported in future budget monitoring 
reports.

5. Taxation and Non-specific grant income

5.1 Details of the Council’s taxation and non-specific grant income and 
expenditure for the year compared with budget, are shown in the following 
table. This includes income received from:

 Non-ring fenced government grants such as Revenue Support Grant 
and New Homes Bonus  

 Council tax and Non Domestic Rates (NNDR)

Table 8 -Taxation and Non-specific grant income
Budget 
£’000

Forecast 
Outturn
 £’000

Variance

 £’000

Para

Revenue support grant 1,060 1,060 0

Rural Services Delivery Grant 261 261 0

New Homes Bonus 1,604 1,612 (8)

Council tax – excluding parish element 4,920 4,920 0

Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 139 139 0

NNDR funding 4,731 4,995 (265)

12,715 12,989 (273)

Page 112



5.2 Current projections of National Non Domestic Rates show an increase in 
funding of £266k. A summary of the NNDR income included in the 2017/18 
budget and the forecast income to be credited to the Council’s general fund in 
2017/18, is shown in the table below.

Table 9 - NNDR funding 2017/18 

Funding element
Approved

Budget 
£’000

Forecast 
Outturn 

£’000

Variance 

£’000
Fixed Elements:
Allerdale Share of NNDR Income 11,805 11,805 0

Net tariff payable to Central Government (6,931) (6,931) 0

Share of estimated collection fund deficit (872) (872) 0
‘Fixed’ element of NNDR income 4,002 4,002 0
Variable Elements:
Section 31 grant 1,224 1,497 273

Levy payable (net of reduction under pool 
arrangements) (362) (370) (8)

Variable element of NNDR income 862 1,127 265
Total Fixed & Variable Elements 4,864 5,129 265
Release of s31 Flood grant from Earmarked Reserve 227 227 0

Transfer of NNDR s31 funding to volatility reserve (360) (360) 0
Total estimated income from NNDR 4,731 4,996 265

Additional Section 31 Grant
5.3 It was noted in previous quarterly finance reports that there was potential for 

additional income to be received in relation to Small Business Rate Relief 
(SBRR). MHCLG (formerly DCLG) had previously announced that the existing 
calculation of Section 31 Grant did not properly compensate Authorities for 
the changes made to SBRR relief in 2017/18. Confirmation of the additional 
grant due to the authority was announced in December. 

Increase in Net Levy Payable 
5.4 The levy payable is based on the final Collection Fund outturn position for 

2017/18. The forecast increase in net levy payable is a result of:

 additional Section 31 grants (explained above) have increased the 
Council’s NNDR income, resulting in an increase to the amount of levy 
payable

 an increase in the amount retained from the pool. This reflects a 
change in the ‘local volatility fund’ arrangement: It was previously 
expected that an amount would be set aside from the levy to provide 
protection from future reductions in NNDR income. After reviewing the 
current risks, the decision was taken that the existing balance of the 
reserve is sufficient and that no additional contribution will be required 
in 2017/18.

Page 113



6. Capital budget

6.1 The Capital Outturn for 2017/18 is summarised in table 10. In particular this 
shows:

 a current budget of £5,935k 
 a projected outturn position of £4,074k
 an underspend compared to the budget of £1,861k 
 budget carry forward requests of £1,814k
 a remaining underspend of £47k

Table 10 – Overview of Variances by Portfolio
Current 
Budget

Outturn Outturn 
Variance

Re-
profiled

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Capital Expenditure
Economic Growth 2,500 1,369 (1,131) 1,131 0
Corporate Resources 677 402 (275) 323 48

Housing, Health & Wellbeing 2,180 1,725 (455) 360 (95)

Localities & Environmental 428 428 0 0 0
Transformation 150 150 0 0 0

Total - Capital Expenditure 5,935 4,074 (1,861) 1,814 (47)

Capital Financing      

Capital Grants 2,090 1,645 (445) 445 0

Capital Receipts 280 100 (180) 180 0
Earmarked Reserves 231 231 0 0 0
Revenue Budget 13 13 0 0 0
General Fund Balances 730 712 (18) 18 0

Borrowing 2,591 1,373 (1,218) 1,171 (47)

Total - Capital Funding 5,935 4,074 (1,861) 1,814 (47)
Total - Projected Variance 0 0 0 0 0

Key Variances

6.2 Details of key variances are set out in the following paragraphs.

Page 114



Economic Growth

6.3 The Economic Growth portfolio is currently reporting an underspend of 
£1,131k and expected budget carry forwards of £1,131k, leaving no variance.

Table 11 Economic Growth 
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000

Lillyhall Development (200) 200 0

Reedlands Road Industrial Development (164) 164 0

Strategic Acquisitions (767) 767 0

Total (1,131) 1,131 0

Lillyhall – Development (underspend of £200k to be carried forward to 
2018/19)

6.4 The budget was approved for the development of the Lillyhall site once the 
purchase had been completed. £200k of the scheme’s budget was profiled to 
be spent in 2017/18 (met from LEP grant). The LEP funding is being reviewed 
and no expenditure is likely to be incurred until 2018/19.

Reedlands Road Industrial Development (underspend of £164k to be 
carried forward to 2018/19)

6.5 The budget was approved for the development of additional industrial units. A 
total of £250k was profiled to be spent in 2017/18 (funded from borrowing). 
Based on current spending profiles, the full £250k is unlikely to be spent in the 
current financial year.

Strategic Acquisitions (underspend of £767k to be carried forward to 
2018/19)

6.6 The £1,297k budget is funded from borrowing and will not be fully utilised in 
2017/18. The only spend being projected is the purchase of Otley Road, with 
the remaining budget to be carried forward to 2018/19. This budget will 
continue to be used to take advantage of property acquisition and 
development opportunities that support achievement of Council Priorities.

Corporate Resources

6.7 The Corporate Resources portfolio is currently reporting an underspend of 
£275k, and expected budget carry forwards of £323k. Leaving an overspend 
of £48k. The current position of this portfolio is summarised below:

Page 115



Table 12 Corporate Resources portfolio variances
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000

Workington Hall Repair Scheme (50) 50 0

Public Toilets Review Works (93) 93 0

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 47 0 47

Helena Thompson Museum Development (180) 180 0

Resurfacing works (Brow Top Car Park) 1 0 1

Total (275) 323 48

Workington Hall Repair Scheme (underspend of £50k to be carried 
forward to 2018/19)

6.8 Budget of £50k (funded from borrowing) was approved for works to 
Workington Hall to ensure progression towards eventual removal of the 
building from the “at risk” register.

6.9 It is not possible to start these works until 2018/19 due to the requirement to 
undertake an additional Ecological Survey. The survey is expected to start in 
February 2018 and will take several months to complete.

Public Toilets Review Works (underspend of 93k to be carried forward to 
2018/19)

6.10 Budget of £150k (met from general fund £75k and borrowing £75k) was 
approved for capital investment in public conveniences as part of the 
Council’s review of the provision of those facilities. The timing of expenditure 
is driven by the need for investment to progress the transfer of these facilities. 
The remaining balance of £93k is expected to be required in 2018/19 to allow 
the project to continue. 

Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre (overspend of £47k)

6.11 The projected overspend has resulted from:
 £22k unbudgeted works required to the boiler room. The budget was 

based on completing and passing over a ‘shell’ but following 
discussions with the County Council, additional were required.
 

 £25k unbudgeted contribution to a new boiler system for the community 
centre. This was not part of the budgeted works and was later agreed 
following discussions with the County Council.

Page 116



Helena Thompson Museum Development (underspend of £180k to be 
carried forward to 2018/19)

6.12 The budget of £180k (met from capital receipts) is expected to be carried 
forward to 2018/19. Following the receipt of estimated costs for the scheme, it 
has not been possible to undertake the works in 2017/18. These costs were 
approximately twice the available budget which has meant that additional 
grant funding is being sought to allow the scheme to progress.

Housing, Health & Wellbeing

6.13 The Housing, Health & Wellbeing portfolio is currently reporting an 
underspend of £455k and expected budget carry forwards of £360k, Leaving a 
favourable variance of £95k. The current position of this portfolio is 
summarised below:

Table 13 Health & Wellbeing portfolio variances
Outturn 
Variance

Budget 
C/F

Variance

£’000 £’000 £’000

Discretionary Grants (143) 143 0
Securing Affordable Homes (30) 30 0
Housing Improvement Projects (102) 102 0
Central Heating Fund (95) 0 (95)
Flood resilience (85) 85 0
Total (455) 360 (95)

Discretionary Grants (Underspend of £143k to be carried forward to 
2018/19)

6.14 The approved budget is £350k (financed by Disabled Facility Grant income), 
of which £143k is expected to be carried forward to 2018/19.

6.15 These services are demand led and as this was the first year the scheme had 
operated, it was not to possible to accurately forecast the amount of budget to 
be profiled in 2017/18 and how much should be profiled to future financial 
years. 

6.16 The scheme was launched in July 2017 and although a number of grants 
have already been paid and others are being processed, a significant 
proportion of these have been complicated which has increased the time 
taken to process. There has also been issues with the availability of 
contractors to undertake the works. 

6.17 Options to reduce processing time and improve procedures for appointing 
contractors are currently being considered.  

Page 117



Securing Affordable Homes (underspend of £30k to be carried forward 
to 2018/19)

6.18 An annual budget of £50k (financed by £10k capital grant and £40k 
borrowing) was approved to provide grant support for registered housing 
providers to improve housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise 
be sold. 

6.19 The Council has received fewer requests for support during 2017/18 than 
expected and as a result £30k of the budget is expected to remain unspent. 

6.20 It is proposed that the previously agreed budget for 2018/19 of £50k be 
reduced as a result of this expected carry forward. This will allow the scheme 
to continue as originally planned (to support 5 properties per year). 

Housing Improvement Projects (underspend of £102k to be carried 
forward to 2018/19)

6.21 This budget is funded from capital grants and has been allocated to the 
following Schemes:

 High Street, Maryport: work has commenced and is expected to be 
complete in March 2017

 Senhouse Street, Maryport: a number of options are being considered 
for this scheme, no works will be undertaken during 2017/18 resulting 
in a budget carry forward to allow the scheme to be developed and 
progressed in 2018/19.

Central Heating Fund (underspend of £95k)

6.22 The budget of £674k is to install central heating systems in homes that 
currently have no heating. Of planned expenditure, £574k will be met from 
capital grant and the remaining £100k from borrowing. 

6.23 £95k of this budget may not be required as the scheme is now expected to 
access additional funding from the Energy Company Obligation (ECO). This 
additional funding will reduce the amount the authority is required to contribute 
to the scheme. 

Flood resilience (underspend of £85k to be carried forward to 2018/19)

6.24 This underspend relates to the annual budget of £100k (funded from 
borrowing) approved over three years of the capital programme, aimed at 
supporting a range of small and medium sized projects in the borough that 
can demonstrate a clear link to reducing the risk of flooding. The timing of 
expenditure is currently unknown and any unspent budget is to be carried 
forward to allow these schemes to be developed and delivered in future years.

Page 118



Localities & Environmental
Replacement Pay and Display Machines

6.25 This scheme included an allocation for the replacement of Pay and Display 
machines and signage. It is now expected that this scheme will come in under 
budget and the underspend will be re-allocated to costs associated with 
moving the cash office to the Multi Storey Car Park and updating the 
associated equipment. 

7. Impact on General Fund and Earmarked Reserve Balances

7.1 The impact of current budget forecasts on the Council’s general fund and 
earmarked general fund balances (earmarked reserves) is summarised in the 
following tables.

General Fund Balances
7.2 The position on general fund balance is more favourable than the position 

estimated during the budget setting process.

Table 14 - Estimated General Fund (GF) balances 
Budget Forecast Change
£'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balances 5,099 5,099 0
Add: Release of earmarked reserves to GF 0 0 0
Less: Use for 2017-18 capital programme (730) (712) 18
Less: Use to support 2017-18 Revenue Budget 0 (196) (196)
Add: Additional Taxation and Government Grants 0 274 274
Forecast balance at 31 March 2018 4,369 4,465 96
Use for 2017-18 capital budget carry forwards 0 (18) (18)
Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) 0
Available for Use 1,669 1,747 78

Earmarked General Fund balances
7.3 The balance in Earmarked Reserve of £5,201k, can be split as follows:

 £3,666k held for service expenditure
 £1,535k held for accounting purposes or as contingency against 

specified risks

7.4 It is expected that £2,221k will be used is 2017/18 and that £840k will be 
added to the reserve, leaving a balance of £3,820k at the end of the year.

Page 119



Table 15 - Estimated Earmarked General Fund balances 
Budget Forecast Change
£'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2017 5,201 5,201 0
Less: Release to General Fund 0 0 0
Add: budgeted Contributions to earmarked reserves 35 35 0
Add planned Contributions to earmarked reserves 179 179 0
Add additional Contributions to earmarked reserves 0 266 266
Add: budgeted Contributions to Volatility Reserve 360 360 0
Less: Planned use in 2017-18 - revenue (2,454) (1,991) 463
Less: Planned use in 2017-18 - capital (230) (230) 0
Forecast balance at 31 March 2018 3,091 3,820 729

8. Treasury Management

Investments

8.1 At 31st December 2017, the Council’s investment balances (excluding current 
account balances) totalled £13.1m. This compares with a balance of £11.4m 
at 30th September 2017, £7.7m at 30 June 2017, £8.1 at 31 March 2017 and 
£15.7m at 31 December 2016.

8.2 A summary of the Council’s investments transactions in the three months to 
31st December 2017 is shown in the following table: 
Table 16 - Investment activity quarter 3 2017-18

Investments
1 Oct 
2017 Made Repaid

31 Dec. 
2017 Credit 

Rating

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Specified Investments 
Call Accounts  AA- 2,115 4,730 (5,855) 990
Call Accounts  A / A- 1,464 5,463 (6,390) 537
Notice Accounts A 0 0 0 0
Money Market Funds AAA 7,820 14,280 (10,555) 11,545

Non Specified Investments
Equity Shares Not rated 11 0 0 11
  11,410 24,473 (22,800) 13,083

8.3 The average level of funds available for investment purposes during the 
quarter ending 31 December 2017 was £15m. This compares with an average 
of £17.4m during the same 3 month period last year and an average 
investment balance over the course of 2016/17 of £16m.

8.4 Movements in investment balances during the period are largely attributable 
to the timing of cash flows associated with precept payments, income from 
grants and local taxation (council tax and NNDR) and the Council’s capital 
programme.

Page 120



8.5 The Council’s Annual Investment Strategy was approved by members in 
March 2017. In accordance with that strategy all investments made during the 
period were: 

 restricted to approved investment instruments (MM funds, call and 
notice accounts) 

 made only with high credit quality counterparties holding a 
minimum long-term rating across all three of the main credit ratings 
agencies (Fitch, Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s) of A- or 
equivalent (AA+ or equivalent for non-UK sovereigns) 

 made for periods not exceeding the maximum permitted durations 
determined by reference to the relative creditworthiness of the 
counterparty. 

Borrowing (gross debt)

8.6 Details of borrowing transactions in the three months to 31 December 2017 
are summarised in the following table:
Table 17 - External borrowing activity quarter 3 2017-18 

1 Oct    
2017

New 
Borrowing

Principal 
Repaid

31 Dec
2017 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Long-term     
PWLB – fixed rates 13,494 0 (29) 13,465

Short-term
Local Bonds 31 0 0 31

Trust Funds 54 0 0 54

 13,579 0 (29) 13,550

8.7 No new borrowing or rescheduling of existing loans took place during the 3 
months to 31st December 2017.  PWLB principal of £28,619 was repaid during 
the quarter.

8.8 By utilising cash from reserves, revenue balances and favourable cash flow, 
the Council has been able to meet its liquidity requirements without the need 
to borrow. This has allowed the Council to minimise borrowing costs and 
reduce treasury risk by reducing its external investment balances.

8.9  The Council’s 2017/18 Budget and Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
anticipate additional PWLB borrowing during 2017/18 of up to £4.7m to fund 
the Council’s capital programme. This includes £3m of borrowing deferred 
from 2016/17. As a result of changes included in the Council’s revised 
2017/18 capital programme, including the impact of the re-profiling of 
expenditure funded from borrowing between financial years, anticipated 
(maximum) external borrowing requirements in 2017/18 has been revised 
down to £3.93m.

Page 121



8.10 The decision to draw down additional PWLB loans will be determined in 
accordance with the borrowing strategy set out in the Council’s Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement with the timing and amount of any additional 
borrowing reflecting:

 future liquidity (cash flow) requirements including in particular, funds 
required to fund the Council’s capital programme

 expected future movements in interest rates 
 management of treasury risk.

8.11 At 31 December 2017, the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio consisted of fixed 
rate: 

 maturity loans totalling £8.0m (30 September 2017: £8m)
 fixed rate annuity loans totalling £1.705m (30 June 2017: £1.740m)
 equal instalment of principal loans of £3.76m (30 September 2017: 

£3.76m).

8.12 Interest rates applying to individual loans within the Council’s PWLB loan 
portfolio range from 2.6% to 9.5%. The weighted average interest rate on the 
PWLB loan portfolio currently stands at 5.85%. The table below shows the 
PWLB rates applying to maturity, EIP and annuity loans at 31 December 2017 
(table 18):

Table 18 - PWLB new loan & premature repayment rates at 31 December 2017 
Certainty1 Premature repayment2

Term Annuity
 %

Maturity 
%

EIP 
  %

Annuity 
%

Maturity 
%

EIP  
 %

Over 4½ Years not over 5 1.32 1.56 1.32 0.38 0.59 0.38

Over 9½ Years not over 10 1.60 2.06 1.59 0.65 1.10 0.64

Over 24½ Years not over 25 2.33 2.65 2.28 1.39 1.73 1.34

Over 49½ Years not over 50 2.62 2.38 2.65 1.70 1.46 1.73

1 Certainty rates are calculated by subtracting 0.2% from standard new loan rates. They apply to new 
loans taken out by authorities who provided DCLG with required information on their long-term borrowing 
and capital spending plans. 

2 Premature repayment rates apply to loans which are being repaid early. 

8.13 The rates of interest on loans within the Council’s PWLB loan portfolio are 
significantly higher than those currently available on new PWLB borrowing. 
This reflects both the historic nature of this debt and the exclusive use of fixed 
rate loans. However the differential between new borrowing rates (certainty 
rate) and the PWLB’s premature redemption rates makes rescheduling 
unviable at the present time. At 31 December 2017 the premium that would be 
payable to repay the Council’s PWLB loans prematurely was £13.6m (30 
September 2017: £13.1m).The premium equates to approximately 101% of 
the principal outstanding at 31 December 2017. The increase of £0.5m 
reflects the decrease in gilt yields and the corresponding decrease in 
premature redemption rates at 31 December compared to those at 30th 
September. 

Page 122



8.14 The graph below shows that following the sharp increase in rates after the 14 
September 2017 MPC rates peaked in October (with the exception of the one-
year rate which peaked in December) before falling back over the latter part of 
the quarter. At 31 December 2017, the 50 year PWLB certainty rate for new 
loans closed at 2.38% (30th September 2017 2.52%). The 25 year rate ended 
the quarter at 2.65% (30th September 2017: 2.79%).

Maturity Structure of borrowings

8.15 The maturity structure of external borrowing at 31st December 2017 (principal 
only) is shown in table 19.

Table 19 - Maturity profile of external borrowing
At 31 Dec 

2017
At 30 Sept 

2017
At 30 June 

2017
At 31 March 

2017
At 31 Dec 

2016
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Less than 1 year 317 315 315 312 321
Between 1 & 2yrs 239 236 236 233 233
Between 2 & 5yrs 763 753 751 742 740
Between 5 & 10yrs 1,471 1,447 1,442 1,419 1,415
Between 10 & 20yrs 2,200 2,268 2,281 2,346 2,358
Between 20 & 30yrs 560 560 640 640 720
Between 30 & 40yrs 8,000 8,000 8,000 7,000 4,000
Between 40 & 50yrs 0 0 1,000 4,000

13,550 13,579 13,665 13,692 13,787

Page 123



8.16 At 31 December 2017, the weighted average time to maturity of the Council’s 
PWLB debt portfolio was approximately 31 years. The weighted average life 
of the PWLB debt portfolio at 31 December 2017 was 27 years.

Interest charged on Borrowings and Income Received on Investments

8.17 Interest charged or received on the Council’s borrowing and investments in 
the three months to 31 December 2017 is summarised in the following table:

Table 20 - Interest payable and investment income receivable 
Budget 
2017-18

Actual 
6 months to 

30 Sept

Actual 
3 months 
to 31 Dec 

Forecast 
 1 Jan to 
31 Mar 18

Projected 
Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Borrowing 825 201 141 444 39

Investment income (20) (8) (9) (3) 0

Net 805 193 132 441 39

8.18 Investment rates up to 6 months rose sharply around the increase in the Bank 
Rate on 2 November but then moved little for the rest of the quarter. During 
the first half of the financial year, rates had been on a broadly declining trend 
until rising sharply after the 14 September MPC meeting which abruptly raised 
expectations of how soon the Bank Rate was likely to go up.

8.19 At 31 December 2017 the approximate rate of return (yield) on the Council’s 
investments was 0.30%. The Council’s benchmark return rate (7-day LIBID 
rate) at that date was 0.36%. 

Page 124



Table 21 - Money Market Rates (London Interbank Bid Rate - LIBID)
Period 1 Oct 

to 31 Dec 
2017

At 31 Dec 
2017

At 30 Sept 
2017

At 30 June 
2017

At 31 
March 
2017

% % %  % %
7 days’ notice 0.28 0.36 0.11 0.11 0.11

1 month fixed 0.31 0.37 0.13 0.13 0.13

3 months fixed 0.35 0.40 0.21 0.18 0.21

6 months fixed 0.44 0.45 0.37 0.34 0.37

1 year fixed 0.64 0.64 0.60 0.56 0.59

Treasury and Prudential Indicators

8.20 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to determine and keep 
under review limits on how much money it can afford to borrow by way of 
loans and other forms of credit (for example finance leases). The processes 
the Council must follow in setting these limits (the ‘Authorised Limit for 
External Debt’) is set out in the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities to which the Council is required to ‘have regard to’ under 
provisions contained in the 2003 Act.

8.21 In addition to the Authorised Limit CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury 
Management Codes and accompanying sector guidance include a number of 
other key treasury management indicators designed to ensure the Council 
operates its treasury activities within well-defined limits.

8.22 The Council’s Authorised Borrowing Limit (the statutory limit on borrowing 
under the Local Government Act 2003), Operational Boundary (the limit 
beyond which external debt is not expected to exceed) and other indicators 
and limits required by CIPFA’s Prudential and Treasury Management Codes 
are set out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement and 
Investment Strategy for 2017-18. This was approved by the Full Council on 1 
March 2017.

8.23 During the quarter ended 31 December 2017 the Council has operated within 
the limits established by the treasury and prudential indicators set out in the 
Council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2017/18.  

9. Insurance 

9.1 A summary of claims lodged and settled between 1st April 2017 and 31st 
December 2017 is set out in table 22.

Page 125



Table 22 - Insurance claims 6 months to 30th September 2017
No. 

Claims
b/f

No. Settled
to date

No. Lodged
to date

No. Claims
Outstanding

Public Liability 13 10 8 11

Employers Liability           3 3 1 1
Other 1 0 1 2
Property Damage and Motor 4 0 2 6
Municipal Mutual (1974 to 1993) 2 0 0 2

23 11 6 18

9.2 The cost of claims settled during the financial year to date is £16,208, of 
which  £12,867 is payable by Allerdale.

9.3 The estimated cost of outstanding claims is estimated at £158,508. Allerdale's 
liability is limited by our insurance excess meaning the cost to Allerdale is 
£37,373. 

9.4 This gives an estimated cost to Allerdale in 2017/18 of £50,240 against a 
provision of £127,239 set aside to meet the Authority’s liabilities arising from 
insurance claims (including insurance ‘excess’ payable). 

9.5 This leaves a remaining unallocated provisions balance of £76,999. This 
balance is expected to be sufficient to meet liabilities arising from additional 
claims that may be received in relation to incidents incurred but not reported 
(IBNRs).

10. Working Capital Management

Sundry Debtors and Write-offs

10.1 The outstanding sundry debt (including Trade Refuse) at 31st December 2017, 
was £505,697, which is detailed in the following table:

Table 23 - Outstanding Debtors at 31st December 2017
Total debt 

outstanding 
Not past 

due
30 Days 
past due

60 Days 
past due

>90 Days 
past due

£ £ £ £ £

At 30th Dec 2016 2,022,387 1,508,276 34,896 101,027 378,189
% debt 100% 75% 2% 5% 18%
At 31st March 2017 1,478,658 540,490 9,137 12,956 916,076
% debt 100% 37% 1% 1% 61%
At  30th June 2017 1,262,266 843,647 9,896 237,485 171,239
% debt 100% 67% 1% 19% 13%
At 30th Sept 2017 591,732 236,614 143,730 24,595 186,793
% debt 100% 40% 24% 4% 32%
At 31st Dec 2017 505,697 243,652 39,189 20,545 202,311
% debt 100% 48% 8% 4% 40%

Page 126



10.2 Approximately £202,311 or 40% of the outstanding debt is over 90 days old. 
The level of debt falling into this category compares favourably when 
compared to the same time last year and with the position at the end of last 
financial year.

10.3 A total of 120 sundry debtor/trade waste invoices amounting to £10,084 have 
been written off between April and December 2017.

Table 24 - Write off of debtors
2015/16

(Apr – Dec)
2016/17

(Apr – Dec)
2017/18

(Apr – Dec)
No 

invoices
Total 

£
No 

invoices
Total 

£
No 

invoices
Total 

£

Sundry Debtors 174 22,562 58 18,328 64 7,186

Trade Waste 121 4,551 143 (3,056) 56 2,898
TOTAL 295 27,113 201 15,272 120 10,084

Payment of Creditor Invoices

10.4 The Authority has a target to pay 98% of Allerdale supplier invoices within 14 
days and 98% of non-Allerdale supplier invoices within 30 days.

10.5 For quarter 3 of this financial year, 1,536 supplier invoices were paid, 410 
were from Allerdale suppliers and 1,126 were from non-Allerdale suppliers.

10.6 371 of the Allerdale supplier invoices were paid within 14 days (or 90%). The 
performance against this target has improved since quarter 2. 

10.7 1,105 of the non Allerdale supplier invoices were paid within 30 days (or 
98%). The performance against this target has improved since quarter 2.

Table 25 – Summary of supplier invoices paid quarter 2
Allerdale non Allerdale

Service Area Qtr 1
%

Qtr 2
%

Qtr 3
%

Qtr 1
%

Qtr 2
%

Qtr 3
%

Leader of the Council 76% 68% 89% 86% 78% 91%
Economic Growth 85% 83% 88% 90% 99% 96%
Corporate Resources 65% 97% 94% 96% 99% 100%
Governance & People Resources 96% 86% 92% 87% 94% 98%
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 75% 94% 97% 95% 100% 99%
Locality & Environmental Quality 55% 67% 88% 69% 89% 95%
Tourism & Culture 57% 82% 83% 95% 91% 100%
Transformation 54% 68% 64% 93% 99% 98%
Total 79% 85% 90% 90% 96% 98%

Page 127



10.8 A summary of the reasons for delays in payment is set below:
Table 26 - Reasons for delay in payment of supplier invoices (Q3 2017/18)

Reasons for delay Number of 
invoices

Invoices received without a valid purchase order 25
Price discrepancy between invoice and purchase order requiring  
authorisation prior to payment 6
Purchase order was not goods receipted prior to receipt of invoice 13
Manual authorisation required (purchase order not required) 4
Other one-off instances which would not be a recurring issue. 3
Invoices sent directly to department or individual instead of the Invoice Section 9
Total number subject to delayed payment 60

10.9 Performance is improving and the target will continue to be monitored and 
where any relevant issues are identified, these will be addressed and reported 
in future monitoring reports. 

Council Tax and NNDR – collection statistics
10.10 During the three months to 31st December collection rates for Council tax and 

NNDR were broadly in line with expectations.

Table 27 – Council Tax and NNDR collection rates as at 31st December
Council Tax 
Collection

%

NNDR 
Collection

%

Q2 CTAX and NNDR as % of Full 
Year Collectable income

Q3 2017/18 85.42% 83.93% 84.90% -£68.7m (out of £80.9m)
Q3 2016/17 85.42% 83.39% 84.69% -£66.5m (out of £78.5m)
Q3 2015/16 85.59% 83.23% 84.73% - £64.2m (out of £75.8m) 

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services

Page 128



Appendix A1
Summary of Draft Outturn by Portfoliio

Portfolio

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected

Gross Outturn
Planned Contr

to Reserves Gross Variance
Unpanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
Leader of the Council 1,293,960 1,293,960 577,140 48,176 259,029 884,345 153,600 (256,015) 230,700 1,268,645 (25,315)
Economic Growth (895,099) (875,099) (156,453) 90,933 (873,748) (939,268) 0 (64,169) 0 (939,268) (64,169)
Corporate Resources 4,523,043 4,523,043 4,758,651 134,974 (484,081) 4,409,544 25,000 (88,499) 0 4,434,544 (88,499)
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,048,080 1,048,080 739,795 76,702 243,529 1,060,026 0 11,946 0 1,060,026 11,946
Locality & Environmental Quality 3,041,943 3,021,943 3,026,138 2,068,197 (1,742,796) 3,351,539 0 329,596 25,740 3,377,279 355,336
Governance & People Resources 1,488,701 1,488,701 1,023,439 245,994 187,496 1,456,930 35,000 3,229 0 1,491,930 3,229
Tourism & Culture 267,720 267,720 246,977 14,468 (4,047) 257,398 0 (10,322) 9,680 267,078 (642)
Transformation 1,947,235 1,947,235 245,187 340,361 1,364,030 1,949,578 0 2,343 0 1,949,578 2,343

REVENUE Sub Total 12,715,583 12,715,583 10,460,874 3,019,805 (1,050,589) 12,430,091 213,600 (71,892) 266,120 12,909,811 194,228

Parish Precepts 1,913,535 1,913,535 1,913,535 0 0 1,913,535 0 0 0 1,913,535 0

TOTAL REVENUE 14,629,118 14,629,118 12,374,409 3,019,805 (1,050,589) 14,343,626 213,600 (71,892) 266,120 14,823,346 194,228

Portfolio

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected

Gross Outturn - Gross Variance
Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Leader of the Council 569,999 569,999 285,797 86,595 177,607 549,999 0 (20,000) 20,000 569,999 0
Economic Growth 179,830 179,830 58,145 3,740 117,945 179,830 0 0 0 179,830 0
Corporate Resources 683,003 683,003 17,700 3,237 637,697 658,634 0 (24,369) 24,369 683,003 0
Housing, Health & Well-being 289,972 289,972 44,099 121 39,703 83,923 0 (206,049) 201,905 285,828 (4,144)
Locality & Environmental Quality 194,377 194,377 90,200 29,550 68,940 188,690 0 (5,687) 5,687 194,377 0
Governance & People Resources 554,211 554,211 356,791 0 25,945 382,736 0 (171,475) 171,475 554,211 (0)
Tourism & Culture 29,638 29,638 0 0 0 0 0 (29,638) 29,098 29,098 (540)
Transformation 182,299 182,299 73,638 19,132 83,376 176,146 0 (6,153) 0 176,146 (6,153)

TOTAL RESERVES 2,683,329 2,683,329 926,370 142,375 1,151,213 2,219,958 0 (463,371) 452,534 2,672,492 (10,837)

P
age 129



PORTFOLIO : LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

Planned
Contr to

Reserves

Gross
Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1100 revenue Grants to Voluntary Organisation 72,130 72,130 72,329 0 0 72,329 0 199 0 72,329 199
1000 revenue Communications and Marketing (900) (900) 13,925 1,322 11,000 26,247 0 27,147 0 26,247 27,147
1046 revenue Corporate Improvement Team 9,970 9,970 8,424 150 1,110 9,684 0 (286) 0 9,684 (286)
1098 revenue Economic Regeneration 109,670 109,670 26,112 39,525 44,000 109,637 0 (33) 0 109,637 (33)
1101 revenue Planning Policy 44,250 44,250 38,338 5,890 (3,331) 40,897 0 (3,353) 0 40,897 (3,353)
1103 revenue Localities & Partnerships 12,000 12,000 7,774 653 3,460 11,887 0 (113) 0 11,887 (113)
1143 revenue Corporate Priorities 451,000 451,000 66,700 0 0 66,700 153,600 (230,700) 230,700 451,000 0
1152 revenue Leaders Portfolio 10,000 10,000 2,875 0 10,000 12,875 0 2,875 0 12,875 2,875
5040 revenue Heads of Service 34,360 34,360 23,361 474 9,493 33,328 0 (1,032) 0 33,328 (1,032)
5660 revenue Director of Resources & PA 129,750 129,750 88,328 0 30,235 118,563 0 (11,187) 0 118,563 (11,187)
5680 revenue Chief Executive 170,840 170,840 128,411 162 43,210 171,783 0 943 0 171,783 943
5860 revenue Strategy, Policy & Performance Pay Group 140,000 140,000 23,123 0 97,879 121,002 0 (18,998) 0 121,002 (18,998)
5720 revenue Policy & Performance 110,890 110,890 83,883 0 5,530 89,413 0 (21,477) 0 89,413 (21,477)
6548 revenue BEC Social Investment Fund 0 0 (6,443) 0 6,443 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Revenue 1,293,960 1,293,960 577,140 48,176 259,029 884,345 153,600 (256,015) 230,700 1,268,645 (25,315)

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

- Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6150 reserve Corporate Transformation 379,058 354,058 181,245 35,520 137,293 354,058 0 0 0 354,058 0
6300 reserve Website Upgrade 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 25,000 0 0 0 25,000 0
6101 reserve Planning Policy 35,000 35,000 0 0 15,000 15,000 0 (20,000) 20,000 35,000 0
6703 reserve Financial Planning & Economic Growth 155,210 155,210 103,413 26,075 25,722 155,210 0 0 0 155,210 0
6149 reserve Health & Wellbeing Group 731 731 1,289 0 (558) 731 0 0 0 731 0
6121 reserve Leaders Portfolio 0 0 (150) 0 150 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Reserves 569,999 569,999 285,797 86,595 177,607 549,999 0 (20,000) 20,000 569,999 0

TOTAL 1,863,959 1,863,959 862,937 134,771 436,636 1,434,344 153,600 (276,015) 250,700 1,838,644 (25,315) 

P
age 130



PORTFOLIO : ECONOMIC GROWTH

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitment

s Forecast Projected Gross
Outturn

Planned Contr to
Reserves

Gross
Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn

Variance

REVENUE
1018 revenue Tenanted Properties (199,590) (199,590) (151,545) 0 (50,508) (202,053) 0 (2,463) 0 (202,053) (2,463)
1019 revenue Industrial Units (218,800) (218,800) (181,416) 958 (41,607) (222,065) 0 (3,265) 0 (222,065) (3,265)
1020 revenue Other Land & Buildings (50,000) (50,000) (65,703) 0 14,421 (51,282) 0 (1,282) 0 (51,282) (1,282)
1025 revenue Camping & Caravan Sites (603,899) (603,899) (9,369) 0 (713,327) (722,696) 0 (118,797) 0 (722,696) (118,797)
1027 revenue Workington Town Centre (558,000) (558,000) (317,455) 0 (208,000) (525,455) 0 32,545 0 (525,455) 32,545
1028 revenue Circuses & Fairs (5,000) (5,000) (5,700) 0 0 (5,700) 0 (700) 0 (5,700) (700)
1054 revenue Building Control - Chargeable (315,590) (315,590) (211,359) 76 (82,890) (294,173) 0 21,417 0 (294,173) 21,417
1058 revenue Planning and Development (521,150) (521,150) (377,300) 24,722 (140,904) (493,482) 0 27,668 0 (493,482) 27,668
1073 revenue Markets (79,000) (79,000) (45,255) 0 (33,817) (79,072) 0 (72) 0 (79,072) (72)
1105 revenue The Hub Workington Town Centre 0 0 (904) 0 900 (4) 0 (4) 0 (4) (4)
1122 revenue Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,760 1,760 373 2,372 (4,000) (1,255) 0 (3,015) 0 (1,255) (3,015)
1142 revenue Corporate Property (26,000) (26,000) (18,824) 0 (7,450) (26,274) 0 (274) 0 (26,274) (274)
1147 revenue Town Centres 80,000 80,000 15,000 2,066 62,934 80,000 0 0 0 80,000 0
1157 revenue Maryport Shop Front Improvements 50,000 50,000 20,824 0 29,176 50,000 0 0 0 50,000 0
5260 revenue Building Control Pay Group 360,060 360,060 308,770 11,136 81,554 401,460 0 41,400 0 401,460 41,400
5300 revenue Planning and Development Pay Group 499,550 499,550 358,875 0 95,128 454,003 0 (45,547) 0 454,003 (45,547)
5440 revenue Regeneration Pay Group 161,600 161,600 127,369 0 32,018 159,387 0 (2,213) 0 159,387 (2,213)
5600 revenue Head of Development Services 64,010 64,010 49,069 0 16,275 65,344 0 1,334 0 65,344 1,334
5740 revenue Business Support Unit, Devt Services 171,200 171,200 131,749 0 47,619 179,368 0 8,168 0 179,368 8,168
5750 revenue Head of Economic Growth 63,010 63,010 49,719 0 13,300 63,019 0 9 0 63,019 9
5800 revenue Estates 192,490 192,490 159,815 7,186 29,500 196,501 0 4,011 0 196,501 4,011
6507 revenue Industrial Communities Alliance 3,250 3,250 3,250 0 0 3,250 0 0 0 3,250 0
6510 revenue Town Centre Management 15,000 35,000 16,609 2,358 16,033 35,000 0 0 0 35,000 0

6521x revenue Enterprise Coaches 0 0 0 0 (30,510) (30,510) 0 (30,510) 0 (30,510) (30,510)
6528 revenue Contribution to LEP 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0
6535 revenue Disposal of Allerdale Sites 15,000 15,000 13,522 10,386 (1,487) 22,421 0 7,421 0 22,421 7,421
6544 revenue Heat Exchange Network 0 0 (30,697) 28,803 1,894 0 0 0 0 0 0
6552 revenue Coastal Community Teams 0 0 (870) 870 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Revenue (895,099) (875,099) (156,453) 90,933 (873,748) (939,268) 0 (64,169) 0 (939,268) (64,169)

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitment

s Forecast Projected Gross
Outturn - Gross

Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6005 reserve Planning Serv. Delivery Improvement 50,746 50,746 0 0 50,746 50,746 0 0 0 50,746 0
6100 reserve MSCP Maint Fund 47,756 47,756 0 0 47,756 47,756 0 0 0 47,756 0
6122 reserve Town Centres 20,000 20,000 20,000 0 0 20,000 0 0 0 20,000 0
6123 reserve Town Centre Management 400 400 400 0 0 400 0 0 0 400 0
6125 reserve Disposal of Allerdale Sites 8,427 8,427 4,300 2,640 1,487 8,427 0 0 0 8,427 0
6145 reserve Building Control Services Improvement 14,795 14,795 13,196 0 1,599 14,795 0 0 0 14,795 0
6146 reserve Maryport Shop Front Scheme 4,881 4,881 4,894 0 (13) 4,881 0 0 0 4,881 0
6701 reserve Corporate Priorities 32,825 32,825 12,115 0 20,710 32,825 0 0 0 32,825 0
6704 reserve Strategic Acquisition Works 0 0 3,240 1,100 (4,340) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Reserves 179,830 179,830 58,145 3,740 117,945 179,830 0 0 0 179,830 0

TOTAL (715,269) (695,269) (98,308) 94,673 (755,803) (759,438) 0 (64,169) 0 (759,438) (64,169) 

P
age 131



PORTFOLIO : CORPORATE RESOURCES

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected Gross

Outturn
Planned Contr to

Reserves
Gross

Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1004 revenue Corporate Management (128,000) (128,000) 20,581 56,647 (213,359) (136,131) 0 (8,131) 0 (136,131) (8,131)
1015 revenue Corporate Property Maintenance 562,640 586,601 540,268 38,030 10,900 589,198 0 2,597 0 589,198 2,597
1023 revenue Footways 124,940 124,940 76,270 28,209 22,500 126,979 0 2,039 0 126,979 2,039
1024 revenue Coastal Protection and Inland Flooding 45,200 45,200 6,839 1,379 36,800 45,018 0 (182) 0 45,018 (182)
1032 revenue Harrington Harbour 9,000 9,000 2,790 0 6,200 8,990 0 (10) 0 8,990 (10)
1034 revenue Banking and Interest 910,847 910,847 407,219 6,765 458,847 872,831 0 (38,016) 0 872,831 (38,016)
1035 revenue MRP & Finance Charges 622,660 622,660 0 0 622,653 622,653 0 (7) 0 622,653 (7)
1036 revenue Insurances 193,639 193,639 181,024 715 0 181,739 0 (11,900) 0 181,739 (11,900)
1038 revenue Parish Councils 68,120 68,120 68,340 0 0 68,340 0 220 0 68,340 220
1041 revenue Contingencies 111,780 87,819 0 0 68,313 68,313 0 (19,506) 0 68,313 (19,506)
1069 revenue Public Building Cleaning 74,960 74,960 48,348 57 21,860 70,265 0 (4,695) 0 70,265 (4,695)
1070 revenue Public Convenience Cleaning 119,700 119,700 92,973 1,405 23,500 117,878 0 (1,822) 0 117,878 (1,822)
1118 revenue Car Parks Inspection & Maintenance 30,300 30,300 17,752 0 13,000 30,752 0 452 0 30,752 452
1123 revenue Pension Deficit Employer Contribution 934,300 934,300 2,646,400 0 (1,743,243) 903,157 0 (31,143) 0 903,157 (31,143)
1126 revenue Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 0 0 24,140 0 (24,140) 0 0 0 0 0 0
1128 revenue Self Sufficiency Programme (22,733) (22,733) 0 0 0 0 0 22,733 0 0 22,733
1166 revenue Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 103,000 103,000 32,174 1,417 41,000 74,591 25,000 (3,409) 0 99,591 (3,409)
1170 revenue Street Name & Numbering 0 0 (446) 0 (400) (846) 0 (846) 0 (846) (846)
5100 revenue Property Services Pay Group 244,410 244,410 192,244 0 62,000 254,244 0 9,834 0 254,244 9,834
5120 revenue Finance and Accounting Pay Group 448,860 448,860 326,172 350 112,785 439,307 0 (9,553) 0 439,307 (9,553)
5520 revenue Head of Financial Services 69,420 69,420 54,656 0 17,110 71,766 0 2,346 0 71,766 2,346
6554 revenue Flood Grants (2015 Flood) 0 0 500 0 0 500 0 500 0 500 500
6555 revenue Flood Resilience Grants 0 0 20,407 0 (20,407) 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Revenue 4,523,043 4,523,043 4,758,651 134,974 (484,081) 4,409,544 25,000 (88,499) 0 4,434,544 (88,499)

Parish Precepts 1,913,535 1,913,535 1,913,535 0 0 1,913,535 0 0 0 1,913,535 0

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected Gross

Outturn - Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6018 reserve Emergency Maintenance Fund 2,000 2,000 (2,000) 0 4,000 2,000 0 0 0 2,000 0
6021 reserve Excess Insurance Costs 13,000 13,000 0 0 13,000 13,000 0 0 0 13,000 0
6075 reserve Asset Mgt & Capital Accounting System 0 0 500 0 (500) 0 0 0 0 0 0
6084 reserve Allerdale House - Internal Works 10,130 10,130 10,130 0 0 10,130 0 0 0 10,130 0
6105 reserve Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 230,841 230,841 (4,876) 0 235,717 230,841 0 0 0 230,841 0
6126 reserve Car Park Markings 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000 0 5,000 (5,000) 0 0
6138 reserve Section 31 NNDR 226,582 226,582 0 0 226,582 226,582 0 0 0 226,582 0
6719 reserve Direct Debits & System Development 42,952 42,952 12,746 837 0 13,583 0 (29,369) 29,369 42,952 0
6720 reserve Footway Lighting Scheme 7,498 7,498 1,200 2,400 3,898 7,498 0 0 0 7,498 0
6725 reserve Pension Scheme Auto Enrolment 150,000 150,000 0 0 150,000 150,000 0 0 0 150,000 0

Total Reserves 683,003 683,003 17,700 3,237 637,697 658,634 0 (24,369) 24,369 683,003 0

TOTAL 5,206,046 5,206,046 4,776,351 138,211 153,616 5,068,178 25,000 (112,868) 24,369 5,117,547 (88,499) 

P
age 132



PORTFOLIO : HOUSING, HEALTH & WELL-BEING

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

Planned
Contr to

Reserves

Gross
Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn

Variance

REVENUE
1065 revenue Emergency Planning 20,400 20,400 0 0 20,400 20,400 0 0 0 20,400 0
1072 revenue Pest Control (32,690) (32,690) (13,805) 295 (4,719) (18,229) 0 14,461 0 (18,229) 14,461
1078 revenue Health and Safety 1,500 1,500 955 0 545 1,500 0 0 0 1,500 0
1080 revenue Food and Occupational Health 230 230 339 3,668 (2,720) 1,287 0 1,057 0 1,287 1,057
1081 revenue Environmental Protection (9,700) (9,700) (2,791) 2,105 (7,121) (7,807) 0 1,893 0 (7,807) 1,893
1089 revenue Housing Strategic Function (3,120) (3,120) (2,836) 75 570 (2,191) 0 929 0 (2,191) 929
1092 revenue Homelessness 6,750 6,750 (39,403) 10,154 38,083 8,834 0 2,084 0 8,834 2,084
1093 revenue Assistance - Housing Services (52,000) (52,000) (27,205) 0 (30,756) (57,961) 0 (5,961) 0 (57,961) (5,961)
1096 revenue Gypsy & Traveller Sites 18,000 18,000 8,135 6,800 3,065 18,000 0 0 0 18,000 0
5560 revenue Head of Housing & Health 64,010 64,010 49,193 0 16,746 65,939 0 1,929 0 65,939 1,929
5760 revenue Housing & Health Pay Group 1,034,700 1,034,700 767,248 53,605 209,401 1,030,254 0 (4,446) 0 1,030,254 (4,446)
6733 revenue Npower Energy Efficiency Programme 0 0 (35) 0 35 0 0 0 0 0 0

Total Revenue 1,048,080 1,048,080 739,795 76,702 243,529 1,060,026 0 11,946 0 1,060,026 11,946

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

- Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6127 reserve Housing Strategic Function 835 835 831 0 0 831 0 (4) 0 831 (4)
6128 reserve Homelessness 1,383 1,383 1,022 121 240 1,383 0 0 0 1,383 0
6142 reserve Community Housing Fund 195,127 195,127 8,727 0 28,332 37,059 0 (158,068) 158,068 195,127 0
6147 reserve Major Incident Response 73,177 73,177 19,240 0 10,000 29,240 0 (43,937) 43,837 73,077 (100)
6148 reserve GP Accommodation Scheme 8,760 8,760 7,629 0 1,131 8,760 0 0 0 8,760 0
6734 reserve Water Quality Signage 10,690 10,690 6,650 0 0 6,650 0 (4,040) 0 6,650 (4,040)

Total Reserves 289,972 289,972 44,099 121 39,703 83,923 0 (206,049) 201,905 285,828 (4,144) 

TOTAL 1,338,052 1,338,052 783,894 76,823 283,232 1,143,949 0 (194,103) 201,905 1,345,854 7,802

P
age 133



PORTFOLIO : LOCALITY & ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast

Projected
Gross

Outturn

Planned
Contr to

Reserves
Gross Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1051 revenue Confidential Waste 3,600 3,600 2,775 725 100 3,600 0 0 0 3,600 0
1053 revenue Bereavement Services (114,270) (114,270) (81,226) 47,576 (74,805) (108,455) 0 5,815 0 (108,455) 5,815
1067 revenue Parks and Grounds Maintenance 482,560 482,560 396,189 164,066 (41,093) 519,162 0 36,602 0 519,162 36,602
1068 revenue Street Cleansing 1,138,780 1,138,780 856,178 285,088 2,020 1,143,286 0 4,506 0 1,143,286 4,506
1071 revenue Animal Welfare 46,740 46,740 43,023 510 6,548 50,081 0 3,341 0 50,081 3,341
1075 revenue Domestic Waste 1,615,950 1,615,950 1,219,608 407,907 (9,970) 1,617,545 0 1,595 0 1,617,545 1,595
1076 revenue Trade Waste (461,110) (509,250) (311,214) 389,408 (573,841) (495,647) 0 13,603 0 (495,647) 13,603
1077 revenue Recycling 549,790 597,930 897,564 412,778 (682,908) 627,434 0 29,504 0 627,434 29,504
1079 revenue Environmental Initiatives 104,120 103,520 38,010 18,310 11,080 67,400 0 (36,120) 0 67,400 (36,120)
1083 revenue Off-street - Owned (2,211,130) (2,211,130) (1,501,457) 49,967 (723,542) (2,175,032) 0 36,098 0 (2,175,032) 36,098
1085 revenue Multi-storey Car Park (14,880) (14,880) 105,526 850 138,706 245,082 0 259,962 0 245,082 259,962
1086 revenue Off-street - Managed (60,000) (60,000) (21,900) 0 (14,248) (36,148) 0 23,852 0 (36,148) 23,852
1112 revenue Sports & Leisure Centres 503,210 503,210 352,932 132,105 (10,000) 475,037 0 (28,173) 0 475,037 (28,173)
1114 revenue Sports Development 15,000 15,000 5,659 9,258 0 14,917 0 (83) 0 14,917 (83)
1115 revenue Maryport Wave 229,083 229,083 170,599 58,486 0 229,085 0 2 0 229,085 2
1116 revenue Festivals & Events 104,080 84,080 58,515 21,200 4,365 84,080 0 0 0 84,080 0
1136 revenue Supporting Leisure Activity across Aller 15,000 15,000 12,500 7,500 0 20,000 0 5,000 0 20,000 5,000
1144 revenue Carnegie Trust Contribution 120,000 120,000 80,000 40,000 0 120,000 0 0 0 120,000 0
1153 revenue Workington Nature Partnership 17,100 17,700 (2,134) 8,800 11,034 17,700 0 0 0 17,700 0
1168 revenue Allerdale Fleet 6,600 6,600 0 0 6,600 6,600 0 0 0 6,600 0
1169 revenue Maryport Open Space improvements S106 0 0 14,185 0 (14,185) 0 0 0 0 0 0
5580 revenue Head of Community Services 63,010 63,010 50,024 0 14,838 64,862 0 1,852 0 64,862 1,852
5820 revenue Comm Serv Paygroup 888,710 888,710 640,782 13,663 206,506 860,951 0 (27,759) 25,740 886,691 (2,019)

Total Revenue 3,041,943 3,021,943 3,026,138 2,068,197 (1,742,796) 3,351,539 0 329,596 25,740 3,377,279 355,336

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast

Projected
Gross

Outturn
- Gross Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6139 reserve Parks & Grounds Maintenance 5,000 5,000 5,000 0 0 5,000 0 0 0 5,000 0
6140 reserve Parks Development 1,000 1,000 1,000 0 0 1,000 0 0 0 1,000 0
6141 reserve High Level Stewardship 6,366 6,366 0 0 0 0 0 (6,366) 6,366 6,366 0
6151 reserve Off Street Parking-System Upgrade 19,000 19,000 0 0 10,000 10,000 0 (9,000) 9,000 19,000 0
6152 reserve Bereavement Services-System Upgrade 10,446 10,446 0 0 10,446 10,446 0 0 0 10,446 0
6540 reserve Weekly Collection Support Scheme 112,000 112,000 67,700 29,550 28,344 125,594 0 13,594 (13,594) 112,000 0
6707 reserve Festivals & Community Events 17,915 17,915 0 0 14,000 14,000 0 (3,915) 3,915 17,915 0
6708 reserve Leisure Activites 22,650 22,650 16,500 0 6,150 22,650 0 0 0 22,650 0

Total Reserves 194,377 194,377 90,200 29,550 68,940 188,690 0 (5,687) 5,687 194,377 0

TOTAL 3,236,320 3,216,320 3,116,338 2,097,747 (1,673,856) 3,540,229 0 323,909 31,427 3,571,656 355,336

P
age 134



PORTFOLIO : Governance & People Resources

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected Gross

Outturn
Planned Contr to

Reserves
Gross

Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1001 revenue Training 73,010 83,010 61,150 4,320 17,540 83,010 0 0 0 83,010 0
1002 revenue Corporate Recruitment 13,350 13,350 21,547 3,900 0 25,447 0 12,097 0 25,447 12,097
1003 revenue Pensions 164,000 164,000 77,723 83,733 895 162,351 0 (1,649) 0 162,351 (1,649)
1005 revenue Transformation re-structure 38,661 38,661 51,705 0 0 51,705 0 13,044 0 51,705 13,044
1007 revenue Mayoral Services 13,570 13,570 11,865 400 1,942 14,207 0 637 0 14,207 637
1008 revenue Mayor's Fund 3,250 3,250 3,918 22 4,238 8,178 0 4,928 0 8,178 4,928
1009 revenue Members Services 270,300 269,200 213,624 3,208 56,454 273,286 0 4,086 0 273,286 4,086
1010 revenue Leaders Services 30,000 30,000 21,427 0 8,546 29,973 0 (27) 0 29,973 (27)
1011 revenue Electoral Registration 60,000 60,000 35,059 10,277 8,700 54,036 0 (5,964) 0 54,036 (5,964)
1012 revenue Elections 40,200 40,200 13,821 0 (5,570) 8,251 35,000 3,051 0 43,251 3,051
1013 revenue Corporate Advertising Statutory 1,550 1,550 0 0 700 700 0 (850) 0 700 (850)
1146 revenue Referral Centre 20,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
1062 revenue Licensing Service (172,160) (172,160) (152,533) 126 (19,833) (172,240) 0 (80) 0 (172,240) (80)
1063 revenue Land Charges Service (99,640) (99,640) (76,870) 25,829 (45,615) (96,656) 0 2,984 0 (96,656) 2,984
1064 revenue Community Safety 10,000 10,000 8,760 110 0 8,870 0 (1,130) 0 8,870 (1,130)
5000 revenue Human Resources Pay Group 175,750 175,750 132,143 1,105 34,942 168,190 0 (7,560) 0 168,190 (7,560)
5060 revenue Democratic Services Pay Group 125,980 125,980 84,811 0 34,210 119,021 0 (6,959) 0 119,021 (6,959)
5080 revenue Internal Audit Pay Group 102,880 102,880 71,020 195 28,201 99,416 0 (3,464) 0 99,416 (3,464)
5320 revenue Licensing Pay Group 77,380 77,380 59,103 0 19,213 78,316 0 936 0 78,316 936
5480 revenue Legal Services 216,630 227,730 84,155 110,968 28,921 224,044 0 (3,686) 0 224,044 (3,686)
5540 revenue Head of Governance 100,680 100,680 83,446 763 18,485 102,694 0 2,014 0 102,694 2,014
5790 revenue Governance Support Assistants 65,540 65,540 56,666 0 13,964 70,630 0 5,090 0 70,630 5,090
5810 revenue Elections - Pay Group 85,770 85,770 68,621 0 21,880 90,501 0 4,731 0 90,501 4,731
6515 revenue Apprentices & Graduates 72,000 72,000 79,242 0 (26,243) 52,999 0 (19,001) 0 52,999 (19,001)
6558 revenue Police & Crime Commissioner Election 0 0 16,580 0 (16,580) 0 0 0 0 0 0
6559 revenue EU Referendum 0 0 (23,650) 0 23,650 0 0 0 0 0 0
6562 revenue County Elections 0 0 (258) 258 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6563 revenue Parliamentary Election 2017 0 0 20,364 780 (21,144) (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)

Total Revenue 1,488,701 1,488,701 1,023,439 245,994 187,496 1,456,930 35,000 3,229 0 1,491,930 3,229

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitments Forecast Projected Gross

Outturn - Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6017 reserve Legal Counsel 32,491 32,491 0 0 0 0 0 (32,491) 32,491 32,491 0
6081 reserve Members Training 9,000 9,000 0 0 5,000 5,000 0 (4,000) 4,000 9,000 0
6082 reserve IER work -Elections 0 0 (0) 0 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) (0)
6135 reserve Allerdale Options 6,745 6,745 1,139 0 2,654 3,793 0 (2,952) 2,952 6,745 0
6137 reserve Community Safety (ABC) 7,900 7,900 7,900 0 0 7,900 0 0 0 7,900 0
6144 reserve External Legal Services 465,887 465,887 390,000 0 0 390,000 0 (75,887) 75,887 465,887 0
6706 reserve Community Safety (Funded) 0 0 (56,145) 0 0 (56,145) 0 (56,145) 56,145 0 0
6730 reserve Licensing Service Re-design 16,100 16,100 13,897 0 2,203 16,100 0 0 0 16,100 0
6739 reserve Young People/Apprentices 16,088 16,088 0 0 16,088 16,088 0 0 0 16,088 0

Total Reserves 554,211 554,211 356,791 0 25,945 382,736 0 (171,475) 171,475 554,211 (0) 

TOTAL 2,042,912 2,042,912 1,380,230 245,994 213,441 1,839,665 35,000 (168,247) 171,475 2,046,140 3,228

P
age 135



PORTFOLIO : TOURISM & CULTURE

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

Planned
Contr to

Reserves

Gross
Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1056 revenue Silloth TIC 10,180 10,180 7,475 0 2,175 9,650 0 (530) 0 9,650 (530)
1106 revenue AONB Contribution 29,000 29,000 29,000 0 0 29,000 0 0 0 29,000 0
1110 revenue Museums 91,770 91,770 50,625 8,500 32,645 91,770 0 0 0 91,770 0
1113 revenue Carnegie 0 0 (112) 0 0 (112) 0 (112) 0 (112) (112)
1111 revenue Arts Development 16,850 16,850 2,325 1,990 12,535 16,850 0 0 0 16,850 0
1158 revenue Tourism Incentive 100,000 100,000 38,514 3,211 58,275 100,000 0 0 0 100,000 0
5840 revenue Economic Dev & Tourism Paygroup 19,920 19,920 5,709 0 14,211 19,920 0 0 0 19,920 0
6501 revenue Solway Coast AONB Core Funding 0 0 56,865 767 (57,632) 0 0 0 0 0 0
6517 revenue Solway Wetlands Project 0 0 70,085 0 (70,085) 0 0 0 0 0 0
6531 revenue Solway AONB Other Projects 0 0 (3,829) 0 3,829 0 0 0 0 0 0
6550 revenue High Level Stewardship 0 0 (9,680) 0 0 (9,680) 0 (9,680) 9,680 0 0

Total Revenue 267,720 267,720 246,977 14,468 (4,047) 257,398 0 (10,322) 9,680 267,078 (642)

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

- Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditure

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6119 reserve Museums 540 540 0 0 0 0 0 (540) 0 0 (540)
6155 reserve Solway AONB 29,098 29,098 0 0 0 0 0 (29,098) 29,098 29,098 0

Total Reserves 29,638 29,638 0 0 0 0 0 (29,638) 29,098 29,098 (540) 

TOTAL 297,358 297,358 246,977 14,468 (4,047) 257,398 0 (39,960) 38,778 296,176 (1,182) 

P
age 136



PORTFOLIO : TRANSFORMATION

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
Budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

Planned
Contr to

Reserves

Gross
Variance

Unplanned
Contr to

Reserves

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

REVENUE
1047 revenue IT Services 414,730 414,730 305,978 23,900 84,852 414,730 0 0 0 414,730 0
1048 revenue Shared Revs & Bens IT Costs 97,480 97,480 91,230 0 4,016 95,246 0 (2,234) 0 95,246 (2,234)
1050 revenue Multi-functional Printers 20,530 20,530 7,854 2,113 10,563 20,530 0 0 0 20,530 0
1059 revenue Revenue (386,600) (386,900) 2,879 294 (390,608) (387,435) 0 (535) 0 (387,435) (535)
1060 revenue Benefits (547,190) (547,190) (1,825,814) 30 1,281,385 (544,399) 0 2,791 0 (544,399) 2,791
1061 revenue Shared Revs & Bens 117,000 117,000 62,691 0 54,204 116,895 0 (105) 0 116,895 (105)
1140 revenue IT Infrastructure Costs 54,600 54,600 29,524 21,000 2,563 53,087 0 (1,513) 0 53,087 (1,513)
1165 revenue Corporate Postage & Stationery 142,530 142,530 90,519 28,070 18,072 136,661 0 (5,869) 0 136,661 (5,869)
5140 revenue Document Management Pay Group 0 0 1,214 900 (2,114) 0 0 0 0 0 0
5160 revenue Shared IT Services Pay Group 323,245 323,245 239,953 79 88,626 328,658 0 5,413 0 328,658 5,413
5280 revenue Customer Services Pay Group 430,990 431,290 338,799 2,065 90,513 431,377 0 87 0 431,377 87
5500 revenue Head of Org Dev & Transformation 63,010 63,010 47,732 0 16,000 63,732 0 722 0 63,732 722
5700 revenue Customer & Transformation Programme 97,630 97,630 69,657 0 24,905 94,562 0 (3,068) 0 94,562 (3,068)
5710 revenue Communications 78,380 78,380 72,950 225 3,895 77,070 0 (1,310) 0 77,070 (1,310)
5730 revenue Commissioning Support Pay Group 102,420 102,420 80,276 0 25,955 106,231 0 3,811 0 106,231 3,811
5850 revenue Revs, Bens & Recovery Paygroup 853,480 853,480 652,779 0 200,570 853,349 0 (131) 0 853,349 (131)
6004 revenue IT - New Initiatives 0 0 (985) 985 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6561 revenue Universal Credit (40,000) (40,000) (41,709) 0 1,333 (40,376) 0 (376) 0 (40,376) (376)
6557 revenue Ferris Maintenance Fund 0 0 (10,140) 0 10,000 (140) 0 (140) 0 (140) (140)
6564 revenue Project X 125,000 125,000 29,800 260,700 (160,700) 129,800 0 4,800 0 129,800 4,800

Total Revenue 1,947,235 1,947,235 245,187 340,361 1,364,030 1,949,578 0 2,343 0 1,949,578 2,343

Cost
Centre Description

Net

Approved
budget

Current
Budget Actuals Commitmen

ts Forecast
Projected

Gross
Outturn

- Gross
Variance

Change in
profiling of
expenditur

e

Adjusted
Outturn Variance

RESERVES
6050 reserve New Technology Fund 7,842 7,842 7,843 0 0 7,843 0 1 0 7,843 1
6077 reserve Shared Revs & Bens Projects 58,743 58,743 36,911 0 15,678 52,589 0 (6,154) 0 52,589 (6,154)
6104 reserve Anti Poverty 0 0 (190) 190 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
6114 reserve Purchase of Equipment (Envelope Stuffer) 9,797 9,797 5,498 1,618 2,681 9,797 0 0 0 9,797 0
6120 reserve New Ways of Working 0 0 3,050 1,740 (4,790) 0 0 0 0 0 0
6153 reserve Comms & Marketing 94,850 94,850 11,430 13,613 69,807 94,850 0 0 0 94,850 0
6154 reserve IT Service-Corporate Printers 6,772 6,772 4,801 1,971 0 6,772 0 0 0 6,772 0
6738 reserve Shared ICT Costs 4,295 4,295 4,295 0 0 4,295 0 0 0 4,295 0

Total Reserves 182,299 182,299 73,638 19,132 83,376 176,146 0 (6,153) 0 176,146 (6,153) 

TOTAL 2,129,534 2,129,534 318,825 359,493 1,447,406 2,125,724 0 (3,810) 0 2,125,724 (3,810) 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 138



Appendix B1

Capital Budget Monitoring Overview

Forecast Capital Expenditure and Financing against budget 2017/18

Projected Budget
Carry

Forward
Current Projected Outturn Projected

16/17 Budget Outturn  Variance  Variance
£ £ £ £ £

Spend Against Budget 
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 2,179,662 1,724,827 (454,835) 359,835 (95,000)
Corporate Resources 677,480 401,826 (275,654) 323,114 47,460
Localities & Environmental 427,915 427,915 0 0 0
Transformation 150,000 150,000 0 0 0
Economic Growth 2,500,000 1,369,350 (1,130,650) 1,130,650 0
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - Capital Budget Monitoring 'Spend' 5,935,057 4,073,918 (1,861,139) 1,813,599 (47,540)

Financing

External Funding Sources
DFG Housing Grant 1,076,564 933,530 (143,034) 143,034 0
SCP Housing Grant 318,985 217,184 (101,801) 101,801 0
Central Heating Fund Grant 494,113 494,113 0 0 0

0
ERDF grant 0 0 0 0 0
LEP Growth Deal funding 200,000 0 (200,000) 200,000 0
Coastal Communities Fund grant 0 0 0 0 0
Other grants and contributions - Harrington Reservoir 0 0 0 0 0
Total - External Funding Sources 2,089,662 1,644,827 (444,835) 444,835 0

ABC Resources
Capital Receipts 280,339 100,339 (180,000) 180,000 0
Revenue Earmarked Reserves 230,840 230,840 0 0 0
Revenue Receipt 12,860 12,860 0 0 0
General Fund Balances 729,856 711,742 (18,114) 18,114 0
Prudential Borrowing 2,591,500 1,373,310 (1,218,190) 1,170,650 (47,540)
Total - ABC Resources 3,845,395 2,429,091 (1,416,304) 1,368,764 (47,540)

TOTAL - Capital Budget Monitoring 'Financing' 5,935,057 4,073,918 (1,861,139) 1,813,599 (47,540)

Total Net Projected Outturn:

Expenditure 5,935,057 4,073,918 (1,861,139) 1,813,599 (47,540)
Financing 5,935,057 4,073,918 (1,861,139) 1,813,599 (47,540)

0 0 0 0 0

Page 139



Appendix B2

Capital Budget Monitoring - Spend Against Budget

Actual
Commitments

Projected
Current Year Department Projected Outturn Forecast Projected

Cost 17/18 Budget to Date  Forecast Outturn  Variance Budget C/F  Variance
 Centre Description £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

Housing, Health & Wellbeing
8001 Disabled Facilities Grants 646,564 412,352 0 234,212 646,564 0 0 0
8011 Discretionary Grants 350,000 43,271 0 163,695 206,966 (143,034) 143,034 0
8003 Health Homes (Empty Homes) 50,000 0 0 50,000 50,000 0 0 0
8004 Securing Affordable Homes 50,000 9,483 0 10,517 20,000 (30,000) 30,000 0
8107 Housing Improvement Projects 257,626 6,289 129,536 20,000 155,825 (101,801) 101,801 0
8301 Cluster of Empty Homes 51,359 7,500 0 43,859 51,359 0 0 0
8302 Central Heating Fund 674,113 520,625 26,451 32,037 579,113 (95,000) 0 (95,000)
8014 Flood resilience 100,000 15,000 0 0 15,000 (85,000) 85,000 0

TOTAL - Housing & Health 2,179,662 1,014,520 155,987 554,320 1,724,827 (454,835) 359,835 (95,000)

 Corporate Resources
8509 Public Toilets Review Works 149,860 49,034 7,712 0 56,746 (93,114) 93,114 0
8007 Demolition Moorclose Sport Centre 234,906 214,678 25,662 41,000 281,340 46,434 0 46,434
8008 Evo Centre Works (Food Bank) 0 (277) 0 0 (277) (277) 0 (277)
8009 WTC Coast Line Feature 12,714 10,699 2,015 0 12,714 0 0 0
8501 Resurfacing works (Brow Top Car Park) 50,000 51,303 0 0 51,303 1,303 0 1,303
8601 Helena Thompson Museum Development 180,000 0 0 0 0 (180,000) 180,000 0
8505 Workington Hall Repair Scheme 50,000 0 0 0 0 (50,000) 50,000 0
8511 Flooding/Landslip Works 0 (1,500) 1,500 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - Finance Services and Asset Management 677,480 323,937 36,889 41,000 401,826 (275,654) 323,114 47,460

P
age 140



Localities & Environmental
8615 Fleming Sq restorati 30,000 0 0 30,000 30,000 0 0 0
8616 Harrington resevoir 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
8512 Replacement Pay and Display Machines (inc. signage) 121,033 8,700 49,684 62,649 121,033 0 0 0
8906 New Leisure Facility 93,882 49,860 5,773 38,249 93,882 0 0 0
8514 MSCP equipment 183,000 172,017 14,825 (3,842) 183,000 0 0 0

TOTAL - Community Services 427,915 230,577 70,282 127,056 427,915 0 0 0

OD & Transformation
8701 IT Equipment (ABC Only) 40,000 15,134 124 24,742 40,000 0 0 0
8706 Refurbishment of customer service area 110,000 1,185 105,156 3,659 110,000 0 0 0

TOTAL - OD & Transformation 150,000 16,319 105,280 28,401 150,000 0 0 0

Economic Growth
8012 Lillyhall Development 200,000 0 0 0 0 (200,000) 200,000 0
8013 Reedlands Rd Ind Dev 250,000 0 0 86,350 86,350 (163,650) 163,650 0
8005 Strategic Acquisitions 1,297,000 0 0 530,000 530,000 (767,000) 767,000 0
8006 Lilly Hall - Land Purchase 753,000 0 0 753,000 753,000 0 0 0

TOTAL - Economic Growth 2,500,000 0 0 1,369,350 1,369,350 (1,130,650) 1,130,650 0

Tourism & Culture
8109 Solway Coast Pathway 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

5,935,057 1,585,353 368,438 2,120,127 4,073,918 (1,861,139) 1,813,599 (47,540)

;

P
age 141



Appendix B3
Projected use of resources to finance the capital programme.

Capital Budget Monitoring - Financing

Current Projected Forecast Projected
17/18 Budget Outturn Budget C/F  Variance

Description £ £ £ £

External Funding Sources
DFG Housing Grant 1,076,564 933,530 143,034 0
SCP Housing Grant 318,985 217,184 101,801 0
Central Heating Fund Grant 494,113 494,113 0 0

ERDF grant 0 0 0 0
LEP Growth Deal funding 200,000 0 200,000 0
Coastal Communities Fund grant 0 0 0 0
Other grants and contributions - Harrington Reservoir 0 0 0 0

TOTAL - External Funding 2,089,662 1,644,827 444,835 0

ABC Resources
Capital Receipts 280,339 100,339 180,000 0

Revenue Earmarked Reserves 230,840 230,840 0 0
Revenue Receipt 12,860 12,860 0 0

General Fund Balances 729,856 711,742 18,114 0

Prudential Borrowing 2,591,500 1,373,310 1,170,650 (47,540)

TOTAL - ABC Resources 3,845,395 2,429,091 1,368,764 (47,540)

TOTAL - 'FINANCING' 5,935,057 4,073,918 1,813,599 (47,540)

P
age 142



Appendix B4

Capital Resources Overview

Capital receipts and grants available to fund the capital programme

Current Capital Resources Capital Receipts Grants & Contributions
Housing Other

Balances:
Balance as at 31st March 2017 (377,592) (1,371,871) (191,212)
Actually received during 2017-18 (85,000) (1,039,046) 0
Forecast to be received during 2017-18 0 0 0
Available for allocation (462,592) (2,410,917) (191,212)

Allocation:
Financing proposed capital budget 17-18 280,339 1,889,662 0
Financing budget >17-18 0 521,255 0
Ring-fenced resources not yet brought into budget* 45,000 191,212
Not currently allocated or ringfenced (137,253) (0) 0

 *The items identified as 'Ring-fenced resources not yet brought into budget’ are:
 - £45,000 relating to the proceeds from the sale of Workington Hall Lodge and ring-fenced for improvements to the Hall
Park. - £191,212 relates to a number of specific capital grants. These can only be applied to the purposes for which they were
received.

Potential Capital Receipts
There are a number of asset disposals currently on-going, which if seen to completion will result in addition capital
receipts, these will only be shown in the above table when the disposal is complete:

Asset Disposal Type Status
Potential
Capital

Receipts
Moot Hall Sale We are currently undertaking

repair works before the sale
can be progressed.

210,000

5 Dora Crescent Sale Initial 12 month lease for £9K
p.a. with an option to
purchase.

175,000

Disposal of public convenience - Grange and Ladore Potential Sale Potential sale in early 2018
as part of on-going transfer
project

not yet known

385,000

Note: The above table excludes any capital receipts arising from the repayment of Allerdale Investment Partnership LLP
secured loan notes.

Page 143



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 144



 Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20

The Reason for the Decision This capital investment strategy defines at the 
highest level how the capital programme is to be 
determined.  It identifies the issues and options 
that influence capital spending and sets out how 
the resources and capital programme will be 
managed.

Summary of options considered The documents sets out the Council’s ambitions 
and priorities over the medium to longer term and 
provides a framework for the review and 
management of existing assets.  It indicates the 
opportunities for partnership working and has a 
direct relationship with the Treasury Management 
Strategy and the opportunities and limitations on 
activity through the treasury management 
prudential indicators.

Recommendations That the strategy is approved and following best 
practice it is renewed on an annual basis to 
ensure a strong link to the Council’s priorities.

Financial /  Resource Implications There is a commitment to affordability of capital 
investment decision over the longer term and a 
recognition that the Council’s own resources are 
limited and will only be used to fund those capital 
priorities that are unlikely to be able to access any 
other funding sources.

Legal Implications Underpinned by the Prudential Code for Local 
Authority and prudential indicators

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

As noted in the report

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

Will be considered as part of the Full Business 
Cases for capital schemes

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

The focus of this strategy is to ensure that the 
Council is able to make capital investment 

Page 145

Agenda Item 9



decision in order to meet its corporate priorities 
and objectives.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson, Head of Financial Services, 
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk
01900 702503

Report Implications

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety N

Background papers: None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This Capital Investment Strategy sets out, at a high level, how the capital 
programme will be formulated.  It highlight the issues and options that 
influence capital spending and sets out how the resources and capital 
programme will be managed. 

1.2 The document also sets out the Council’s ambitions in the short, medium and 
longer terms and the strategy includes:

 A link to the Council Plan and priorities
 Current capital priorities and potential investment levels
 A framework for the review and management of existing and future 

assets
 Opportunities for partnership working
 Methods of resourcing the capital programme
 Appraisal process for investments and disposals
 Decision making cycle for investment
 A direct relationship with Treasury Management Strategy and the 

limitations on activity through the Prudential Indicators.
 Managing and measuring performance.

Page 146

mailto:catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk


1.3 The document is intended for use by all stakeholders to how the Council 
makes decisions on capital investment.

1.4 Borrowing decisions for capital investment have long term financial 
consequences and whilst this strategy concentrates on the investments in 
assets (for example investment property) it is important that the Treasury 
Management and Investment Strategy considers the long and short-term risks 
of borrowing decisions and that those decisions are carefully documented.

2.0 Strategic Ambition
 

2.1 The aim of the Council is to make a sustainable improvement to the long-term 
quality of life for our residents.  The ambitions are clearly set out in the 
Council Plan and the priorities are:-

 Tackling Inequality
 Enhancing our Towns
 Creating a Sustainable Business
 Strengthening our Economy
 Improving Health and Wellbeing

2.2 The Chancellor’s Spending Review has continued with significant cuts to local 
government funding and the phased removal of Revenue Support Grant 
(RSG) as we anticipated a move to 100% funding from Business rates.  
Reductions in the level of funding that we receive from central government will 
not relent any time soon.  Protecting the services that are most important to 
our residents will mean challenging the current ways of working and 
embracing change where it will bring better services for the people of 
Allerdale.

2.3 Further reductions in government funding will impact on already limited 
financial resources, making this Capital Investment Strategy an essential tool 
for the Council to focus its capital resources on outcomes that deliver the 
maximum benefit to residents.

2.4 Allerdale is a great place to live, work and visit and this administration is 
committed to continuing to being forward-thinking and commercial in its 
approach to opportunities for economic growth.   Inward investment and follow 
on investment will play a key role in driving through these benefits.  

2.5 Underlying the capital strategy is the recognition that the financial resources 
available to meet these priorities and aspirations are constrained in the 
current economic and political climate.  Therefore we must rely more on 
internal resources and seek ways in which investment decisions can generate 
positive returns – either in being cost neutral, deliver revenue or efficiency 
savings or produce additional income streams.

Page 147



2.6 The Council recognises that it is likely to need significant investment to 
advance the priorities stated within the Council Plan and is exploring 
possibilities around:- 

 Economic Investment - seeking investments that generate longer term 
growth and those that will yield a combination of revenue generation for 
example commercial rents, jobs and capital infrastructure investment.  
Decisions to invest will be based on sound business cases with an 
emphasis on continuing to make acquisitions or grant support with 
strategic site assembly for major investment projects, e.g. Lillyhall, 
Reedlands Road.

 Leisure Provision – building on the success of the new leisure centre in 
Workington, look at the possibility of extending the leisure offer in Allerdale 
by creating first class sporting venues and facilities and to work with our 
local amateur and professional sporting clubs.  Given the success of the 
investment at Workington the Council is keen to work with our leisure 
provider GLL to look at the potential to invest in other facilities and reduce 
the revenue costs.
 

 Employment – looking at working with others to create long term 
employment opportunities through capital investment.  These investments 
to also increase income from business rates and rentals.

 Housing – determining the Council’s need to develop or intervene in the 
housing market will be a key opportunity to establish both a commercial 
return and also support parts of the failing market. These could include the 
provision of a mixture of housing tenures for older people (including 
extracare that supports early hospital release), a potential for commercial 
house building on Council and other land that drives a different tenure mix 
in some parts of our towns, and supporting affordable housing in areas 
with high levels of second homes.

 Asset Management Plan – this identifies significant backlog maintenance 
across the Council’s property portfolio and would require a level of 
investment that is currently unaffordable.  Therefore the Council’s priority 
is to dispose of surplus assets and use the receipts to reduce assets 
ongoing future revenue costs

Page 148



2.7 The existing capital programme is as set out below and full provision is made 
for the ongoing borrowing costs of these schemes in the Revenue Budget.

Proposed Capital Budget 
2018-

19 2019-20 2020-21 TotalProposed Capital Programme 

£0 £0 £0 £0
Gross expenditure1 :     
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 0 0 11,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
Financed by:     
External funding sources:     
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better 
Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358

SCP Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:     
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 1,307 1,040 7,877
Total financing 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973

2.8 The Council is ambitious about transforming the Borough in terms of growth, 
inequality and sustainability.  

2.9 As well as the proposed capital programme, the current administration is 
continuing with its ambitions to make sustainable improvements to the 
borough and the lives of the residents.  The Council recognises that it is likely 
to need significant investment to advance the priorities and ambitions being 
identified and is exploring the possibility of significant capital projects with 
could add £30 million to the capital programme.

Page 149



2.10 It is envisaged that this will be a major commitment for this Council and that a 
commitment to working with both the private sector and other public sector 
bodies to identify new funding streams will play a significant role in the future.  
In these periods of continuing austerity these challenges must be met with 
more creative and bold ideas and solutions.

2.11 A number of aspirational programmes and projects are currently at initial 
concept stage and include the following projects:

Page 150



Page 151



2.12 These schemes will all need to follow the principles as set out in this Capital 
Investment Strategy and full business cases will need to be submitted and 
approved before the schemes are recommended for inclusion in the capital 
budget.   

2.13 The Table below shows an indicative capital programme should it be 
increased to incorporate and additional regeneration budget of £30 million 
over the next two financial years and funded by additional borrowing:

2.14 Should the council be unable to secure the levels of external funding required 
to proceed with these schemes, then it will also explore the option to increase 
borrowing.  The cost of borrowing the full amount would result in additional 
revenue costs of £2.3m per year by 2021/22. 

Indicative Capital Budget 
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 TotalIndicative Capital Programme 

£0 £0 £0 £0
Gross expenditure1 :     
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 15,000 15,000 41,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 17,340 17,040 48,973
Financed by:     
External funding sources:     
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better 
Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358

SCP Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:     
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 16,307 16,040 37,877
Total financing 14,593 17,340 17,040 48,973

Page 152



2.15 The financial implications of any potential schemes will be incorporated into 
the Treasury Strategy and Budgets as and when the scheme business cases 
are given full approval.

3.0  Capital Resources

3.1 The Council’s capital investment falls within, and needs to comply with, the 
“Prudential Code for Capital finance in Local Authorities” (the Code).  Under 
the Code local authorities have greater discretion over the funding of capital 
expenditure especially with the freedom to determine, within the regulatory 
framework of the Code, the level of borrowing they wish to undertake to 
deliver their capital plans and programmes.

3.2 As the pressure on local authority finances continues, it is becoming 
increasing important to explore alternative sources of funding capital 
expenditure.  These options are summarised as follows:-

 Local Asset backed vehicles – the Council will seek to attract 
investment into the borough through partnership working and 
innovation.  These vehicles allow the authority to use assets (usually 
land and buildings) to attract long term investment from the private 
sector in order to deliver socio-economic development and 
regeneration.  They are designed to encourage parties to pool 
resources to deliver regeneration with an acceptable balance of risk 
and return for all involved.
We will continue to explore the potential for developing such 
partnerships and private sector involvement and each case will be 
subject to specific financial appraisal and Executive approval.

 Collaborative Working – this type of approach encourages interest 
from expert developers to promote a site or work together on the 
planning and infrastructure process, to enhance the attractiveness of 
the site to end users.

 Community Involvement – changes in legislation brought in under the 
Localism Act have introduced the concept of Community Asset 
Transfer, Community Right to Challenge and Community Right to Bid 
for services.  This has opened up a whole spectrum of opportunities of 
private sector investment in community-led capital projects, where 
deemed appropriate.

3.3 The Council’s service and budget planning process ensures decisions about 
the allocation of capital, and revenue, resources are taken to achieve a 
corporate and consistent approach.

Page 153



3.4 The main sources of funding of the capital programme are as follows:-

 External Grants / Contributions
 Capital Receipts from disposal of assets
 Balances and Reserves
 Borrowing
 Partnership opportunities / Joint Ventures

3.5 External Grants / contributions

Grants from external sources can be a valuable source of capital finance and 
have enabled capital developments to go ahead that would not have been 
possible without the grant support. Given the scale of the Council’s ambitions 
to improve and add to its asset base much will depend on our ability to secure 
external funding. Key to this will be the on-going relationship with the LEP and 
the emerging local Industrial Strategy.

Section 106 agreements are contributions from developers tied into new 
construction or development projects, such as funding a new play area when 
building a housing development.  The provision of this funding can be 
contingent upon a certain state in the development being met and at times 
can be complex and difficult to monitor. This would only be relevant in limited 
circumstances as the new regulations require developers to put in place 
management arrangements for future maintenance of open space or to 
transfer it to a town or parish council.  This is intended to ensure that there are 
no ongoing service costs for the Council.

Where there is a revenue element to provide ongoing maintenance of 
facilities, this needs to be correctly reflected in service revenue budgets.

3.6 Capital Receipts

The council can generate its own capital resources through the sale of surplus 
land and buildings and these resources can then be used to invest in new 
capital projects.  The Asset Management Group will identify assets surplus to 
requirements and recommend sale where relevant.  It is fair to say the 
opportunity for sale are becoming limited and the current economic climate 
may well restrict capital values.

Generally, all capital receipts will be treated as a corporate resource and 
become available for reinvestment in capital opportunities.

3.7 Balances and Reserves

The Council currently holds a healthy level of both general and earmarked 
reserves.  This reflects the robust financial management and policy decisions 
made in recent years and enables internal borrowing and cash-flow to be 
managed.  Earmarked reserves are set aside for identified specific projects 
which limits funding for new initiatives.

Page 154



3.8 Prudential Borrowing

Prudential borrowing is where the debt costs have to be funded from the 
Council’s revenue budget, or from generating additional ongoing longer term 
income streams. The principle of affordability is therefore a key consideration.

The Council will continue to consider, on a cautious and prudent basis, the 
extent to which prudential borrowing may be undertaken to fund new capital 
investment which generates returns over and above the revenue costs of the 
debt.

Given the pressure on the Council’s revenue budget in future years, 
borrowing will only be used where there is a clear financial case, such as 
major regeneration schemes which provide a net return over and above the 
borrowing cost, “ invest to save” projects, or “spend to earn” schemes.

Given the long-term nature of borrowing and the risk of change in economic 
conditions, such as interest rate risk and counter-party risk, it is important that 
the long and short-term risks of borrowing are carefully documented.

3.9 Opportunities from Partnerships / JV’s

The Council recognises that certain services have greater potential for 
attracting capital finance from external sources and will seek to maximise 
opportunities available.   Full business cases will be presented and require full 
approval before entering into any alternative service delivery model.

4.0 The Capital Programme 

4.1 From 2018/19 onwards the Council is likely to need significant investment to 
advance its ambitions and priorities as set out in the Council Plan and will 
need a flexible approach to how it invests in capital schemes.

4.2 Service Managers and Portfolio Holders submit proposed capital schemes 
bids at the start of the budget setting process, which commences in August. 

4.3 A scoring methodology is used to ensure that schemes that best fit the 
Council’s priorities, within funds available, are taken forward.

4.4 In order to deliver on our ambitions, we need to deliver efficiencies, seek 
additional funds and review regularly how we are using our capital resources.

4.5 To assist the decision making process in determining whether a capital 
investment should be included within the capital programme, the following 
four core principles will be used:- 

1. Manage impact on revenue

Page 155



2. Optimise opportunities to deliver priorities
3. Effective appraisal of capital schemes
4. Performance management

4.6 Managing the impact of investment decisions on the revenue budget

This is ensuring that any capital investment decision does not place additional 
pressure on the Council Tax or the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

Capital investment will be supported and recommended when it:-
 Allows investment to save
 Generates a revenue or capital return
 Generates additional new funding from NNDR or NHB
 Level of risk consistent with Council’s risk appetite
 A key regeneration priority where the Council makes the 

decision to reduce spending elsewhere to fund it from borrowing

4.7 Optimise the availability of capital funding where this supports our priorities

This will be done by:-
 Reviewing our assets and disposing of surplus or poor 

performing assets and using the receipts to re-invest
 Developing effective working relationships with potential funders 
 Creating effective partnership arrangements

4.8 Have in place and effective appraisal process 

Underlying this strategy is the recognition that the financial resources 
available to meet all the ambitions and priorities are constrained.
To ensure that resources are allocated effectively the capital programme 
planning is determined in parallel with the service and revenue budget 
planning process within the framework of the budget strategy and MTFP.

Rolling programme items are the first call on available resources to ensure 
that existing approved service levels can continue to be developed.

For all new projects and programmes a Strategic Outline Case will be 
submitted that needs to include capital investment, repayment mechanisms, 
revenue impacts and full lifetime costings.  These will be scored against an 
agreed weighting and appropriate recommendations made to the Commercial 
Board.

Subject to the outline proposal being approved a detailed full business case 
will need to be submitted and appraised, including full identification and 
assessment of the risks and due diligence report, prior to being submitted to 
Executive.

Page 156



4.9 Performance Management

The Council maintains comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring the Capital Programme and is a reciprocal process between 
service areas and financial services.

All capital projects identify milestones and key outputs. A project manager is 
identified for each scheme and they are responsible for monitoring progress, 
spend and income and producing action plans to respond to key variances – 
financial or time.  The project manager liaises closely with their finance 
business partner to produce the monthly budget monitoring statement.

Capital budget monitoring is reported to Senior Management Team (SMT) on 
a monthly basis and on a quarterly basis to Executive.

At year-end Financial Services collate the outturn position and report any 
under/ over spend and recommend budget carry forwards.

5.0 Conclusion

5.1 This strategy is a working document with enables the Council to make rational 
capital investment decisions in order to achieve its priorities.

5.2 It sets out clear ambitions to drive capital investment in Allerdale and 
recognises that a commitment to partnership working with both the private 
sector and other public sector bodies will play a significant role in the future.  
The Council will focus on maximising the opportunities to attract such 
partnership or third party funding.

5.3 The Council will maintain comprehensive and robust procedures for managing 
and monitoring its capital programme.

5.4 This strategy should be reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it is relevant 
and up to date.  Any other policy that requires capital investment must be 
consistent with the Capital Investment Strategy.

6.0 Legal Implications and Risks

6.1 The Council is faced with diminishing capital finance which means that it has 
to monitor capital investment decisions against available funds to ensure that 
it does not spend or commit in advance of receiving funding.  The Capital 
Financing Requirement will need to be monitored carefully.

6.2 Capital projects will be managed via an identified Project Manager to the 
Commercial Board.  All risks that may affect a project are considered.  These 
will include political, economic, legal, technological, reputational and financial 
risks. Significant projects will use appropriate project management tools.

Page 157



6.3 If the Council considers capital investment in the form of loans then exposure 
to non-repayment will be carefully managed through contract management 
arrangements.

7.0 Recommendations

7.1 That the strategy is approved and following best practice it is renewed on an 
annual basis to ensure a strong link to the Council’s priorities

Catherine Nicholson
Head of Financial Services (S151)

Page 158



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Budget 2018-19 – Revenue and Capital

The Reason for the Decision To present the Council’s draft revenue and capital 
budget and the formal advice of the chief financial 
officer on the robustness of the estimates included in 
the budget and the adequacy of the reserves which 
support the Council’s budgetary plans.

Summary of options considered The Council has a statutory requirement to approve a 
balanced budget.   
The draft budget proposes an increase in Council 
Tax of £5 on band D properties with proportionate 
increases being applied to properties in other council 
tax bands. 
A number of growth bids and savings bids have been 
submitted and are considered in this report.
A public consultation exercise relating to options 
included in the Council’s draft budget proposals was 
carried out between December 2017 and January 
2018.

Recommendations It is recommended that:
1. The total planned revenue expenditure is 

£15,670,916 including parish precepts of 
£2,024,054. 

2. £14,604,435 is approved as the Council’s net 
Budget requirement for 2018-19.

3. An increase in Council Tax of £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties, in other council tax 
bands is approved.

4. No changes are made to the Council’s Council 
Tax Reduction discount scheme and that the 
current scheme remains in place for 2018-19. 

5. The amount of council tax support funding to 
be paid to Town and Parish Council is set at 
£20,666 (Appendix A).

6. The revenue estimates as approved are used 
in the calculation of the basic amount of tax 
under Section 31of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992.

Page 159

Agenda Item 10



7. The minimum level of non-earmarked general 
fund balances is set at £2.7m and that no 
maximum level is set.  

8. That the capital budget of £18,972,755 
(comprising £14,592,755 in 2018-19, 
£2,340,000 in 2019-20 and £2,040,000 in 
2020-21) is approved.

9. That the proposed capital budget for 2018-19 
is financed as follows:

 grants and contributions …..£9,043,255 
 borrowing………………...….£5,530,000
 revenue …………………………..£3,500
 earmarked reserves ………….. £16,000 

Financial / Resource Implications As set out in the report.  The revenue estimates will 
form part of the calculation of the overall council tax 
level to be set.

Legal Implications Statutory requirement to set a balanced budget.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

The budget contains provision for the Council to 
discharge its obligations under health and safety 
legislation, and to maintain a reserve in order to 
manage risks.
There are also risks that the Council will not be able 
to operate within agreed budgetary provisions but 
this can be minimised by the financial monitoring 
process and by the prudent policy on the level of 
reserves and balances.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

As part of the budget growth bids and savings bids 
process.

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision 
would make to the Council’s 
priorities

The revenue budget is set to support the Council in 
achieving priorities through the Council Plan and to 
facilitate control of expenditure on its activities.

Is this a Key Decision Yes

Portfolio Holder Councillor Barbara Cannon

Page 160



Lead Officer Catherine Nicholson 
Head of Financial Services
01900 702503
catherine.nicholson@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety Y Employment (external to the Council) Y

Financial Y Employment (internal) Y

Legal Y Partnership Y

Social Inclusion Y Asset Management Y

Equality Duty Y Health and Safety Y

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Council has a statutory responsibility to set a balanced budget for each 
financial year. In short, this means the Council’s expenditure on services must 
be contained within the available funding envelope. 

1.2 This report sets out the: 

 outcome of the 2018-19 Budget Consultation exercise 

 proposed revenue budget for 2018-19, and

 proposed capital budget for the three year period 2018-19 to 2020-21.

1.3 This report also sets out the chief finance officer’s report to the Council (made 
under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003) on the:

(a) the robustness of the estimates made for the purposes of the 
Council’s budget calculations, and

(b) the adequacy (or otherwise) of the Council’s financial reserves.

1.4 Members are required to have regard to the report made under s25 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 when making decisions about the Council’s 
budget calculations.

2. Budget Consultation

2.1 Consultation with the public and other key stakeholders is essential to 
informing the Councils priorities and the financial plans which underpin 
delivery of those priorities, including the Councils annual budget. 
Consultations informing the 2018/19 budget process comprised:

 the survey of residents undertaken during July and August 2016 

Page 161



 a budget consultation focusing on specific budget issues carried out  
during December 2017 and January 2018.

Survey of Residents

2.2 The Council commissioned NWA Social and Market Research to undertake a 
general survey of residents seeking their views on satisfaction with services, 
with their quality of life and their area. During the survey exercise a total of 
7,078 questionnaires were posted out to randomly selected addresses across 
the Council’s area. A total of 2048 surveys were completed (29%).

2.3 The headlines of the survey included:

 very high levels of satisfaction (82%) with their locality as a place to live 
and with the way Allerdale Borough Council provides services (74%)

 very high levels of satisfaction with key services for example household 
waste recycling sites (84%), refuse collection (93%) and doorstep 
recycling 78%

 less than half of respondents expressing satisfaction with ‘public car 
parking’ (48%), ‘public sport/ leisure facilities’ (47%), ‘theatres/ concert 
halls’ (45%), ‘museums/ galleries’ (37%), and ‘public toilets’ (36%)  

 over half of respondents (52%) indicating they would like to see more 
‘preparation for flooding events’ whilst ‘street cleaning’ (38%), ‘public 
toilets’ (31%), ‘public car parking’ (29%) and local markets (28%) 
ranked highest amongst the services which respondents would like to 
see more of 

 economic development and job prospects are key concerns for 
residents

 support from the majority of respondents for the different ways the 
Council could provide services, including working with other 
organisations to reduce costs, making services operate commercially 
and providing better quality facilities, but less of them

 support from the majority of respondents, for a rise in Council Tax to 
protect key services. 

Budget Consultation

2.4 The 2018-19 Budget consultation was held between 14th December 2017 and 
19th January 2018. The consultation was accessible via the Council’s 
website. Hard-copy versions of the consultation were also made available at 
Council offices.  The consultation document was sent out to numerous partner 
organisations such as town and parish councils and other local bodies and 
was actively promoted through the local press, the Council’s website and 
social media.  Responses could be submitted on-line using the Cumbria-wide 
consultation portal, by email or in hard copy format. 

Page 162



2.5 The consultation document summarised the financial challenges facing the 
Council and the steps being taken by the Council to bridge the financial gap 
arising from the year on year reductions in central government grants. To 
supplement the feedback received from the residents’ survey the budget 
consultation sought views on proposals related to: 

 setting next year’s Council Tax 
 increasing fees and charges in line with inflation.

2.6 The majority of the responses to the budget consultation were in favour of the 
proposals put forward in the consultation document with approximately two 
thirds of respondents in favour of increasing: 

 Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties 
(with proportionate increases to properties in other council tax 
bands) 

 the Council Tax empty homes premium from 50% to 100% 
 fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation.

2.7 A summary of consultation responses can be found in Appendix K. 

3.       National and Local Context

2015 Spending Review and Autumn Statement

3.1 Local authorities have taken the biggest hit in terms of central government 
cuts since 2010.  The scale of reduction, along with a degree of volatility 
around the phasing and timing of these cuts has made it very difficult for 
authorities to plan their spending priorities strategically.  The need for effective 
medium term planning has never been stronger.

3.2 The government’s response to these concerns was the offer of a 4 year 
settlement guarantee, paid to councils for the 4 year period from April 2016 to 
the financial year 2019-20.  It covers Revenue Support Grant, transitional 
funding and Rural Services Delivery Grant. 97% of councils accepted the 
multi-year settlement offer for 2016-17 to 2019-20. 

3.3 This Council chose to take advantage of this offer and published, in line with 
terms of the multi-year offer, its Efficiency Plan in October 2016. DCLG duly 
confirmed that we were to receive the multi-year settlement.

Autumn Statement 2016

3.4 The Autumn Statement 2016, delivered on 23 November 2016 confirmed the 
government’s commitment to the departmental spending plans set out in the 
2015 Spending review. It also included the announcement that the 
Government will no longer seek to deliver a budget surplus by the end of the 
current parliament but will instead seek to return public finances to balance ‘as 
early as possible in the next Parliament. Although reductions in departmental 

Page 163



spending and further fiscal tightening were avoided, there was no easing of 
austerity for public services. 

Spring and Autumn Budgets 2017

3.5 The 2017 Spring Budget presented to the House of Commons on 8 March  
and the Autumn  Budget presented on 22 November 2017, contained a 
number of announcements relevant to local government and in particular to 
changes to business rates. Changes impacting on 2018/19 included:

 provision of funding to local authorities to provide discretionary relief to 
business rate payers where bills have increased significantly following 
revaluation

 targeted support for those businesses that lost Small Business Rate 
Relief entitlement as a result of revaluation 2017 

 from April 2018, the use of Consumer Price Index (CPI) rather than 
Retail Price Index (RPI) to uprate the multiplier for business rates, 
bringing forward the change already announced from April 2020;

 switching the business rates revaluation cycle from five years to three 
years following the next planned revaluation in 2022

 extending by one year the £1,000 discount to business rates bills for 
pubs with a rateable value of less than £100,000 to 2018/19

 from April 2018, providing local authorities with the power to increase 
the council tax empty homes premium from 50% to 100%

 a wide breadth of measures to support the governments objective of 
increasing the numbers of new homes being built 

 a package of measures to support the continued roll out of Universal 
Credit.

Local Government finance report and provisional settlement 2018-19

3.6 The provisional local government finance settlement for 2018-19 was issued 
on 19 December 2017 and sets out the distribution of centrally allocated 
resources for local authorities in England. The final settlement was issued on 
6 February 2018 . The figures included in the provisional local government 
finance settlement for 2018-19 are broadly in line with the indicative figures 
announced in the four year settlement last year. The only change of note 
between the provisional and final settlements was the announcement of 
additional funding through the Rural Services Delivery Grant (see paragraph 
4.6). 

3.7 The Settlement outlines the [provisional] Settlement Funding Assessment – 
(SFA) (comprising Revenue Support Grant and retained business rates 
income (baseline funding)) for local authorities and the impact on the core 
spending power of local authorities.  Core Spending Power is the 
Governments measure of the core components of local government funding. It 
comprises the aggregate of the Settlement Funding Assessment, assumed 
income from council tax, New Homes Bonus, Improved Better Care Fund 
funding and rural services delivery grant).

Page 164



3.8 A summary of the Council’s provisional Settlement Funding Assessment and 
Core Spending Power – over the spending review period - is set out in table 1.

Table 1: Settlement Funding Assessment (SFA) & Core Spending Power
2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 2,523 1,700 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,284 3,346 3,414 3,517 3,595
Total – SFA 5,807 5,046 4,475 4,169 3,791
Assumed Council tax 4,537 4,714 4,920 5,150 5,388
New Homes Bonus 1,079 1,533 1,612 1,004 940
Rural Services Delivery 
Grant 63 324 261 261 261

Other grants1 48 48 44 73 110
Core spending power 11,534 11,665 11,312 10,657 10,490
Annual change - 1.1% -3.0% -5.8% -1.6%
Cumulative change - 1.1% -1.9% -7.6% -9.1%

1Compensation for under-indexing the business rates multiplier

3.9 Nationally, the government’s figures indicate that Core Spending Power will 
increase by an average of 1.5% in 2018-19, assuming that every council 
raises their council tax by the maximum permitted without a referendum. For 
the local government sector as a whole the change over the whole Spending 
Review period is +2.1%. Despite this broadly ‘flat-cash’ settlement, this 
nevertheless presents very significant challenges ahead for councils who will 
have to make savings sufficient enough to compensate for any additional cost 
pressures they face.

3.10 The maintenance of a broadly flat cash settlement, in the context of significant 
grant reductions, is achieved largely through an assumption that for 2018-19 
and 2019-20:

 social care authorities take up the option to raise council tax in line 
with the in line with the 3% referendum limit and set the Adult Social 
Care precept to the maximum allowable level 

 average annual growth in the council tax base remains consistent with 
the growth achieved by each local authority between 2013-14 and 
2017-18 

 district councils will increase their Band D council tax by whichever is 
the greater of £5 or 3%.

3.11 For Allerdale the figures highlight a projected reduction in the Council’s core 
spending power by around 9.1% in cash terms, from £11.53m to £10.49m 
between 2015-16 and 2019-20. This includes a reduction of approximately 
£2m (35%) in the Settlement Funding Assessment offset by a projected 
increase of approximately £0.9m (19%) in council tax income (including base 
growth and levels increasing by CPI) and £0.12m (10%) in the levels of New 
Homes Bonus and Rural Services Delivery Grant and other grants over the 

Page 165



spending review period. The revenue grant funding element of the Council’s 
Settlement Funding Assessment is expected to fall from £2.523m in 2015-16 
to £0.196m in 2019-20.

3.12 The reductions in RSG which underpin the reduction in the Settlement 
Funding Assessment over the spending review period were timetabled to 
coincide with the planned transition to 100% local rates retention in 2019-20. 
However, the Local Government Finance Bill which had been progressing 
through Parliament until the General Election was called was not included in 
the Queens speech. The Finance Bill would, amongst other things, have 
provided the legislative framework for the introduction of 100% Business 
Rates Retention (BRR). Without a change to primary legislation the move to 
100% BRR is not possible. Therefore whilst the Government has indicated 
they intend to move to 75% local retention by 2020-21 any further move to 
100% local retention is unlikely to be implemented before 2022-23 (if at all).

3.13 The current four year settlement runs out in 2019-20. Whilst the Government 
has acknowledged the need to provide future certainty beyond the existing 4-
year funding deal, and to meet its manifesto commitment to give councils 
more control of the taxes they raise locally, there remains a lack of clarity over 
funding levels after 2019-20. At a time when pressure on local services is 
increasing this lack of clarity over funding - both at national and local level- 
places significant limitations on the Council’s financial planning beyond the 
end of the current multi-year settlement. 

3.14 The Council tax referendum principles have also been announced with the 
basic referendum limit for Council Tax increased from 2% to 3% for both 
2018-19 and 2019-20 to reflect the level of inflation.  For district councils 
increases of less than 3% or up to and including £5 (on a band D property), 
whichever is higher can be made without triggering a referendum. 

3.15 For social care authorities the referendum limit, a 3% basic referendum 
principle will apply in 2018-19 and 2019-20, in addition to the adult social care 
precept under previously announced rules. The adult social care precept 
enables social care authorities to increase their council tax by up to 3 per cent 
(over the existing basic referendum threshold of 3% referred to above) 
provided the additional (social care) precept increases do not exceed 6% over 
the 3 year period from 2017-18 to 2019-20. For Police and Crime 
Commissioners, the limit for 2018-19 is £12 on a Band D property. No 
referendum limits apply to parish councils for the next three years.

3.16 The Core Spending Power figures announced in the provisional settlement 
include the New Homes Bonus allocations for 2018-19 along with the New 
Homes Bonus returned element of the funding. The provisional settlement 
confirms that, as consulted on in 2016, the length of time that the bonus is 
paid for will reduce from five years to four years in 2018/19. The baseline for 
housing growth (over which bonus will be paid) will remain at 0.4%. The 
government has also confirmed that it will not be implementing changes that 
would have involved withholding New Homes Bonus from local authorities 
where it considers that planning is not effective in terms of decisions on 
planning applications and delivering new homes.

Page 166



3.17 Illustrative levels of core spending assume that New Homes Bonus allocations 
for 2019-20: 

 will reduce in line with the national totals set at the Spending Review 
and which  will see payments reduce to £900m in 2019-20 

 are based on each authority’s legacy payments with any remaining 
allocation split between authorities based on their share of the total 
legacy payments 

 no returned funding associated with the distribution of unclaimed New 
Homes Bonus funding in 2018-19 or 2019-20. 

3.18 The actual amount of new homes bonus therefore remains dependent on 
growth locally and on any future changes to the scheme. 

3.19 In addition to the Core Spending Power amounts other changes announced 
as part of the 2018-19 provisional settlement included: 

 publication of a consultation paper “Fair funding review: a review of 
relative needs and resources”; a technical consultation setting out the 
government’s current thinking on updating the current needs 
assessment formulae; the results of the review will be introduced in 
2020-21

 confirmation that there will be a business rates baseline reset in 2020-
21 (to better reflect how much local authorities are actually collecting 
from business rates) and, from 2020/21, business rates retention will 
be at 75% (with existing grants, including RSG and Public Health 
Grant incorporated into business rates retention); At a reset, tariff and 
top-up levels would be recalculated

 details of potential business rate pools to pilot 100% rates retention in  
2018-19 (The bid submitted by all seven local authorities across 
Cumbria was not among the successful applications)

 other funding allocations outside of the local government finance 
settlement – including allocations of Flexible homelessness support 
grant: and Homelessness Reduction Act: new burdens funding

 continuation of the flexibility to use capital receipts to help meet the 
cost of transformation programmes for a further three years

 confirmation that planning departments will be able to increase 
planning fees by 20% where they commit to spending the additional 
income on their planning services. 

4. Local Government funding - resources available to support the 2018-19 
Revenue Budget

4.1 Following introduction of the Business Rate Retention Scheme (BRRS) in 
April 2013 central government support for local government (the Settlement 
Funding Assessment) now comprises two main funding streams: 

i. Revenue Support Grant (RSG), and
ii. amounts funded through the Business Rates Retention scheme (the 

(NNDR) baseline funding level). 

Page 167



4.2 The Settlement Funding Assessment represents the authority’s share of 
central government’s local government spending control total. In addition to 
the Settlement Funding Assessment there are also various specific grants 
(sometimes called targeted grants) distributed outside the settlement. The 
basis on which these grants are distributed varies from grant to grant. They 
include non-ringfenced grants, which have no accompanying restrictions on 
what councils can spend the money on, and ring-fenced grants where the 
expenditure is controlled to fund a particular service that is a national priority.

4.3 The Council’s net revenue budget is funded from the following:
 Central Government grants
 the Business Rate Retention Scheme (non-domestic rates)
 Council Tax
 Income from fees and charges
 Interest and investment income.

Revenue Support Grant 

4.4 Revenue Support Grant is a non-ringfenced central government grant that can 
be used to finance revenue expenditure on any service. The amount of 
Revenue Support Grant to be provided to local authorities is established 
through the local government finance settlement. 

4.5 The Council’s RSG settlement for 2018-19 - included in the Provisional 
Finance Settlement for 2018-19 - is £652k. This represents a reduction of 
£0.408m (38%) on the amount (£1.06m) awarded in 2017-18 and a 
cumulative reduction of £4.15m (86%) on the amount received in 2013-14 
(£4.8m). The Council’s RSG allocation for 2018-19 is unchanged from amount 
included in multi-year settlement announced in 2016-17.

Table 2: Provisional local government settlement 2018-19
2017-18 2018-19 2019-20Settlement Funding 

Assessment £000 £000 £000
Revenue Support Grant 1,061 652 196
Baseline funding 3,414 3,517 3,595
Total 4,475 4,169 3,791

Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG)

4.6 Rural Services Delivery Grant (RSDG) is a non-ringfenced section 31 grant 
paid by central government to rural authorities in recognition of the extra costs 
of delivering public services in sparsely populated areas. The grant is paid to 
the upper quartile of authorities based on the super-sparsity indicator, a proxy 
for rurality which ranks authorities by the proportion of the population which is 
scattered widely using census data and weighted towards the authorities with 
the sparsest populations. 

4.7 The Authority’s RSDG allocation for 2018-19 is £325,556. This includes the  
funding increase – announced as part of the provisional 2018-19 settlement – 

Page 168



which increased the indicative amount included in four year settlement to 
match 2017-18 funding level of £261,249. It also incorporates the additional 
funding allocation announced as part of the 2018/19 Final Settlement. The 
allocation for 2019-20 is £261,249. 

Other Government Grants – New Homes Bonus

4.8 The New Homes Bonus was announced as part of the Comprehensive 
Spending Review in 2010. It match funds the council tax raised on the net 
number of additional new homes and long term empty properties brought back 
into use and is based on data included in the Council Tax Base Return 
(CTB1) submitted in October each year. In two-tier areas the bonus is split 
80:20 between the district and county councils. 

Table 3: New Homes Bonus Grant
Year of Payment (Allerdale Borough Council Share)

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17 2017-18 2018-19Year
£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

- 84 84 84 84
- 16 16 16 16
- 222 222 222 222 222
-  469 469 469 469
1   277 277 277 277
2    458 458 458
3 178 178
4 91

Total 322 791 1,068 1,526 1,604 1,004

4.9 The provisional allocations of new homes bonus funding for 2018-19 were 
announced in early December. Final allocations were published alongside the 
final local government finance settlement in February 2018. The Council’s 
allocation of New Homes Bonus grant funding for 2018-19 is £1,003,560. This 
is paid as a non-ring-fenced grant meaning the Council is free to decide how 
to spend it and can spend it on either revenue or capital or place it in 
reserves. 

4.10 The 2018-19 settlement confirms that, as announced last year, the length of 
time the bonus is paid will reduce from five years to four years in 2018-19. 
However, the government has decided not to make any additional change to 
the national baseline, below which the Bonus will not be paid. The threshold 
over which bonus will be paid therefore remains at 0.4% of the council tax 
base (weighted by band) for 2018-19. The Government does however retain 
the option to adjust the baseline in subsequent years. After considering 
responses to the 2018-19 local government finance settlement technical 
consultation - issued in September 2017- the Government has decided not to 
implement proposed changes which would have meant bonus being withheld 
for homes approved by the Planning Inspectorate.

Page 169



4.11 The changes to the methodology for calculating New Homes Bonus coupled 
with the cessation of legacy payments from earlier years has resulted in a 
reduction of £600,000 in the amount of grant receivable by the Authority in 
2018-19 compared to 2017-18.

Business rates (non-domestic rates- NNDR) 
4.12 Under the business rates retention scheme, 40% of business rates (NNDR) 

collected is retained by the Council. The remainder is paid to Central 
Government (50%) and Cumbria County Council (10%). The scheme also 
provides that certain sums are to be treated as being outside the scheme and 
retained in their entirety by the Council (or by the Council and the County 
Council).The Council is also able to retain the growth in the local share of 
business rates subject to the payment of a levy to central government 
designed to prevent disproportionate increases in the Council’s funding as a 
result of growth in business rates income.

4.13 A system of top-up and tariffs ensures the Council’s share of estimated 
business rates income (business rates baseline) does not exceed the level of 
funding to be provided through the business rates retention scheme (baseline 
funding). Tariffs, top-ups and baseline funding levels are indexed each year in 
line with the small business rates multiplier (usually set at the September 
RPI). Top-up, tariffs and baseline amounts have also been adjusted to ensure 
that the impact of the 2017 revaluation was revenue neutral for local 
authorities. The Council’s baseline funding for 2018-19 is £3.517m and the 
amount of tariff payable £7.135m. 

4.14 The amount of business rates income available to the Council’s general fund 
and taken into account when setting the budget is based on an estimate - 
made in January preceding the start of the financial year and included in the 
government return NNDR 1. This estimate of business rate income, reported 
in the government return NNDR 1, also determines how much the Council 
must pay to central government and the County Council during the course of 
the year.

4.15 The estimate of business rates income takes into account any projected 
changes in the tax base, estimated losses due to appeals and expected 
collection rates. The amounts paid to the county council and central 
government and the amount retained by the Council are fixed at the outset of 
each year (based on the estimates included in the Council’s NNDR 1return). 
As a consequence any difference between estimated amounts and the actual 
amounts receivable will result in a surplus, or deficit on the Council’s 
Collection Fund. An estimate must therefore be made by the Council of the 
surplus or deficit on the Collection Fund at the end of the previous financial 
year. This estimated amount is then shared between the Council, Cumbria 
County Council and central government and added (or subtracted) from each 
Authorities share of the following year’s non-domestic rating income. The 
estimated Collection Fund deficit at 31 March 2018 is £1,408,988. The 
Council’s share of this deficit is £563,595.

Page 170



4.16 A summary of the business rate income included in the 2018-19 budget is 
shown in table 4. 

Table 4: Estimated Business Rates (NNDR) funding 2018-19 
Funding Element £’000
Allerdale Share of NNDR Income 11,075
Renewable Energy disregard – retained by billing authority 557
Net tariff payable to Central Government (7,135)
Share of estimated Collection Fund deficit at 31 March 2018 (564)

3,933
Levy payable (net of reduction under pool arrangements) (516)
Section 31 grant 1,547

1,031
Total estimated income from Business Rates 4,964

4.17 As part of the business rates retention scheme, local authorities have the 
option of working with neighbouring authorities to seek formal designation as 
a pool which is treated as a single authority for the purpose of certain 
calculations under the scheme. This provides the opportunity to increase the 
amount of growth in the local share retained locally (through a reduction in the 
levy rate). Pooling also provides scope to manage the impact of volatility in 
rates income across a wider economic area.

4.18 After undertaking appropriate due diligence including modelling the individual 
position alongside the pool position the Authority entered into a formal pooling 
arrangement comprising Cumbria County Council and all six Cumbrian District 
councils.  A Cumbria Business Rates Pool has been in place since April 2014. 
Membership of the pool previously consisted of Cumbria County Council 
Allerdale Borough Council, Barrow Borough Council, Carlisle City Council, 
Cumbria County Council, Eden District Council and South Lakeland District 
Council. Membership of the pool has been extended in 2018-19 to include 
Copeland Borough Council.

4.19 In 2018-19 it is estimated that additional business rates income of £423k – 
that would otherwise have been paid to central government through the levy 
payment – will remain available to the Council’s general fund. 

4.20 The 2017 Budget and Autumn Statements (2013 – 2017) included various 
changes to the business rates system that affect the business rates income of 
local authorities. The following changes will affect the Council’s business rates 
income in 2018-19:

(i) permitting ratepayers receiving Small Business Rate Relief that take 
on an additional property to continue to receive their current relief for 
12 months) 

(ii) making permanent the doubling of small business rates relief from 1 
April 2017 and changing eligibility thresholds from 2017-18 

Page 171



(iii) providing discretionary relief of £1,500 in respect of the office space 
occupied by local newspapers

(iv) doubling rural rate relief; to be awarded through discretionary relief 
until such time as the Government can make the necessary changes 
to primary legislation.

(v) providing support to small businesses, facing large increases as a 
result of the loss of small business or rural rate relief, due to the 
revaluation. This relief took effect from 1st April 2017 for a period of 
5 years.

(vi) discretionary scheme administered by Billing Authorities, available to 
ratepayers facing large increases as a result of revaluation. This 
relief would take effect from 1st April 2017, for a period of 4 years

(vii) providing relief of up to £1,000 relief, to Pubs with a Rateable Value 
below £100,000, ratepayers facing large increases as a result of 
revaluation. This relief would take effect from 1st April 2018, for 1 
year. 

4.21 A central government grant under Section 31 of the Local Government Act 
2003 will be paid to authorities to compensate them for the ongoing loss of 
business rates income they suffer as a result of these changes. A grant is also 
paid to compensate local authorities for the ongoing loss of income they suffer 
as a result of past decisions made by Government to cap the increase in the 
small business multiplier and for the impact of the decision to use CPI rather 
than RPI to uprate the business rates multiplier from April 2018.

4.22 A reconciliation of the baseline funding contained in the 2018-19 local 
government finance settlement to the total estimated income from business 
rates is set out in table 5.

Table 5: Reconciliation of 2018-19 business rates income to baseline funding
Funding Element £’000
Baseline funding 3,517
Share of retained growth 939
Pool gains 423
Renewable Energy disregarded income retained by Authority 557
Share of Collection Fund Deficit (564)
s31 Grant on multiplier cap (excluded from growth/levy) 92
Total estimated income from Business Rates 4,964

Council tax 

4.23 Each year the Council must calculate the amount of revenue it needs to raise 
through council tax (the council tax requirement). Calculation of the council tax 
requirement is calculated based on the Authority’s estimates of: 

 the expenditure it will incur in the year less estimates of the income it 
will receive from government grants, business rates, fees and charges 
and interest and investment income 

Page 172



 allowances required for contingencies in relation to amounts to be 
charged or credited to revenue 

 the financial reserves it will be appropriate to raise in the year for 
meeting its estimated future expenditure, less

 the amount of the financial reserves that will be used in the financial 
year to meet expenditure.

4.24 The Authority’s council tax requirement must also take into account the 
amounts the Council is required to transfer during the year between its 
General Fund and Collection Fund in respect of its share of any surpluses or 
deficits on the Collection Fund for the previous year in respect of business 
rates and council tax.

4.25 The amount of council tax income available to the Council’s general fund in 
the financial year is fixed at the level determined when the council tax is set. 
This amount is paid out of the Council’s Collection Fund regardless of how 
much council tax is actually collected during the year. As a consequence if 
more council tax is collected than expected a surplus on the Collection Fund 
will arise; if less is collected, a deficit will result. Statutory provisions require 
the surplus or deficit on the council tax element of the collection fund for the 
previous year to be estimated on 15th January of that year. The estimated 
surplus/deficit on the Collection Fund is shared out – in accordance with 
statutory provisions - between the Council and the major precepting 
authorities (Cumbria County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Cumbria) in the following year and taken into account in the budget 
calculations for that year. 

4.26 The estimate of the collection fund surplus in respect of council tax at 31 
March 2018, to be distributed in 2018-19, is £696,200 of which Allerdale 
Borough Council’s share is £91,201.

Table 6: Allocation of collection fund surplus (council tax) at 31 March 2018
Share of 

surplus/(deficit)
£000

Cumbria County Council 516
Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner 89
Allerdale Borough Council 91
Total estimated surplus 696

Proposed council tax increase

4.27 The Council has the ability to set any level of council tax increase. However, 
whilst the Localism Act 2011 abolished Council Tax capping in England it 
introduced, in its place, a power for local electorates to approve or veto 
excessive council tax rises. Since 2012-13 an authority setting a council tax 
increase which exceeds principles endorsed by the House of Commons 
alongside the local government finance settlement (i.e. which is “excessive”) 

Page 173



will be required to hold a council tax referendum. The result of a council tax 
referendum is binding. 

4.28 For 2016-17 and 2017-18 the threshold level, above which council tax 
increases was considered excessive was set at 2% or more than £5 above 
the amount of council tax in previous year (whichever is higher). This 
threshold was also included in the technical consultation on the 2018-19 Local 
Government Finance Settlement issued by the Government in September. 
The Council’s budget consultation was therefore conducted on the 
assumption that the threshold that applied in 2017-18 would continue to apply 
in 2018-19. 

4.29 However, in the Provisional Finance Settlement the Government announced 
an increase in the referendum threshold. For shire district councils the 
threshold for 2018-19 was increased to 3% or up to and including £5, 
whichever is higher, to reflect the level of inflation. The £5 threshold applies to 
band D properties with proportionate increases being applied to properties in 
other council tax bands.

4.30 The Council therefore proposes to increases Council Tax by £5 on band D 
Properties, with proportionate increases being applied to properties, in other 
council tax bands. This equates to an increase equal to 3.19% across all 
council tax valuation bands.

Council tax base 

4.31 After calculating its council tax requirement each local authority then sets its 
basic amount of council tax (band D) at the level necessary to raise this 
amount, taking into account its likely collection rate. The basic amount council 
tax is calculated by reference to the Council’s council tax requirement and its 
council tax base.

4.32 The council tax base is the number of Band D equivalent dwellings in a local 
authority area. The tax base is therefore an estimate of the taxable capacity 
for the borough as a whole and for each parish area. To calculate the tax the 
number of dwellings in each council tax band is reduced to take account of 
discounts and exemptions. This includes reductions awarded under the 
Council’s Council Tax Reduction Scheme. The resulting figure for each 
property band is then multiplied by its proportion relative to Band D (from 6/9 
for Band A to 18/9 for Band H) and the total across all eight bands is 
calculated. An adjustment is then made for the collection rate.

4.33 The tax base for 2018-19 has been set at 30,359.94. This represents an 
increase of 0.6% on the 2017-18 tax base of 30,183.13.

4.34 Council tax raised on behalf of parish and town councils (‘Parish Precepts) are 
incorporated into the Council’s general fund budget and council tax 
requirement.  Details of parish precepts for 2018-19 are set out in Appendix B.

Page 174



Grant to Parish Councils re Local Support for Council Tax

4.35 Under the Welfare Reform Act 2012, Council Tax benefit paid to low income 
households was abolished from 1st April 2013. In its place, all Billing 
Authorities were required to put in place a Local Support for Council Tax 
scheme (LSCT),which is a discount scheme (similar to single person 
discounts but with variable rates of discount depending on individual 
circumstances). The changes introduced by the 2012 Act also necessitated 
amendments to the way in which the Council Tax base is calculated.

4.36 Prior to 2014-15, funding for Council Tax Support schemes was separately 
identifiable in the formula grant settlement. However, since 2014-15 this 
funding has been “rolled up” into the Council’s Revenue Support Grant which 
has subsequently been scaled back and hence the amount of grant available 
to pass onto parishes continues to reduce.

4.37 MHCLG has continued to stress that it is for each local authority to determine 
how the funding to Town and Parish councils is allocated. Whilst there are no 
plans to make the redistribution of these monies compulsory, the Government 
is expecting some funding to be allocated to parishes. As this Authority’s 
revenue budget continues to come under pressure from reductions in Central 
Government funding, the level of redistributed to parishes also needs to be 
reviewed.

4.38 The MHCLG’s preferred approach to funding local precepting authorities in 
relation to local council tax support schemes is through a voluntary 
arrangement whereby billing and local precepting authorities agree the 
amount of funding, allocated initially to billing authorities, to be passed down 
to local precepting authorities.

4.39 In 2017-18 the amount of CTRS grant funding passed to Town and Parish 
Councils was reduced from £61,997 to £41,332. In 2018-19 it is proposed 
that: 

 the budget for CTRS grant is set at £20,666; the reduction of £20,665 
reflecting the previously agreed phased withdrawal of funding in 
response to the reductions in Central Government grant received by 
the Council 

 the grant to be redistributed is allocated based on the indicative 
council tax discount entitlements included in calculation of the 
Council’s Council Tax Base.

4.40 The proportionate share of the £20,666 grant allocated to individual Parish 
and Town Councils is summarised in Appendix A to this report.

4.41 Members are requested to approve the allocation of this grant to Parish 
Councils. The grant will be paid as part of the normal precept funding to 
Parish & Town Councils. Members are also requested to note that 2018-19 

Page 175



will be the final year that CTRS grant will be paid to parish and town 
councils.

5. Determination of the council’s net budget (budget requirement)

5.1 Preparation of the council’s 2018-19 net revenue budget begins with a roll 
forward of the 2017-18 recurring base budget (£11,932k). This figure is then 
adjusted to accommodate:

 changes to salary costs including the impact of pay awards, 
incremental pay increases and changes to establishment 

 recurring growth and savings;
 self-sufficiency savings, and
 non-recurring growth and savings - i.e. those required for the current 

year only. 

5.2 The key the assumptions / parameters adopted as part of this budget are to:-
 prioritise delivery of the council plan with a strong emphasis on 

supporting economic growth to support our self-sufficiency plans
 continue to identify areas where efficiencies, can be made
 increase income from fees and charges in line with the Council’s  

charging policy
 increase the base budget to reflect inflationary in line with our 

contractual commitments based on the relevant measure of inflation 
 not to apply a general inflationary uplift to non-pay expenditure  in 

order to drive further efficiencies
 cost salary expenditure based on revised structures and continue to 

allow for a 2% reduction to accommodate staff turnover during the 
year;  

 increase expected income from Council tax based on an increase of 
by £5 p.a. on band D Properties, with proportionate increases being 
applied to properties, in other council tax bands is approved. 

5.3 The Council’s net revenue budget (budget requirement) for 2018-19 is shown 
in table 7. 

Page 176



Table 7: 2018-19 Revenue Budget
2018-19 Reference

£000
Base Budget 11,932
Change in salary costs 135 5.7
Recurring growth 526 5.8/Appendix D
Recurring savings (676) 5.9/Appendix D
Self-sufficiency savings (422) 5.10
Recurring (base) budget 11,495
Non-recurring growth 1,102 5.13/Appendix E
Non-recurring savings (17) 5.15/Appendix E

12,580
Expenditure on earmarked priorities 1,066 Appendix I
Proposed Budget (excluding parish precepts) 13,646
Parish precepts 2,024 Appendix B
Proposed Budget (including parish precepts) 15,670
Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (1,066) Appendix I
Net Budget Requirement 14,604

5.4 The Council’s net budget requirement is funded as follows:

Table 8: 2018-19 Revenue Funding 
2018-19 Paragraph

£000
Revenue support grant 652 4.4
Rural Services Delivery Grant 325 4.6
Other government grants (New Homes Bonus) 1,004 4.8
Council tax – excluding parish element 5,100 4.23
Council tax – parish element 2,024
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 91 4.26
NNDR funding 5,528 4.12
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - NNDR (564) 4.12
Use of /(contribution to) General fund Balances 444
Total funding 14,604

5.5 The draft net expenditure for 2018-19, excluding parish precepts and spend 
on earmarked priorities (met from the use of earmarked reserves) is £12,580k.  
This compares with a total of £12,715k for 2017-18 (revised budget).  A 
summary of the changes underlying the movement between the 2017-18 
(revised budget) and the proposed 2018-19 budget is set out in Appendix F.

5.6 A breakdown of the Revenue Budget for 2018-19 by Executive member 
portfolio is set out in Appendix C. 

Page 177



Change in salary costs - £135k

5.7 This is the total increase required to cover a number of changes in the salary 
budgets. These changes include the cost of the nationally agreed pay award, 
the cost of annual increments due and changes to staffing structures 

Recurring growth - £526k

5.8 Details of recurring growth bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised in table 9:

Table 9: Recurring growth bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Parks & Grounds Maintenance: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary 
increase) 24

Street Cleansing: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase)  25

Domestic Waste: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 36

Trade Waste: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6

Recycling: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 31

Off-street Car Parks - Owned: Increase in NNDR costs 74
Sports & Leisure Centres: Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25
Sports & Leisure Centres: Scheduled reduction in contribution received 
from GLL to compensate the Council for additional revenue financing costs 
associated with improvement works at Cockermouth Sports centre

22

Fleet management: Increase on the annual cost of Allerdale Fleet to reflect 
current vehicles lease costs 11

Asset Transfer: Increase in budget to bring Community assets up to a 
transferable state 50

Banking & Interest: Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of 
additional PWLB loans expected to be drawn down in 2017-18 and the part 
year cost of additional loans expected to be drawn down in 2018-19 

82

Minimum Revenue Provision: Increase in MRP charge associated with 
unfinanced capital expenditure incurred prior to 1 April 2018 65

Revenues: Reduction in recovery of court costs reflecting improvements to 
collections and arrears as a result of increased choice of payment methods, 
improved take up of Council Tax direct debits and more targeted recovery 
action

20

IT Services: Increase in existing budget to accommodate renewal of 
software licences to enable continued usage of Office 365, Microsoft 
Enterprise Mobility Solutions and Azure Premium Products, as well as a 
number of tools used to support the remainder of the on-premise IT 
infrastructure

35

Council tax discounts: Discretionary council tax discount for care leavers 3
AONB: Increase in match funding related to annual DEFRA grant 2
Second Homes Grant: Revision to second homes grant income from 
Cumbia County Council 15

Total recurring growth bids 526

Page 178



Recurring savings – (£676k)

5.9 Details of recurring savings bids included as adjustment to the Council’s base 
budget are summarised below:

Table 10: Recurring savings bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Bereavement Services: Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and 
charges 

(5)

Trade Waste: Increase in net income to reflect current trends in income, 
increases in fees and charges and expected growth in customer numbers

(32)

Recycling Services: Increase in net income from recycling credits and sale 
of recycled materials

(3)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks: Increase in pay and display income to reflect 
increases in fees and charges (35)

Carnegie Trust: Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)
Building control (chargeable): Increase in Building Regulations fees (25)
Planning and Development: Increase planning fee income (49)
Planning and Development: Reduction in consultancy costs (15)
Town Centres: Reduction to budget for town centre environmental projects (30)
Insurances: Reduction in insurance premiums  (38)
Environmental Protection: Reduction in expenditure associated with private 
water supplies risk assessments (Programme will be completed in 2017-18 in 
accordance with the Private Water Supply Regulations)

(6)

Gypsy & Travellers: General reduction in budget (10)
Assistance - Housing Services: Increase in fees (net of additional pay 
costs) levied in connection with the award of Disabled Facilities, Discretionary 
and Empty Homes grants 

(30)

Referral Centre:  Reduction in support required by Referral centre for victims 
of sexual assault (15)

Revenues & Benefits: Reduction in cost of housing benefit payments (net of 
subsidy payments received) (14)

Multi- Storey Car Park (MSCP): Reduction in MSCP net operating budget (75)
Property services: Reduction in operational property maintenance budget (30)
Footway lights: Reduction in footway lighting utility and maintenance budget (13)
Public Conveniences: Reduction in budget for repair, facility and utilities of 
public toilets (25)

Electoral Registration: Reduction to budget for printing and postage costs (10)
Apprenticeships: Reduction to salary budget for apprentices (25)
Economic Regeneration: Moot Hall, Hadrians Wall & Cumbria Tourism 
costs to be met from the tourism budget (30)

Economic Regeneration: Reduction in recurring Economic Regeneration 
(partnership services) budget (10)

Corporate Management: Reduction in external audit fees (10)

Page 179



Bid Detail Bid
£000

Camping and Caravan site Keswick: Uplift in lease rental income to reflect 
increase in revenue received by the site operator following completion of site 
improvements 

(119)

Total of service bids with an individual value <10k  (7)

Total recurring savings bids (676)

Self - sufficiency savings (£422k)

5.10 The 2018-19 budget is set within the context of the Council’s Medium-Term 
Financial Plan (see Appendix J). This shows that, in order for the Council to 
remain financially sustainable and continue to meet its statutory obligation to 
deliver a balanced budget it will need to address a funding deficit of 
approximately £2.6m over the period 2018-19 to 2020-21. These savings are 
in addition to delivering the self-sufficiency savings (£422k) and other 
recurring savings included in the proposed 2018-19 budget.

5.11 The Council’s self- sufficiency programme includes the delivery of targeted 
reductions (recurring savings) in the Councils base budget of £422k in 2018-
19 (summarised in Table 11 below).

Table 11: 2018-19 Self Sufficiency Savings Target
2018-19

Service
£000

Economic Growth
Economic Development Initiatives (60)
Operational Efficiencies
IT Services (30)
Planning and Development (20)
Sports & Leisure Centres (87)
Service Delivery
Corporate & Service Reviews (175)
Town and parish transfers (50) 
Total self-sufficiency savings (422)

Non-recurring growth/savings

5.12 There are a number of bids that are non-recurring, i.e. they are required for 
one year only, and therefore will not directly impact on the base budget . 
These are summarised in the following tables:

Non-recurring growth - £1,102k

5.13 The non-recurring growth bids included in the Council’s net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 12:

Page 180



Table 12: Non-Recurring growth bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Shop Front Improvements: Continuation of the existing town centre 
improvement scheme for a further year. 50

IT Services: One-off cost of renewing of software licensing, maintenance 
and support for firewalls and IT security appliances for a further 3 years 17

IT Services: Replacement of existing data storage equipment and software 20
Supporting Leisure Activities: Support for Wigton Baths 15
Strategic Priorities: Budget provision to meet revenue costs associated 
with the development and delivery of major capital projects, procurement 
activities and other tasks connected with the delivery of strategic priorities 

1,000

Total non-recurring growth bids 1,102

5.14 In addition to the items identified above the Council holds a central 
contingency budget for unquantifiable risks. The contingency balance held for 
2018-19 is £111,780.

Non- recurring savings - (£17k)

5.15 Details of non-recurring saving bids included in the Councils net budget 
requirement are summarised in table 13.

Table 13: Non-recurring savings bids 2018-19
BidBid Detail £000

Community Safety: Reduction in £10k annual funding to Cumbria 
Community Safety Partnership 

(10)

Homelessness: Homeless Reduction Act new burdens grant (net of 
expenditure associated with the additional duties contained within the 
Homelessness Reduction Act)  

(7)

Total non-recurring savings bids (17)

Page 181



6. Capital budget

6.1 Capital expenditure includes the acquisition and construction of non-current 
assets, such as land and buildings, which have a useful life in excess of 12 
months as well as expenditure on additions to or enhancement of existing 
non-current assets. It also includes items such as grants towards capital 
expenditure incurred by third parties (for example Disabled Facilities Grants). 

6.2 The following paragraphs set out the Council’s proposed capital programme 
for 2018-19 and the following two financial years (2019-20 and 2020-21) 
together with a summary of how this expenditure will be financed. 

6.3 Capital expenditure may also impact on the Council’s revenue budget. Where 
this is the case the revenue implications of capital expenditure are dealt with 
as part of the Revenue Budget process. Examples of the revenue implications 
of capital expenditure include:

 increases/decreases in operating costs, e.g. utilities, maintenance, staff 
costs or increased income from new or enhanced assets.

 the requirement to set aside from the General Fund an annual amount 
(the Minimum Revenue Provision), to meet the capital cost of 
expenditure funded from borrowing or other credit arrangements 

 increased finance costs, either by way of interest on borrowing or the 
loss of income on investment balances, used to fund capital 
expenditure.

Financing the capital programme 

6.4 Resources available to finance capital expenditure include:
 Capital receipts (usable proceeds from asset sales)
 Grants and contributions from third parties
 Direct financing from revenue. 

6.5 Capital expenditure that is not financed up-front from these resources will 
increase the Council’s underlying need to borrow, as measured by the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). The Council’s underlying borrowing is not 
necessarily the same as its actual borrowing position. The level of external 
debt will be determined in accordance with the Council’s treasury 
management strategy and practices. As a consequence an increase in the 
Council’s underlying borrowing position will not necessarily mean a 
corresponding increase in the amount of external borrowing.

Page 182



6.7 Statutory provisions set out the purposes to which the Council can apply its 
available capital receipts. The uses specified in regulations include:

 to meet capital expenditure in the current year

 to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with capital 
expenditure not financed from capital receipts, grants or revenue 

 to pay a premium charged in relation to any amount borrowed

 to meet the administrative costs of or incidental to a disposal of an 
asset.

6.8 Capital receipts and grants received to date together with (capital) grant 
funding  allocations for 2018-19 have been fully committed to support the 
Council’ s capital programme.

6.9 In accordance with the Codes of Practice published by the Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy and good professional practice, capital 
receipts received in 2018-19 and subsequent years will only applied to fund 
new (capital) priorities where – after carrying out option appraisals and whole 
life costings - it can be demonstrated this offers better value for money to the 
Council when compared with alternative uses. Alternative uses include their 
application to reduce the underlying borrowing requirement associated with 
past expenditure. 

Proposed capital programme

6.10 The proposed capital programme covering 2018-19 and following two financial 
years is summarised in table 14. A detailed summary of individual schemes 
included in the proposed three year capital programme is included in 
Appendix G.

6.11 As well as the proposed capital programme, the current administration is 
continuing with its ambitions to make sustainable improvements to the 
borough and the lives of the residents.  The Council recognises that it is likely 
to need significant investment to advance the priorities and ambitions being 
identified and is exploring the possibility of significant infrastructure projects 
with could add £30 million to the capital programme.

6.12 These schemes will all need to follow the principles as set out in the new 
Capital Investment Strategy and full business cases will need to be submitted 
and approved before the schemes are recommended for inclusion in the 
capital budget.   Please refer to the Capital Investment Strategy report which 
is a separate item on this agenda for further details on this.

6.13 It is envisaged that this will be a major commitment for this Council and that a 
commitment to working with both the private sector and other public sector 
bodies to identify new funding streams will play a significant role in the future.  

Page 183



6.14 Should the council be unable to secure the levels of external funding required 
to proceed with these schemes, then it will also explore the option to increase 
borrowing.

6.15 The financial implications of these potential schemes will be incorporated into 
the Treasury Strategy and Budgets as and when the scheme business cases 
are given full approval.

Table 14: Proposed Capital Programme & methods of financing
Proposed Budget 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total
£000 £000 £000 £000

Gross expe nditure1 :
Housing, Health & Wellbeing 1,638 2,150 2,000 5,788
Tourism & Culture 1,250 0 0 1,250
Localities & Environmental Quality 465 150 0 615
Transformation 40 40 40 120
Economic Growth 11,200 0 0 11,200
Total Expenditure 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
Financed by:
External funding sources:
Disabled Facilities Grant (Better Care Fund)  1,358 1,000 1,000 3,358
Single Capital Pot (SCP) Housing grant 30 33 0 63
ERDF grant 1,500 0 0 1,500
LEP Growth Deal funding 4,800 0 0 4,800
Solway Pathways grants 1,250 0 0 1,250
Other grants and contributions 105 0 0 105
ABC resources:
General Fund/Revenue contribution 4 0 0 4
Earmarked Reserves   16 0 0 16
Capital Receipts 0 0 0 0
Unfinanced expenditure (borrowing) 5,530 1,307 1,040 7,877
Total financing 14,593 2,340 2,040 18,973
1  Gross expenditure does not include any proposed budget carry forwards from the approved 2017-18 

capital programme; these requests will form part of the Capital Outturn Report.

6.16 The proposed capital programme for the three year period to March 2021 
includes the following changes to the existing three year rolling capital 
programme:

Page 184



Table 15: Summary of changes to existing capital programme 
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21
£000 £000 £000 Para

Gross expenditure
Previously approved capital programme (2017/18 
revised budget) 15,266 2,190 0 -

Previously approved recurring capital expenditure 
programme (IT replacement) 0 0 40 -

Re-profiling of previously approved expenditure (1,000) 0 1,000 6.18
Capital growth & savings bids submitted for 
approval 327 150 1,000 6.20

Proposed capital programme 2018/19 to 2020/21 14,593 2,340 2,040

6.17 A detailed reconciliation of the proposed 2018-19 capital budget to the revised 
2017-18 capital budget is included in Appendix H.

Re-profiling adjustments 

6.18 Re-profiling adjustments involve the transfer of previously agreed budgets and 
associated financing across financial years from 2018-19 to 2020-21 to reflect 
current expenditure forecasts. 

Table 16: Re-profiling adjustments 
2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

£000 £000 £000 Para
Gross expenditure
Healthy Homes (1,000) 0 1,000 6.13
Total re-profiling adjustment (1,000) 0 1,000
Financed by:
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) (1,000) 0 1,000 6.13

(1,000) 0 1,000

Healthy Homes

6.19 The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. This budget was 
originally allocated to deliver key objectives within the Housing Strategy 
including securing improvements to sub-standard homes on an individual, 
block or area basis.  The Council is currently undertaking a number of 
economic development studies which are also relevant to the Healthy Homes 
scheme. Pending completion of these studies work on delivering the Healthy 
Homes programme has been deferred to enable the findings from these 
studies to be considered. To reflect this deferral the previously agreed budget 
of £1m allocated to 2018-19 has moved to 2020-21. No changes are 
proposed to the previously agreed budget of £1m in 2019-20.

Page 185



Capital Growth and Savings 

6.20 A number of new capital expenditure bids have been submitted for approval 
as part of the 2018-19 budget setting process. These are summarised in table 
17. 

Table 17: Summary of Capital Bids 
Financial year 

2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 Total bid
Capital Scheme £000 £000 £000 £000 Para
DFG - Mandatory Grants 750 750 6.16
DFG - Discretionary Grants 89 250 339 6.16
Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 100 100 6.18
Securing Affordable Homes (20) (20) 6.20
Harrington Reservoir 8 8 6.22
Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150 150 300 6.23

327 150 1,000 1,477
Financed by:
DFG Housing Grant 89 0 1,000 1,089
SCP Housing Grant (20) 20 0
Other grants & contributions (12) (12)
Earmarked reserves 16 16
Revenue 4 4
Borrowing (unfinanced expend.) 250 130 380

327 150 1,000 1,477

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG)

6.21 The DGF programme involves the provisions of grant support to cover the 
cost of housing adaptations to enable people to stay living in their own home 
for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty to provide adaptations to the 
homes of disabled people who qualify for a mandatory DFG. Expenditure on 
DFGs is fully funded from an annual grant from central government. This grant 
is paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding allocations 
and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing DFGs. 

6.22 Pending confirmation of the Authority’s grant funding allocation for 2018-19, 
budgeted expenditure for 2018-19 has been set at £1,358k, based on the 
grant income allocation and forecasted expenditure in 2017-18. This figure 
includes a growth adjustment of £89k to align the proposed expenditure 
budget with the estimated funding available. For 2019/20 and 2020/21 
budgeted expenditure on DFGs has been set, provisionally at £1m. These 
estimates will be revised to align with funding allocations once these are 
known. This will ensure that budget expenditure continues to reflect available 
funding.

Page 186



Healthy Homes – Empty Homes (£100k growth bid)

6.23 The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. The 2016-17 capital 
budget included an allocation of £200k to support the introduction of a Home 
Improvement programme and extend the existing grant scheme to install 
central heating systems in homes that currently have no heating. This was 
accompanied by a budget of £1m in each of the three subsequent years 
(2017-18 to 2019-20).

6.24 As noted above the previously agreed budget allocation of £1m for 2018-19 is 
no longer required. The current budget of £50k (allocated to support bring 
empty homes back into use) comprises £100k unspent budget brought 
forward from 2016-17 less a re-profiling adjustment of £50k included in the 
revised 2017-18 budget to move £50k from 2017-18 to 2018-19. A growth bid 
of £100k will bring the budget for 2018-19 to £150k. This will be used to 
provide grant support to enable empty homes to be brought back into use. 
Expenditure on this scheme is unfinanced and will be met from borrowing.  

Securing Affordable Homes ( £20k reduction in budget)

6.25 As part of the 2016-17 capital programme a budget of £50k was approved for 
2016-17 and each of the three subsequent  years. This budget was targeted 
at providing grant support to assist registered housing providers to improve 
housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be sold. It was 
anticipated that there would be 5 grants provided each year based on prior 
experience.  However the Council has received fewer requests for disposals 
than was initially anticipated.

6.26 It is therefore proposed that the previously agreed budget for 2018-19 of £50k 
is reduced by £20k to £30k. Combined with the expected carry-forward of 
£20k from 2017-18 this will bring the total available budget for 2018-19 to 
£50k and allow the scheme to continue as originally planned. Expenditure on 
this scheme over the two year period 2018-19 to 2019-20 (excluding the 
expected budget carry forward) will be funded from grants (£63,000) and 
borrowing (£17,000).

Harrington Reservoir (£8k growth bid)

6.27 The scheme - approved during the 2017-18 budget cycle - involves restoration 
works at Harrington Reservoir Local Nature Reserve.  The scheme 
expenditure of £175k includes and adjustment of £8k to update previous 
expenditure estimates following completion of a tendering exercise for the 
required works. The scheme will be partially financed from external grants and 
contributions totalling £105k and £20k from Revenue (£4k) and Earmarked 
Revenue Reserves (£16k). The remaining unfinanced expenditure of £50k will 
be met from borrowing. 

Page 187



Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes (£300k growth bid)

6.28 A capital bid of £300k has been submitted as part of the 2018-19 budget 
proposals to enhance the quality of the public realm in the vicinity of Brow 
Top, Workington, transform the Central Way underpass and develop vacant 
land immediately to the west of the Leisure Centre to create a dedicated 
events and activity area. The proposed budget, which will be funded from 
borrowing, includes:

 £125k (£25k of which is expected to be incurred in 2018/19 and £100k 
in 2019/20) to support a redesign of the Central Way Underpass

 £100k for public realm enhancement works in the Brow Top and 
Derwent Street, including new paving and fencing, alleviation of surface 
drainage problems, the creation of new landscaped seating area and 
comprehensive signage replacement

 £75k to develop vacant land adjacent to the Workington Leisure Centre 
as an events and activities space.

Financing of capital expenditure

6.29 Capital Expenditure in 2018-19 will be partly financed from:
 capital grants and contributions of £9,043k (£11,076k for the three year 

period 2018-19 to 2020-21)
 Earmarked reserves and revenue contributions (£20k – 2018-19 only)

6.30 The remaining capital expenditure, £5.53m in 2018-19 and £7.88m in total 
across the three year period 2018-19 to 2020-21, is unfinanced and will be 
funded from borrowing. Borrowing will be undertaken in accordance with the 
Councils Treasury Management Strategy, either through additional PWLB 
loans or by using cash and investment balances (internal borrowing).

6.31 The revenue implications of this unfinanced expenditure including the 
amounts chargeable to the general fund in respect of the associated minimum 
revenue provision and interest costs on additional external loans is included in 
the revenue budgets for 2018-19 and subsequent years. 

6.32 Details of all schemes included in the proposed three year capital programme 
2018-19 to 2020-21 are set out in appendix G. 

Page 188



7. Budget Assurance statement from the Chief Financial Officer

7.1 Section 25 of the local Government Act 2003 places a duty on the chief 
financial officer (Head of Financial Services) to make a report to the Council 
on the robustness of budget estimates and the adequacy of the Council’s 
reserves.  The Council must have regard to this report when making its 
decisions about budgets and council tax for the forthcoming year.  This is 
because the Council is setting the council tax before the commencement of 
the year and cannot increase it during the year.   It is therefore important that 
there is an understanding of the risks of increased expenditure or reduced 
income during the year.

Robustness of Estimates

7.2 The budget estimates for 2018-19 have been prepared by appropriately 
qualified and experienced staff in consultation with the service managers.  All 
the budgets have been scrutinised by the Corporate Leadership Team with 
the relevant Portfolio Holder and the whole process has been properly 
managed by the Senior Management Team.

7.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee (Task and Finish Group) has also 
reviewed the budget process and the draft budget position at their meetings 
during November and December 2017 and February 2018.

7.4 Budgets for staff pay in 2018-19 allow for incremental progression and for a 
pay award of 2%.  The budgets also include a 2% reduction for staff turnover.  
Contractual inflation has been built in, but in order to drive further efficiencies 
no other inflation has been provided for on expenditure.

7.5 Income levels have been subject to regular review at the Commercial Board 
and prudent estimates have been made.  Fees and charges have been 
increased for inflation where appropriate and volatile budgets will continue to 
be closely monitored.

7.6 The advice of the Council’s treasury management advisers has been taken 
into account in estimating investment income and borrowing costs.  The 
Council will continue to monitor financial markets closely.

7.7 The announcement in the Local Government settlement that Cumbria was not 
awarded status to pilot 100% business rates retention was disappointing.  
However, we are now part of a Cumbria wide Business Rates Pool and we will 
continue to monitor our position in the Pool carefully and look at further 
opportunities to pilot 100% retention should they arise.

7.8 The Council has identified its key corporate risks and continues to monitor 
these regularly.  There is an increased risk of retaining adequate reserves for 
unforeseen circumstances, due to the potential impact of the proposed 
business rates baseline reset and the Fair Funding review.  This is making 
forecasting the medium term financial position beyond 2019/20 particularly 

Page 189



difficult.  Additional monitoring has been put in place to ensure early 
recognition of additional losses.

7.9 Reductions in our government grant have continued.  Our self-sufficiency 
plans have worked well to date in helping us to deal with the funding 
challenges and to reduce our recurring base budget.  We now know that by 
2019-20 we will be wholly reliant on Council Tax and locally retained Business 
Rates. 

7.10 This means that we will need to focus on Growth to ensure that we are a self-
funded Council with additional income streams from investments and selling 
services 

Adequacy of Reserves

7.11 In the current climate it is essential that the Council maintains reserves to deal 
with the unexpected, such as continued spending pressures or further 
reductions in income.

7.12 The Council’s financial strategy has been to maintain the strength of the 
balance sheet to provide resilience in the challenging financial environment, 
whilst reducing the recurring net cost base.

7.13 The Executive has previously agreed to deploy balances to meet priorities 
and this budget continues to ensure funds are set aside for these and to focus 
on creating economic growth and development. This spend has been taken 
into consideration when looking at the adequacy of general fund balances.

7.14 Given the increased level of financial risks due to the localisation of business 
rates, then there is a case for retaining higher levels of balances.  The current 
minimum level of balances of £2.7 million is still therefore considered to be 
prudent. 

7.15 A summary of the expected movement in the general fund reserves over the 
period covered by the Councils medium term financial plan remaining is 
shown in table 18.

Page 190



Table 18: Estimated General Fund balances 

 
2017-181

£000
2018-19

£000
2019-20

£000
2020-21

£000
Opening Balance at 1 April 5,099 4,446 4,002 3,322
Add: transfer (to)/from Earmarked Reserves 0 0 0 0
Less: Use to finance 2017/18 Capital 
Programme (including carry-forwards) (730) 0 0 0

Less: budgeted use of GF to support 2017-18 
Revenue Budget 0 0 0 0

Forecast revenue Outturn variance 77

Less: Use to fund 2018-19 Revenue Budget 0 (444) 0 0

Less: Use to fund 2018-19 Capital Budget 0 0 0 0

Less: Projected Revenue Deficit per MTFP2 0 (680) (2,645)

Projected Balance at 31 March 4,446 4,002 3,322 677

Retained - Minimum Balance (2,700) (2,700) (2,700) (2,700)

Available for use 1,746 1,302 622 -
1 Based on revised 2017/18 budget;    2 net of planned transfers to Earmarked Reserves 

7.16 In addition to general fund balances the Council also holds Earmarked 
Reserve balances. These have largely been created from under spends and 
additional income received in previous years and have been set aside for 
specific purposes. They include a balance of £1,083k set aside to provide 
protection against the potential volatility of NNDR income under the business 
rates retention scheme.

7.17 These reserves are reviewed on a monthly basis to ensure they are applied in 
line with corporate priorities. A detailed breakdown of the remaining 
earmarked reserves is included at Appendix I.

8. Conclusions 

8.1 The proposed total revenue expenditure for 2018-19 including Parish precepts 
is £15,670k. This includes expenditure of £1,066k that will be funded from 
earmarked reserves. This results in a net budget requirement of £14,604k.

8.2 The proposed three year capital budget (2018-19 to 2020-21) is £18,973k 
comprising expenditure of £14,592k in 2018-19, £2,340k in 2019-20 and 
£2,040k in 2020-21. It is proposed this is funded by following resources:

 Grants and contributions…. £11,076k  
 Earmarked reserves……… £16k
 Revenue contributions…… £4k
 Borrowing…………………...£7,877k  

Page 191



8.3 The Council has seen unprecedented reductions in Government funding since 
the Comprehensive Spending Review 2010.  Coupled with the impact of 
service pressures and increased demand for some services this has meant 
the Council has had to make significant budget savings.

8.4 In order to strengthen our financial position we recognise that we will have to 
consider other ways to generate income and be self-sufficient.  This will 
include changes in local taxation, fees and charges and trading activities as 
well as supporting and prioritising economic growth within the Borough.

8.5 The Council has responded in a systematic and planned way and we will 
continue with this strategy.  In order to avoid cuts to frontline services we will 
explore alternative service delivery options to ensure that we continue to be fit 
for purpose.

8.6 Our future focus will be on economic growth as we recognise that investment 
in growth supports both our residents and businesses.

Catherine Nicholson

Head of Financial Services

Appendices 
Appendix A Council tax support for parishes
Appendix B Parish precepts
Appendix C Budget analysed by portfolio
Appendix D 2018-19 recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.
Appendix E 2018-19 non-recurring growth & savings bids – summary by portfolio.
Appendix F Movement in revenue budget 2017-18 (revised) to 2018-19 (original).
Appendix G Three year capital budget 2018-19 to 2020-21 - summary by portfolio
Appendix H Reconciliation of 2018-19 capital budget to revised 2017-18 capital budget
Appendix I Summary of Earmarked Reserves by portfolio
Appendix J Medium Term Financial Plan
Appendix K Summary of Consultation responses

Page 192



Appendix A

Council Tax Support for Parishes

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

Parish
Council Tax

Support
Grant

£ £
Above Derwent 112.34 Greysouthen 67.54
Aikton 21.60 Hayton & Mealo 41.41
Allerby & Oughterside 137.00 Holme Abbey 149.72
Allhallows 88.36 Holme East Waver 16.61
Allonby 111.88 Holme Low 62.69
Aspatria 822.39 Holme St Cuthbert 32.49
Bassenthwaite 29.33 Ireby & Uldale 25.63
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Keswick 939.35
Blennerhassett & Torpenhow 53.49 Kirkbampton 28.74
Blindbothel 0.00 Kirkbride 79.58
Blindcrake 31.80 Little Clifton 92.25
Boltons 70.74 Lorton 27.45
Borrowdale 9.93 Loweswater 22.56
Bothel & Threapland 65.71 Maryport 3,678.59
Bowness on Solway 122.45 Papcastle 30.11
Bridekirk 35.51 Plumbland 49.83
Brigham 119.07 Seaton 656.37
Bromfield 49.01 Sebergham 22.15
Broughton 304.71 Setmurthy 7.73
Broughton Moor 161.67 Silloth-on-Solway 739.00
Buttermere 1.51 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 39.49
Caldbeck 44.16 Thursby 165.56
Camerton 27.68 Underskiddaw 23.75
Cockermouth 1,372.83 Waverton 36.33
Crosscanonby 192.51 Westnewton 22.56
Dean 71.80 Westward 36.24
Dearham 382.39 Wigton 1,194.73
Dundraw 23.34 Winscales 27.41
Embleton 12.63 Woodside 41.37
Gilcrux 26.08 Workington 7,460.28
Great Clifton 346.40 Wythop 0.00

Total 20,665.84

Page 193



Appendix B

Parish Precepts 2018-19

Parish Precept Parish Precept

£ £
Above Derwent 26,741.65 Holme Abbey 12,570.27 *
Aikton 4,678.40 Holme East Waver 6,500.00
Allerby & Oughterside 10,436.00 Holme Low 1,937.31
Allhallows 9,411.64 Holme St Cuthbert 4,967.51
Allonby 9,888.12 Ireby & Uldale 6,529.37
Aspatria 64,869.06 Keswick 246,700.00
Bassenthwaite 7,350.00 Kirkbampton 8,471.26
Bewaldeth & Snittlegarth 0.00 Kirkbride 9,700.00
Blennerhassett& Torpenhow 10,396.50 Little Clifton 7,407.75
Blindbothel 3,400.00 Lorton 5,472.54
Blindcrake 3,367.19 Loweswater 2,477.44
Boltons 5,029.25 Maryport 194,459.97
Borrowdale 6,205.50 Papcastle 9,954.89
Bothel & Threapland 5,434.29 Plumbland 5,200.17
Bowness on Solway 18,784.00 Seaton 56,146.98
Bridekirk 6,464.49 * Sebergham 4,950.00
Brigham 9,879.93 Setmurthy 588.55
Bromfield 5,950.90 Silloth-on-Solway 170,149.00
Broughton 16,241.50 St Johns,Castlerigg & Wythburn 8,087.08
Broughton Moor 16,038.33 Thursby 21,738.33
Buttermere 1,426.49 Underskiddaw 6,102.25
Caldbeck 11,855.84 Waverton 2,150.00
Camerton 800.00 Westnewton 5,227.44
Cockermouth 193,012.00 Westward 6,963.76
Crosscanonby 14,000.00 Wigton 183,975.27
Dean 11,928.20 Winscales 3,972.59
Dearham 29,117.61 Woodside 5,947.13
Dundraw 1,726.66 Workington 482,933.00
Embleton 4,883.87 Wythop 1,038.64
Gilcrux 8,773.91
Great Clifton 9,653.60
Greysouthen 9,932.46
Hayton & Mealo 4,058.58

Total 2,024,054.47

Change in Precept

   Precept 2017-18 1,913,535     Precept 2018-19 2,024,054
   % Change in Precept 5.78%

* estimated 

Page 194



SUMMARY OF BUDGET BY PORTFOLIO

Portfolio

Net

2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring Salary
Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings One-off Growth One-off

Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

REVENUE
Leader of the Council 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 1,108,515
Economic Growth (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 50,000 (244,679) 50,000 0 0 (1,458,027)
Corporate Resources 4,696,224 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 0 5,809,837
Housing, Health & Well-being 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 0 881,170
Locality & Environmental Quality 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 253,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 0 2,934,007
Governance & People Resources 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 0 1,295,092
Tourism & Culture 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 0 246,465
Transformation 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 0 1,763,322

Revenue Sub Total 11,932,565 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 12,580,381

Parish Precepts 2,024,054 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,024,054

Total Revenue 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 0 14,604,435

RESERVE  FUNDED PROJECTS
Leader of the Council 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192,804 192,804

A
ppendix C

Economic Growth 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742
Corporate Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,915 118,915
Housing, Health & Well being 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 438,437 438,437
Locality & Commercial Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,695 62,695
Governance & People Resources 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168,790 168,790
Tourism & Culture 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098
Transformation 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,066,481 1,066,481

Total 13,956,619 (422,500) 135,405 526,429 (676,002) 1,101,484 (17,000) 1,066,481 15,670,916

P
age 195



PORTFOLIO : LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Grants to Voluntary Organisation 72,130 (15,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 57,130
Communications and Marketing (900) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (900)
Corporate Improvement Team 9,970 (950) 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,020
Strategic Partnership 102,920 (30,000) 0 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 32,980
Planning Policy 44,250 (2,100) 0 0 0 0 0 0 42,150
Localities & Partnerships 12,000 (4,005) 0 0 0 0 0 0 7,995
Leaders Portfolio 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000
Heads of Service 34,360 (4,060) (20) 0 0 0 0 0 30,280
Head of Strategy, Policy & Performance 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Director of Resources & PA 129,750 (830) (14,850) 0 0 0 0 0 114,070
Chief Executive 171,840 (890) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 170,920
Strategy, Policy & Performance Pay Group 144,490 (3,090) 430,460 0 0 0 0 0 571,860
Policy & Performance 108,660 0 (108,660) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total Revenue 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 0 1,108,515

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Planning Policy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 37,454 37,454
Corporate Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 155,350 155,350
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 192,804 192,804

TOTAL 902,480 (60,925) 306,900 0 (39,940) 0 0 192,804 1,301,319

P
age 196



PORTFOLIO : ECONOMIC GROWTH

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Tenanted Properties (199,590) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (199,590)
Industrial Units (218,800) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (218,800)
Other Land & Buildings (80,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (80,000)
Camping & Caravan Sites (582,263) 0 0 0 (118,979) 0 0 0 (701,242)
Workington Town Centre (558,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (558,000)
Circuses & Fairs (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (5,000)
Building Control - Chargeable (314,340) (600) 0 0 (29,000) 0 0 0 (343,940)
Planning and Development (521,150) (20,100) 0 0 (64,000) 0 0 0 (605,250)
Markets (79,000) 0 0 0 (2,500) 0 0 0 (81,500)
Anti-Poverty 35,000 0 (35,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Building Control - Non-Chargeable 1,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,010
Corporate Property (26,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (26,000)
Town Centres 80,000 0 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 50,000
Shop Front Improvements 0 0 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 50,000
Asset Transfer 0 0 0 50,000 0 0 0 0 50,000
Building Control Pay Group 295,060 (10,330) 13,160 0 0 0 0 0 297,890
Planning and Development Pay Group 499,550 (4,050) (92,600) 0 0 0 0 0 402,900
Regeneration Pay Group 161,600 (1,910) (32,910) 0 (200) 0 0 0 126,580
Head of Place Development 64,010 (310) 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,700
Business Support Unit, Devt Services 171,200 0 10,470 0 0 0 0 0 181,670
Estates 162,490 (27,285) (7,660) 0 0 0 0 0 127,545
Disposal of Allerdale Sites 15,000 (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,000

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 50,000 (244,679) 50,000 0 0 (1,458,027)

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Local Development Framework 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,742 50,742

TOTAL (1,099,223) (69,585) (144,540) 50,000 (244,679) 50,000 0 50,742 (1,407,285)

P
age 197



PORTFOLIO : CORPORATE RESOURCES

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
REVENUE
Corporate Management (128,000) 0 0 15,000 (10,000) 0 0 0 (123,000)
Corporate Property Maintenance 562,640 (1,500) 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 531,140
Footways 124,940 (500) 0 0 (12,500) 0 0 0 111,940
Coastal Protection and Inland Flooding 45,200 (1,200) 0 0 0 0 0 0 44,000
Harrington Harbour 9,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,000
Banking and Interest 994,117 0 0 81,786 0 0 0 0 1,075,903
MRP & Finance Charges 648,270 0 0 65,054 0 0 0 0 713,324
Insurances 232,300 0 0 0 (38,661) 0 0 0 193,639
Parish Councils 68,120 (50,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 18,120
Contingencies 111,780 0 148,570 0 0 0 0 0 260,350
Public Building Cleaning 74,960 0 (630) 0 0 0 0 0 74,330
Public Convenience Cleaning 121,330 0 (5,500) 0 (25,000) 0 0 0 90,830
Council Tax Discounts 0 0 0 3,500 0 0 0 0 3,500
Car Parks Inspection & Maintenance 30,300 (2,300) 0 0 0 0 0 0 28,000
Pension Deficit Employer Contribution 949,300 (20,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 929,300
Self Sufficiency Programme (22,733) 74 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22,659)
Multi Store Car Park Utility & Maintenance 117,910 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,910
Street Name & Numbering (8,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (8,000)
Strategic Priorities 0 0 0 0 0 1,000,000 0 0 1,000,000
Property Services Pay Group 246,510 (3,330) 800 0 0 0 0 0 243,980
Finance and Accounting Pay Group 448,860 (3,530) 3,490 0 0 0 0 0 448,820
Head of Financial Services 69,420 0 (10) 0 0 0 0 0 69,410

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 4,696,224 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 0 5,809,837

Parish Precepts 2,024,054 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,024,054

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Risk Management/insurance 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 33,500 33,500
Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16,046 16,046
Direct Debits & System Development 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,369 29,369
Footway Lighting Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15,000 15,000
MSCP Maint Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,000 25,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 118,915 118,915

TOTAL 6,720,278 (82,286) 146,720 165,340 (116,161) 1,000,000 0 118,915 7,952,806

P
age 198



PORTFOLIO : HOUSING, HEALTH & WELL-BEING

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Emergency Planning 20,400 (700) 0 0 0 0 0 0 19,700
Pest Control (32,690) 0 30,280 0 0 0 0 0 (2,410)
Health and Safety 1,500 (150) 0 0 0 0 0 0 1,350
Food and Occupational Health 230 (4,020) 0 0 (200) 0 0 0 (3,990)
Environmental Protection (9,700) 0 0 0 (6,450) 0 0 0 (16,150)
Housing Strategic Function 1,190 (1,680) 0 0 (50) 0 0 0 (540)
Homelessness 6,750 (1,130) 0 0 0 0 (7,000) 0 (1,380)
Assistance - Housing Services (52,000) 0 0 0 (30,000) 0 0 0 (82,000)
Gypsy & Traveller Sites 18,000 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 8,000
Head of Housing & Health 64,010 (760) 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,250
Housing & Health Pay Group 1,034,700 (12,360) (127,000) 0 0 0 0 0 895,340
Total Revenue 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 0 881,170

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Community Housing Fund 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 394,500 394,500
Major Incident Response 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43,937 43,937
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 438,437 438,437

TOTAL 1,052,390 (20,800) (96,720) 0 (46,700) 0 (7,000) 438,437 1,319,607

P
age 199



PORTFOLIO : LOCALITY & ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Confidential Waste 3,600 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,600
Bereavement Services (114,270) (3,200) 0 4,810 (5,000) 0 0 0 (117,660)
Parks and Grounds Maintenance 482,560 0 0 19,440 0 0 0 0 502,000
Street Cleansing 1,132,980 0 0 24,972 0 0 0 0 1,157,952
Animal Welfare 41,840 (8,620) 0 0 0 0 0 0 33,220
Domestic Waste 1,610,150 0 0 35,797 0 0 0 0 1,645,947
Trade Waste (515,024) 0 0 6,438 (32,084) 0 0 0 (540,670)
Recycling 581,104 (1,450) 0 30,732 (2,722) 0 0 0 607,664
Environmental Initiatives 104,120 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104,120
Off-street parking- Owned (2,226,130) (6,809) 0 74,000 (35,000) 0 0 0 (2,193,939)
Multi-storey Car Park 35,070 0 (55,450) 0 (75,000) 0 0 0 (95,380)
Off-street parking - Managed (60,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (60,000)
Sports & Leisure Centres 503,210 (37,500) 0 46,700 0 0 0 0 512,410
Sports Development 21,700 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21,700
Maryport Wave 229,083 (50,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 179,083
Festivals & Events 104,080 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 104,080
Carnegie Trust Contribution 120,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 105,000
Workington Nature Partnership 12,300 0 (20) 0 0 0 0 0 12,280
Allerdale Fleet 55,000 0 0 11,000 0 0 0 0 66,000
Head of Community Services 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Comm Serv Paygroup 779,630 (16,780) 45,740 0 0 0 0 0 808,590
Total Revenue 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 253,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 0 2,934,007

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Off Street Parking-System Upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 9,000 9,000
Bereavement Services-System Upgrade 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,446 10,446
Parking Review 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25,740 25,740
Weekly Collection Support Scheme 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,594 13,594
Festivals & Community Events 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,915 3,915
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 62,695 62,695

TOTAL 2,964,013 (124,359) (9,730) 253,889 (164,806) 15,000 0 62,695 2,996,702

P
age 200



PORTFOLIO : GOVERNANCE & PEOPLE RESOURCES

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Training 73,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 73,010
Corporate Recruitment 13,350 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,350
Pensions 164,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 164,000
Mayoral Services 13,570 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13,570
Mayor's Fund 3,250 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,250
Members Services 270,850 (2,570) 0 0 0 0 0 0 268,280
Leaders Services 30,000 (390) 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,610
Electoral Registration 60,000 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0 0 50,000
Elections 40,200 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 40,200
Corporate Advertising Statutory 1,000 (1,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Referral Centre 20,000 0 0 0 (15,000) 0 0 0 5,000
Licensing Service (172,160) (5,000) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (177,160)
Land Charges Service (99,640) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (99,640)
Community Safety 10,000 0 0 0 0 0 (10,000) 0 0
Human Resources Pay Group 175,750 (130) (17,140) 0 0 0 0 0 158,480
Democratic Services Pay Group 125,980 (210) 12,240 0 0 0 0 0 138,010
Internal Audit Pay Group 94,645 (150) 6,220 0 0 0 0 0 100,715
Licensing Pay Group 77,380 (630) (30) 0 0 0 0 0 76,720
Legal Services 159,630 (310) 2,970 0 0 0 0 0 162,290
Head of Governance 68,787 0 4,010 0 0 0 0 0 72,797
Governance Support Assistants 65,540 0 3,580 0 0 0 0 0 69,120
Elections - Pay Group 85,770 0 720 0 0 0 0 0 86,490
Apprentices & Graduates 72,000 0 0 0 (25,000) 0 0 0 47,000
Total Revenue 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 0 1,295,092

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Legal Counsel 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 35,000 35,000
Members Training 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 4,000 4,000 A

ppendix C
 C

ont'd

Allerdale Options 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2,952 2,952
External Legal Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 75,887 75,887
Community Safety (Funded) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 50,951 50,951
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 168,790 168,790

TOTAL 1,352,912 (10,390) 12,570 0 (50,000) 0 (10,000) 168,790 1,463,882

P
age 201



PORTFOLIO : TOURISM & CULTURE

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
Silloth TIC 10,180 0 300 0 0 0 0 0 10,480
AONB Contribution 29,000 0 0 2,200 0 0 0 0 31,200
Museums 51,570 (2,735) 0 0 0 0 0 0 48,835
Arts Development 10,150 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10,150
Tourism Incentive 100,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 100,000
Economic Dev & Tourism Paygroup 49,920 0 (4,120) 0 0 0 0 0 45,800

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 0 246,465

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
Solway AONB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 29,098 29,098

TOTAL 250,820 (2,735) (3,820) 2,200 0 0 0 29,098 275,563

P
age 202



PORTFOLIO : TRANSFORMATION

Description 2018/19 Base
Budget

Self Sufficiency
Savings

Recurring
Salary

Adjustments

Recurring
Growth

Recurring
Savings

One-off
Growth

One-off
Savings

Reserve
Funded
Projects

Proposed
Budget

REVENUE
IT Services 337,377 (14,940) 0 35,000 0 16,484 0 0 373,921
Shared Revs & Bens IT Costs 79,084 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 79,084
Multi-functional Printers 20,530 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20,530
Revenues (386,600) (640) 0 20,000 0 0 0 0 (367,240)
Benefits (547,190) (7,330) 0 0 (13,716) 0 0 0 (568,236)
Shared Revs & Bens 117,000 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 117,000
IT Infrastructure Costs 54,600 (8,000) 0 0 0 20,000 0 0 66,600
Corporate Postage & Stationery 142,530 (8,500) 0 0 0 0 0 0 134,030
Shared IT Services Pay Group 319,615 (9,450) (7,975) 0 0 0 0 0 302,190
Customer Services Pay Group 430,990 (1,150) 610 0 0 0 0 0 430,450
Head of Customer, Transformation & Commissioning 63,010 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 63,010
Customer & Transformation Programme 97,630 0 2,450 0 0 0 0 0 100,080
Communications 76,120 0 (76,120) 0 0 0 0 0 0
Commissioning Support Pay Group 102,420 (1,410) 1,160 0 0 0 0 0 102,170
Revs, Bens & Recovery Paygroup 853,480 0 3,900 0 0 0 0 0 857,380
Project X 52,353 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 52,353

A
ppendix C

 C
ont'd

Total Revenue 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 0 1,763,322

RESERVE FUNDED PROJECTS
IT Service-Corporate Printers 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000
Total Reserves 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000

TOTAL 1,812,949 (51,420) (75,975) 55,000 (13,716) 36,484 0 5,000 1,768,322

P
age 203



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 204



Appendix D
Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon

Banking and Interest
Increase in interest costs to reflect full year impact of additional PWLB loans expected
to be drawn down in 2017-18 and the part year cost of additional loans expected to be
drawn down in 2018-19

82

MRP & Finance Charges Increase in MRP charge associated with unfinanced capital expenditure incurred prior
to 1 April 2018 65

Discretionary Council tax
discounts Discretionary council tax discount for care leavers 3

Corporate Management Revision to second homes grant income from Cumbia CC 15

165

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer
Asset Transfer Increase in budget to bring Community assets up to a transferable state 50

50

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

0

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Street Cleansing Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25
Domestic Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 36
Trade Waste Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 6
Recycling Services Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 31

Grounds Maintenance Contract Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 24

Off-street - Owned Car Parks Increase in NNDR costs 74
Sport/Leisure Centres Risen Costs (Contractual inflationary increase) 25

Sport/Leisure Centres
Scheduled reduction in contribution received from GLL to compensate the Council for
additional revenue financing costs associated with improvement works at Cockermouth
Sports centre

22

Allerdale Fleet  Increase on the annual cost of Allerdale Fleet to reflect current vehicles lease costs 11

254

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

IT Services 

Increase in existing budget to accommodate renewal of software licences to enable
continued usage of Office 365, Microsoft Enterprise Mobility Solutions and Azure
Premium Products, as well as a number of tools used to support the remainder of the
on-premise IT infrastructure

35

Revenues
Reduction in recovery of court costs reflecting improvements to collections and arrears
as a result of increased choice of payment methods, improved take up of Council Tax
direct debits and more targeted recovery action

20

55

Portfolio - Tourism and Culture - Bill Jefferson
AONB Increase in match funding related to annual DEFRA grant 2

2

Total Recurring Growth 2018-19 526

Page 205



Appendix D Cont'd
Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon
Property services Reduction in operational property maintenance budget (30)
Footway lights Reduction in footway lighting utility and maintenance budget (13)
Public Conveniences Reduction in budget for repair, facility and utilities of public toilets. (25)
Corpoarte Management Reduction in external audit fees. (10)
Insurances Reduction in insurance premiums (38)

(116)

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer
Building Control Chargeable Increase in Building Regulations fees. (25)

Planning and Development Increase planning fee income (49)
Planning and Development Reduction in consultancy costs (15)
Town Centres Reduction to budget for town centre environmental projects (30)

Camping and Caravan Uplift in lease rental income to reflect increase in revenue received by the site operator
following completion of site improvements. (119)

Various Service bids with an individual value <10k (7)
(245)

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Economic Regeneration Moot Hall, Hadrians Wall & Cumbria Tourism costs to be met from the tourism budget (30)

Economic Regeneration Reduction in recurring Economic Regeneration (partnership services) budget. (10)

(40)

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip
Bereavement Uplift in income to reflect increases in fees and charges (5)

Trade Waste Increase in net income to reflect current trends in income, increases in fees and
charges and expected growth in customer numbers (32)

Recycling Services Increase in net income from recycling credits and sale of recycled materials. (3)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks Increase in Pay and display income to reflect increase in fees and charges. (35)

Carnegie Trust Agreed reduction in subsidy awarded (15)

Off-street - Owned Car Parks Reduction in MSCP net operating budget (75)

(165)

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen
Benefits Reduction in cost of housing benefit payments (net of subsidy payments received). (14)

(14)

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes
Environmental Protection Reduction in expenditure associated with private water supplies risk assessments

(Programme will be completed in 2017-18 in accordance with the Private Water Supply
Regulations)

(6)

Assistance - Hsg Serv. Increase in fees (net of additional pay costs) levied in connection with the award of
Disabled Facilities, Discretionary and Empty Homes grants. (30)

Gypsy & Travellers General reduction in budget (10)
(46)

Portfolio -Governanace and People Resources - Joan Ellis
Apprenticeships Reduction to salary budget for apprentices (25)
Electoral registration Reduction to budget for printing and postage costs (10)
Referal Centre Reduction in support required by Referral centre for victims of sexual assault. (15)

(50)

Total Recurring Savings 2018-19 (676)

Page 206



Appendix E
Non-Recurring Growth Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Corporate Resources - Barbara Cannon

Strategic Priorities
Budget provision to meet revenue costs associated with the development and
delivery of major capital projects, procurement activities and other tasks connected
with the delivery of strategic priorities

1,000

1,000

Portfolio - Locality and Environmental Quality - Mike Heaslip

Supporting Leisure Activities
Support for Wigton Baths

15

15

Portfolio - Economic Growth - Mark Fryer

Shop Front Improvements Continuation of the existing town centre improvement scheme for a further year. 50

50

Portfolio - Transformation - Konrad Hansen

IT Services One-off cost of renewing of software licensing, maintenance and support for firewalls
and IT security appliances for a further 3 years 17

IT Services Replacement of existing data storage equipment and software 20

37

Total Non-Recurring Growth 2018-19 1,102

Non-Recurring Savings Bids

Service Description Amount
£000

Portfolio - Housing, Health and Wellbeing - Carni McCarron-Holmes

Homelessness Homeless Reduction Act new burdens grant (net of expenditure associated with the
additional duties contained within the Homelessness Reduction Act) (7)

(7)

Portfolio -Governanace and People Resources - Joan Ellis
Community Safety Reduction in £10k annual funding to Cumbria Community Safety Partnership (10)

(10)

Total Non-Recurring Savings 2018-19 (17)

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 208



Appendix F

MOVEMENT IN REVENUE BUDGET 2017-18 to 2018-19

£'000 £'000 £'000

REVISED BUDGET 2017-18 (excluding Parish Precepts) 12,715,583

Less: Non-Recurring Growth (989,963)
Plus: Non- Recurring Savings 194,073
Plus: Non- Recurring Salary changes 12,872
ADJUSTED OPENING BASE BUDGET 2017-18 11,932,565

Changes for 2018-19:

Recurring Growth
Capital Financing Costs 146,840
Salary Related Adjustments 135,405
Recurring Growth Bids 379,589

661,834
Recurring Savings
Increase in income (676,002)

(676,002)
Plans for Self sufficiency
Economic Growth (60,000)
Operational Efficiencies (137,500)
Service Delivery (225,000)

(422,500)

Total Recurring changes (436,668)

Non-Recurring Growth/Savings
Non-Recurring Growth 1,101,484
Non-Recurring Savings (17,000)

Total one-off changes 1,084,484

TOTAL CHANGES 647,816

REVENUE BUDGET 2017-18 (excluding Parish Precepts) 12,580,381

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 210



Appendix G

Proposed three year capital programme 2018/19 to 2020/21

Budget 
Scheme Description £000
Housing Health & Wellbeing
Mandatory 
Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) 2,394

DFG  
Discretionary 
Grants

This scheme involves mandatory and discretionary grant support to 
individuals to meet the cost of housing adaptations that enable people to 
stay living in their own home for longer. The Authority has a statutory duty 
to provide adaptations to the homes of disabled people who qualify for a 
mandatory DFG. Expenditure on DFGs is fully funded from an annual 
grant paid to upper-tier authorities as part of the Better Care Funding 
allocations and cascaded to district councils responsible for providing 
DFGs. 

964

Healthy Homes
The Healthy Homes scheme is aimed at securing improvements to sub-
standard homes on an individual, block or area basis. The current budget 
comprises £150k in 2018/19 and £1m in each of the following two years. 
The scheme is funded from borrowing 

2,150

Securing 
Affordable Homes

The budget of £80k - comprising £30k in 2018/19 and £50k in 2019/20 - is 
targeted at providing grant support to assist registered housing providers 
to improve housing stock in high need areas, which would otherwise be 
sold.

80

Flood resilience An annual budget of £100k (in 2018/19 and 2019/20) is intended to 
support a range of small and medium sized projects in the borough that 
can demonstrate a clear link to reducing the risk of flooding in the future. 
These will be community based schemes supported by local flood action 
groups and medium sized schemes in partnership with the EA and other 
partners. Expenditure on this scheme will be met from borrowing.

200

Total for portfolio 5,788
Corporate Resources
- - -
Localities & Environmental Quality 
Harrington 
Reservoir

A budget of £175k (including a revision of £8k to the amount previously 
approved) is required for a restoration project on Harrington Reservoir 
Local Nature Reserve which is a key target of the Workington Nature 
Partnership. The scheme will be partially financed from external grants 
and contributions totalling £105k and £20k from Revenue (£4k) and 
Earmarked Revenue Reserves (£16k). Unfinanced expenditure of £50k 
will be met from borrowing.

175

Brow-Top 
Enhancement 
Schemes

Proposed budget allocation to enhance the quality of the public realm in 
the vicinity of Brow Top, Workington, transform the Central Way 
underpass and develop vacant land immediately to the west of the Leisure 
Centre to create a dedicated events and activity area.

300

Highfield 
Community 
Centre

The budget of £140k - agreed as part of the 2017/18 revised budget – is 
to provide a capital grant to support construction of an extension to the 
Community Centre at Highfield. The scheme will be funded from 
borrowing

140

Total for portfolio 615
Tourism & Culture
Solway Coast 
Pathway

Allocation for the creation of a multi-user coastal pathway linking Silloth-
on-Solway, the West Cumbria Cycle network and the Hadrian’s cycle 
route. The scheme will be funded by a grant of £1m from the Coastal 
Communities Fund (CCF) and £250k from the RDPE Tourism 
Infrastructure Fund (subject to successful outcome of funding bid)

1,250

Page 211



Appendix G

Scheme Description 
Budget 

£000
Total for portfolio 1,250

Transformation
IT Equipment With an increasing reliance on data and cloud based services it is 

imperative that staff have the appropriate equipment to be able to access 
information and systems quickly and efficiently. A recurring capital budget 
of £40k per annum is required to upgrade and replace desktop 
computers, laptops and tablets on a rolling program. The rolling 
programme will replace 25% of equipment annually to ensure staff are 
working on equipment compatible with the latest software. Expenditure on 
this scheme will be met from borrowing.

120

Total for portfolio 120
Economic Growth
Lillyhall 
Development

Budget allocation to support the acquisition of undeveloped portions of the 
Lillyhall site from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) and their 
subsequent development to provide the premier employment site for West 
Cumbria capable of supporting future invest to save projects. Expenditure 
planned for the period 2018/19 to 2020/21will be partially funded from 
grants of £4.8m. The remaining expenditure will be funded from 
borrowing.
The total value of the scheme is £9.753m including expenditure of £953k 
expected to be incurred in 2017/18. The scheme is funded from a 
combination of capital grants £5m, capital receipts £97k; general fund 
£285k and prudential borrowing of £4.371m.

8,800

Reedlands Road 
Development

Invest to save project involving the development of additional industrial 
units on land, owned by Allerdale Borough Council, at Reedlands Road, 
Workington. These units will allow the Authority to secure additional 
revenue income whilst supporting business in the area. The total scheme 
budget is £2.55m including expenditure of £250k expected to be incurred 
in 2017/18. The scheme is subject to an external funding (ERDF) bid of 
£1.5m. The balance of expenditure (£1.05m) will be met from borrowing.
The final decision to proceed with the scheme remains subject to final 
costings and financial appraisal.

2,300

Kirkgate Centre 
Contribution

The budget of £100k, originally approved in 2017/18, will enable the 
Council to make a capital contribution to support the financing of a project 
to renovate and extend the facilities at the Kirkgate Arts and Heritage 
Centre, Cockermouth. The Council’s contribution is subject the outcome of 
a bid made to the Heritage Lottery Fund by the charitable body 
responsible for running the centre. This expenditure will be met from 
borrowing.

100

Total for portfolio 11,200
Total capital budget for three years 2018/19 to 2020/21 £18,973

Page 212



Appendix H

Summary of changes to existing 3 year Capital programme 

Proposed Proposed Proposed 
Budget Budget Budget
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

£ £ £

Expenditure

TOTAL EXPENDITURE - 2018/19 revised budget 15,266,362 2,190,000 40,000

Proposed Changes 

Reprofiling of existing expenditure:
Health Homes (1,000,000) - 1,000,000

(1,000,000) 0 1,000,000

New Bids 
DFG - - 1,000,000
Healthy Homes (Empty Homes) 100,000 - -
Discretionary Grants 88,893 - -
Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150,000 150,000 -
Securing Affordable Homes (20,000) - -
Harrington Reservoir 7,500

326,393 150,000 1,000,000

Total change to expenditure (673,607) 150,000 2,000,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE - proposed 2018/19 budget 14,592,755 2,340,000 2,040,000

Financing

TOTAL FINANCING - 2017/18 Original budget 15,266,362 2,190,000 40,000

Proposed Changes: 

Reprofiling of existing expenditure:
External Grant Funding:

- - -
Allerdale BC Resources
Prudential Borrowing - Healthy Homes (1,000,000) - 1,000,000
Prudential Borrowing - Securing Affordable Homes

New Bids 
External Grant Funding:
DFG Housing Grant 88,893 - 1,000,000
SCP Housing Grant - Securing Affordable Homes (20,000) 20,000 -
Other grants and Contributions (12,000) - -

Allerdale BC Resources
General Fund 
Earmarked Reserves 16,000 - -
Revenue 3,500 - -

Prudential Borrowing - Securing Affordable Homes 0 (20,000) -
Prudential Borrowing -Health Homes (Empty Homes) 100,000 - -
Prudential Borrowing -Brow-Top Enhancement Schemes 150,000 150,000 -

Total change in financing (673,607) 150,000 2,000,000

TOTAL FINANCING - proposed 2018/19 budget 14,592,755 2,340,000 2,040,000

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 214



Appendix  I

Earmarked Reserves by Portfolio

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

Revenue Reserves

Leader of the Council
Planning Policy 37,454 0 37,454 0 0
Corporate Priorities - Credit Union 153,600 0 40,000 113,600 0
Corporate Priorities 230,700 0 115,350 115,350 0

421,754 0 192,804 228,950 0

Economic Growth
Local Development Framework 50,742 0 50,742 0 0

50,742 0 50,742 0 0

Corporate Resources
Direct Debits & System Development 29,369 0 29,369 0 0
Footway Lighting Scheme 63,500 0 15,000 48,500 0
Risk Management/insurance 77,928 0 33,500 44,428 0
Emergency Planning - Flooding 28,260 0 0 0 28,260
MSCP - Ongoing Maintenance 25,000 0 25,000 0 0

224,057 0 102,869 92,928 28,260

Hsg, Health & Wellbeing
Community Housing Fund 725,213 0 394,500 330,713 0
Major Incident Response 43,937 0 43,937 0 0

769,150 0 438,437 330,713 0

Localilty & Env Quality
Off Street Parking - Signage 9,000 0 9,000 0 0
Bereavement Services - System Upgrade 10,446 0 10,446 0 0

P
age 215



Appendix  I

Weekly Collection Support Scheme 13,594 0 13,594 0 0
Festivals & Community Events 3,915 0 3,915 0 0
Parking Review 25,740 0 25,740 0 0

62,695 0 62,695 0 0

Governance & People Resources
Allerdale Options 2,952 0 2,952 0 0
External Legal Services 75,887 0 75,887 0 0
Legal Counsel 67,491 0 35,000 32,491 0
Provision for Election 70,000 35,000 0 105,000 0
Member Training 4,000 0 4,000 0 0
Community Safety 107,096 0 50,951 56,145 0

327,426 35,000 168,790 193,636 0

Tourism & Culture
Solway AONB 29,098 0 29,098 0 0

29,098 0 29,098 0 0

Transformation
IT Services - Corporate Printers 23,228 0 5,000 18,228 0

23,228 0 5,000 18,228 0

Other
NNDR Rate Pool Volatility Fund 101,714 0 0 0 101,714
Business Rate Income 981,000 0 0 0 981,000
AIP Loan Note Interest 552,800 0 0 0 552,800
AIP Loan Notes 222,000 0 0 0 222,000
Hugh Barbour Bequest 8,661 0 0 0 8,661

1,866,175 0 0 0 1,866,175

SUB TOTAL - REVENUE 3,774,325 35,000 1,050,435 864,455 1,894,435

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

P
age 216



Appendix  I

Capital Reserves
Revenue Financing for Capital Programme 16,046 0 16,046 0 0

SUB TOTAL - CAPITAL 16,046 0 16,046 0 0

GRAND TOTAL 3,790,371 35,000 1,066,481 864,455 1,894,435

Reserves Projected 2018/19
Opening Balance

2018/19
Contribution to

Reserves

2018/19 Profiled
Spend

Profiled Spend
after 2018/19 Held in Reserves

£ £ £ £ £

P
age 217



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 218



Appendix J

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN

Revenue Budget 2017/18* 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Base Budget 12,213 11,932 11,495 12,249
Pension Deficit (62) 0 0 0
Change in salary costs - recurring 78 135 175 175
Recurring growth 875 526 611 137
Recurring savings (434) (676) (32) (125)
Self-sufficiency savings (738) (422) 0 0
Recurring (base) budget 11,932 11,495 12,249 12,436
Change in salary costs -non-recurring (13)
Non-recurring growth 990 1,102 0 0
Non-recurring savings (194) (17) 0 0
Net Service Expenditure budget 12,715 12,580 12,249 12,436

Expenditure on earmarked priorities 2,684 1,066 0 0

Proposed budget (excl. parish precepts) 15,399 13,646 12,249 12,436

Parish Precepts 1,914 2,024 2,024 2,024

Proposed Budget (incl. parish precepts) 17,313 15,670 14,273 14,460

Less: Planned use of earmarked balances (2,684) (1,066) 0 0

Net Budget Requirement 14,629 14,604 14,273 14,460

Funding 2017/18* 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Revenue support grant 1,060 652 196 0
Rural Services Delivery Grant 261 325 261 0
New Homes Bonus 1,604 1,004 727 269
Council tax – Allerdale only 4,920 5,100 5,248 5,348
Council tax – parish element 1,914 2,024 2,024 2,024
Collection fund surplus/(deficit) - Council Tax 139 91 0 0
NNDR funding 5,603 5,528 5,137 4,174
NNDR - Collection fund surplus/(deficit) (872) (564) 0 0
Use of general fund balances 444
Total funding 14,629 14,604 13,593 11,815

Funding Gap 0 0 680 2,645

*revised budget

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 220



Appendix K

Budget 2017/18 consultation – response document

Questions & Summary of responses

Question 1
We collect Council Tax for ourselves but also on behalf of Cumbria County Council, 
Cumbria Police and your local town or parish council. Only about 10% of your 
Council Tax pays for services provided by us. For 2017/18 the annual charge (from 
Allerdale Borough Council) for an average Band D property is £162.99 a year; a little 
over £3 a week.
Feedback from latest residents’ survey carried out in 2016 showed that nearly 60% 
of residents supported an increase in Council Tax if this meant services that were 
important to them were protected. An increase in Council Tax will allow us to protect 
front-line services such as:

 Street cleaning
 Bin collections
 Recycling services
 Grass-cutting

We would like to know your views on whether we should increase the amount of 
Council’s share of your Council Tax bill.
Over the past year, inflation has been rising, placing additional pressure on the 
Council’s budgets. In October, inflation measured by the Consumer Prices Index 
(CPI) stood at 3%, its joint highest in more than five years. Inflation measured by the 
Retail Prices Index (RPI) has been on a similar upward path hitting 4% in October 
2017. Further increases in CPI and RPI inflation are expected to occur in the coming 
months.
District councils like Allerdale have the option of increasing their Band D Council Tax 
by £5 per annum (with proportionate increases to properties in other Council Tax 
bands) or 2% whichever is the higher.
We are therefore proposing to increase our portion of the annual Council Tax bill by 
the maximum amount of £5. This would mean an extra £5 a year on a Band D 
property (or about 10p a week) or £3.33 a year for a Band A property (equivalent to 
6p a week). This increase equates to a percentage increase in the Council’s share of 
Council Tax bills, consistent with inflation, of just over 3%.
The table below shows how a £5 increase on a Band D property would impact on 
Allerdale’s portion of the Council Tax bill for all Council Tax bands. 

Page 221



Appendix K

Council Tax 
band

Proportion 
of band D 

charge 
2017/18 

Annual charge
£5 increase on 

band D 
property

2018/19 
proposed 

annual charge
Percentage 

increase 

 £ £ a year £ %
Band A 6/9 108.66 3.33 111.99 3.1
Band B 7/9 126.77 3.89 130.66 3.1
Band C 8/9 144.88 4.44 149.32 3.1
Band D 9/9 162.99 5.00 167.99 3.1
Band E 11/9 199.2 6.11 205.31 3.1
Band F 13/9 235.43 7.22 242.65 3.1
Band G 15/9 271.65 8.33 279.98 3.1
Band H 18/9 325.98 10.00 335.98 3.1

To maintain services which are important to you, should we increase Allerdale’s 
portion of the Council Tax bill by £5 on Band D properties (with proportionate 
increases to properties in other council tax bands) in 2018

Budget Consultation Response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 21 63.6
No 10 30.3
Don’t know 2 6.1

Question 2
Since April 2013, the Council has been able to charge a Council Tax premium on a 
property that has been unoccupied and unfurnished for two years or more. The 
premium can currently be up to 50% of the Council Tax on the property. In the 2017 
Autumn Budget the Chancellor announced that, from April 2018, local authorities will 
be given the power to increase the Council Tax premium on empty homes from 50% 
to 100%.
Should we increase the Council Tax empty homes premium from 50% to 
100%? 

Budget Consultation Response:

Response Number Percentage
Yes 22 66.7
No 10 30.3
Don’t know 1 3.0

Page 222



Appendix K

Question 3
Fees and charges are an important source of income, offsetting the cost of service 
provision and reducing the amount of expenditure that needs to be met from central 
government grants, Council Tax and business rates.
For existing charges, the Council’s general policy is that levels of fees and charges 
should rise each year in line with inflation as determined as part of the budget 
planning process.
This general policy is not applied where fees and charges are set nationally by 
central government, or where it is necessary to revise the amount the Council 
charges, other than in line with inflation, to ensure it complies with statutory 
requirements governing the amount charged for a particular service.
In 2018/19 should we increase fees and charges by 3% in line with inflation?

Budget Consultation Response:

 Response Number Percentage
Yes 21 63.6
No 12 36.4
Don’t know 0 0

Page 223



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 224



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Recommendations referred to Executive

Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares

The Reason for the Decision To consider in light of current economic 
circumstances, whether the table of fares 
charged by a hackney carriage shall be 
changed and to what level.

Summary of options considered a) To retain the table of fares as 
existing;

b) To change the table of fares and 
set the fares in accordance with 
economic considerations.

Recommendations The recommendation is to approve the 
decision made by Licensing Committee 
on 28 November 2018. This decision 
was:

1. to increase the fare from £2.90 to 
£3.20 for the following:

a) if the distance does not exceed 
1.6 kilometres (1 mile) for the 
whole distance

b) if the distance exceeds 1.6 
kilometres (1 mile) for the first 
kilometre (1 mile)

2. to increase the waiting time to 45p 
for each period of three minutes or 
uncompleted part thereof; 

3. to increase the tariff for each 
article of luggage conveyed 
outside the passenger 
compartment or the carriage for 
the whole distance to 20p; and

4. that tariff 2 should commence at 
11pm. 

Page 225

Agenda Item 11



Financial /  Resource Implications a) Advertisement costs to the 
Council if amendments to the 
table of fares are agreed.  This is 
within budget.

b) Costs to the hackney carriage 
proprietors who choose to 
recalibrate meters if amendments 
to the table of fares are agreed.  
This would be approximately £20 
per meter but fees are dependent 
on the meter supplier.

Legal / Governance Implications Advertising and other statutory 
procedures to follow to ensure any 
amendments are legally valid.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

No

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

N/A

Is this a Key Decision No 

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis

Lead Officer Deborah Fletcher
Licensing and Compliance Officer
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: deborah.fletcher@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial Y
Legal Y Partnership N
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Page 226



Background Papers

Appendix A – Licensing Committee Report dated 28 November 2017 and associated 
documents.

1.0 Introduction

1.1 This report asks the Executive to approve the recommendations made by the 
Licensing Committee on 28 November 2017.

1.2 Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 
gives councils the authority to set fares.  This is a function of the Executive as 
per the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) 
Regulations 2000 as amended.

1.3 The fares are fixed in accordance with section 65(1) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. If Members agree to approve the 
amendment, this must be published in at least one newspaper circulating in 
the Borough.  Following the publication of such notice, the new table of fares 
will come into operation on 1 April 2018 provided that no objections are 
received.  If objections are received either from the trade or the public, the 
item is referred back for consideration. 

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 The recommendation is to approve the decision made by Licensing 
Committee on 28th November 2018.  This decision was:

2.1.1 to increase the fare from £2.90 to £3.20 for the following:

a) if the distance does not exceed 1.6 kilometres (1 mile) for the whole 
distance

b) if the distance exceeds 1.6 kilometres (1 mile) for the first kilometre (1 
mile)

2.1.2 to increase the waiting time to 45p for each period of three minutes or 
uncompleted part thereof; 

2.1.3 to increase the tariff for each article of luggage conveyed outside the 
passenger compartment or the carriage for the whole distance to 20p; and

2.1.4 that tariff 2 should commence at 11pm. 

Deborah Fletcher
Licensing and Compliance Officer

Page 227



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 228



Allerdale Borough Council

Licensing Committee – 28 November 2017

Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares

The Reason for the Decision To consider in light of current economic 
circumstances whether the table of fares charged 
by a hackney carriage shall be changed and to 
what level. 

Summary of options considered a) To retain the table of fares as existing; 
b) To change the table of fares and set the fares 
in accordance with economic considerations.

Recommendations Members are asked to give consideration to 
increasing the table of fares based on the key 
information contained in the report. The increase 
in price for fuel and the rate of inflation since 2010 
should be noted. The suggestions from the trade 
put forward a change between £3.00 and £3.50 to 
the first mile and an increase to every 0.32 
kilometre.  

Financial /  Resource Implications a) Advertisement costs to the Council if 
amendments required to the table of fares. This is 
within budget.
b) Costs to the hackney carriage proprietors to 
recalibrate meters if changes to the table of fares. 
This would be approximately £20 per meter but 
fees are dependent on the meter supplier.

Legal / Governance Implications Advertising and other statutory procedures to 
follow to ensure any amendments are legally 
valid.

Community Safety Implications None

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

None

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

No

Wards Affected All

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

N/A

Page 229



Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Joan Ellis 

Lead Officer Deborah Fletcher
Licensing & Compliance Officer 
Tel: 0303 123 1702
Email: deborah.fletcher@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications (Please delete where applicable).

Community Safety N Employment (external to the Council) N

Financial Y Employment (internal) N

Legal Y Partnership N

Social Inclusion N Asset Management N

Equality Duty N Health and Safety N

Background papers:

Appendix A – Allerdale Borough Council Table of Fares – 1 June 2010
Appendix B – Consultation response letters
Appendix C – Table of Fares for other Cumbrian Authorities 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The principal features of a hackney carriage are: it can carry passengers for 
hire and reward; it can be hailed by a prospective passenger; and it can park 
on a rank to await the approach of passengers. It must be driven by a driver 
who holds a hackney carriage drivers licence. 

1.2 The Local Authority lays down conditions to regulate hackney carriage 
vehicles such as the type that can be used and for hackney carriage drivers to 
assess suitability and propriety of the individual. 

1.3 The Local Authority can also fix the rates or fares within the borough that a 
hackney carriage proprietor can charge for his services. This can cover time, 
distance and all other charges in connection with the hire of a vehicle and is 
known as the “table of fares” Once the fares are set the hackney proprietor 
must have the meter in the vehicle calibrated to those fares and sealed to 
prevent tampering. This is the maximum that can be charged but a proprietor 
does have discretion to charge less than the meter price. The meter must 
always be used for each fare and display the current table of fares. There is 
also a separate tariff card which is displayed in the vehicle for the passengers 
benefit.

Page 230

mailto:deborah.fletcher@allerdale.gov.uk


1.4 The fares are fixed in accordance with Section 65(1) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976. If Members agree to vary the fares 
subject to confirmation from Council this must be published in at least one 
newspaper circulating in the Borough. Following the publication of such 
Notice, the new table of fares will come into operation on 1 April 2018 
provided no objections are received. If objections are received either from the 
trade or the public, the item is referred back for consideration.

1.5 The last variation of the table of fares by this Authority was on 1 June 2010. 
The change consisted of an increase to Tariff 1 from 260 pence to 290 pence, 
an increase from 36 pence to 39 pence for each subsequent 1/5 of a mile and 
the waiting time. It also included additions to Tariff 3; which traditionally deals 
with bank and public holidays. 

1.6 The current table of fares for Hackney Carriage vehicles can be found at 
APPENDIX A. 

2.0 Background Information 

2.1 The table of fares are reviewed on an annual basis. For Members information 
previous year’s amendments have been as follows:

a) 10/3/1999  increase from £1.60 to £1.80 for first mile 
 increase from 26 pence to 30 pence for each 1/5 

of a mile
 increase in three minute waiting charge from 32 

to 35 pence.

b) 23/2/2000  increase from £1.80 to £2.00 for first mile 
 increase from 30 pence to 32 pence for each 1/5 

of a mile (members originally recommended that 
Tariff 2 commence at 11pm. However this was 
amended to midnight at full Council on 12 
January 2000).

c) 01/4/2002  increase from £2.00 to £2.20 for first mile
 increase from 32 pence to 36 pence for each 1/5 

of a mile
 increase in three minute waiting charge from 35 

to 36 pence
 fouling charge increased from £25 to £50.

d)   01/4/2003     Licensing Committee recommended an increase 
but was not accepted by Full Council. The tariff 
remained unchanged.

e) 01/4/2004  Only Tariff 3 amended to include between 
6.00pm and Midnight on Christmas Eve and 
New Year’s Eve.

Page 231



f) 01/4/2005  Increase of Tariff 1 from £2.20 to £2.40 for first 
mile.

g) 01/4/2006  No change.

h) 01/4/2007    Increase of Tariff 1 from £2.40 to £2.60 for first 
mile

 For each person in excess of two from 25p to 
50p.

i) 01/4/2008  No change.

j) 01/4/2009  Tariff 3 extended to 4am on days following bank 
and public holidays.

k) 01/6/2010   Tariff 1 and 3 amended as per paragraph 1.5.

l) 01/04/2011  No change

m) 01/04/2012  No change

n) 01/04/2013  No change

o) 01/04/2014  No change

p) 01/04/2015  No change

     q) 18/02/2016  No change 

3.0 Key Points for consideration

3.1 Responses from the Trade 

3.2 All Hackney Carriage Vehicle licence holders were consulted as part of the 
review process. There were 14 replies to the consultation:

a) Ian McClure (IC Travel)

b) Kim Stephenson (Kim’s Taxis) 

c) Davies Taxis – 12 letters received with the same content. 

Andrew Morris – Chairman
Caroline Jenkinson – Secretary
Colin Jenkinson – Treasurer 
Paul Atherton – Member
Michael Frampton – Member
Robin Eastoe – Member
Graeme Winter – Member

Page 232



Paul Turnbull – Member 
Keith Mattinson – Member 
Stephen Davies – Member 
Alistair Quinn – Member 
James Dakin – Member 

3.3 The members of Davies Taxis have requested that the Vehicle Age Policy be 
reviewed. They have also suggested an increase in the number of approved 
testing stations and replacement of the independent engineers report with a 
new testing station report. This request will be considered separately to the 
review of the table of fares. 

3.3 The responses to the consultation can be found at APPENDIX B. The letters 
from the members of Davies Taxis are identical in content so for the purposes 
of the report only one letter has been included. Copies of all the letters will be 
available at the meeting. 

4.0      Comparison of Table of Fares

4.1 The National Private Hire Association publish a magazine Private Hire and 
Taxi Monthly and it publishes a monthly league table of how much it costs for 
the first two miles for each Council. Out of 365 authorities published Allerdale 
falls at position 329 with £4.85 for the first two miles on Tariff 1. The other 
Cumbrian authorities are as follows: 

Position Price for first two miles 
on Tariff 1 

Copeland Borough 
Council

312 £5.00

Barrow Borough Council 246 £5.44
Eden District Council 232 £5.50
Carlisle City Council 193 £5.65
South Lakeland District 
Council 

66 £6.40

4.2 Detailed Tables of Fares from all councils in the county are attached for 
information (Appendix C). 

5.0      Fuel Price Report (Source: AA)

5.1 For Members information the following are extracts from the Fuel Price 
Report. 

July 2010 
(The last date the table 
of fares was changed)

September 2017
(Most recent available)

Unleaded 95 Octane 
(pence) 

North West
116.2 per litre 
528.30 per gallon

North West
119.4 per litre 
542.8 per gallon

Page 233



UK Average 
117.5 per litre
534.2 per gallon

UK Average 
119.8 per litre
544.6 per gallon

Diesel 
(pence) 

North West 
119.0 per litre
540.98 per gallon 

UK Average
119.9 per litre
545.08 per gallon

North West 
120.2 per litre
547.8 per gallon 

UK Average
120.5 per litre
547.08 per gallon

Super Unleaded North West 
124.40 per litre
565.5 per gallon 

UK Average
124.9 per litre
567.8 per gallon

North West 
130.0 per litre
591.0 per gallon 

UK Average
129.4 per litre
588.3 per gallon

LPG 
(pence) 

North West
64.7 per litre

UK Average
65.3

North West
59.9 per litre

UK Average
64.0

7.0 Inflation – Retail Price Index (RPI) (Source: Office for National Statistics)

7.1 The RPI is the main domestic measure of inflation. The measure of inflation 
adopted tracks the changing cost of a fixed basket of goods and services over 
time. It combines together around 180,000 individual prices for over 650 
representative items. RPI covers a range of costs including:

 Mortgage interest payments
 Council tax
 House depreciation
 Buildings insurance
 House purchase costs, e.g. estate agent fees
 TV Licence
 Road fund licence
 Trades union subscriptions

The RPI includes a price index for cars which is based entirely on used car 
prices.

7.2 The annual inflation rate (based on RPI) from June 2010 to September 2017 
is 22.7%.  

Page 234



8.0 Minimum Wage and Living Wage

8.1 The National Living Wage is £7.50. The table below tracks the changes in 
National Minimum Wage since 2010 with the introduction of a National Living 
Wage in 2016:

2010 £5.93
2011 £6.08
2012 £6.19
2013 £6.31
2014 £6.50
2015 £6.70
Oct 2016 – March 2017 £7.20
April 2016 – September 2016 £7.20
April 2017 £7.50

8.2 The voluntary living wage set by the Living Wage Foundation is currently set 
at £8.45 per hour and changes every October. 

9.0      Summary Information for Consideration

9.1 Members are asked to consider the current table of fares taking into 
consideration the following: 

a) The representation(s) made from the trade;
b) Currently the vehicle and drivers licence fees are £130.00 and £70.00 

respectively. These fees have been static since 1 April 2012 but will be 
reviewed as part of a move to offer a three year licence option;  

c)  Comparison of table of fares nationally and locally; 
d) Extract from Fuel price reports;
e) Retail Price Index figures
f) Wage changes.

10.0 Recommendation

10.1 Members are asked to give consideration to increasing the table of fares 
based on the key information contained in the report. The increase in price for 
fuel and the rate of inflation since 2010 should be noted. The suggestions 
from the trade put forward a change between £3.00 and £3.50 to the first mile 
and an increase to every 0.32 kilometre.  

Deborah Fletcher
Licensing and Compliance Officer

Page 235



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 236



Allerdale Borough Council
Table of Fares – 1 June 2010

Hackney Carriage Vehicle Number:

DISTANCE (Tariff 1)

If the distance does not exceed 1.6 kilometre 
(1 mile) for the whole distance 

290 pence

If the distance exceeds 1.6 kilometre (1 mile) 
for the first kilometre (1 mile)

290 pence

For each subsequent 0.32 (1/5th of a mile) or 
uncompleted part thereof

39 pence

WAITING TIME

For each period of three minutes or 
uncompleted part thereof

39 pence

EXTRA CHARGES

(Tariff 2) For hiring commenced between 
Midnight and 6.00 a.m.

PLUS 50% OF TARIFF 1

(Tariff 3) All day on Bank and Public Holidays 
including Easter Sunday, Boxing Day and 
any Bank Holidays given in lieu of Boxing 
Day and to 4.00 a.m. on the day following 
those listed above. Hirings commenced 
between 6.00 p.m. and Midnight on 
Christmas Eve and New Years Eve

PLUS 75% OF TARIFF 1

(Tariff 4) Christmas Day and New Years Day PLUS 100% OF TARIFF 1

For each article of luggage conveyed outside 
the passenger compartment or the carriage 
for the whole distance

15 pence

For each person in excess of two 50 pence

FOULING CHARGE £50.00

The above rates of fare are applicable to:

1. Journeys taken entirely within the Borough of Allerdale.
2. Journeys ending outside the Borough of Allerdale where no fare or rate is agreed in 

advance of such journeys between the hirer and the driver. 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 238



Page 239



Page 240



Page 241



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 242



            
            COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL COPELAND BOROUGH COUNCIL
TABLE OF FARES FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES TABLE OF FARES FOR HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLES
            EFFECTIVE FROM 20TH AUGUST 2013 EFFECTIVE FROM 20TH AUGUST 2013

Tariff 1 Tariff 1
For a distance not exceeding one mile £ 3.00 For a distance not exceeding one mile £ 3.00

If the distance exceeds one mile, for the first mile £ 3.00 If the distance exceeds one mile, for the first mile £ 3.00

For each subsequent 1/10th mile or For each subsequent 1/10th mile or
uncompleted part thereof 20 pence uncompleted part thereof 20 pence

Tariff 2 Tariff 2
For hirings commenced between 11.00pm and 6.00am add 50% to Tariff 1 For hirings commenced between 11.00pm and 6.00am add 50% to Tariff 1

 
For hirings commenced at any time on a Bank or Public add 50% to the above For hirings commenced at any time on a Bank or Public add 50% to the above
Holiday being Good Friday, Easter Sunday, Easter Monday, Tariff 1 rates Holiday being Good Friday, Easter Sunday, Easter Monday, Tariff 1 rates
May Day, Whitsuntide Monday, August Bank Holiday May Day, Whitsuntide Monday, August Bank Holiday
Monday & any other Bank or Public Holiday the Government Monday & any other Bank or Public Holiday the Government 
may declare may declare

        

For hirings commenced between 6.00pm and add 50% to Tariff 1 For hirings commenced between 6.00pm and add 50% to Tariff 1
6.00am on the Friday before Christmas 6.00am on the Friday before Christmas

Tariff 3 Tariff 3
For hirings commenced between 6.00pm on Christmas Eve £5.60 for 1st mile then for each For hirings commenced between 6.00pm on Christmas Eve £5.60 for 1st mile then for each
until 6.00am on 27th December and 6.00 pm on New Years subsequent 1/10th mile or until 6.00am on 27th December and 6.00pm on New Years subsequent 1/10th mile or
Eve until 6.00am on 2nd January uncompleted part thereof  Eve until 6.00am on 2nd January uncompleted part thereof 35 pence

35 pence
Extra Charges Extra Charges

For each period of one minute or uncompleted part thereof 20 pence For each period of one minute or uncompleted part thereof 20 pence

For each mile or uncompleted part thereof within the  35 pence For each mile or uncompleted part thereof within the 35 pence
Borough of Copeland, travelled by the carriage to a hirer’s Borough of Copeland, travelled by the carriage to a hirer’s
“pick-up” point at a stated place other than a hackney carriage “pick-up” point at a stated place other than a hackney carriage
stand or the proprietor’s normal base of operation stand or the proprietor’s normal base of operation

For each person in excess of four 25% of the total fare For each person in excess of four 25% of the total fare

Soiling fee £ 75.00 Soiling fee £ 75.00

The above rates of fare are applicable only to: The above rates of fare are applicable only to:

1. Journeys taken entirely within the district of Copeland. 1. Journeys taken entirely within the district of Copeland.
2. Journeys ending outside the district of Copeland where no fare or rate of 2. Journeys ending outside the district of Copeland where no fare or rate of

fare is agreed in advance of such journey between hirer and driver. fare is agreed in advance of such journey between hirer and driver.

P
age 243



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 244



HACKNEY CARRIAGE TARIFFS

The fares are as follows:-

Normal Fare (7am until midnight)
If the distance does not exceed 805 metres (5/10 mile) for the whole distance  £2.40
If the distance exceeds 805 metres (5/10 mile) for each subsequent 
161 metres (1/10 of a mile) or uncompleted part       £0.20
Waiting time – for each 30 seconds  £0.10

For hirings begun between midnight and 7.00 a.m.
If the distance does not exceed 805 metres (5/10 mile) for the whole distance  £3.60
If the distance exceeds 805 metres (5/10 mile) for each subsequent 161
metres (1/10 of a mile) or uncompleted part   £0.30
Waiting time – for each 30 seconds                  £0.15
For hirings on all bank holidays, Christmas Eve and New Years Eve
If the distance does not exceed 805 metres (5/10 mile) for the whole distance  £4.80
If the distance exceeds 805 metres (5/10 mile) for each subsequent 
161 metres (1/10 of a mile) or uncompleted part       £0.40
Waiting time for each 30 seconds       £0.20

Soiling charge - £10 outside/maximum £100 inside 
Payment of estimate may be required as deposit at start of journey
Extra charge of £0.20 per person over two people.

Operative date for the above tariffs:- 1st August 2012. 

Page 245



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 246



Hackney Tariffs as from 1 August 2011 
 

Tariff One (basic day rate) between 6.00am and 11.00pm 
 
Tariff Two between 11.00pm and 6.00am 
 
Tariff Three Bank or Public Holiday (to include Christmas Day, Boxing Day, New 
Years Day and Easter Sunday) for the period up to 6.00am on the following day; and 
also between 6.00pm and midnight on 24 December and 31 December. 
 
 Tariff One Tariff two Tariff Three 
If the distance is 8/10 Mile or under    
For the whole distance £2.50 £3.50 £4.50 
If the distance exceeds 8/10 Mile    
then each subsequent 1/10 Mile £0.25 £0.35 £0.45 
Waiting Time    
For each single period of 3 minutes or 
uncompleted part thereof 

£0.90 £0.90 £0.90 
Extra charges    
For Soiling the Carriage £75.00 £75.00 £75.00 
For each person carried in excess of 
two 

£0.50 £0.50 £0.50 
For each article of wheeled luggage 
carried outside of passenger 
compartment 

£0.50 £0.50 £0.50 

 

Page 43
Page 247



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44
Page 248



CARLISLE CITY COUNCIL

Hackney Carriage Maximum Fares

The maximum tariffs (fees) that can be charged by hackney carriages are set by the Council. These 
take effect from Monday, 6 October 2014

Tariff one

Journeys of up to 0.7 miles or first 0.7 miles of journey (approx 1126 metres) £2.85

For each subsequent 170 yds or uncompleted part thereof (Approx 155 metres) £0.20

Waiting time for each period of 51.3 seconds (or part period) £0.25

Tariff two

Journeys starting between 11pm and 7am

Tariff one + one third

Journeys starting between 12pm and 6pm on Christmas Eve (24 December)

Tariff one + one third

Journeys starting between 12pm and 6pm on New Years Eve (31 December)

Tariff one + one third

Tariff three

All day on Bank Holidays and Public Holidays

Tariff one + one half

Journeys starting between 6pm and midnight on Christmas Eve (24 December)

Tariff one + one half

Journeys starting between 6pm and midnight on New Years Eve (31 December)

Tariff one + one half

Extra charges

For each adult (17 years & over) over four £0.50

Each pram or dog carried £0.10

Each item of luggage carried outside the passenger compartment £0.10

Cleaning charge if the vehicle is soiled (maximum)

£35.00

Page 249



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 250



P
age 251



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 252



Allerdale Borough Council

Executive – 21 February 2018

Appointment of Representative to Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd.

The Reason for the Decision To appoint a Member to serve as the 
Council’s representative on the Energy 
Coast West Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast 
West Cumbria (Properties) Limited and 
Energy Coast West Cumbria 
(Workspace) Limited outside bodies, to 
replace Councillor Mark Fryer.

Summary of options considered To appoint or not to appoint a 
representative.

Recommendations That Councillor Alan Smith be appointed 
to serve on the Energy Coast West 
Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast West 
Cumbria (Properties) Limited and Energy 
Coast West Cumbria (Workspace) 
Limited outside bodies until 7 July 2019, 
to replace Councillor Mark Fryer.

Financial /  Resource Implications Travel/subsistence will be met from 
within the existing budget.

Legal / Governance Implications There are no legal implications arising 
from this report.

Community Safety Implications There are no community safety 
implications arising from this report.

Health and Safety and Risk 
Management Implications

There no health and safety implications 
arising from this report.

Equality Duty considered / Impact 
Assessment completed

The Equality Duty has been considered.

Wards Affected None

The contribution this decision would 
make to the Council’s priorities

Representation on outside bodies allows 
the Council’s priorities to become known 
to groups within the community.

Is this a Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Councillor Alan Smith

Page 253

Agenda Item 12



Lead Officer Dean Devine
Democratic and Support Services Officer
01900 702502
dean.devine@allerdale.gov.uk

Report Implications

Community Safety N Financial N
Legal N Partnership Y
Social Inclusion N Asset Management N
Equality Duty N Health and Safety N
Employment (internal) N Employment 

(external to the Council)
N

Background Papers

None

1.0 Introduction

1.1 The Executive is asked to appoint a Member representative to serve on the 
Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) 
Limited and Energy Coast West Cumbria (Workspace) Limited outside bodies, 
to replace Councillor Mark Fryer.

1.2 Councillor Mark Fryer was appointed to the outside bodies at the Executive 
meeting on 8 July 2015 for a four year term on each but has now asked that 
he be replaced.

1.3 The Council has one representative on the outside bodies.

1.4 Councillor Alan Smith has requested that he be appointed to serve as the 
Council’s representative on the outside bodies until the next appointments are 
due in July 2019.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That Councillor Alan Smith be appointed to serve on the Energy Coast West 
Cumbria Ltd., Energy Coast West Cumbria (Properties) Limited and Energy 
Coast West Cumbria (Workspace) Limited outside bodies until 7 July 2019, to 
replace Councillor Mark Fryer.

Dean Devine
Democratic and Support Services Officer

Page 254

mailto:dean.devine@allerdale.gov.uk

	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting Wednesday 24 January 2018 of Executive
	6 Tackling Poverty Strategy
	Appendix A for Tackling Poverty Strategy
	Appendix B for Tackling Poverty Strategy
	Appendix C for Tackling Poverty Strategy

	7 Q3 Performance Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1 for Q3 Performance Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1A for Q3 Performance Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1B for Q3 Performance Report 2017/18
	Appendix 1C for Q3 Performance Report 2017/18

	8 Quarter 3 Finance Report April to December 2017
	Revenue Appendix
	Capital Appendix

	9 Capital Investment Strategy 2018/19 to 2019/20
	10 Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendices A & B for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix C for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendices D & E for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix F for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix G for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix H for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix I for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix J for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19
	Appendix K for Draft Revenue & Capital Budget Proposals 2018/19

	11 Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares
	Hackney Carriage Vehicles – Annual Review of Table of Fares
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix C
	Appendix C
	Appendix C
	Appendix C

	12 Appointment of Representative to Energy Coast West Cumbria Ltd.

